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PREFACE TO VOLUME TEN 

Though the trial of Edward D. Worrell (p. 1) is full 
of striking and interesting features, it is the great 
speeches to the jury, of Wright and Bay that entitles 
it to over 150 pages of this volume. And this suggests 
the question, how comes it that the speeches to the 
jury in great criminal trials are no longer given space 
in the columns of our daily newspapers or preserved to 
the public in some permanent form as soon as deliv­
ered f When Rufus Choate or Daniel Webster spoke 
in Massachusetts or Prentiss or Marshall in Kentucky 
or Wright in Missouri or Sampson or Brady in New 
York, they spoke not only to the crowd in the court­
room but to the American public. Their orations ap­
peared aJmost verbatim. in the press and were later 
reported in pamphlet form and were as eagerly pur­
chased in the book-stores as the best selling works of 
fiction are today. When, for example, Daniel Webster 
made his great speech for the Commonwealth on the 
trial of the Knapps for murder in the little town of 
Salem (see 7 Am. St. Tr.), not only did it appear in 
full in the local papers, but it was reported in book 
form in Massachusetts and in New York by at least 
half a dozen different publishers. And this continued 
to be the practice until about the close of the civil war. 
It still exists in England; a speech to the jury by a 
leader of the bar in an important criminal trial will 
appear the next day in the newspapers aJmost word 
for word. What is the reason for this neglect by our 
press of the oratory of our barf Is it that commer­
cialism has killed eloquence and that it has become 
extinct like the dodot that our modern advocate has 

v 
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lost that gift of public speaking in the court-room 
which so attracted the public a generation ago t It 
might be worth while for some student in our Mwly­
f ounded schools of journalism to make a study of this 
question and to give us the reason why the oratory of 
the court-room is today practically ignored by the 
press of the United States. 

When John Hodges (p. 163) was indicted for trea­
son in the year 1815, he found that in the opinion of the 
presiding judge, Mr. J ustiee Duvall, of the Supreme 
Court of the United States, "Giving aid and comfort 
to the enemy" was a very comprehensive phrase. 
But the jury. understood that be was no traitor and 
fortunately the jury had the last word. 

The last act of the case of Leo M. Frank (p. 182) 
was the final scene in a Tragedy of Errors in which 
Justice was the real victim. The murder of a young 
factory girl caused a great sensation in the community 
and the people and newspapers jumped to the conclu­
sion that Frank-a northern Jew and college graduate 
and the last person who had seen her alive-was the 
murderer and demanded that he should be hanged. 
But Frank had his friends, too, and soon what looked 
like an organized campaign in his behalf, was started 
in the Eastern States and kept up with unceasing 
vigor after his conviction and while his case was pend­
ing before the Appellate Courts and the Governor of 
Georgia. People thousands of miles away wrote let­
ters to ihe newspapers and signed petitions in which 
they maintained that Frank was not guilty-men and 
women who had not 1seen or heard a single witness and 
who had nothing but hearsay on which to found their 
opinions. Very naturally the people of Georgia re­
sented this interfere nee with their courts and this out-
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side meddling served only to increase their determina­
tion that Frank should suffer death. 

Here Justice received its first wound. Every civ­
ilized nation has determined that the guilt or inno­
cence of one accused of crime and the punishment to 
be meted out to the criminal shall be decided by reg­
ular Courts of Justice presided over by trained jur­
ists, assisted in most of them by twelve laymen-oalled 
a jury. This is the best that civilization has been able 
so far to evolve. These tribunals may sometimes err 
wW:lreby innocent men are sent to the gallows and 
guilty men are set free, for no human system is per­
fect. But the agitation in the Frank case was a pro­
test against this historical and well-ordered method. 
It was a clamor that questions of guilt or innocence 
should be decided not by the established tribunals but 
by popular vote. It was a demand that those tribu­
nals should solve the problem, not according to the 
opinions of its judges founded upon the evidence, but 
upon the views of the multitude, founded upon senti­
ment and rhetoric. It is perfectly clear that this is a 
denial and negation of all law and of all authority. 
It is simply Lynch Law, exaggerated and popularized. 
We cannot try issues of this kind in this way; we can­
not decide the guilt or innocence of an accused man or 
woman by a show of hands in a town meeting or by 
counting noses on the street. And the people of no 
state in the American Union are going to acquiesce 
in this kind of proceeding. No citizen of one state is 
willing to submit to the inhabitants of the other states 
the question whether the decisions of its own tribunals 
are right or wrong and should or should not be en­
forced. And this is what happened in Georgia. 

From the citizens of Atlanta, indignant at the 
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crime and anxious to punish the criminal, twelve men 
were chosen to try the issue of Frank's guilt. They 
were ordinary men, shop-keepers and clerks, without 
any special education to fit them to foliow logically 
the arguments pro and con and with no training at 
all in weighing evidence. After listening to the wit­
nesses and the speeches of counsel for many days, and 
aware every moment, from the conduct of the audi­
ence in the court-room, that local opinion was prac­
tically unanimous against Frank, the jury found him 
guilty and the judge sentenced him to be hanged. 
Then the condemned man appealed to the higher 
courts where he contended that he was innocent and 
asked that those who sat in the high tribunals-be­
cause they were presumed to have all those qualliioa­
tions which the twelve jurors lacked-should examine 
the evidence and pass upon the question of his guilt 
or innocence of the crime with which he was charged. 
But to this appeal judge after judge turned a deaf 
ear. The trial judge told him that he had listened to 
all the witnesses for many days, but was not convinced 
that he was guilty, but the jury had found him guilty 
and that was enough for him.1 

The six judges of the State Supreme Court listened 
twice to long arguments and wrote several very 
learned judgments, but they were devoted solely to 

1 ''Even after the J1U'J' bad brought In it.a verdict, Judge L. S. Roan, 
the prealcHng Judge, waa not convinced of the defendant's guilt. In 
denJlng the motion for a new trtal he made this remarkable state­
ment: 'I have given thla queetlon long oonaldera.tlon. It baa given 
me more concern than an7 other case I waa ever In and I want to 
l&1' here. that, although I heard the evidence and the arguments 
during theae thirty da71, I do not know thl• morning whether Leo 
Frank ta Innocent or guilt7. But I waa not the one to be convinced. 
The Jul'7 waa convinced and I must approve the verdict and over­
l'llle the motion.' " Interview with Herbert Hau, one of the prle­
oner'a cowusel In the New York Time., March 2, 1914. 
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the question as to whether the judicial machiBery had 
been run properly, whether any inadmissible evidence 
had been admitted, whether the jury had heard the 
cheers given to the prosecuting attorney by the crowd 
in the streets and so forth. And when finally the pris~ 
oner's lawyers were able to get the case before the 
most august tribunal in the world--'the Supreme 
Court of the United States-that great Court forgot 
entirely the vital question of the guilt of the prisoner; 
the energy of its nine justices was expended on tL.e 
question, should or '8.hould not the verdict of the jury 
be set aside because the counsel and judge had agreed 
that Frank should not be in court when the jury re­
turned their verdict, and in accordance with this agree­
ment he was in his cell in the jail at that time and re­
ceived the news of it there instead of in court. And 
on this question, while the judges differed, a majority 
of them decided that it did not matter. 

Here Justice received its second wound. The Su­
preme Court of the state learned that the trial judge 
was doubtful as t.o Frank's guilt, but it leam.ed it 
in the wrong way. The trial judge expressed his 
doubt in the bill of exceptions, but failed to do so in 
his order, overruling the motion for. a new trial. 
"Had he taken the latter mode of informing the Court 
of his doubt, the Supreme Court would certainly have 
granted a new trial. But since it was not put in that 
order under a technical rule of practice which is un­
bending in our Supreme Court, a new trial was de­
nied, not because the doubt of the judge did not exist 
(for he certified to that himself in the bill of excep­
tions), but because he did not express that doubt in 
his written order rather than in the bill of excep­
tions. " 1 

• 49 Am. Law Rev. 947. 
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Just thinK of this, 0 I shades of Bentham and Broug­
ham, who more than half a century ago helped to wipe 
out these absurdities from the old English Procedure 
which, the work of churchmen in the middle ages, had 
lived unto the nineteenth century. Is there any other 
part of the civilized or uncivilized world where such 
things as Courts of Justice are known, that such a 
condition of things exists, outside of some of the Amer­
ican states f A man's life or liberty, the question of 
his guilt or innocence, depend not upon the evidence 
or upon the idea of justice, but upon whether or not 
somebody has put the necessary thing in the right 
document or in the wrong one. The people of Georgia, 
in establishing their Supreme Court, must have be­
lieved they were creating a high tribunal, where be­
yond the prejudice of particular localities, a convicted 
man would have justice administered in its highest 
form. Who made this limit to the court's jurisdic­
tion f Did the people ever demand that the court 
should shut its eyes to what it could see and its ears 
to what it could heart Or was it not the court itself 
which made this rule which denies justice unless it is 
asked in a particular formf 

And the Supreme Court of the United States had 
not a word to say on the only question that either the 
prisoner or the people of the state cared a rap about, 
viz. : did Leo M. Frank murder Mary Phagan f 
Whether Frank was in the court-room when the ver­
dict was returned had as little to do with the fairness 
of the trial or of his guilt, as would the question 
whether he wore a black or a grey coat or a red or a 
blue tie when the witnesses were examined and his 
counsel addressed the jury.' 

a In Continental practice the prisoner la ezcluded from the room 
when the jury announce their verdict. The editor inquired of a 
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When will our appellate judges recognize that their 
duty is to do justice, not simply to see that the judicial 
machine is run according to rule T When will our 
tribunals arrive at that very different point of view 
of the English and Continental Courts T Not so long 
as in American courts, Prooedure is King; for while 
the claims of this tyrant are respected, it matters not 
what may become of Justice. 

Frank now made his last appeal to the Governor of 
the state in whom is vested the ancient prerogative 
of the King-the power to pardon one unjustly con­
victed or to mitigate a punishment which he finds too 
severe. And the Governor of Georgia, after a patient 
and exhaustive examination of all the evidence, was 
of opinion that there was a reasonable doubt of his 
guilt and that the jury had made a grievous mistake 
in convicting him. And it will be difficult to find an 
unprejudiced reader of the evidence as set out in this 
volume who will not agree with him. Conley's story 
seems a pure fabrication. Frank could not have com­
mitted the crime and disposed of the body in the time 
alleged by the negro; it is utterly inconceivable that 
the notes found near the body could have been dic­
tated by a man of Frank's education; the Saturday 
afternoon was spent by him in making up a compli­
cated financial sheet requiring hours of time, and Con­
ley admitted he was so drunk on that day that he did 
not know where he was or what he did. The Gov-
Paris judge wb.7 th1a was so, and he replied it was on humanitarian 
grounds, to spare the feellnge of the prisoner. And whoever has 
watched a man on trla1 for his life in an American court room and 
has seen the awful strain the prisoner ta under while the jury 1a 
ftllng Into court and the Judge la preparing to put the question to 
them as to what their verdict ls, will appreciate the delicacy of the 
French point of Tlew, which thinks It more kind to convey the r&o 
nit through hia friends or lawyers In the quiet of the prlaon. 
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ernor, however, did not set Frank free. He sentenced 
him to imprisonment for life. But if Frank murdered 
Mary Phagan was there one extenuating reason why 
he should escape the gallows f the evidence shows 
none; his friends, his counsel, he himself never sug­
gested one. If, as may be the case, the Governor's 
intention was t.o keep him in prison until the public 
excitement had gone down and he could be safely re­
leased, then the state of Georgia was pledged to pro­
tect him against the mob. And when it was not strong · 
enough to do this, Justice received its final wound and 
lay stricken to death. 

The causes of the "Boston Massacre" which. led to 
the trial of the British Soldiers, Weems and seven 
others (p. 415), Captain Preston (p. 509), and Edward 
Manwaring and others (p. 511) are set out in the nar-
rative (p. 415.) 

The funeral solemnities of those who were killed by 
the fire of the soldiers were conducted with great 
pomp and splendor. Crispus Attucks, a mulatt.o, and 
James Caldwell, who were strangers in Boston, were 
borne from Faneuil Hall, Samuel Maverick, a youth of 
seventeen, from his mother's house in Union Street 
and Samuel Gray from his brother's in Royal Ex­
change Lane. The other, Patrick Carr, was still alive, 
although mortally wounded and died a few days aft­
erwards. The four hearses formed a junction in King 
Street at the place where the deceased fell and thence 
an immense procession marched in columns ~f six 
deep through the main street t.o the central (Granary) 
burying ground where the four bodies were deposited 
in one t.omb, amidst the solemn tolling of all the bells 
in Boston and the neighhoring towns. 
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As might be expected, this tragedy wrought \the 
whole people of Massachusetts, and above all, the in­
habitants of Boston, to the highest pitch of rage and 
indignation. The populace breathed only vengeance. 
Even minds better instructed and of higher princi­
ples than the multitude, in the excitement of the mo­
ment could not endure the doctrine that it was possi­
ble for an armed soldiery to fire upon and kill un­
armed citizens and commit a crime less than murder. 
Political animosity and natural an~ipathy to troops 
stationed in the metropolis sharpened this vindictive 
spirit. The friends of the government were either 
silent or only expressed regret and lamentation at the 
event. The friends of freedom were loud in their in­
dignation and clamorous for that justice which de­
clares that blood shall be the penalty of blood. 

Meanwhile there had been several meetings of the 
people and a committee was appointed which pro­
ceeded to the examination of witnesses "in order to 
show to the world and especially to the friends of the 
colonies in England that there were just grounds for 
insisting upon the removal of the troops." A narra­
tive was also given of the transaction which was 
adopted by the town and was widely distributed, clif­
f ering materially from the facts as subsequently 
proved and calculated to increase the excitement. 
Under such circumstances the British soldiers were 
to be tried for their lives and serious fears were en­
tertained, not only by their friends but by the candid 
and moderate of all parties, that they would not be 
dealt with by even-handed justice. 

But among the friends of freedom there were men 
who viewed this matter in the calm and rational light 
of truth and justice. Anxious for the honor of the 
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town, doubly anxious for the cause of humanity they 
felt an earnest desire that justice should not fall a 
sacrifice in her own temple. Of these John Adams 
and Josiah Quincy, junior, deserve most honorable 
mention. Sympathizing most deeply with the mass 
of their fellow-citizens in their hatred of the instru­
ments of their oppressors, and in their detestation of 
the principles they had been sent hither to maintain, 
no men had more openly or pathetically appealed to 
their fellow-citizens or had more studiously excited 
their resentment both in the gazettes and in Faneuil 
Hall against the troops and their employers. What, 
then, must have been their surprise when Captain 
Preston solicited their professional services in his 
own behalf and in that of the soldiers. To understand 
the difficulty of their situation it is necessary to real­
ize the exasperated state of public feeling. The spirit 
of revenge glowed with a fervor almost universal. 
On the one hand were the obligations of humanity, 
official duty and the strong desire that justice should 
be done; on the other the confidence of their political 
friends, their popularity and that general affection 
which their public course had attained for them in so 
remarkable a degree among their fellow-citizens, were. 
to be hazarded. After deliberation and consultation 
with each other and their friends, both of these patri­
ots yielded all personal considerations to the higher 
obligations of humanity and official duty. They 
braved the fury of the moment and interposed their 
learning, talents and well earned influence to that tor­
rent of passion which for a time threatened to bear 
down the landmarks of justice. 

In the midst of an excitement unparalleled in the 
history of our country and in a community where they 
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were regarded with abhorrence that they were only 
saved from summary punishment by the judicious ef­
forts of the friends of law and order, the1 soldiers had 
a fair trial, the result of which has stood the test of 
time and the examination of impartial history. 

The result of the trial gained for the friends of 
fn!edom the respect of the world and no single occur­
rence did more to advance the cause of truth and just 
principles than what was dominated in the language 
of that day the Boston Massacre. It caused the im­
mediate withdrawal of the troops from the town of 
Boston and the people, feeling that something had 
been gained, received new confidence in the determina­
tion to resist the encroachments of arbitrary power 
and mistaken policy. It was determined by the town 
to celebrate the anniversary of the fifth of March, to 
the end that there might be an annual development of 
the "fatal effects of the policy of standing armies and 
the natural tendency of quartering regular troops in 
populous cities in times of peace." On the day of the 
first celebration the bells of the town of Boston were 
tolled from twelve to one o'clock, at noon, and from 
nine to ten in the evening and during this, figures to 
represent the murder of the inhabitants were exhib­
ited from a window of a distinguished citizen •of the 
town. On the recurrence of this anniversary until aft­
er the independence of the country was firmly estab­
lished, the day was always observed in a solemn and 
striking manner. An oration was delivered by public 
request, when the orators took occasion to illustrate 
and enforce the great principles of civil and religious 
liberty, and the people of Boston were thus prepared 
tor those acts of spirited and determined resistance 
to the encroachments of the Crown which plaoed them 
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in the foremost rank of the patriots of that day and 
covered the names of some of their number with im­
perishable fame.' 

That curious ancient privilege, viz.: benefit of clergy, 
of which the two soldiers (KiUroy and Montgomery) 
convicted of ~anslaughter, had the advantage (p. 
508) originated in a pious regard for the church by 
which the clergy of Catholic countries were either par­
tially or wholly exempted from the jurisdiction of the 
ordinary legal tribunals. It extended in England only 
to the case of felony; and though it was intended to 
apply simply to clerical persons or clerks, yet as 
being able to read was, by the laws of England, con­
sidered as sufficient evidence pf the clerical character, 
when the rudiments of iearning came to be diffused, 
almost every man in the community became entitled 
to this privilege; a person entitled to the benefit "of 
clergy was formerly handed over to the ecclesiastical 
tribunals for trial But this giving rise to great 
abuses the secular judges ordered those who were en­
titled to the benefit of clergy to be detained in prison 
until they should be pardoned by the king. By a stat­
ute passed in the reign of Queen Elizabeth, persons 
convicted of felony and entitled to the benefit of clergy 
were to be discharged from prison, being first branded 
in the thumb; if laymen it was discretionary with the 
judge to detain them in prison, not exceeding one 
year. At the time of the trial of the British soldiers, 
manslaughter was within the benefit of clergy and the 
punishment was for the offender to be burnt in the 
hand and forfeit all his goods and chattels. It was 
abolished in England in the reign of George IV. 

' Challdler'1 American CrlmlDal Trial•. 
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The Leisler rebellion in New York (Jacob Leisler, 
p. 512) was the outgrowth of the anti-Catholic wave 
that swept over England and her colonies during the 
reign of James II, and Leisler's imagination greatly 
magnified the danger of a general religious war. He 
was no traitor to William of Orange; his effort was 
to hold the government for the Protestant cause. But 
he possessed none of the qualities of a leader-a sim­
ple New York merchant, his education did not fit him 
for the trying emergencies in which he was placed. 
He was wrong in seizing the government and this act 
made him many enemies, but his intentions were good, 
and his execution after the danger was passed was a 
judicial mistake. He perished a victim to party ma­
lignity. The first to raise the standard of William 
and Mary he was the first to suffer as a traitor. In 
later years his estate was restored to his family and 
an act of Parliament reversed his attainder. His vio­
lence and incompetency were forgotten in sympathy 
for the injustice of his death, and his friends became 
a successful party and one of his principal enemies 
was himself condemned as a rebel and a traitor. 

The trial of Nicholas Bayard (p. 518) for High 
Treason in 1702, appropriately follows Jacob Leisler's 
case in 1691. They explain each other and are both 
singularly illustrative of the condition of the Prov­
ince at the periods when they occurred, distracted as 
it was by two rival factions who carried their dissen­
tions to an excess which has no parallel in this coun­
try. The account is derived from standard historical 
works and from a full report of the trial which ap­
pears to have been prepared by Bayard himself or 
some of his friends and which is contained in the 
fourteenth volume of Howell's State Trials. There 



xviii PREF ACE TO VOLUME TEN 

is no reason to doubt the general accuracy of that re­
port although some of the statements in it should be 
received with much allowance. The trial as reported 
gives evidence of great learning, research and skill on 
the part of the prisoner's counsel, but some of the dis­
cussions which relate to mere questions of abstract 
law are here omitted." 

Judge Gerard, American Ambassador at Berlin 
from 1913 to 1917, is quoted as saying that it will be 
hard to find a punishment to fit the case of the kaiser 
and his pals who have been convicted in the Court of 
the World of the greatest crime in history. Perhaps 
the ancient sentence for High Treason which was 
passed upon Colonel Bayard (p. 539) might well be 
revived for their benefit, until something better is 
thought of. 

For what small gain a man will commit murder, the 
trial of Orrin De Wolf (p. 540) shows. His victim was 
of even less value to society than he; and for this rea­
son the Governor's Council thought he was not worth 
hanging. The case is reported here, not for its impor­
tance as a contribution to criminology, but to preserve 
the charge (which would otherwise be lost) of Massa­
chusetts' great Chief Justice, Lemuel Shaw. 

The case of the black coachman, .Alexander Whis­
telo (p. 567) is a companion one to that of Maurice v. 
Judd where the grave question submitted to the same 
court w:as Is a whale a fish f See 3 Am. St. Tr. A 
more amusing trial is not to be found in the Judicial 
reports and again we meet our old friend Counselor 
Sampson' of New York, and with him again that great 
expert and fountain of knowledge, Dr. Mitchill.' The 

s 2 Chandler's American Trials. 
e 3 Am. St. Tr., 627. 
T Id., 613. 
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learned gentleman who had then contended that a whale 
under no circumstances was entitled to be called a 
fish was now no more successful in his view that a 
negro might be the father of a white child. 

In passing the death sentence on Robert McGonaghy 
(p. 601) the judge told him that for barbarity, treach­
ery and depravity, his cruelty and wickedness had not 
been surpassed by the pirates of the West Indies or 
the savages of the wilderness. For on a summer day 
on a little farm, in Pennsylvania, he had murdered the 
whole Brown family, except the husband who W&S at 
the time away from home. George, aged 16, and 
David, aged 10, he had choked to death in ·the woods. 
Jacob of 14 years he had shot in the back; little Eliza­
beth, the only daughter, he had strangled, and then 
the mother's throat he had cut while she lay in bed 
and the eldest son John he had shot. The case :finds 
no parallel in our criminal records. The pirates of 
the West Indies have long ago disappeared from the 
high seas, and the ·S"avages of the wilderness are no 
more. Only in the reports of the Bryce Commission on 
the Belgian invasion and in the report of the French 
government on the German atrocities in northern 
France, can one r~d of more awful crimes in scores 
of hamlets and country-sides in theee devastated 
lands by a people who claim to be civilized and ''cul­
tured.'' 

How many of our best citizens are every year pay­
ing tribute to adventurers like W. J. Gook (p. 624) 
and Mrs. Hirsch (p. 655) it would be difficult to say. 
TOO innocent victim, in nine oases out of ten, submits 
to blackmail rather than endure the publicity of the 
yellow press and the condition of mind of the ordinary 
American juror who will take any woman's word as 
against a man's. And our state legislatures who seem 



ll PBEF ACE TO VOLUME TEN 

to be sublimely ignorant of what the great dramatist 
has written of the comparative value of one's purse 
and good name, treat a blackmailer as a person to be 
dealt with most tenderly-witness the mild sentences 
given to Cook and Mrs. Hirsch. And our national 
legislature has made it still easier for this class of 
blackmailers by enacting a law under which, ·as con­
strued by our highest Oourt, a notorious prostitute 
who induces a boy of 17 to pay her fare on a steam­
boat or railroad or street car, may, if the youth re­
fuses to accede to her demands, actually pose in the 
courts as a White Slave and have him sent to the peni­
tentiary for a longer term than the average sentence 
of a burglar, a foot-pad or an assassin. 

The six Spanish pirates who were hanged in the 
city of Boston (Pedro Gibert and others, p. 699) had 
stopped on the high seas an American merchant ves­
sel and had appropriated all the specie they found 
there. But the merchantman returned safely to its 
home port and no man or woman or child lost his }ife. 
What a trifling offense was this compared to the 
crimes of German pirates who have in the past four 
years sent to the bottom of the sea hundreds of peace­
ful vessele and murdered thousands of innocent sail­
ors, pa'SSengers, women and little children. Tried for 
their lives by tbe admiralty law Gibert and his asso­
ciates had no defense; and when after the war the 
German pirates are tried by the rules of International 
law what derense will they be able ro set up! Inter­
national law is simply the unwritten and written law 
of the nations. It is the sum of those usages which 
civilized people have decided to be binding on them in -
their intercourse one with another; and it has its 
rules for times of war as well as for times of peace. 
Just as the common law in England and America is 
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to be found in the customs of their people, in the writ­
ings of their jurists and in the deeisions of their 
courts, so the unwritten International law is to be 
f onnd in the customs of nations, in the works of In­
ternational writers from Grotius down and in the de­
cisi<>ns of civil, criminal and prize courts. And just 
as these principles have in the case of private law 
been written in statutes, so in the case of Internation­
al law have they been embodied in treaties and in the 
declarations of International Congresses. Both pri­
vate and international law justify the taking of hu­
man life in certain cases, but the submarine pirate 
will find no law to cover his murder of non-oombatant'S. 
He will have but the plea that he was following the 
orders of a superman named the kaiser who is bound 
by no law human or divine and whose authority and 
will no living creature may deny or .oppose. But will 
mankind bow to this f 

As Dr. Wharton haa put it, the conviction of Dr. 
Cooper (p. 774) after those that had gone before un­
der the unpopular Sedition Law only added fresh 
pungency to invectives already pungent. Cooper 
shook his chains in the President's face and dared 
him to pardon him; and Lyon danced about his dun­
geon in agony, lest in a fit of clemency Mr. Adams 
should secure the presidential vote of Vermont. Un­
der the Sedition Law the "seditious" became still 
more scurriloU's; and the result was that the govern­
ment found itself impudently bullied by those it at­
tempted to chastise. It was reserved for later times 
to demonstrate that after all a press the most unfet­
tered is a press the most restrained. 
~ a recent work of great interest to the lawyer8 

• Declalve Battles of the Law, by Frederick Trevor Hill, New York 
aad London. Harper Broa., publishers. 1907. 
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there is a striking picture of the personages-lawyers 
and judges-who clashed so strongly in the celebrated 
trial of James Thompson Callender (p. 813). 

It was a picturesque gathering of Vlrglnlana th&t awaUed the 
opening of the United States Circuit Court on that summer morn­
ing, for the ugly fashions of the French ReTolutlon had not as yet 
found much favor in the Old Dominion, and knee-breeches, low 
shoes, buckles, buttons and queues tied with ribbons, were still ln 
vogue. And yet it was not their dress but their faces and bearing 
which particularly distinguished these gentlemen as they stood 
talking with another under the wide-spreading trees at the edge of 
the publtc square. :Many of them were clothed like English farm­
ers, but they wore their dusty garments with an unmistakable air 
of dlstlnctlon, and their clean-shaven, cle&NlUt features bespoke 
dignity and intelUgence. The center of one group was especially 
noticeable, his strong and somewhat stem face indicating char· 
acter In every Une and the ease with which he held his auditors 
singled him out as a master of men. This was John :Marshall, dip­
lomat and Jurist and soon to become the ofB.clal chief of the hated 
Judge whose ofB.ctal program was summoning all the country-side. 
In another group near Marshall &toed a handsome, neatly-dressed 
man about thirty years of age, tall, well formed and gracefUl, with 
a hearty laugh and a conftdent manner that seemed to fascinate 
those about him, particularly one keen, boyish-looking listener who 
hung upon hla every word, for Wllllam Wirt was already the beau· 
Ideal of the Junior bar, and Phlllp Nicholas had reason to felicitate 
himself on being associated with such a rising young advocate. In 
this same group stood George Hay, soon to become one of the best 
known lawyers in the country, and beside him atood the dlstln· 
gulshed leader of the Virginia bar, Edmund Randolph. 

All these men were to meet again. under very different conditions 
to conduct one of the most famous trials In American history,• but for 
the time being all profeBBional and political differences were merged 
in their loyalty to the Virginia bar whoae dignity and lnftuence bade 
fair to be seriously affected ln the trial of Jamee Thompson Callen· 
der for seditious libel against the President of the United States. 

That this was the II.rat law passed by the national legislature 
against the freedom of the press and that its enforcement In Vir­
ginia threatened to provoke a conflict between the state and the 
Federal authorliles, poesibly Involving the stablllty of the union, 
was quite sufB.clent to arouse unprecedented interest in Callender'& 
cue, for these feot8 Indicated a cause of vital Importance which bade 
fair to result In the ftrat State trial upon record In the Common-

' Impeachment of Judge Samuel Chase, 11 Am. St. Trials. 
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wealth. Nevertheless, it was not these momentous IHuee that at­
tracted the maJorlty of the legal profession, but rather the person­
ality of the judge who proPoSed to try the case, for His Honor was 
probably the most violent, the most feared and the best-hated par­
tisan who ever sat upon the Federal bench. 

Then follows this account of Judge Samuel Chase: 

It was not In his judicial capacity alone that Samuel . Chase had 
earned his reputation. In the st.:lrrlng days preceding the Revolu­
tion he had been one of the "Sons of Liberty" who had attacked the 
pu.bllc omcea of Baltimore during the Stamp Act and later he and his 
band had actually compelled a group of old malcontents, Including 
his own father, to take the oath of allegiance to the Continental 
CongreBB. Nor were these the only manifestations of such playtul­
neae credited to his account, for when certain Pennsylvania Quakers 
had refused to lllumlnate their houses In honor of a Revolutionary 
success, be had swooped upon the offending citizens with his fol· 
lowers, bundled them into carts and deported them In the depth of 
winter to Virglnla, where they were unceremoniously deposited and 
left to shift for themselves. 

All this youthful boisterousness. however, would probably have 
been attributed to exuberant vitality and misdirected zeal had not 
h1a conduct as a member of the Maryland Colonial Legislature and 
the Continental Congress been almost equally turbulent and provo­
cative of riot. The man was, however, an Incorrigible bully, with 
a genius for offense and when at the close of the war he found him­
self a member of the Maryland House of Delegates, he straightway 
became Involved In polltlcal broils which resulted In an attempt at 
h1a impeachment. But here his 11.ghtlng qualities stood him In good 
stead, for he not only fought his enemies to a stand.still, but he had 
hJmself rewarded, first with the Cblef-Justlceshlp of the Criminal 
Court of Baltimore, and then with the Cblef-Justlceshlp of the Gen­
eral Court, both of which offtces he tenaciously held and adminis­
tered In flagrant defiance of the law until his action was offtclally de­
clared unconstiutlonal. NevertheleBB, his name was writ large fn 
the Declaration of Independence, his personal honesty, courage and 
patriotism were unquestioned, and although he had at first opposed 
the Constitution he bad beoome In course of time the most ardent 
of Federal enthualuts. 

Buch was the man whom Washington had appointed to the Fed­
eral bench In 1796 and there was to be nothing In his conduct of 
that ofll.ce to belle hJs previous record. Domineering, fearless, vain. 
conftdent and honest, he had many of the qualltles necessary to ee­
tabllsb the authority of the new court, but no one did m0re than he 
to make h1a tribunal obnoxious to the bar. Wtth a good claaelcal 
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education and considerable experience and ability as a lawyer he 
had the majority of the attorneys who practiced before him at a dis­
tinct advantage, and those whom he could not unhorse with legal 
learning he cowed and silenced with Jocular or brutal tyranny, as 
best suited his humor. But perhaps his gravest offense waa political 
activity with which he never allowed his Judicial duties to Inter­
fere, and he had not been long upon the circuit before angry out­
cries were ralaed against hla aggressive Federal partlsanahlp. ()p­
poeltlon of this character, however, merely excited hla belligerency, 
e.nd he never made the slightest effort to conceal his political 
opinions, either on or off the bench. Indeed, when the Sedition Act 
became a law, he had openly rejoiced at the opportunity lt afforded 
for silencing critics of the administration and his actions were soon 
to speak louder than words. During the trial of Frles,10 his arbi­
trary rulings practically forced the prisoner's counsel to retire from 
the case In disgust, and when Thomas Cooper, member of the Penn· 
81lva.m& bar, convicted of libeling the President, was arraigned for 
sentence, he announced In open court that If he could discover that 
the Democratic party was behind the prisoner, he would ln11.lct the 
aeverest penalties known to the law.11 

Then we have a description of the people and the 
bar assembling at the old court house to hear and take 
part in the trial. 

The threatened clash between the bench and bar was of course 
particularly interesting to lawyers, but there were many laymen 
among those gathered before the courthouse on the morning of the 
trial, for the country was thoroughly aroused over the attempt to 
enforce the Sedition Law within a state whose legislature had om­
clally condemned It, and the conflict between the Federal and State 
authorities was far more important to the average Virginian than 
the settlement of any professional differences. Not all the horse­
men who came tralllng across the Common were present from 
choice, however, for the marshal had Invaded the most distant plan­
tations In his search for Jurors and some of the victims had ridden 
ten, fifteen and even twenty mlles In obedience to his summons, 
spreading the news of the Impending event thro~gh the outlying dla­
trlcta, until the rapidly gathering crowd promised to surpass that of 
any previous court day In Richmond. Nevertheless, no one of the 
waiting throng seemed to be in any haste to move In-doors, and 
Jurors, witnesses, spectators and laywers remained clustered about 
the entrance or scattered along the edge of the Common discussing 

10 See 11 Am. St. Tr. 
11 Po1t, p. 774. 
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the eaae until nearly ten o'clock, when they slowly moved towards 
the scene of acUon, and a few minutes later filled the courtroom to 
overflowing. 

At a table beside the judiclal desk sat Wllllam Marshall, clerk of 
the court and brother of the future Chtef.JusUce, and near him stood 
Kr. Nelson, the District Attorney, with David Robertson the short­
hand reporter, whose notes were to prove an Invaluable exhibit In 
the subsequent impeachment of the judge. The attention of the audf· 
ence, however, was mainly directed to the prisoner, his bondsman, 
:Meriwether Jones and hie counsel, Messrs, Hay, Wirt and Nicholas, 
a formidable array for any hostile judge, and a trio with whom the 
bar of Richmond were well content to trust their dignity and honor. 
Indeed, these champions had already given Chase a taste of their 
quality by vlrtually forcing him to grant adjournments on two pre­
vloua occaslona, and it was whispered that they Intended to manoeu­
vre him out of the case altogether by conUnulng thelr dllatory tao­
Uca until the term expired. In fact the word passed from lip to lip 
&Cl'Oll the crowded chamber that the judge had walked Into a very 
neat trap at the last hearing by granUng an adjournment to procure 
the attendance of a certain wltneH named Giles. Thia, it was 
claimed, was a fatal conoesaion, for if the non-qipearance of this 
witness ju1Wled a postponement on Monday, it equally demanded it 
on Tueaday, for he was 1Ull mlBBlng, and the case could not, th~ 
fore, be tried until he was produced, which would be the day after 
never. The audience chuckled approvingly as this story went the 
roan.de, gleefully anUcipatlng the discomfiture of the judge, and the 
general opilllon was that, for once, at leaat, Chase bad met his 
matcll.--& result particularly agreeable to local pride. Judiclal 
tyranta might bully and awe the Pennsylvania or Maryland be.I', but 
the profeulon ill Virginia knew a trick or two which would-

Now enter th~ judges; 

The chatter and laughter suddenly ceased as the door opened, dla­
cloalng the not too heroic figure of the District Judge, Cyrus Grlfll.n, 
a rather tutlle, colorle18 and Umld personage who appeared to be 
propelled Into the room by a burly, busUlng, red.faced man who 
strode rapidly to the bench, nodding an ungracious salutation at the 
assemblage, while the court crler bellowed his familiar announce­
ment. The Individual whose arrival bad bad the effect of a school­
master entering a nolsy clusroom, was a man of about sixty years 
of age, huge of bulk, coarse of feature, masterful in manner. On 
his maaalve head sat an Ul-made wig and his garments were those 
of the ordinary citizen with no particular regard for appearances, 
but there was no mistaking his autboritatlve bearing as he loomed 
up behind the judlclal deek and glowered at the silent audience. To 
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moet of those who returned his acrutlay he was an entire stranger, for 
until the present term of the court he had never set foot In Richmond, 
and doubtleu many of the spectators were prepared to 1lnd him a 
1lend In human shape. But though his expression was somewhat 
forbidding, bis large, strong, clean-shaven face was not uncomely, 
and his giant frame suggested strength rather than brutality. Never· 
theless hJa small, snappy, shitty eyes had a dangerous glint and there 
were ominous lines about the corners of hie mouth, betraying pos­
stbllittes of an ugly droop and other lndlcatlons of a quarrelsome 
disposition were not wanting. The whole aspect of the man, how­
ever, suggested energy and determination rat.her than Intellectual 
power, and contrasted with the group of lawyers who faced him, he 
appeared at a disadvantage. But the moment the proceedings 
opened this tmpreulon faded and as he leaned over the desk and 
listened to Mr. Hay's long and not too Ingenious plea for an ad· 
Journment. his gaze was so uncomfortably Intelligent that the 
speaker, obvtoaaly embarrassed, made poor work of his argumenL 

The trial of Judge Samuel Chase before the Senate 
of the United States-the first impeachment case re­
ported in this series-for his unfair and partisan rul­
ings and conduct, in the Callender and other trials, will 
be found in Vol. XI American State Trials. 



THE TRIAL OF LEO M. FRANK FOR THE MUR­
DER OF MARY PHAGAN, ATLANTA, 

GEORGIA, 1913. 

THE NARRATIVE. 

Saturday, April 26, 1913, was Memorial Day, a holiday, 
and there was no work going on in the National Pencil 
Company's factory at Atlanta. But Leo M. Frank, the 
superintendent, was in his ofllce when, a little after noon, 
Mary Phagan, a white girl, fourteen years old, whose duty, 
was to attach metal tips to pencils, and who had not been at 
work for a week, as the supply of metal had run out, called 
to get some pay which was due her. There was no one else 
in the building except two workmen on the top :floor. Frank 
stated that he handed her an envelope containing $1.20; that 
she asked if the metal had come and that he replied, "no"; 
that she left his office, and that he heard her footsteps as she 
went away. There was no evidence that she was ever seen 
alive by anyone after that. 

Early next morning (Sunday) Newt Lee, the negro night­
watehman, found in the basement the body of Mary Phagan, 
strangled ~ death by a cord. There was a cloth tied around 
her head which was torn from her underskirt. There were 
no external signs of rape. The body was not mutilated, but 
there were wounds on the head and elbow and below the knee. 
Newt Lee was arrested, but denied all knowledge of the 
crime ; so did Frank, who expressed a strong desire to ftnd 
the murderer, and placed everything he could in the hands 
of the detectives to aid their search. But on April 29, 1913, 
Frank was arrested, and on May 24 he was indicted for the 
murder of the little girt . 

On the trial, Newt Lee1 testified that Frank had told him 
to be back at the factory at four o'clock Saturday afternoon, 

1 Post, p. 190. 
182 



LEO M. PRANK. 183 

and when he came upstairs to report, Frank, rubbing his 
hands, met him and told him to go out and have a good time 
until six o'clock. When Lee returned Frank changed the 
slip in the time clock, manifesting nervousness and taking a · 
longer time than usual. When Frank went out of the front 
door of the factory that afternoon, he met a man named 
Gantt whom he had discharged a short time before. Frank 
looked frightened. Gantt declared he wished to go upstairs 
and get some shoes he had left there which permission Frank 
1lnally granted, stating that he thought they had been swept 
out, About an hour after this occurrence Frank called up 
Lee over the telephone from his home, a . thing he had never 
done before and asked him if everything was all right at the 
factory. Lee found the double inner doors locked which he 
had never found that way before. Subsequently when Lee 
was arrested and Frank was requested by the detectives to 
go in and talk to him and find out what he knew, Lee testi­
fied that Frank dropped his head and stated ''If you keep 
that up we will both go to hell.'' On Sunday morning the police 
officers telephoned to Frank that the girl's body had been dis­
covered and that they were coming to take him to the under­
taker's where it was. When they came he was very nervous 
and trembled, and at the undertaker's showed a disinclina­
tion to look at the body and did not go into the room where 
it lay, but turned away at the door.a Another female em­
ployed at the factory swore that at the time when, the State 
contended, Mary Phagan and Frank were in the metal room 
she was in Frank's office and he was absent, although he had 
declared he had not left the office at all during that time.8 

One witness swore that on Monday morning he found six 
or aeven strands of hair in the lathe which he \forked, and 
which were not there on Friday.' Several witnesses testified 
that the hair was like that of Mary Phagan, although Dr. 
Harris, comparing Mary Phagan 's hair with that on the 

a W. W. Rogers, posl, p. 192. 
a Monteen Stover, post, p. 197. 
'R. P. Barrett, post, p. 197. 
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lathe under a microeeope, gave his opinion that it wu not 
her hair.• Other witnesses said they thought they saw blood 
on the floor near the dressing room, at which place Con)q 
said he dragged the body, and that it was not there on Fri­
day.• Other witnesses who eX&D).ined the floor said the spot.a 
looked like blood stains, but they were not aure,' and there 
was testimony that there were frequent injuries at the fac­
tory, and blood was not infrequent. A part of what they 
thought to be blood was chipped from the floor and Dr. 
Claude Smith testi1led that on one of the chips, he found un­
der a microscope, from three to :ftve blood corpuscles, but he 
eould not say that it was human blood.• 

Near the body in the basement there were found two notes 
in a negro's handwriting, one written on brown paper and 
the other on a leaf of scratch pad. That written on white 
paper contained tMse words: ''He said he would love me, 
laid down play like the night-witch, did it, but that long tall 
black negro did boy hisself." On the brown paper, which 
was the carbon sheet of an order blank, was written the fol· 
lowing: "Mam that negro fire down here did this when i went 
to make water and he push me down a hole a long tall black 
negro did (had) it. i right while play with me.'" 

But the startling evidence, and that upon whieh the eon­
viction of Frank was based was that given by a diaaolute and 
good-for-nothing negro, Jim Conley, a man 27 years of age, 
and one who had frequently •been in the chain-gang. Conley 
bad worked at the factory for a.bout two years, and in the 
basement about two months, and had run the elevator, a18o. 
The detectives learned, about the middle of May, that Con­
ley could write, although at first he denied it. He made, be­
fore the trial, one statement and three aftldavits about bis 
connection with the matter. 

• This opinion seems to have been given later on a motion for a 
new trial. · 

• R. P. Barrett, ante. · 
T J. N. Starnes, post, p. 192; J . L. Beaven, poat, p. 199. 
1 Post, p. 200. 
•Post, p. 244. 
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On the trial Conley testi1led that he was asked by Frank to 
«>me to the factory on Saturday and watch for him as he had 
previously done, which he explained meant that Frank ex­
pected to meet some woman and when Frank stamped his foot 
Conley waa to lock the door leading .into the factory, and 
when he whistled he was to open it. He said he oeeupied a 
dark place at the side of the elevator behind some boxes, 
where he would be invisible. He swore he saw several people, 
including male and female employees, go up the atepe to the 
second :Boor where Frank's oftlee was located; that Jrfa17 
Phagan went up, that he heard in a few minutes footst.epe 
going 'back to the metal room; that he heard a scream and 
then he dozed off. In a few minutes Frank stamped and he 
locked the door, and then Frank whistled, when he unlocked 
the door and went up the stepe. Frank waa shivering and 
trembling and told Conley, "I wanted to be with the little 
girl and she refused me and I struck ~r, and I gueaa I struek 
her too hard, and she fell and hit her head against something, 
and I don't know how bad she got hurt. Of course you 
lmow I ain't built like other men." Conley said that he 
foand Mary Phagan in the metal room, some 200 feet from 
the oftlce, with a cloth tied about her neck and under the 
head, as though to eatch blood, although there was no blood 
at the place. Frank told him to get a piece of cloth and put 
the body in it, and Conley got a piece of striped bed-tick and 
tied the body in it and called on Frank for assistance in car­
rying it. Frank went to his oftlee and got a key and unlocked 
the switchboard in order to operate the elevator to the base­
ment, where Conley rolled the body off the cloth. They went 
baek into Frank's private oftlce and just at that time Frank 
uid: "My God, here is Emma Clark and Corintha Hall," 
and Frank then put Conley into the wardrobe. After thq 
left, Frank let Conley out and asked Conley if he could write, 
to which Conley said "yes". Frank then dictated the letters 
just referred to and then took out of his desk a roll of green. 
bacb and said, "Here is $200," but after a while requested 
the money back and got it.11 

1• Poal, p. 202. 
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Frank denied the truth of Conley's story in toto and said 
that Mary Phagan came into bis oftlee about noon, that he 
gave her the envelope and that she left him and he had never 
seen her sinee. He introduced nearly one hundred witnesses 
as to his good character, including citizens of Atlanta, col­
lege mates at Cornell, and professors of that college. 

And the defense produced the statement and aflldavita 
Conley bad made before the trial to the oftlcers of the law.11 

In the first, on May 13, he gave a minute detail of his aetiona 
on the 26th of April; the saloons he vislt.ed and the whiskey 
and beer he bought, and itemized the denomination of the 
money he had and what he spent for ;f>eer, whiskey and 
sausage. He said nothing about Frank or Mary Phagan. On 
May 24 he made an affidavit in which be said that on Friday 
before the Saturday on which the murder was committed 
Frank asked him if he could write, and he dictated to him 
practically the contents of one of the notes found by the body 
of Mary Phagan. Frank then took a brown scratch pad and 
wrote on that himself and then gave him a box of cigarett.es 
in which was some money, and Frank said to him that he had 
some wealthy relatives in Brooklyn and "Why should I 
hangf" On May 28, 1913, Conley made for the detective& 
another aftldavit in which he stated that on Saturday morn­
ing, after leaving home, he bought two beers for himself, and 
then went to a saloon and won 90 cents with dice; that he 
bought two more beers and a halt pint of whiskey, some of 
which he drank; that he met Frank in the street and they 
~nt over to the factory and he told him to sit down on the 
step until he whistled. Conley mentioned various people 
whom he saw from his place of espionage going up the stairs 
to Mr. Frank's oftlee. Then Frank whistled to him and be 
came up the stairs and Frank was trembling, and he and 
Frank went into the private oftlee when Frank exclaimed that 
Miss Emma Clark and Corinthia Hall were coming, and con­
cealed Conley in the wardrobe. Conley said that he stayed in 
the wardrobe a pretty good while, for the whiskey and the 

11 Post, pp. 244-250. 
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beer had gotten him t.o sweating. Then Frank asked him if 
he eould write and Frank made him write at his dietation 
three times, and Frank t.old him he was going t.o take the 
note and send it in a letter t.o his people and recommend Con­
ley t.o them. Frank said, "Why should I hang!" Frank 
took a cigarette from a box and gave the box t.o Conley and 
when Coruey got across the street he found it had two paper 
dollars and two silver quarters in it, and Conley said '•Good 
luck has done struck me.'' At the beer saloon he bought one­
half pint of whiskey and then got a bueket and bought 1lfteen 
eent.s' worth of beer, ten cent.a' worth of stove wood and a 
nickel's worth of pan sausage, and gave his old woman $3.50. 
He did not leave home until about 12 o'clock Sunday. On 
Tuesday morning Frank came up stairs and t.old him t.o be 
a good boy. On Wednesday, Conley washed his shirt at the 
factory, and hung it on the steam pipe t.o dry. The detectives 
took the shirt and, finding no blood on it, returned it. On: 
the 29th of May, 1913, Conley made another aftldavit in 
which he said that Frank told him that he picked up a girl 
and let her fall and Conley hollowed t.o him that the girl was 
dead, and told him t.o go to the oott.on bag and get a piece of 
eloth, and he got a wide piece of cloth and took her on hia 
right shoulder, when she got too heavy for him and she 
1lipped off. He called Frank t.o help, and Frank got a key to 
the elevator and the two carried the body down stairs and 
Frank told him t.o take the body !back t.o the sawdust piles, 
and Conley picked the girl up and put her on his shoulder, 
while Frank went back up the ladder. Conley then took the 
cloth from around her and took her bat and slipper, which he 
had picked up upstairs where her body was lying, and 
brought them down and untied the cloth and brought them. 
back and "throwed them on the trash rpile" in front of the 
furnace. 

When Frank was arrested and indicted for the murder 
there was intense excitement and feeling in Atlanta.-lyneh­
ing was feared, and the Governor of the state had the mili­
tary in readiness t.o protect the prisoner if the jail was at­
tacked. And during the trial the spectat.ors again and 
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again manifested their NSentment t.owards the prisoner; 
they applauded the Stat.e counsel more than once, and the 
crowd in the streets eheered the prosecuting attorneys u 
they ent.ered and left the court house. And when the jtll"1' 
was ready t.o deliver the verdict, the judge requeat.ed that 
!Joth the prisoner and his counsel should be absent from the 
court room when the verdict was rendered, in order to avoid 
any possible demonstration in the event of an acquittal. 

The jury retumed a verdict of guilty, whieh was received 
with cheers by the waiting crowd in the streets, who carried 
the p:roeecuting attomey, when he left the court house, to bis 
o1Bee on their shoulders. The next day Frank was aenteneed 
to be hanged. Then began a long fight in the courts, frOm the 
trial court to the Supreme Court of the State and finally to 
the Supreme Court of the United States. But every court 
he appealed t.o refused t.o disturb the verdict of the jury. 
So did the State Board of Pardons. The Governor, however, 
after a long and careful study of the evidence, came t.o the 
conclusion that there was a reasonable doubt of his guilt, 
and commuted his senteooe to imprisonment for life. 

After he was taken to prison he was attacked by a fellow. 
convict who stabbed him in the neck, the wound being almost 
fatal. He had barely recovered from this when, on the 
night of August 16, 1915, a number of men broke int.o the 
prison, overpcnrered the guards, and carried him in an auto­
mobile a distance of 125 miles t.o Marrietta, where little Mary 
Phagan was buried, and there in the early morning hanged 
him t.o a tree. 

THE TRIAL.11 

In the Superior Courl of Fullon County, Allanta, Georgia, 
Jtdy, 1913. 

HoN. LEONABD S. Ro.A.N,11 Judge. Jtdy 28. 

Leo 'JI. Fran..k, having on May 24, 1913, been indicted 1>1 
the grand jury of the County for the murder of Mary Pha-

11 Bibliography. •"In lhe Supreme Court of Georgia, Fall Term, 
1913. Leo M. Frank, Plaintiff in Error, vs. State of Georgia, De-

•• 

1 
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can, on April 26, 1913, and having been arraigned and 
pleaded not guilty the trial began today. 

Hugi& M. Dorsey,1' Soli~itor General; Frank A. Hooper,11 

and E. A. Slepl&ena,1" Assistant Solicitor, far the State. 
Reube" R. Amold,1' Lu.tiler Z. Bo11er• and Herberl 

H Ga1,1' for the Prisoner. 

fendant in Error. In Error from Fulton Superior Court at the 
July Term, 1913. Brief of die Evidence." 

•"Argument of Hugh M. Dorsey, Solicitor General, Atlanta Judi­
cial Circuit, at the Trial of Leo M. Frank, Charged witlh the Murder 
of Mery Phagan. Published by N. Christophul<>s, 411 Third Street, 
Macon, Ga." 

•"The Trial of Leo Frank. Reuben R. Arnold's Addreee to the 
Court in His Behalf. Introduction by Alvin V. Sellers. Baxley, Ga., 
Classic Publishing Co. 1915." 

The Atlanta Cotutitution, July 29, 1913, to August ZT, 1913. 
The Atlanta Journal, July ~9, 1913, to August ZT, 1913. 
Hearst's Atlanta. .American, July 291 1913, to August 'ZT, 1913. 
u Ro..ur, LlloNARD STRICELAND. (1849-1915.) Born Henry 

County, Ga. Admitted to the Bar, 1870; practiced law in Fairburn, 
Campbell County, Ga., until appointed Judge of the Superior Court 
of die Stone Mountain Cireuit, 1900. Judge of the Court of Ap­
peals of Georgia, 1913-15. He died February 23, 1915. 

H DoRSEY, HuoH MA.soN. Born Fayette County, Georgia, 1871; 
graduated University of Georgia, 1891; graduated in law University 
of Virginia, 1892; admitted to the Bar in Atlanta, where he prac­
ticed until 19101 when he was appointed Solicitor General of the 
Atlanta Circuit. He held this office until October, 1916, when he 
was elected Governor of Georgia, which office he now holds. 

11 HOOPER, FluNK .ABTHUB. Born Floyd County, Georgia, 1866; 
graduated Mercer University, 1885; admitted to Bar, 1886; Solici­
tor General of the Southwestern Circuit, 1896-1908. 

H See post, p. 628. 
17 .ARNOLD, REuBBN RosL Born Atl11.nta, Ga., 1868; graduated 

High School, Atlanta, 1885; attended University of Georgia, 1885-
1886; studied law in the office of 'his tether, Reuben Arnold, a mem­
ber of the Atlanta Bar, end was admitted to the Bar December, 1886. 
Has praeticed law in Georgia and adjoining states from the date 
of bis admission until die present ti.me. Has never held any public 
office and baa never been a candidate for any public office. 

11 RoSSD, LUTm:B ZEIGLER. Bom Gordon County, Ga., 1859; 
graduated Emory College (Oxford) 1 1878; admitted to Bar (La 
Orange, Ga.), 1880; praotieed law, Campbell County, until 1884, 
when he moved to Atlanta, and has practiced la.w in Atlenta since. 

11 H.us, HBRBBRT JOSEPH. Born 1884; graduated Cohnnbia Uni­
versity, 1903; Columbia Law School, 1905; preolieed law in Atlanta 
linee. 
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The following jurors were selected and swom: F. E. Win­
burn (foreman), M. S. Woodward, D. Townsend, A. L. W°• 
bey, W. M. Jeffries, M. Johenning, J. T. Osborn, F. V. L. 
Smith, A. H. Henslee, W. F. Medcalf, C. J. Bosshardt, J. F. 
Higdon. 

THE WITNESSES FOR THE STATE. 

Mrs. J. W. Coleman. Am 
Mary Phagan's modler; last saw 
her alive the 26th April, 1913, at 
home. About 11 :30 she ate some 
cabbage end bread. She left 
home at a quarter to 12 to go to 
the pencil factory for her pay. 
She would have -been fourteen 
1& of June, was fair com­
plected, very pretty, extra 
large for her age. She had on 
a lavender dress, trimmed in 
lace, and a blue hat. She had 
dimples in her cheeks. 

Cross-examined. George Epps 
was a friend of Mary's to a cer­
tain e:r:tent. 

Mr. Rosser. Did you not tell 
a neighbor that she deteeted the 
Epps boy. (Question objected 
to and withdrawn.) 

George Epps. Am fourteen 
years old; live around the cor­
ner from Mary Phagan's :home; 
last time I saw her was Satur­
day morning coming to town on 
the English Avenue car; about 
10 minutes to 12 she was going 
to the pencil factory to dmw her 
money; left her about 7 minutes 
to 12, corner of Forsyth and Ma­
rietta streets ; said she would 
meet me at the dntg store to see 
the parade at 2; was there; she 
never showed up, so I went to 
the ball game. 

Cross-examined. Knew the 
time because I looked at the clock 
just before I took the car; I can 
tell the time by the sun i Mary 
got on and off the car with me; 

she went toward the Pencil Fac­
tory. 

NBWI Lee. Was night watch­
man at the pencil factory; on 
Fride.y, 25bh April, Mr. Frank 
told me "Tomorrow is a holiday 
and I want you to come back at 
4 o'clock, I want to get off a 
little earlier;" got to ilie fac­
tory on Sa.turday about 3 or 4 
minutes before 4. 

Mr. Frank came to the door, 
rubbing his hands and saying he 
was sorry I had come so early; 
told him I needed sleep, and was 
sorry, too. He said go out in 
town and have a good time, be­
e&IUSe I needed it; told him I 
could lie down in the packing 
room, but he said I needed a 
good time, to go down town and 
stay one hour and a half, and to 
be sure and be back at si:r: 
o'clock; went out the door and 
stayed until about four minutes 
to si:r:. When I came back the 
doors were unlocked just as I 
left them; Mr. Frank says, 
"What time is itf" I says, It 
lacks two minutes of six. He 
says, "Don't punch yet, there is 
a f P.w worked todar, and I want 
t-0 change the slip. ' He took a 
long time to ciiange it, he fum­
bled and was nervous. When 
Mr. Frank put the t.ape in I 
punched and went on down 
stairs. Mr. Gantt came from 
across the street from the beer 
saloon and says, ''New.t, I got a 
pair of old shoes that I want to 
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get upstaim to have bed." I 
says, "I ain't aJlowed to let any­
body in here after m o'elook." 
Mr. Frank oome busting out of 
the door and run into Gantt un­
apeeted and he jumped back 
frightened. Gantt says, ''I got 
a pair of old shoes upstairs, have 
yon any objection to my getting 
-them f" Frank eays, ''I don't 
think they are up there, I diink 
I saw the boy sweep some up in 
the trash the other day." And he 
dropped his bead down just so, 
then says, "Newt, go with him 
and stay with him and help him 
find them;" went up there with 
Hr. Gantt and found them in 
the shipping room. Mr. Frank 
phoned me ttiat night about an 
hour after he left, sometime after 
seven o'c).()ek. He says ''How is 
ewrytirlngf" and I says, Ev­
erything is all right so far as I 
know, and he says, "Good-bye." 
That is the first time he ever 
phoned me on a Saturday night, 
or at a1L 

Made my rounds regularly ev­
ery half hour Saturday night. 
About bhree next morning went 
down the basement and discov­
ered the body there; found the 
body of the girl then. Got np 
the ladder and called up police 
•tation; carried the omcers 
down where I found the body; 
tried to get Mr. Frank on ttie 
telephone wben the officers came; 
aw Mr. Frank Sunday morning 
about 8; he looked down on t.be 
floor and never spoke to me. 

On Tuesday night, April 29, I 
had a conversation at the station 
house with Mr. Frank. I said, 
llr. Frank, it's mighty hard for 
me to be handeu1fed here for 
llOIDething I don't know anything 
eboul He said, "What's die dif­
ference, they have got me looked 

up and a man guarding me." I 
said, Mr. Frank, do you believe 
I oommilt.ed th-at crime, and be 
aid, ''No, Newt1 1 know you 
didn't, but I believe yon know 
sometaiing about it." J. said, Mr. 
Frank, I don't know a iiiing 
about it, no more than finding 
the body. He said, "We are not 
talking aboo.t that now, we will 
let that go. If you keep that up 
we will bodi go to hell," then 
the officers came in. 

Cross-examined. Mr. Frank 
and Mr. Gantt bad bad a 
difficulty. Mr. Frank had told 
me, ''Lee, I have discharged 
Mr. Oentt, I don't 'W8.Dt him in 
1here, keep him out of here." He 
didn't give me any different in­
structions on that S·aturday, he 
didn't tell me not Ito go in die 
basement or in the metal depart­
ment. When I was in the base­
ment one of the policemen read 
the note that they found. They 
l'l'l8d these words, "The tall, 
black, slim negro did this, he 
will try to lay it on the night" 
and when they got to the word 
"nigiht," I said, They must be 
t.rying to put it off on me. I 
didn't say, Boes, that's me. 

L. S. Dobbs. Am a sergeant 
of polioe. On tibe morning of 
April 27th, about 3 :25, a eall 
came from the pencil faclory 
that there was a murder there. 
The negro opened up the door 
and said there was a woman 
murdered in the basement. The 
girl was lying on her face; 
couldn't tell whether she 'WU 
'Wlrlte or black, only by her gold­
en colored hair. Her face was 
full of dirt and dnst, and was 
swollen and black. The eord 
was around her neck• sunk into 
the flesh ; she also h;J a piece of 
her underclothing around her 



192 X. AMERICAN STATE TRIALS. 

neck. The tongue was pro­
truding. The scratch pad was 
also lying on the ground close 
to the body; found the not.es 
under the sawdust, lying near 
the head. The body was that of 
Mary Phagan. 

Croaa-11xamined. Lee told· us 
it was a white woman. We 
didn't know until the dust was 
removed from her face and we 
pulled up the clothes and looked 
at the skin. There was a pile of 
trash near the boiler. The bat 
:was on the trash pile, so was the 
ehoe. Everything was gone off 
of it, ribbons and all. It looked 
like she Juul been dragged by her 
feet on her face; thought ahe 
lhad been dragged in the base­
ment, but couldn't be positive. 

The blood 'Wa8 dry. The little 
trail where I thought &bowed the 
bpdy W98 dragged went straight 
on down where die girl wu 
found. The body was cold and 
sti1f. Hands folded acl'088 the 
breast. 

J. N. Stanau. Am a city offi­
cer; went to the pencil com­
pany's pla.ce between 5 and 6, 
April 27th. I called Mr. Frank 
on 1he telephone, and told him 
I 'Wanted him to oome to the 
pencil factory right away. He 
said he hadn't had any break­
fast; he asked where the night 
watchman was; told him it was 
very necessary for him to come 
and if he would oome I would 
send an aut.omobile for him, and 
I asked Boots Rogers to go for 
him. Mr. Frank appeared to be 
nervous; he was in a trembling 
condition. I saw splotches that 
looked like blood about a foot 
and a half or two feet from the 
end of the dressing room; some­
thing had been thrown there and 
spread out and splattered; 

looked as if something had been 
swept over it, some white sub­
stance; it looked like blood, but 
can't say that it was. 

W. W. Boger•. Saturday 
niglbt, April 26th, went to :Mr. 
Frank's residence; Mr. Bleck 
was with me. Mrs. Frank 
opened the door. Mr. Frank 
stepped into the hall through die 
curtain. He was dressed for the 
street with the uception of his 
collar, tie, ooat and hat. Mr. 
Frank asked Mr. Black if any­
drlng bad happened at the f~ 
tory, and then me if anything 
had happened at die faeitory. I 
didn't answer. Mr. Frank said, 
"Did the nigtit watchman call up 
and report anything to you f" 
Mr. Black said, "Mr. Frank, you 
bad better get your clothes on 
and let us go to the factory and 
see 'll'hat has happened." Mr. 
Frank said that he thought he 
dreamt in the morning about 3 
a. m. about bearing the telephone 
ring. Mr. Frank seemed to be 
extremely nervous. His ques­
tions were jumpy. He was rub­
bing •his hands when he came 
througn the curtains. He moved 
about briskly. He seemed to be 
excited. He asked questions in 
rapid succession. Mr. Frank 
and Mr. Black got on t.he rear 
seat and I took the front seat; 
one of us asked Mr. Frank if he 
knew a little girl by the name 
of Mary Phagan. Mr. Frank 
says: ''Does she work at the 
factory!" I said, I think she 
does. Mr. Frank said, "I cannot 
tell whether or not she works 
there until I look on my pa)' 
roll book, I know very few of 
bhe girls that work. there. I pay 
them off, but I ve7, seldom go 
back in the factory. ' One of us 
suggested that we take Mr. 
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Frank by the undertaking es­
tablishment and let him see if he 
knew this young lady. Mr. 
Frank readily consented, so we 
got out and went in. The corpse 
was lying in a little kind of side 
room to the right of a large 
room. Didn't see Frank look at 
the corpse; don't remember that 
Mr. Frank ever followed me in 
this room. He may ihave 
stopped on the outside of the 
door, but my back was toward 
tUm; he could not have seen her 
face because it was lying aver 
towards the 'Wall. We asked Mr. 
Frank if he knew the girl, and 
he :replied that he didn't know 
wbetiler be did or not but that 
Ile could ·tell whether she worked 
at the factory by looking at his 
pay roll book. .As we were leav­
mg Mr. Frank's ho!J88t he asked 
Vn. Frank to telephone Mr. 
Darley to eome to the fact.ory. 
From the undertaker's we went 
to the pencil factory; he opened 
the safe, took out his time book, 
ran his finger down until he came 
to the name Mary Phagan, and 
aaid, "Yes, Mary Phagan 
worked here, she was here yes­
teldal to get her pay.'' He said, 
"I will tell you about the exact 
time she left there. My ~ 
grapher left about 12 o'clock, and 
a few minutes after she left the 
omee boy left and Mary came in 
and got her money and left." He 
eaid ehe got $1.20 and he asked 
'wliedier anybody had found the 
envelope that the money was in. 
Be then wanted to see where the 
girl was found. Mr. Frank 
'W81lt around by the elevator, 
Milere 1iiere was a switeh box on 
the wall and Mr •. Frank put the 
switeli in. The box was not 
locked· t.he insurance oompany 
told him that he would have to 
le&Te it unloeked. In the base-

ment Mr. Frank made the re­
mark that Mr. Darley had 
worked Newt Lee for sometime 
oat at the Oakland plant and 
tti&t if Lee knew anything about 
the murder that Darley would 
stand a 'better chance of getting 
it out of him than anybody else. 
After we came back from die 
basement, Mr. Frank says, "I 
had be1Jter put in a new slip 
hadn't I, Darley!" Darley told 
him yea to put in a slip. Frank 
lifted out the slip and 88'W' the 
slip was punched correctly. Mr. 
Frank then put in a new slip, 
closed the door, locked it and 
took .bis pencil and wrote on 
the slip that he had already tak­
en out of the machine, "April 
26, 1913." I looked at the slip 
that Mr. Frank took out, the ftrst 
punch was 6 :01, the aeoond one 
was 6 :32 or 6 :33. Be took the 
slip back in his office. I glanced 
all the way down and there was 
a punch for every number. The 
officers showed him where the 
body 'W88 f<>und and he made the 
remark that it was too bad or 
something to that etfeet. When 
we left the factory, Newt Lee 
was under arrest; never oonsid­
ered Mr. Frank as being under 
a:rrest at that time. 

Crou-uamined. Never saw 
Mr. Frank until that morning. 
Mr. Frank readily oonsented to 
go to the undertaker's with us; 
at the undertaker's don't know 
&.at he didn't get a glance at the 
eorpse, but no one but Mr. 
Gbeesling and I at this moment 
stepped np and looked at the lit­
tle girl's face. What Mr. Frank 
and Mr. Black saw behind my 
back, I can't say. 

Gf'Clce Hicks. Knew Mary 
Phagan a year at the pencil fac­
tory; worked in the metal l'O(Dl. 

Mary's m~ !wa8 right next 
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to the dressing room. In going 
to the omee from the closels one 
would pass the dressing room 
and Mary's machine within two 
or tlhree feet. Mr. Frank would 
P988 through the metal depart­
ment looking around every day. 

Cross-examined. Standing at 
the time clock you can't see into 
Mr. Frank's private office. A 
person wouldn't see from Mr. 
Frank's office any one coming in 
or out of the building; worked 
at the factory flve years. In that 
time Mr. Frank spoke to me 
three times. Never saw Mr. 
Frank speak to Mary Phagan or 
Mary Phagan speak to Mr. 
Frank. When Mr. Frank cmne 
through tile metal department he 
never spoke to any of ibhe girls; 
just went through and looked 
81'0und. 

John R. Black. Am a city po­
liceman; went over to Frank's 
house with Boots Rogers. Mrs. 
Frank came to the door; stated 
that I iwould like to see Mr. 
Frank; Mr. Frank stepped out 
from behind a curtain. His voice 
was <hoarse andi trembling and 
nervous and excited; asked if 
something had happened at the 
pencil factory and if the night 
watchman had reported it; 
asked him if he knew Mary 
P·hagan • told him she had been 
found dead in the basement of 
the peneil factory. He said be 
didn't know any girl by the name 
of Mary Phagan, that he knew 
very few of the employee; at the 
undertaker's Mr. Frank gave a 
casual glance at her and stepped 
aside; couldn't say whether he 
saw the face of the girl or not. 
He said as we left that he didn't 
know tile girl but he believed he 
had paid her off on Saturd11y ; 
thought ·he recognized •her being 
at the factory on Saturday by 

t.be dress that she wore but be 
could tell ·by going over to the 
factory and looking at ibis cash 
book. At tile pencil factory be 
took the slip out, and said it had 
been punched correctly. Tues­
day nigirt Mr. Scott and myself 
suggested to Mr. Frank to talk 
to Newt Lee. Mr. Frank spoke 
well of the negro, said he had 
always found him trusty and ~on­
~t. They went in a room and 
stayed from about 5 to 10 min­
utes alone. Mr. Frank stated 
t.bat Newt still stuck to the story 
that ·he knew nollhing about it. 
Mr. Frank stated that Mr. Gantt 
was there on Saturday evening 
and tha:t he told · Newt Lee to let 
him go and get the shoes but to 
watch 'him, as be knew tile sur­
roundings of the office. After 
this conversation Gantt 'WU ar­
rested. Frank made no objec­
tions tO talking to Newt Lee. He 
was nervous on Monday. After 
his release he seemed very jovial 

Cross-examined. At the cor­
oner's inquest Mr. Frank an­
swered every question readily. At 
the pencil factory Mr. Frank 
went to the safe and unlocked it, 
got tihe book, ran bis finger down 
until he came to the name of 
Mary Phagan, and says, "Yes, 
this little girl worked here and 
I paid her $1.20 yesterday." We 
went all over the factory that 
day. Nobody saw that blood 
spot that morning; must have 
'been thirty people there during 
that day. Mr. Starnes was there 
with me. He didn't call atten­
tion to any blood spots. Chief 
Lanford 'Was there, and be didn't 
discover anr blood spots; found 
a bloody shirt in the bottom of a 
clothes barrel at Newt Lee's on 
Tuesday morning. 

J. M. Gantt. Was shipping 
clerk at National Pencil Com· 
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pany; was discharged April 7th 
by Mr. Frank for alleged short­
age in pay roll; have known 
Mary P.hagan when she was a 
little girl. One Saturday after­
noon she came in the office oo 
have her time corrected, and 
after I had gotten through Mr. 
Frank came in and said, "You 
seem to know Mary pretty well," 
I bad not told him her name. On 
April 26th, about 6, saw Newt 
Lee sitting out in front of the 
factory, remembered I left a pair 
of &hoe8 up there and asked 
Newt Lee about my getting 
them, and he said he couldn't let 
me up. Mr. Frank was coming 
down the stairway, when he saw 
me 'he kind of stepped back. I 
said Howdy, Mr. Frank, and he 
kind of jumped; told him I had 
a pair of shoes up there I would 
like to get and he said, "Th:> you 
want to go with me or will Newt 
Lee be all rght f What kind of 
sih-Oes were they f" I said, They 
were tan shoes, he said, ''I think 
I saw a. negro sweeping them up 
the other day." I said, Well, 
I have a pair of black ones there, 
too; he said ''Newt, go ahead 
with him and stay with him un­
til ·he gets hls shoes." I went up 
there and found both pair where 
I bad left them. Mr. Frank 
looked pale and nervous. 

Mrs. J. A. White. Saw my 
husband at the pencil factory at 
11 :30 i stayed there until about 
10 mmutes to 12. I left him 
there and came back about 12 :30 
and left again about 1 o'clock; 
at 11 :30 saw Miss HalJ, the 
stenographer, Mr. Frank and 
two men; asked Mr. Frank if I 
eould see my husband. He said 
I oonJd and sent word by Mrs. 
Emma Freeman; talked to him 
about 15 minutes and went on 
out; returned about 12 :30; Mr. 

Frank was in the outside office 
standing in front of the safe; 
asked him if Mr. White •had gone 
baek to work. He jumped like 
I surprised him and turned and 
said, ''Yes;" went upstairs ttien 
to see Mr. White. When I came 
dawn Mr. Frank was sitting in 
the outside office writing at a 
table. As I was going on down 
the steps saw a negro sitting on 
a box close to the stairway on 
the first floor. 

Ha"!/ Scott. Am Superin­
tendent of the local Pinkerton 
Detective Agency; have worked 
on this ease with John Black, 
city detective; was employed by 
Mr. Frank; saw Mr. Frank 
Monday afternoon, April 28th, 
at the faetory. We went into 
Mr. Frank's private office. Mr. 
Frank said :he bad just come 
from police barracks and that 
Detective Black seemed to SU&­
pect him of the crime, and be 
then related to me his movements 
on Saturday, April 26th; that be 
arrived at the factory at 8 a. m., 
left between 9 :30 and 10 with 
Mr. Darley for Montag Bros. for 
tihe mail; he returned at about 
11 o'clock, and just before 12 
o'clock Mrs. White came in and 
asked permission to go upetairs 
and see her husband; that Mary 
Phagan came into the factory at 
12:10 p. m. to draw her pay; he 
paid her off in ·bis inside office, 
and then she asked if the metal 
bad come yet; replied he didn't 
know and tlbat Mary Phagan 
ttien he thought reached the 
stairway, he heard voices; he 
could! not distinguish whether 
they were men or girls talking, 
that about 12 :50 he went up to 
the fourth floor and asked White 
and Denham when they ~uld 
flnisb up their work and they re­
plied they wonJdn't finish up for 
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a couple of hours; Mrs. White 
was up there at the time and he 
informed her that be was going 
to lock up the factory, that she 
had better "leave; Mrs. White 
preceded him down the stairway 
and went on out of the factory, 
but on the way out said she had 
seen a negro on the street floor 
of the building behind some 
boxes; that at 1 :10 p. m. he left 
the factory for home; arrived at 
the factory again at 3 p. m., 
went to work on some flnancial 
work and at about 4 o'clock the 
night watchman reported for 
twork, as per his instructions the 
previous day; that he allowed 
Newt Lee to go out and have a 
good time for a couple of hours 
and report again at 6 o'clock, 
which Newt did; that he left the 
factory at 6 :04 p. m. and when 
he reached the street door found 
Lee talking to Gantt, an ex­
booklceeper who Frank had dis­
charged for thieving; arrived 
home at about 6 :25 p. m. and 
at 6 :30 asked Lee over the tele­
phone if Gantt had left the fac­
tory and if everything was all 
right, to which Lee replied 
''Yes;" that be went to bed 
around 9 :30. 

After that Mr. Frank and Mr. 
Darley accompanied me around 
the factory and showed me 
what the police had found. Mr. 
Frank seemed to be perfectly 
natural; saw no signs of nervous­
ness. On Tuesday night, April 
29th, Mr. Black told Mr. Frank 
that he believed Newt Lee was 
not telling all that he knew ; we 
put them in a private room, they 
were together for about 10 min­
utes alone. When Mr. Black and 
I entered Lee hadn't finished his 
conversation with Frank and was 
saying, "Mr. Frank it is awful 
hard for me to remain •hand-

cuffed to this chair," and Frank 
hung bis head the entire time 
the negro was talking to him, 
and finally in about thirty sec­
onds, he said, "Well, they have 
got me too." After that twe 
asked Mr. Frank if he had got­
ten anything out of the negro 
and he said, "No, Lee still sticks 
to his original story," Mr. Frank 
was extremely nervous at that 
time. He was very squirmy in 
bis chair, crossing one leg after 
the other and didn't know where 
to put his hands; he was moving 
them up and down his face, and 
he hung his head a great deal of 
the time while the negro was 
talking to him. He breathed 
very heavily and took deep swal­
lows, and sighed and hesitated. 
That interview between Lee and 
Frank took place shortly after 
midnight, Wednesday, April 
30th. On Monday afternoon, 
Frank said to me that the first 
punch on Newt Lee's slip was 
6 :33 p. m., and his last punch was 
3 a. m. Sunday. He didn't say 
anything at that time about there 
being any error in Lee's punches. 
Mr. Black and I took Mr. Frank 
into custody about 11 :30 a. m., 
Tuesday, April 29th. His hands 
were quivering very much, he 
was very pale. On Saturday, 
May 3rd, went to Frank's cell 
with Black and asked him if 
from the time he arrived at the 
factory from Montag Bros. up 
until 12 :50 p. m., the time he 
went upstairs to the fourth ftoor, 
was he inside of his office the en­
tire time, and he stated ''Yes." 
Then asked him if he was inside 
his office every minute from 12 
o'clock until 12 :30 and be said 
"Yes." • 

Cross-examined. Am not sure 
whether I got a statement about 
Mary Phagan being familar with 
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Gantt from Mr. Darley or Mr. 
Frank. Mr. Frank 'W88 present 
at the time. Mr. Frank told me 
when the little girl asked if the 
metal bad come ·back that be 
said "I don't know." It may be 
-true that I swore before the cor­
oner that in answer to that ques­
tion from Mary Phagan as to 
whether the metal had come yet 
that Frank said, "No," and it is 
possible t.hat I so reported to 
you. If I said "No," I meant ''I 
don't know." 

Mias Monfen Stover. Worked 
at the National Pencil Company 
April 25th; was at the factory 
at 5 minntes after 12 on that 
day; left at 10 minutes after 12; 
went there to get my :qK>ney; 
went in llr. Frank's office; he 
'WU not tliere. I didn't see or 
hear anybody in the building. 
The door to the metal room was 
elosed; had on tennis shoes, a 
yellow hat and a brown rain 
coat. 

Crosa-s:eamined. Didn't no­
tice the safe in Mr. Frank's 
office; walked right in and 
walked right out; am fourteen 
years old and I worked on tlie 
fourth floor; knew the paying­
off time was 12 o'eloek on Sat­
urday and that is why I went 
there. 

R. P. Bat'f'ett. Am a ma­
chinist for the National Pencil 
Company. On Monday morning 
tletween 6 :30 and 7 :00, April 
28th, found some spots at the 
west end of the dressing room 
on the seeond floor of -die fac­
tory. They were not there Fri­
day. It was blood; looked like 
aome whlte substance had been 
wiped over it. We kept potash 
and haskoline, 'both white sub­
stances, on taus floor. I found 
some hair on the handle of a 
bench lathe; Mell Stanford saw 

this hair; the hair 'WU not there 
on Friday. There· was a pan of 
haskoline about 8 feet from 
where the blood was found. 
· Cross-examined. Never search­
ed for any blood spot.a before, 
until Miss Jefferson ea.me in and 
said she understood Mary bad 
been murdered in the metal de­
partment, then I started to search 
right away; could tell it was 
blood by looking at it; ean tell 
the difference between blood and 
ot.ber substances; found ·the hair 
some few minutes afterward-­
about 6 or 8 strands of hair and 
pretty long. 

Mell Stanford. Work at the 
National Pencil Company; 
swept the 'Whole floor in the met­
al room on April 25th. On Mon­
day after found a spot that had 
some W'hite haskoline over it on 
second floor near dressing room. 
That wasn't .there on Friday 
w'hen I swept. I nse a small 
broom in sweeping. The spot 
looked like it was blood, 'With 
dark &Pots scattered around; 
looked like the large broom had 
been used in putting the hasko­
line on t.he 11.oor. 

Mrs. George W'. Jellf'Bon. 
Worked at the National Pencil 
Company; saw blood on the sec­
ond floor in front of the girls' 
dressing room on Monday; about 
as big as & fan, and somethlng 
w·hite over it; didn't see that 
blood ehere Friday; there are 
cords in the polishing room, used 
to tie pencils with. 

B. B. Haslett. Went to Mr. 
Frank's house Monday morning 
after the m111'der about 7 and 
took ·him to the station boase. 

E. F. Hollo'IDay. Am day 
watchman at the National Pen­
cil factory-worked there two 
years; was there April 26th 
from 6 : 30 a. m. till 11 :45; look 
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alter the elevator and freight 
that eome in and out and people 
that come in and out. The ele­
vator 'W88 locked Friday night 
'Willen I left there; went off from 
diere Saturday and forgot to 
lock it. Don't remember stating 
that I locked it Saturday; did 
say in an am.davit it is kept 
locked all the time. Left the 
factory at 11 :45 on Saturday; 
about 9 :30 Mr. Frank and Mr. 
Darley went over to Montag 
Bros. ; have seen Gantt talking to 
Mary Phagan frequently. 

CroB1-uamined. Never seen 
Mr. Frank speak to Mary Pha­
gan. 

To Jlr. Dorsey. On May 12, 
1913, I told you that the ele­
vator was locked because I for­
got to tell you I done some saw­
ing; took the key out, left the 
elevator unlocked and took the 
key back and put- it in the oftlce. 

N. V. Darley. Am manager 
of the Georgia Cedar Company, 
a branch of the National Pencil 
Company; was at the factory 
Saturday, April 26th; saw Mr. 
Frank. I was there Sunday 
morning at about 8 :20; saw Mr. 
Frank; noticed his hands were 
trtmbling; observed that he 
seemed still nervous 'When he 
went to nail up the back door. 
He said that he had not had 
breakfast and didn't get any cof­
fee and that they had rushed him 
by Bloomfields, carried him in a 
dark room and turned the light 
on and ·he saw the girl instantly 
and that was why he was ner­
vous. Newt Lee seemed to be 
thoroughly composed. Heard 
him speak of the murder numer­
ous times. When we started 
down the elevator Mr. Frank was 
nervous, shaking all over. I 
ean't say positively as to whether 

hls 'Whole body was Shaking or 
not, bot he was shaking. 

Don't think a day passed at 
·the factory that Mr. Frank did 
·not get nervous. When anything 
went wrong he would wring his 
'hands and I have seen him push 
!his hands through his hair. When 
things went wrong it would up­
set ~im. If anything out of the 
ordinary happened I ·have seen 
him a thousand time.s, I suppose, 
rub 'his hands. Never saw Mr. 
Frank speak to Mary Phagan; 
don't know 'Whether be knew her 
or not; didn't know we had a 
girl by that name in the factory 
until I found it out afterwards. 

W. F. Anderson. Was at po­
lice headquarters April 26th; 
got a call from the night watch­
man at the pencil factory that 
a woman was dead at the fac­
tory; asked him if it was a white 
woman or a negro 'WOIDan. He 
said it was a white woman; went 
there and Newt Lee came down 
from the second floor. I ealled 
up Mr. Frank on the telephone 
at 3 :30 or 4 and got no answer. 

Cross-examined. Newt Lee 
was asked the foll-Ow.ing ques­
tions and gave the following an­
swers at the coroner's jury: "Q. 
Had you ever seen him ohange 
tlihat before f A. Well, he put 
the tape in once before. Q. 
When was that f A. I don'·t 
know, sir, when it was, it was one 
night. Q. How long did it take 
him the first time you ever aaw 
1iim put the tape on f A. I never 
paid any attention to •him. Q. 
Well, about how long did it take 
him, five minutes f A. No, sir, 
it didn't take him that long. Q. 
Did it take him a minutef A. 
I couldn't tell exactly haw long. 
Q. How long did it take the other 
night, on Saturday nigtht f A. 
Well, it took him a pretty good 
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little bit, because he spoke about 
it. He said it's pretty ·hard, you 
know to get on." 

G. C. February. Was present 
at Chief Lanford's office when 
Leo M. Frank and L. Z. &mer 
were there; took down Mr. 
Frank's statement stenographic-­
ally. This (see post, p. 242), is 
a correct report of what Mr. 
Frank said. It 'WBS made Mon­
day, April 28th. 

.Albm McKnight. My wife is 
Minola MicKnight. She eooks 
for Mrs. Selig. Between 1 and 
2 Memorial Day was at die home 
of Mr. Frank to see my wife. 
He eame in close to 1 :30. He 
did not eat any dinner; went to 
the sideboard of the dining room, 
stayed there 10 or 15 minutes 
and then he goes out and catches 
a ear. 

CroBB-ezamined. Mrs. Selig 
and Mrs. Frank wsre pres­
ent when Mr. Frank came 
in. I was in the cook room. 
You ean see from the kitchen in­
to the dining room. You can 
look in the mirror in the earner 
and see all over the dining room. 
I looked in the mirror in the 
corner and saw him; was never 
in the dining room in my life. 
Minola went into the dining 
room, and stayed a minute or 
two; don't know 'Whether the 
other folks ate dinner or not. 
Told about Mr. Frank not eating 
after I came back to Binning­
bam, I told it to Mr. Craven of 
the Beck & GTegg Company. It 
was before Minola went down to 
the ~ail. Mr. Starnes, Mr. 
Campbell, Mr. Morse, Mr. Mar­
tin and Mr. Dorsey all talked to 
me; didn't see Mrs. Frank or 
Mrs. Selig that Saturday through 
the mirror; couldn't tell who was 
in the dining room without look­
ing in t.be mirror. 

Helen Ferguson. Worked at 
t!he National Peooil Company, 
Friday, 25th; saw Mr. Frank 
Friday, April 25th, and asked 
for Mary Phagan's money. Mr. 
Frank said, "I can't let you have 
it;" had gotten Mary's money 
before, but I didn't get it from 
Mr. Frank. 

R. L. Waggoner. Am a city 
detective; was in the automobile 
with Mr. Frank and Mr. Black 
and his leg was shaking; he was 
under arrest at the time. 

J. L. BeatJers. Am ehief of 
police of Atlanta; was at the 
pencil factory on Tuesday, April 
29th; saw what I took to be a 
sploteh of blood on the floor 
near this dressing room on office 
11.oor; tiiere was one spot and 
some others E1C&.ttered around 
that. 

Crosa-szamined. Don't know 
whether it was blood or not; it 
looked like it. 

R. M. Lassiter. I am a city 
policeman'i on April 27th found 
a parasol m the bottom of the el­
evator shaft; it was lying about 
tile center of the shaft; also 
found a ball of rope twine, small 
wrapping twine, and also some­
thing that looked like a person's 
stool 

Croaa-s:i:amined.· Noticed evi­
denee of dragging from the ele­
vator in the basement; the um­
brella was not crushed. 

L. 0. Grice. Was at the Na­
tional Pencil Company's place on 
Sunday morning, April 27th; . 
defendant •here, attracted my at­
tention, on aeeount of his ner­
vousness. 

MeU Stanford (re-called). The 
door in the rear part of the fac­
tory on the second floor on Fri­
day evening 'W8S barred; t.be 
area around the elevator shaft on 
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the first floor was cleanedi up af­
ter the murder. 

W. H. Gheuling. Am a fu­
neral <liiwtor and embalmer; 
moved the ·body of Mary Pha­
gan at four o'clock, April 27th, 
in the morning; the cord was 
around the neck; the rag was 
aronnd her hair and over her 
face; think she had been dead ten 
<>r fifteen hours, or longer; there 
were some dry blood splotehes on 
her underclothes; the right leg 
of the drawers was split wit'h a 
knife or torn right up the seam; 
her right eye looked like it was 
hit before death, it was very. 
muoo swollen ; I found a 'llround 
two and a quarter inches on the 
back of the head; it was made 
before death, bemuse it bled a 
great deal i the hair was matted 
with blooa. and very dry; the 
skull wa&n't crushed; the scalp 
was broken ; can't state whether 
the defendant fNW lli>Oked at the 
body or not. ' 

lJross-e:eamiMd. Mr. Rogem 
and Mr. Black came 'With Mr. 
Frank and askel me to take 
him back to where the girl · 
was. I took them back there, 
and pulled a light, pulled 
the sheet back, and moved the 
revolving table and walked out 
between them. Mr. Frank was 
near the right-hand going in. 
Mr. Black was at the left. I pre­
pared the little girl properly for 
burial; there was no mutilation 
at all on the body; judged she 
died of strangulation because the 
rope was tight enough to choke 
her to death, and her tongue be­
ing an inch and a quarter out of 
the mouth, showed she died from 
stranguation. 

Dr. lJlaudB Smit'lf. Am physi­
cian and City Bacteriologist and 

Chemist ; these chips the deteo­
tives brought to my offiee I ex­
amined; they had aonsiderable 
dirt on them and some coloring 
stain; on one of them I found 
some blood corpuscles; do not 
know whether it W8B human 
blood; this shirt I examined and 
it showed blood stain; the blood 
on the chips was only four or 
five corpuscles; 

Dr. J. W. Hurl. Am County 
Physician; saw the body of Mary 
Phagan on 27th of April; this 
cord was imbedded into the skin 
and in my opinion she died from • 
strangulation ; in my opinion tbe 
cord was put on before death; 
the wound on the back of the 
head seemed to have been made 
with a blunt-edged instrument, 
and the blow from down up­
ward; the scalp wound was made 
before death ; think the seratehes 
on the faee were made after 
death; examined tbe hymen; it 
was not intact; discovered no vio­
lence to the parts; the vagina 
was a little larger than the nor­
mal sir.e of a girl of that age; it 
could have been produoed by 
penetration immediately preced­
ing death; she was not pregnanL 

Cross-exami1Jt1<l. The body 
looked as if it had been dragged 
through dirt and cinders; think 
she was dragged face downftrd. 
When I saw the body on April 
27th I gave it as my opinion 
~at she had been dead from 16 
to 20 hours at 9 o'clock Sunday 
morning; ba.ve formed no opin­
ion whether this little girl was 
raped or had ever had inter­
course with anybody. 

Dr. H. F. Harris. Am a 
practicing physician ; made an 
examination of the body of Mary 
Phagan on May 5jji; there was 
no actual break of the akull, the 



LEO M. FRANK. 201 

blow was hard enough to have 
made the person unconscious, but 
not sufficient to 0have caused 
death; beyond question she 
came to her death from strangu­
lation from this cord being 
wound around her neck. The 
bruise around the eye was caused 
by a soft instrument; the injury 
to the eye and scalp were caused 
before death; examined the con­
tents of the stomach, finding 160 
cubic eentimeters of cabbage and 
biscuit, or wheaten bread; it 
had progressed very slightly to­
wards digestion; impossible for 
one to say absolutely how long 
this cabbage had been in the 
stomach, but am confident ahe 
was either killed or received the 
blow on the back of the bead 
within a half 'hour after she fin­
ished. her meal; made an ex­
amination of the privates of 
Mary; found no spermatozoa. 
On the walJs of the vagina 
there 'Was evidences of vio­
lenee; that injury had been 
made some little time before 
death; perhaps ·ten to fifteen 
minutes. It is my opinion that 
she lived from half t.o three­
quarters of an hour after she ate 
her meal; that the child was 
strangled to death was indicated 
by the lividity, the blueness of 
the parts, the congestion of the 
tongue and mouth and the blue­
ness of the bands and finger­
nails; the wound on the baek of 
the head could not have been 
produced by this atiek. 

Cross-examined. It was im­
poesibJe for any one t.o say ab­
solutely bow long the cabbage 
had been in the stomach of Mary 
Phagan before she met her 
rlf'ath, not within a minnte or 
five minutes, bnt I say it was 
eomewaere bellween one-half an 

hour and three-quarters; am cer­
tain it was somewhere between 
one-half an hour and three­
quarters ; am certain of that. 
The violence to the private parts 
might have been produced by 
the finger or by other means. 

C. B. Dalton. Know Leo M. 
Frank, Daisy Hopkins, and Jim 
Conley; ·have been in the office 
cif Frank two or three times; 
:have been down in the basement; 
saw Conley there and the night 
watchman, and he was not Con­
ley. There would. be some ladies 
in Mr. Frank's office. Sometimes 
there would be two, and . some­
times one. Maybe they didn't 
work in the mornings and they 
would be there in the evenin~. 

Cross-examined. Have been 
down there one time this year, 
one Saturday evening with 
Miss Daisy Hopkins. Every 
time I was in Mr. Frank's office 
was before Christmas. Miss 
Daisy Hopkins introduced me to 
him; saw Conley there one time 
this year and several times on 
Saturday evenings; Conley was 
sitting there at the front door; 
when I went down t.b.e ladder 
Miss Daisy went with me; we 
went back by the trash pile in 
the basement; gave Jim Conley 
a half dozen or more quarters; 
saw Mr. Frank in his office in 
the day time. Mr. Frank bad 
Coca-Cola, lemon and lime and 
beer in the office; never saw the 
ladies in his office doing any 
'Writing; am the Dalton that 
went to the chain-gang for steal­
ing in Walton County in 1894; 
stole a shop hammer. It baa 
been 18 or 20 years since I have 
been in trouble. 

8. L. Rosser. Am a city po­
liceman. On Monday, April 28, 
went out to see Mrs. White; on 
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May 6th or 7th was the first 
time I knew Ml'B. White claimed 
to have seen a negro at the fac­
tory on April 26th. 

James Conley. Have been 
working for the pencil company 
for over two years. Friday eve­
ning about 3 Mr. Frank came to 
the 4th floor and said I was to 
come to the factory Saturday 
morning at 8 :30; got to the 
factory about 8 :30; Mr. Frank 
and I got to the door at the 
same time. I always stayed on 
the first floor and watehed for 
Mr. Frank while he and a young 
Indy would be upon the second 
floor chatting. He always told 
me that when the lady came he 
would stamp on the floor and I 
was to lock the door and when 
he whistled was to open it. He 
says, "What I want you to do 
is to watch for me today as you 
did other Saturdays," and I 
says, All right. Went out and 
came back about noon. Then 
Mr. Frank says, "Now, there 
will be a young lady up here 
after a'Wiiile, and me and her are 
going to chat a little; now, when 
the lady comes, I will stomp like 
I did before, that will be tile 
lady, and you go and shut the 
door; when I whistle I 'Will be 
through, so you can go and un­
lock the door and you come up-· 
etairs to my office then like you 
were going to borrow some 
money for me and that will give 
the young lady time to get out." 
I says, All right, I will do just 
as you say, and I did as he said. 
He says, ''Now, whatever you do, 
don't let Mr. Darley see you.'' 
Then Mr. Frank went upstairs 
and be said, ''Remember to keep 
your eyes open/' and I says, All 
right, I will, Mr. Frank. The 
first person I saw come along 

was a lady that worked on the 
fourth floor, don't know her 
name; the next person that came 
along was the negro drayman, he 
went upstail'B. He was a peg­
legged fellow, real dark; next I 
saw this negro and Mr. Hollo­
way coming back down the steps. 
Mr. Darley came down and left, 
Mr. Holloway eame down and 
left. This lady that worked on 
the fourth floor came down and 
left. The next person I saw 
coming there was Mr. Quinn; he 
went upstairs, stayed a little 
while and then came down; the 
next person that I saw was Miss 
Mary Perkins, that's what I call 
her, this lady that is dead; after 
she went upstairs I heard her 
foolBteps going towards the of­
fice and after she went in the 
office, beard two people walking 
out of the office and going like 
they ~re coming down the 
steps, but they didn't come down 
the steps, they went back to­
wards the metal department; 
after they went back there, heard 
the lady scream, then didn't ·hear 
no more, and the next person I 
saw coming in there waa Miss 
Monteen Stover; she came back 
down the steps and left; ·heard 
somebody tiptoeing back towards 
the metal department; after that 
I kind of dozed oft' and went to 
sleep; next thing Mr. Frank was 
up over my head stamping and 
then I °"nt and locked the door; 
next thing heard Mr. Frank 
whistling; went and unlocked the 
door just like he said, and went 
on up the steps. Mr. Frank was 
standing up at the top of the 
steps and shivering and tremb­
ling and rubbing bis hands. He 
bad a little rope in his hands; 
he asked me, "Did you see that 
little girl who passed ·here just 
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a while ago t she came into my 
omee a while ago and I wanted 
to be with the little girl, and she 
refused me, and I struck her and 
I guess too hard and she fell and 
hit her head against something, 
and I don't know hO'WI bad she 
got hurt. Of COUl'Be you know 
I ain't built like other men." 
Have seen him with women lying 
on the table in the factory room 
and in his office 'With women 
with their clothes up. He asked 
me to go back there and bring 
her up so that he could put her 
somewhere, and he said to hurry, 
that there would be money in it 
for me; came back there and 
found the lady lying flat on her 
back with a rope around her 
neck. The cloth was also tied 
around ·her neck and part of it 
was under her head like to catch 
blood; noticed the clock, it was 
four minutes to one; came back 
and told Mr. Frank the girl was 
dead and he said "Sh-Sh!" He 
told me to go back there by the 
cotton box, get a piece of cloth, 
put it around her and bring her 
up; saw her hat and a piece of 
ribbon laying down and her slip­
pem and took them and put 
them all in the cloth; then I 
tried to earry her but she 'WU 
heavy and I called to Mr. Frank 
to help me; he caught her by the 
feet and I laid hold of her by 
the shoulders. Then he got the 
key to the elevator and we took 
her to the basement where I left 
her; I opened the cloth and 
rolled ·her out on the floor. We 
both went up to his office; he 
looked out of the door and said, 
"My God, here is Emma Clarke 
and Corinthia Hall; come over 
here Jim;" he put me in the 
wardrobe and they came in there 
and I beard them go out, and 

Mr. Frank came and said, ''You 
are in a tight plaee, you done 
very well;" he takes a cigarette 
and a match and hands me the 
box of cigarettes and I lit one; 
then he said, "Can you write t" 
and I said, Yes, sir, a little bit, 
and he takes his pencil to fix 
up some notes; was willing to do 
anything to help Mr. Frank be­
cause be was a white man and 
my superintendent, and he sat 
down and I sat down at the ta­
ble and Mr. Frank dictated the 
notes to me; then he pulled out 
a little roll of greenbacks, and 
said, "Here is $200,'' I took the 
money. And after awhile Mr. 
Frank looked ·at me and said, 
"You go down there in the base­
ment and you take a lot of trash 
and bum that package that's in 
front of the furnace," I told him 
all right. But I was afraid to 
go down there myself, and Mr. 
Frank wouldn't go down with 
me. He said, "There's no need 
of my going down there," and 
I said, Mr. Frank, you are a 
white man and you done it, and 
I am not going down there and 
burn that myself. He looked at 
me kind of frightened and said, 
''Let me see that money'' and he 
took the money and put it back 
in bis pocket, and said, "You 
keep your mouth shut, that is all 
right. Why should I bangt I 
have wealthy people in Brook­
lyn. I said, Mr. Frank what 
about met and ·he said, "That's 
all rig.ht, don't worry, just come 
back to work Monday like you 
don't know anything, and keep 
your mouth shut, if yon get 
caught I will get you out on 
bond and send you away. Can 
yon come back this evening and 
do it t" I said, Yes, I was com­
ing to get my money. He said, 
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"Well, I am going ·home to get 
dinner and you come back ·here 
in about forty minut.es and I will 
fix the money." Went over to 
the beer saloon and took the eig­
arett.es out of the box and there 
was some money there, two paper 
dollar bills and ·two silver quar­
ters and I took a drink and laid 
across the bed and went to sleep; 
didn't get up until half-past 6 
that night, that's the last I saw 
of Mr. Frank that Saturday; saw 
him next time on Tuesday on 
the fourth door when I was 
sweeping. Be said, "Now, re­
member, keep your mouth shut," 
and I said, All right, and he 
said, "If you'd come bllAlk on Sat­
urday and done what I told 
you to do with it down there, 
there wouldn't have been no 
trouble." I was arrested on 
T.hursday, May 1st, Mr. Frank 
told me just what to write on 
those not.es there. That is the 
same pad he told me to write on. 
Met Mr. Frank Saturday morn­
ing, he had on his raincoat and 
his usual suit of clothes and an 
umbrella. Refused to write for 
the police the 11.nt time; told them 
I couldn't write. 

C roBB-exaained. .Am ZT years 
old; can't read and write good; 
can't read the newspapers good; 
can't get any sense out ()f them. 
There is some little letters like 
"dis" and "dat" that I can read; 
other things I don't understand; 
can spell "dog," and most simple 
little words like that; went to 
school about a year; can spell 
"day" but not "daylight;" can 
spell "beer" but not ''whiskey;" 
can't figure except with my fin­
gers ; know the 11.gures as far as 
twelve. Didn't know Newt Lee; 
heard them say there was a ne­
gro night watchman, ibut never 

did know that 'lie was a negro. 
The lady that was with Mr. Frank 
the time I watched for ·him last 
July was Miss D&isf Hopkins. 
Mr. Frank ealled me m his omce. 
Be said, "You go dawn there and 
see nobody don't come up and 
you will have a ehanee to make 
some money." The other lady had 
gone out to get that young man, 
Mr. Dalton. She eame back after 
a while with Mr. Dalton. They 
went dmmstairs and stayed about 
an hour. Mr. Dalton gave me a 
quarter, and the ladies came 
down and left, and then Mr. 
Frank came down after they left. 
The next Saturday I watehed 
was right near the same thing. 
After Mr. Holloway left, Mis& 
Daisy Hopkins came on into die 
office, Mr. Frank came out of 
the omee, popped his fingers and 
went back into the omee; went 
down and stood by the door. He 
stayed there that time about half 
an hour and then the girl went 
out. He gave me half a dollar 
this time. The next time I 
watched for 1iim and Mr. Dalton1 
too, somewhere the last part or 
August. The lady that eame in 
that day was one who worked on 
the fourth door; it was not Miss 
Daisy Hopkins. She went right 
to Mr. Frank's office, then I went 
and watched. She stayed about 
half an hour and come out. Next 
time I watched was Thanksgiv­
ing Day; met Mr. Frank that 
morning about 8. He said, "A 
lady will be here in a little while, 
me and her are going to chat, I 
don't want you to do no work, 
I just want you to watch." In 
about half an hour the lady came. 
I didn't know her, she didn't 
"WJOrk at the factory. She was 
very tall, heavy built lady. After 
she came down, she said to Mr. 
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Frank, "Is that the nigger!" and Mr. Frank getting me to 'watch 
Mr. Frank said, ''Yes," and she for him, that ·he told me be 
said, ''Well, does he talk much!" struck a girl and for me to go 
and he says, "No, be is the beet back and get her; didn't give 
nigger I have ever seen." Mr. Mr. Frank clear away that time; 
Frank called me in the office and kept some things back. I told 
gave me $1.25. Next time I the detectives about wanting me 
watehed was on a Saturday about to watch for him when I got 
the middle of January. A man back to the factory; don't know 
and Jadies came about half-past wby I didn't tell them that at 
2. They stayed there about 2 the time I told them about mov­
homs; didn~t know either one of ing the body. I told the officers 
the Jadiee; can't describe what I didn't see Mary Phagan go up 
either one of them ·had on. The at all ; didn't tell them I heard 
man was tall, slim built, a heavy any scream; told Mr. Starnes and 
man; have seen him at the fae- Mr. Campbell. That was after I 
tory talking to Hollo\vay; he got out of jail. I said I heard 
didn't work there; have been in the scream before I went to sleep, 
prison three times since I ·have which I did; told Mr. Starnes 
been with the pencil company. and Mr. Campbell about some­
Seven or eight times 'Within the body running back on tiptoes; 
1ast 4 or 5 years. Snowball and don't knowi why I didn't tell it 
I drank beer together sometimes the day I told them I was going 
in the building. I never was to tell the whole truth; didn't 
drunk at the time Mr. Frank told mean to keep back anything 
me to watch for him. He talked then. That day I told them ev­
to me before Snowball. There erything I remembered. When 
were eight niggers in all work- I got to the top of the stairs, 
ing in the factory. Snowball, Mr. Frank had that cord in his 
the fireman and me did just plain hands; don't remember when I 
manual labor, the reet of the ne- first told about that. If I didn't 
groes had better jobs. The time tell it that day when I said I was 
Mr. Frank told me about watch- telling the whole truth, I just 
ing for him, be didn't know didn't remember it. The reason 
Snowball was in there. Snow- why I didn't tell Scott and Black 
ball was standing right there by before I wrote four notes in­
me. Miss Daisy Hopkins stead of two, they didn't ask me 
worked on the fourth 1loor in haw many I wrote. I wrote 
1912. She was pretty, low, three notes on white and one on 
ehunky kind of heavy weight. green paper. The reason I didn't 
Looked to be about twenty-three. tell Scott and Black about ·burn­
I was arrested on the let of May. ing the body, because some one 
Sent for Mr. Black to come down had done taken them off the case. 
when I made my first statement Did not see a man named Mincey 
on May 18. I denied I had been on the eleetrio car that day; 
to the factory in that statement. did not tell how I bad just killed 
Told Mr. Black on May 24, the a girl and did not want to kill 
time I made the eeoond state- another. Saw Mary Phagan's 
ment, that I helped tote the lit- pocketbook, or mesh bag, in Mr. 
tie girl; think I told tbem about Frank's otllee after he got back 
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from the basement. It was lying 
on his desk. He put it in the 
safe. 

Mrs. J. A. White (recalled). 
I have seen this man before at 
police headquarters (indicating 
Conley) about a month after the 
murder. At that time did not 
identify him as being the man 
I saw sitting on the box. The 
man sitting on the box was about 
the same size as Jim Conley; 
couldn't state it was Jim Con­
ley. 

C. W. M•gum. Had a con­
versation with Mr. Frank at the 
jail about seeing Conley and con­
fronting him ; told him the men 
'M!re there with Conley and 
wanted to talk with him if he 
wanted to see them. He said, 
"No, my attorney is not here and 
I have nobody to defend me." 

N. V. Darley (recalled). It 
was very dark around the ele­
vator on the first floor on April 
26th; never saw Jim Conley that 
day; never saw Mr. Frank talk 
to him or speak to him or come 
into contact with him in any way 
that day ; was at the factory 
every Saturday afternoon; 
found Mr. Frank in his office on 
every occasion except one; saw 
Conley on Monday. He looked 
to be excited and when I spoke 
to him he failed to look up as he 
usually does ; went around the 
factory that morning and looked 
at everybody to see if I could 
pick out a man that looked suspi­
cious, and Jim Conley was the 
man I thought looked most sus­
picious. Have made no contribu­
tion toward the fund to defend 
Frank. If a body had been shot 
down the chute, behind those 
boxes, it would have been hidden 
more than where it was found; 
don't knaw anything about Con-

ley being there Saturday after­
noons and watching. He wasn't 
there by my instructions. 

E. F. Holloway (recalled). Am 
the day watchman and time 
keeper; look after the register 
to see that everybody registers; 
it was not a habit of Conley to 
register or not as he pleased and 
to get his pay anyhow; never 
saw Mr. Frank goose, pinch or 
joke with Conley. He surely 
was a good hand at borrowing, 
but Mr. Frank would never let 
him have a nickel but what he 
owed him. Up till 12 months 
ago the sweepers stayed at the 
factory until about 2 :30, but 
then they made a rule that any 
sweeping that wasn't done by 
noon on Saturday would have to 
go over until Monday and since 
that time no negroes have been 
there since 12 o'clock. We never 
had any negro night watchman 
in July, August, September, or 
any time last fall. We never had 
a negro night watchman until 
we hired Lee about three weeks 
before the murder. Was at the 
factory every Saturday since last 
June. Have never known Mr. 
Frank to have any woman on 
Saturdays excepting his wife. 
Mr. Schiff helped Mr. Frank on 
his books on Saturdays. Conley 
never did watch the door down 
stairs ; never did see him giving 
signals to Mr. Frank and Frank 
giving him signals from up­
stairs; would have seen them if 
he had watched the door. There 
was nobody practicing any im­
moralities in the building. If 
they did I would know it. Daisy 
Hopkins quit some time in May 
or June last spring. She has 
never been there since she quit. 
On Monday morning saw Conley, 
instead of being upstairs where 
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he ought to be sweeping, down 
in the shipping room watching 
the detectives, officers and re­
porters; caught him washing his 
shirt. Looked like he tried to 
hide it from me. 

Henry Scott (recalled). Was 
present when Conley made his 
statement May 18. I wrote that 
myself. He positively denied 
that he was at the factory on 
Saturday or that he knew any­
thing about the murder. We 
tried for hours to get him to con­
fess. The next statement he 

made on May 24, and we took 
him over to Mr. Dorsey's office, 
who went over it with him. He 
still denied seeing the little girl 
the day of the murder. On May 
25 we talked to him five or six 
hours, showing him that Frank 
could not have written these 
notes on Friday. He still said 
he had told the truth. On May 
28 he made another statement, 
the same as before. On May 29 
he made his last statement. We 
told him 'What would flt and 
ciwed him a good deal. 

THE EVIDENCE FOR THE PRISONER 

W. W. Matth810s. Am a mo­
torman; 26th April was running 
on English Avenue. Mary 
Phagan got on my car at Lind­
sey Street at 11 :50. We got to 
Broad and Hunter about 12 :10. 
Mary and some other little girl 
who was sitting with her, got off. 
The pencil factory is about a 
block and a half from Hunter 
and Broad. Nobody got on with 
Mary at Lindsey Street. Know 
the little Epps boy. He did not 
get on the car with her at Lind­
sey Street; saw Mary's body at 
the undertaker's. It was the 
same girl that got on my car. 

W. T. Hollis. Am a street car 
eonductor. On 26th April was 
on the English Avenue line. We 
ran on schedule that day. Mary 
Phagan got on at Lindsey Street 
at about 11 :50. No one else got 
on with her. Epps did not get 
on with her; no one was sitting 
with her; do not recollect Epps 
getting on the car at all that 
morning. 

Herbert G. Schil. Am assist­
ant superintendent of the Na­
tional Pencil Co. ; occupied the 
same omee as Mr. Frank; the 

company's money except the 
petty cash was kept at t.he gen­
eral manager's office, Mr. Sig 
Montag. All mail of the com­
pany is received there. Mr. 
Frank's salary was $150 a 
month. I usually leave the fac­
tory at 12 :30 and return at 2 to 
2 :15. Frank would leave a lit­
tle after 1 and return about 3; 
do not ·recall a single Saturday 
that Frank returned earlier than 
I did. We both worked together. 
The street doors were always 
open. Office boy would be in the 
outer office. Frequently we were 
interrupted by salesmen calling 
on us Saturday afternoon. The 
stenographers came back very 
seldom on Saturday afternoon; 
were liable to be interrupted at 
any time on Saturday afternoon 
by people on business. Newt 
Lee was the first negro night 
watchman we ever bad. Frank 
and I usually left the factory at 
half-past 5 or a quarter to 6 on 
Saturdays; left together, Very 
often Mrs. Frank would come up 
to the office on Saturday; never 
saw Conley around the office on 
Saturday afternoon after 2 
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o'clock. We never bad any wo­
men up in the office. Paid off the 
help on Friday, April 25th; re­
member paying Helen Ferguson 
that day. Nobody came up to ask 
for Mary Phagan's pay. We 
had posters all over the factory 
that Saturday would be a legal 
holiday and the factory would 
be closed; intended to come back 
to the factory Saturday morning, 
but overslept. 

Cross-examined. Mr. Frank, 
when they telephoned him about 
the murder, asked had there been 
a fire at the factol"!.; reason be 
was nervous, he said, be hadn't 
had any breakfast, he wanted a 
cup of coffee. 

Joel C. Hunter. Am a public 
accountant. I have examined the 
financial sheet said to be made by 
Leo M. F.'rank; to find out how 
long it would take a person to 
make out these reports, I went 
through the calculations. I 
found them correct within a deci­
mal. The quickest possible time 
to make out this report, balance 
the cash, make out the compara­
tive statements and the copies of 
'WUicb they furnished me, is 150 
minutes. 

CroBB-examined. A man's fa­
miliarity with a special class of 
work will aid materially in mak­
ing it up. If ·be had ·bad to 
get. up the information which 
was furnished me it would take 
him a good deal longer than it 
did me, for the information was 
already furnished me; ·have al­
lowed for bis experience and fa­
miliarity with the business, in 
the way of saving time, in mak­
ing my estimate; have tried to 
make my flgnres sufficiently con­
servative to make allowance for 
a man in charge of the work; 
think it will be wonderful to 

make it in less than that. A 
man who could make it out and 
verify it as he went along would 
take the whole afternoon. 

0. E. PoUard. Am an expert 
accountant; was called in for the 
purpose of seeing the length of 
time it would take to gather these 
figures and get the result on the 
financial sheet and other papers 
that were furnished me. The 
minimum time that I could do 
that work in I found to be 3 
hours and 11 minutes. 

Hattie HaU. Am a steno­
grapher for the National Pencil 
Company in the office of Mon­
tag Bros. Whenever it is neces­
sary I go down to the National 
Pencil factory and do work 
there; saw Mr. Frank: about 10, 
April 26th, at Montag Bros., 
when he asked me to come over 
and assist him at bis office. I 
went over to the factory between 
10 :30 and 11. Several people 
came in while we were working, 
two men, one whose son worked 
there came in and spoke to Mr. 
Frank about the boy's being in 
some trouble in the police ~urt. 
They went into the inner office to 
talk to him and be came out to 
the outer office with them. Miss 
Corintbia Hall and Mrs. White 
also came in there in Mr. Frank's 
office and I talked with him. 
These· eight letters were dictated 
to me Saturday morning by Mr. 
Frank and I typewrote them 
there in the outer office. I did 
not see any little girl come along 
about that time. 

Oorinthia Hall. Work in the 
finishing up department of the 
pencil factory; am a forelady; 
was at the fact.ory on April 26th; 
got there about 25 minutes to 12; 
Mrs. Freeman was with me; we 
went after her coat and to tel&-
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phone. It was about 15 minutes 
to 12 when we left the factory. 
Mr. Frank was writing when we 
eame in bis offiee. When we left 
the faetory, the following people 
'M!re still there : Arthur White, 
Mrs. White, May Barrett, her 
daughter, Harry Denham, the 
stenographer and Mr. Frank. 

Cron-uomitMd. We met Mr. 
Holloway as be came out of the 
faeto17 as we went in. We met 
Lemmie Quinn afterwards at the 
Greek Cafe. It took us about 5 
minutes to go there and eome 
baek to Greek Cafe. We got a 
eup of eoffee and sandwieh and 
were getting the change when 
Quinn eame in. · 

Mn . .Emma Clarke FreBtnan. 
Worked at the pencil factory; 
on 26th reached the factory with 
Miss Hall about 25 minutes to 
12; saw Mr. Frank at his office. 
He was talking to two men. Mrs. 
White and Mr. Frank's steno­
grapher were also in the office; 
left about a quarter to 12; met 
Lemmie Quinn afterwards in a 
eafe. He said he had just been 
up to see Mr. Frank. 

Misa Magnolia Kennedy. Am 
in the metal department; drew 
my pay Friday, April 25th1 from 
:Mr. SchiJf at the pay wmdow. 
Helen Ferguson was there when 
I went up there. :Mr. Frank was 
not there, Mr. Schi1f gave Helen 
Ferguson her pay envelope. 
Helen Fergason did not ask Mr. 
8chi1f far Mary Phagan's money. 

Crou-ezamiMd. On Monday, 
ll:r. Barrett called my attention 
to the hair w.bieb was found on 
the machine. It looked like 
Mary's hair. 

Helen did not have any busi­
ness going to :Mr. Frank when 
Mr. Sehi1T was paying off. She 
did not go in and ask Mr. Frank 

for Mary's money; left with her. 
Mr. Frank was not paying off 
that day. 

Wade CampbelL Work for 
the peneil factory; had a conver­
sation with my sister, Mrs. Ar­
thur White, on Monday, April 
28th. She told me that she had 
seen a negro sitting at the ele­
vator shaft when she went in the 
factory at 12 o'clock on Saturday 
and that she came out at 12 :30, 
she heard low voices, but 
couldn't see anybody. On April 
26th, got to the factory about 
9 :30. Mr. Frank was in his out­
er office. He was laughing and 
joking with people there, and 
joked with me. I have never 
seen Mr. Frank talk to Mary 
:ehagan. 

Lemmie 'Quinn. Am foreman 
of the metal department. The 
floor of the metal room is very 
dirty. You could not tell at the 
alleged blood spots whether they 
were varnish or oil. We have 
blood spots quite frequently 
when people get their hands cut; 
remember a man hr the name of 
Gilbert was hurt m that room. 
He bled freely. About 8 months 
ago a boy cut his hand pretty 
badly and was carried by the 
ladies' dressing room to the main 
office, right over the place where 
Barrett found the blood spots. 
His hand was bleeding. About 
a hundred women iwurk in the 
factory. Haskoline is scattered 
all over the floor of the metal 
room. That floor has never ·been 
scmbbed since I have been to the 
factory; could not tell what color 
hair it was Barrett found. There 
were only a half dozen strands 

·in it. Chief Lanford took it. 
Last time I saw Mary Phagan 
before the murder was Monday. 
She left about 2 o'clock because 

J 
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we were out of material and she 
was laid off for the rest of the 
iweek; have never seen Mr. Frank 
speak to her; went to the factory 
on April 26th, to see Mr. Schift'. 
He was not there. The street 
doors were open when I got 
there; did not see Mary Phagan 
nor Jim Conley, nor Monteen 
Stover. The doors to Mr. 
Frank's inner and outer office 
were open. The time I reached 
Mr. Frank's office was about 
12 :20. There was no blood spots 
under the machine where Barrett 
claims to have found the hair. 
There was no blood at the spot 
'Where Conley claims the body of 
the girl was found. 

Harry Denham. Work on the 
fourth floor of the pencil factory. 
I was paid off Friday, April 
25th; came back Saturday to do 
some work on the machinery 
when it was not running. We 
worked until 10 minutes after 3. 
It took a good deal of hammer­
ing; we were making a racket up 
there. May Barrett was the first 
person to come upstairs that day, 
about quarter past 11. Stayed 
about three-quarters of an :hour. 
It was after 12 when she left. 
Mrs. Freeman and Miss Hall 
were the next to come upstairs 
and stayed about 15 minutes. Mr11. 
White came upstairs about 12 :30 
to see her husband. She had a 
good long talk with him. She 
was still upstairs when Mr. Frank 
came up. He told Mr. and Mrs. 
White that he was going to din­
ner and would like to close the 
doors. Mrs. White went right 
down behind Mr. Frank; never 
heard the elevator run that day; 
can see wheels turning on that 
floor. There -were no noises in 
the factory that day, excepting 
street noises. When we came out 

... ... ... ... -

we saw Mr. Frank at his desJC 
in his office writing. Mr. White 
borrowed $2.00 from him. He 
did not look nervous or unusual. 
White and I on the fourth floor 
could have gone anywhere in the 
building that day. It was open 
to us. 

Cross-examined. The first 
time Mr. Frank came upstairs it 
was about 10 minutes to 1. The 
second time was about 3 o'clock. 

Mlnola McKnight. Work for 
Mrs. Selig. I cook for her. Mr. 
and Mrs. Frank live 'With Mr. 
and Mrs. Selig. His wife is Mrs. 
Selig's daughter; cooked break­
fast for the family on April 26th. 
Mr. Frank finished breakfast 
a little after 7 o'clock. Mr. Frank 
came to dinner about 20 minutes 
after 1 that day. Mrs. Frank 
and Mrs. Selig were already eat­
ing when Mr. Frank came in. 
My husband, Albert McKnight, 
wasn't in the kitchen that day 
between 1 and 2 o'clock. Stand­
ing in the kitchen door yon can­
not see the mirror in the dining 
room. If yon move where yon 
can see the mirror, you can't see 
the dining room table. My hus­
band wasn't there all that day. 
Mr. Frank left that day some 
time after 2 o'clock; next saw 
him at half-past 6 at supper. I 
left about 8 o'clock. Mr. Frank 
was still at home when I left. 
He took supper with the rest of 
the family. After this happened 
the detectives came out and ar­
rested me and took me to Mr. 
Dorsey's office, where Mr. Dor­
sey, my husband and another 
man were there. They tried to 
get me to say that Mr. Frank 
would not allow his wife to sleep 
that night and that he told her 
to get up and get his gun and let 
him kill himself, and that he 
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made her get out of bed. They 
had my husband there to bull­
dor.e me, claiming that I had told 
him that; had never told him any­
thing of the kind; told them right 
there in Mr. Dorsey's office that 
it was a lie; they carried me 
down to the station house in the 
patrol wagon. They came to me 
for another statement about half­
past 11 or 12 o'clock that night 
and made me sign something be­
fore they turned me loose, but it 
wasn't true. I signed it to get 
out of jail, because they said they 
would not let me out. It was 
all written out for me before 
they made me sign it. 

Cross-examined. Signed that 
statement (see post, p. 244), but 
didn't tell you some of the things 
you got in there; didn't say be 
left home about 3 o'clock; said 
somewhere about 2. I did not 
say he was not there at 1 o'clock. 
Mr. Graves and Mr. Pickett, of 
Beck & Gregg Hardware Co., 
came dawn to see me. A de­
tective took me to yoar (Mr. 
Dorsey's') office. My husband 
was there and told me that I bad 
told him certain things. I denied 
it; 'Wllpt and eried and stuck to 
it. That man there (Mr. Camp­
bell) and a whole lot of men 
wanted me to tell lies. My hus­
band tried, too. They made me 
sign that statement, but it was a 
lie. Ir Mr. Frank didn't eat any 
dinner that day I ain't sitting in 
this chair. Mrs. Selig never gave 
me no money. The statement 
that I signed is not the. truth. 
They told me if I didn't sign it 
they were going to keep me 
locked up. 

Em1'Z Selig. Am Mr. Frank's 
f11ther-in-law and live with him. 
The sideboard in the dining room 
is in the same position now, as 

it has always been. Mr. Frank 
on April 26th left the honse 
before I breakfasted. I got back 
home to dinner about 1 :15. Mr. 
Frank came in about 1 :20. There 
was nothing unsual about him. No 
scratches or bruises about him. 
Noticed nothing unusual about 
him at supper. After supper 
Mr. Frank sat in the hall and 
read. A party of onr friends 
came to the house and played 
cards after supper. Frank and 
his wife did not play. He came 
in one time while we were play­
ing and said he read a story 
about a baseball umpire's deci­
sion and he was laughing. 

Cross-examined. Have never 
seen the servants move that side­
board. 

Mrs. Em1'Z SeZig. Am Mrs. 
Frank's mother. Mr. and Mrs. 
Frank have been living with us 
two years. The sideboard is in 
the same position it always has 
been except when we ~p un­
der it. We had lunch on April 
26th after 1 o'elock, about 10 
minutes past 1. Mr. Frank came 
about 20 minutes past 1 while 
we were eating. He sat down 
with us and ate. Mrs. Frank 
and I left before he did, about 
half-past 1. He was still eating 
at the table. After the opera, 
while we were on the street car, 
saw Mr. Frank at 6 :10. Mr. 
Frank was home when iwe got 
there; saw nothing unusual about 
him. No scratches, bruises, 
wounds or marks. We got home 
about half-past 6; sat down to 
supper about a quarter to 7. Mr. 
Frank ate with us; played cards 
that night in the dining room 
with a party of friends. He went 
to bed between 10 and 10.30; 
saw Mr. Frank next day about 
11; saw no blood spots or marb 
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or bruises or euts about him. 
CroBB-ezamiMd. Mr. Frank 

got home about 11 o'clock Sun­
day. He told us he had been 
sent for to eome to town. He 
spoke of a crime having been 
committed; asked him what bad 
happened; don't remember that 
he told me about the crime. He 
did not seem unconcerned about 
it. I said at coroner's that I 
thought he seemed unconcerned 
about it; don't remember hia re­
marking about the youth of the 
girl or the brutality of the crime. 
Don't think Mr. Frank men­
tioned the name of the girl that 
was killed on Sunday. 

Helen Kent8. At 10 minutes 
after 1 on April 26 saw Mr. 
Frank standing up against the 
building at the corner of Ala­
bama and Broad Streets. 

Mrs. A. P. Lt11J11. Saw Mr. 
Frank get off a car on Memorial 
Day be~n 1 and 2 o'clock and 
cross the street to his home. 

Mrs. M. G. Michael. Was visit­
ing my sister, Mrs. Wolfsbeimer; 
saw Mr. Frank about two 
o'clock on April 26th, going up 
Washington Street towards town. 
I was on the front porch when 
he came up and asked me about 
my people at home; noticed noth­
ing unusual about ·him; no 
scratches or marks or any ner­
vousness about him. 

Jerome Michael. Saw Mr. 
Frank on April 26th between 5 
minutes to 2 and 2; called him 
and when he saw my mother 
standing on the porch he eame 
over and spoke to her; noticed 
absolutely nothing unusual about 
him. No scratches, bruises, 
marks and no nervousness. 

Mrs. Hennie Wolfsheimer. Am 
the aunt of Mrs. Frank. On 
April 26th, I saw Mr. Frank in 

front of my house about 2 
o'clock. I walked out on the 
poreh after he came. I saw 
nothing unusual about him. No 
nervousness or bruises or 
scratches. I saw no stains on bis 
elothes, no marks or t.ears of any 
kind. 

Julian Loeb. Live &Cl'088 die 
street from the W olfsheimer resi­
dence; am a cousin of Mrs. 
Frank; saw Mr. Frank on April 
26th in front of the W olfsbeimer 
residence. It was between 1 :50 
and 2 o'clock. 

Cohen Loeb. Was on the ear 
with Mr. Frank going back to 
town on April 26th after lunch. 
That was about 2 o'clock. The 
car was blockaded by the crowd. 
There was nothing unusual about 
him. No marks, or scratches or 
spots on him. He had on a 
brown suit and a derby. 

H. J. Hinchey. Saw Mr. 
Frank on April 26th opposite 
the main entrance to the Capi­
tol He was on the street car 
going to town. It was between 
2 and 2:15. 

Miss Rebecca Carson. Work 
at the National Pencil Co. on the 
fourth floor; am forelady of the 
sorting department; have from 
thirteen to fifteen girls under me; 
have heard the elevator running 
when the machinery in the fac­
tory was not running. On April 
26th saw Mr. Frank looking at 
the parade in front of Rich's be­
tween 2 :20 and 2 :25. He spoke 
to me; saw him agsin at 10 min­
utes to 3 going into Jacob's 
Pharmacy. On Monday morn­
ing I said to Jim Conley, Where 
were you on Saturday T Were 
you in the factory T He said, "I 
was so drunk I don't know where 
I was or what I did." And 
Snowball, who was standing 
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there, said, "I ean prove where 
I "WU." 

Mn. E. M. Canort. Worked 
at the pencil factory. Rebecca 
Carson is my daughter; have 
seen blood spois around the la­
dies' dressing room three or four 
times; saw Jim Conley on Tues­
day after the murder. He was 
sweeping around my table, 1&id, 
Well, Jim, they haven't got you 
yet, and he says, ''No." I said, 
Jim, you know Mr. Frank never 
did that, and he says, "No, Mr. 
Frank is as innocent as you is, 
and I know you is." 
Cross~mined. Have seen 

blood in the dressing room 
around the lockers and some 
around the mirror; have seen 
girls up there mash their fingers 
on the machines ; have seen blood 
in the sink in the toilet room and 
on the machines; have seen spots 
about as big as my finger, dif. 
ferent spots up on the fourth 
ftoor. 

Miss Mtwy Pir'k. Work at the 
National Pencil Co.; talked with 
Jim Conley Jlonday morning 
after the murder; accused him of 
the murder. He took his broom 
and walked right out of the omce 
and I have never seen him since. 
His character for truth and for 
veracity is bad; would not be­
lieve him on oath. 

Cross-e:eamined. Suspected 
Jim because he looked and acted 
so di.«erent. Jim acted very pe­
euliar. I mentioned it to several 
of the girls standing around, 
lliss Denham, lliss JleCord, Jlrs. 
Johns and several others; ae­
Ctllled Jim. before I saw the blood 
at the Jadies' dressing room. It 
was all smeared. Yr. Frank ill 
a perfect gentleman; always 
foand him to be one in my deal­
ings with him ; have never heard 

any of the girls say anything 
about him; have never heard of 
a single thing immoral that he 
did do in those five yean; have 
never heard of his going in tibe 
girls' dressing room. I have 
never heard of his slapping them 
as he would go by; have never 
heard Mr. Frank talk to Kary. 

Mrs. fora SmaU. Worked on 
the fourth floor of the peneil fae­
tory; saw Jim Conley on Tuee­
day. He was worrying me to 
get money from me to buy a 
newspaper and then he would 
come and ask me for copies of · 
the paper before I would get 
through reading them. He told 
me Mr. Frank is just as innoeent 
as I am and he says, "God know1 
I was noways around this fac­
tory on Saturday;" didn't eee 
Mr. Frank talking to Jim any­
where in the factory on Tues­
day; have never seen him talk to 
that nigger in my life; have 
known Conley for two years· 
general reputation for truth and 
veracity is bad; don't know of 
any nigger on earth that I ~uld 
believe on oath. 

Cross-ezamintJd. Did not see 
Mrs. Carson talk to Jim on Tues­
day or Wednesday; saw Mr. 
Frank and Miss Carson talking 
on business between 8 a.nd 9 
o'clock on TUESday. They stopped 
right in front of my machine. 
Mr. Frank went down stairs and 
Miss Carson went on baek to her 
work. 

Jvlia Fll88. Work on the 
fourth floor of the pencil fac­
tory; have never know anrtJiing 
wrong or immoral to be gomg on 
in Mr. Frank's omce; talked with 
Jim Conley Wednesday morning 
after the murder. He was 
sweeping around there and 
asked me to see the newspaper. 
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As he read it he kinder grinned. 
He told me he believed Mr. Frank 
was just as innocent as the an­
gels from Heaven. He was never 
known to tell the truth; would 
not believe him on oath. 

CroBB-exatnined. Have never 
heard Mr. Frank accused of any 
act of immorality or familiarity 
with the girls in the factory. Jim 
Conley got twu papers from me 
on Tuesday and Wednesday. I 
bought them. Jim always seemed 
to be kind of nervous or half 
drunk or something. He aroused 
my suspicions after he began to 
read the papers and grin about 
them and comment on them. 

Emma Beard. Am Mr. 
Schi1f's servant. On April 26th 
somebody called Mr. Schiff on 
the telephone about half-past 10. 
It said, "Tell Mr. Schitf Mr. 
Frank wanted him at the office." 
The same voice called up Mr. 
Schiff again about 11 o'clock. I 
told him he would be there as 
soon as he could get dressed. 

Annie Hi:£on. Am. Mrs. Ur­
senbacb's servant. Mr. Frank 
called up on the telephone about 
half-past one on April 26th. 
"Tell Mr. Charlie I can't go to 
the ball game this afternoon." 

J . C. Matthew8. Was at Mon­
tag Bros. on April 26th; saw 
Mr. Frank in the office of Mon­
tag Bros., in the morning of that 
day. 

.Alouo Mantt. Am office boy 
at the National Pencil Company. 
I left the factory at half-past 11 
on April 26th. When I left 
there Miss Halt, the stenograph­
er from Montag's, was in the 
office with Mr. Frank; never saw 
him bring an;v women into the 
factory and drink with them; 
have never seen Dalton there. On 
April 26th, saw Holloway, Irby, 

McCrary and Darley at the fac­
tory; didn't see Quinn. I don't 
remember seeing Corintha Hall, 
Mrs. Freeman, Mrs. White, Gra­
ham, Tillander or Wade Camp­
bell. 

M. 0. Ni:£. Am credit man 
for Montag Bros. and bookkeep­
er; have charge of the bookkeep­
ing and documents and papers of 
the National Pencil Company; 
am familiar with Mr. Frank's 
handwriting. These financial 
sheets are in Mr. Frank's hand­
writing; so are these eleven 
requisition sheets; saw Mr. Frank 
on the morning of April 26th, at 
Montag's. He asked me to allow 
Miss Hattie Hall, my steno­
grapher, to go over to the fac­
tory, to assist him as his steno­
grapher 'WU away. 

Have never seen a letter writ­
ten by Mr. Frank. The only 
writing of his that I am familar 
with are ftgtires and things like 
pay rolls. 

Harry Gottheimer. Am a 
traveling salesman for the Na­
tional Pencil Company; Was at 
Montag Bros. at 10 o'clock on 
April 26th. Mr. Frank came in. 
I asked ·him about two orders 
and he replied that be couldn't 
tell, but that if I would return 
to the factory with him he would 
tell me, or if you can't come 
now, come this afternoon. Saw 
Frank in his office one Saturday 
afternoon in the early part of 
April about 3 o'clock. His wife 
was there doing some steno­
graphic work for him. I am 
sure of that conversation. I bad 
been in his office on previous 
Saturday afternoons. I never 
found any of the doors locked. 
He was always working. 

Mrs. Rae Frank. Am the 
mother of Leo Frank; live in 
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Brooklyn. Mr. Moses Frank of 
Atlanta is my husband's brother; 
saw him at Hotel McAlpin in 
New York City on April 27th 
and April 28th. The letter you 
hand me (see posi, p. 250) is 
my son's handwriting. The word 
"Y ondef'' in the letter is He­
brew, meaning ''Holiday." 

Cross-examined. Mr. Frank 
has no rich relatives in Brook­
lyn. My brother-in-law, Mr. 
Bennett, is a clerk at $18 a week. 
lrfy son-in-law, Mr. Stearns, is 
in the retail cigar business. As 
to what my means of support are 
we have about $20,000 out at in­
terest, my husband and I, at six 
per cent. We own the house we 
live in. We have a $6,000 mort­
gage on it. The house is worth 
about $10,000. My husband is 
doing nothing. He is not in 
good health. Up to a year ago 
he was a traveling salesman. 
These are the only · relatives my 
son has in Brooklyn. Mr. Moses 
Frank, my brother-in-law, is 
supposed to be very wealthy. My 
hosband is 67 years old. He is 
broken down from bard work 
and in very poor health. 

Oscar Pappenheimer. Am a 
stockholder of the National Pen­
cil Company; have been getting 
comparative sheets from Frank 
since March, 1910 ; have here the 
report for the week ending April 
24, 1913. I got that on Monday 
morning, April 28th. 

C. F: Ursertbach. Married a 
sister of Mrs. Leo Frank. On 
Saturday, about 20 minutes to 2, 
my cook told me that Mr. Frank 
had phoned and told me that he 
wasn't going to the game; saw 
him on Sunday, after the murder, 
at my house; saw no scratches, 
marks or bruises on him. He 
seemed to be a little disturbed 

in mind; saw him again that 
afternoon. He told us about the 
tragedy that evening. He gave 
me my rain coat, which he had 
borrowed previously. 

Cross-examined. He and his 
wife and my 'Wlife and myself 
generally played cards Saturday 
evening. Mr. and Mrs. Selig's 
family usually played poker Sat­
urday night. Mr. Frank bor­
rowed my rain coat at 4 :30 Sun­
day when it was raining, and I 
met him about 6 o'clock on Wash .. 
ington Street, and he returned it. 
He never had that rain coat until 
Sunday afternoon; am positive 
that be did not have it on Sat­
urday. 

Mrs. C. F. Ursenbach. Am 
Mrs. Leo Frank's sister. I saw 
no scratches, bruises, or marks 
on Mr. Frank on Sunday. He 
was nervous as one would have 
been under the circumstances. He 
borrowed a rain coat from my 
husband that afternoon. The 
rain coat was at our house on 
Saturday. Mr. Frank did not 
have it on Saturday. 

Cross-examined. On Sunday 
Yr. Frank, when be was at the 
house, told us he bad been called 
down town and that this little 
girl was murdered, and he told 
what a horrible crime it was; 
did not say who committed it; 
said nothing about employing a 
lawyer; said be bad thought he 
beard the telephone ringing in 
his sleep, the night before; said 
when he saw the corpse it was a 
grewsome sight; said nothing 
about suspecting Newt Lee as be­
ing the guilty party; said he was 
sorry he let Gantt in the factory 
Saturday afternoon, because he 
mistrusted him, because he bad 
not been honest ; did not say he 
thought Newt Lee or Gantt bad 
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committed the crime; said not.b­
ing about the clock having been 
improperly punched. 

Mrs. A. E. Marcus. Am a sis­
ter of Mrs. Leo Frank; played 
cards Saturday night at Mrs. 
Selig's. Mr. Frank was there 
sitting out in the hall reading. 
Mr. Frank went to bed after 10 
o'clock; noticed nothing unusual 
about him, no bruises, marks or 
signs. 

Mrs. M. Marcus. Saw Mr. 
Frank at half-past 8 in the even­
ing April 26th, at Mrs. Selig's 
residence. We played cards 
there. He stayed in the hall 
reading. He appeared as nat­
ural as usual. 

M. J. Goldstein. Played cards 
Saturday night, April 26th, at 
Mrs. Selig's house; got there 
about 8 :15; Mr. Frank was sit­
ting in the hall; there was noth­
ing unusual about him, no nerv­
ousness or anxiety. 

Cro88-e.xamined. He eame in 
while we were playing to tell us 
of some joke he had read, and 
we asked him to desist as it was 
distracting us from the game. 
Frank was reading a magazine 
which caused him considerable 
merriment and laughter. 

I. Straus. Was at the home 
of Mrs. Selig, Saturday night, 
playing cards; while we played 
he was sitting in the hall -read­
ing. 

Mrs. Emil Selig (recalled). 
Deny categorically that any of 
the content.s of Minola Mc­
Knight's affidavit are true; have 
never raised Minola's wages one 
penny since she has been with 
me. 

Cross-examined. Didn't see 
Albert McKnight at my house 
on Saturday; Minola was paid 
$3.50 a week; advanced her a 

week's wages; the ftrst week I 
gave her $5.00 and told hc.r to 
give me the change. She brought 
$1.00 the next morning, and told 
me she kept 50 cents which I de­
ducted the next week; think 
Mrs. Frank gave her a hat; Mrs. 
Frank has never given her any 
money to my knowledge. 

Sigmund Montag. Am treas­
urer of the National Pencil Com­
pany; my office is two blocks 
from the pencil factory. Frank 
came to my office April 26th, 
about ten and stayed an hour; 
he talked to me, my st.enograph­
er, Miss Hattie Hall, and Mr. 
Gottheimer, one of the salesmen; 
went to the factory almost ev­
ery Saturday afternoon; Mr. 
Frank would always be working 
at his desk on the financial sheet. 
Sunday morning was asked by 
phone if I could identify a girl 
that was killed in the basement 
of the pencil factory; referred 
him to Mr. Darley. After 
breakfast Mr. Frank came to my 
house; he was no more nervo\18 
than we were; saw no marks, 
scratches or discolorations of 
any sort on his face, and there 
were no spots on his clothing. 
Monday afternoon about three 
Mr. Sehift called me over the 
telephone and asked me if I 
would sanction the employment 
of the Pinkertons to ferret out 
this crime; told Mr. SChifl to go 
ahead. 

CroBB-uominetl. Mr. Frank 
when he was at my house Sun­
day morning had already been 
to the undertaker's; he told me 
they had taken him into a dark 
room and flashed on 'a light, and 
he said he saw the little girl 
there; he described how she 
looked; he said her faoe was 
scratched and her eye waa dis-
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eolored, and she seemed to have 
a gash in her head; her mouth 
was full of sawdust and he de­
scribed her in a general way; he 
did not say anything to me 
about an attorney or having 
been to police headquartem. I 
had not then employed counsel; 
my sending Mr. Herbert Haas to 
see Mr. Frank was not employ­
ing eounsel; made no trade with 
Mr. Haas; don't know :wiho is 
paying his fee ; have not con­
tributed anything ·towards it, 
nor bas the Pencil Company. 

T"""°" McCrM1J. Am a 
drayman; work for the National 
Pencil Company; would work on 
Saturday afternoons until half 
past three and sometimes as late 
as five; have never found the 
front door locked on a Saturday 
afternoon; have never seen Jim 
Conley watching there Saturday 
afternoon; have never seen him 
guarding the door; have never 
seen him around the factory at 
all Saturday afternoon ; have 
never found the doors to Mr. 
Frank's inner or outer office 
loeked; both doors have glass 
windows in them; anybody could 
see through them; have some­
times found Mr. Schiff working 
there with Mr. Frank on Satur­
day afternoon ; did not see Jim 
Conley at the factory April 
26th; did not tell him to go 
down in the elevator shaft and 
ease bis bowels; went into Mr. 
Frank's office about twelve 
o'eloek on April 26th; Mr. Frank 
was there. 

D. J. Ni:£. Was office boy at 
the pencil factorv; on Saturday 
afternoons, Mr. Frank and Mr. 
Sebifl' would be there working; 
iwould stay in the outer office; 
never left the factory on Satur­
day afternoon; have never 

known Mr. Frank to have any 
women in his office drinking or 
doing anything else. 

Frattk Payne. Was office boy 
last Thanksgiving day at the 
pencil factory; Mr. Schi1f and 
Mr. Frank were working there 
in the office that day. Have nev­
er known him to have any wom­
en in there, or see· any drinking 
going on. 

PlaiUip Chambers. December 
12, 1912, was office boy at the 
pencil factory until March 29, 
1913; stayed in the outer office; 
on Saturdays I stayed until 4 :30 
and sometimes until 5 o'clock; 
Mr. Frank never did have any 
women in there; never saw any 
drinking there; never seen Dal­
ton come in there; have seen Jim 
Conley sweeping there Saturday 
afternoon; Snowball would be in 
there once in a while; never 
known the front door to be 
looked Saturday afternoon ; 
never seen anybody watching 
the door on any Saturday; have 
seen Mr. Frank's wife come to 
his office; Mr. Schiff would be 
helping him some of the Satur­
days; never seen Mr. Frank 
familiar with any of the women 
in the factory; never seen him 
talk to Mary Phagan. 

Godfrey Weinkauf. Am su­
perintendent of the Pencil Com­
pany's lead plant; visited the of­
fice of the factory every other 
Saturday, between 3 and 5 
o'clock; would find Mr. Hollo­
way, Mr. Frank and Mr. Schiff 
there; never saw any women in 
the office there; never saw Jim 
Conley there Saturday after­
noons. 

Claarlie Lee. Am a machinist 
at the pencil factory; Duffy's fin­
ger was hurt on the eyelet ma­
chine October 4, 1912; the blood 
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spouted out; there was a lot of 
the blood on the floor. 

Cross-ezamined. Dufty was 
hurt in the metal room on the 
machine opposite Mary Phagan's 
machine; the pencil company 
took a written stat.ement from 
me, signed by me, to keep the 
fellow from suing the company; 
saw my signature this morning; 
have never told you I signed that 
statement • 

.Arthur Pride. Worked on the 
second floor of the factory; on 
Saturdays I work all over the 
factory, doing anything that is 
necessary, until about half past 
four; have never seen any wom­
en come up there and see Mr. 
Frank, or any drinking going on 
there, or seen Jim Conley. sit­
ting and watching the door; Jim 
Conley's general character for 
truth and veracity, it is bad; 
'Would not believe him on oath. 

Cross-examined. No, I ain't 
a high-class, nigger, but I am a 
different grade from him. 

Daisy Hopkins. Am a mar­
ried woman ; worked in the fac­
tory; Mr. Frank never spoke to 
me when be wonld pass; never 
did speak to him; never been in 
his office drinking beer, eoca­
cola, or anything else; know 
Dalton i never visited the fac­
tory with him; never have been 
to the factory on Saturday; 
never introduced him to Mr. 
Frank i there isn't a word of 
truth 1n that; have never gone 
down in the ·basement with Dal­
ton. 

Cro11-ezaminetl. Mr. Smith 
got me out of jail. Somebod:y 
told a tale on me, that's why I 
was put in jail; they accused 
me of fornication; never was 
tried. 

Laura Atkinson. Have been 

in Mr. Dalton's company three 
times; never met him at the Busy 
Bee Cafe; have never walked 
with ·him to or from the pencil 
company. 

Mrs. Mimaie Smit'l.. Work at 
the pencil factory; never met 
Dalton or walked home with 
him; don't know him; know Mr. 
Frank; have spoken to him six 
times in the four years I worked 
there. 

V. 8. Cooper, W. T. Mitc'l.eU, 
0 • ..4.. Niz, Samuel Craig, B. L. 
Patterson, Robert Craig, Ed 
Craig, T. L • .Ambrose, J. P. Bird, 
J. H. Patrick and I. M. Hamil­
ton testified that they lived in 
Gwinnett or Walton county; that 
they used to know C. B. Dalton 
before he left Monroe in Walton 
county; that his general charac­
ter for truth and veracity is bad, 
and that they wonld not believe 
him on oath. 

R. L. Bauer. Summers of 
1909-1910, I worked at the Na­
tional Pencil Co. Saturdays; 
since have worked off and on at 
the factory on Saturdays; was 
up at the office on the Saturday 
afternoon before Mr. Schiff went 
away; Mr. Holloway, Mr. Schlft, 
Mr. Frank and the office boy 
were there; never seen any wom­
en in Mr. Frank's office on Sat­
urdays. 

Oross-ezamined. Have always 
found Mr. Schiff there on Satur­
day afternoons, except when he 
was off on his trip; saw Mr. 
Frank in his office on the fourth 
Saturday in January. 

Gordon Bai1ey. Work at the 
factory; am called "Snowball"; 
never saw Jim Conley talk to 
Mr. Frank Friday before the 
murder; have never heard Mr. 
Frank ask Conley to come baek 
on any Saturday; never seen 
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Mr. Frank bring any women into 
the factory; never seen Jim Con­
ley guarding or watching the 
door; have seen Jim take news­
papers and look at it, but don't 
know if he read them or not. 

Henry Smith. Work at the 
pencil factory in the metal de­
partment with Barrett; he talked 
to me about the reward; said it 
was $4,300, and he thought if 
anybody got it, he ought, for he 
found t·he blood and hair; said 
he ought to get the first hook 
at it. 

Mi1ton Klein. Saw Mr. Frank 
last Thanksgiving evening at a 
dance given by the B'nai B'rith 
at the Hebrew Orphans' Home. 
Mr. Frank helped Mr. Coplan 
and myself give the dance; we 
were the committee in charge. 

CroBB-examined. Was at the 
jail to see Mr. Frank when the 
detectives brought Conley down 
there; sent word down that Mr. 
Frank didn't care to see Conley; 
Mr. Frank said that he would see 
Conley only with the consent of 
his attorney, Mr. Rosser; Mr. 
Frank looked very much disap­
pointed because the grand jury 
bad just indicted him when he 
bad expected to be cleared. Mr. 
Frank bas a great many friends 
who constantly visited him in 
jail. 

Nathan Coplan. Remember 
last Thanksgiving Day was a 
very disagreeable one; The B'nai 
B'rith gave a dance; Mr. Frank 
bad charge of it; Mr. Frank and 
bis wife were there. 

Joe Stelker. Have got charge 
of the varnishing department at 
the pencil factory: saw the spot 
that Mr. Barrett claimed he had 
found in front of the young 
ladies' dressing room ; it looked 
like some one bad some coloring 

in a bottle and splashed it on the 
floor; saw the white stuff on it; 
it looked like a composition they 
use on the eyelet machine or face 
powder; the alleged blood spots 
could have been made with a 
transparent red varnish. Jim 
Conley's character for truth and 
veracity is very bad; would not 
believe him on oath. 

Harlee Branch. Work for the 
Atlanta Journal; on May 31.st 
Jim Conley told me he didn't 
see the purse of this little 
girl; said it took him thirty­
five minutes after going upstairs 
until be left the factory; was at 
the jail where the detectives were 
making him go through bis story. 
It took him nearly fifty minutes 
to go through the motions. He 
said he finished about 1 :30 and 
then went out; that Lemmie 
Quinn got into the factory about 
12 and remained about 8 or 9 
minutes: 

John M. Minar. Am a news­
paper reporter; visited George 
Epps Sunday night, April 27th; 
he said be knew the girl, that he 
had ridden to town with her in 
the mornings occasionally when 
she went to work. He said noth­
ing as to having seen the girl on 
Saturday and coming in on the 
car with her. 

W. D. McWort'h. Am a Pink­
erton detective; worked on the 
Frank case ; found near the front 
door on the ground floor, stains 
that might or might not have 
been blood. All the radiators in 
the factory bad trash, dirt and 
rubbish behind them; sticking 
my hand around the dust and 
dirt, discovered a pay envelope 
also a club; the stains on the 
club were either paint or blood. 

John Finley. Was formerly 
master machinist and assistant 
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superintendent of the pencil fac­
tory. Mr. Frank's character was 
good. 

A. D. <hH*fteld. I am one of 
the owners of the building occu­
pied by the Pencil Company. 
I have known Mr. Frank four or 
11.ve years. His character is 
good. 

Dr. Wm. Oto6tl8. Am a phy­
sician; at the request of the de­
fense went through certain exper­
iments in the pencil factory to 
ascertain how long it would take 
to go through Jim Conley's move­
ments relative to moving the 
body of Mary Phagan; kept the 
time while the other men were 
going through with the perform­
ance. Mr. Wilson of the Atlanta 
Baggage Co. also kept time with 
me. Mr. Brent and Mr. Flem­
ing enacted the performance. It 
took us eighteen and a half 
minutes to go through the move­
ments and conversation which 
Conley says took place between 
him and Frank on Saturday, 
April 26th; the eighteen and a 
half minutes did not include the 
eight minutes that Conley said he 
was in the wardrobe and also the 
time it took him to write the 
notes. Including that the whole 
performance would have taken 
361,'2 minutes. 

Cross-ezanained. Yes, I wrote 
that letter at the instance of my­
self and of Mr. Leonard Haas, 
ml attorney, as a matter of con-
8Clence. It is partly as follows : 
"To the Grand Jury of Fulton 
County, W. D. Beattie, foreman. 
Gentlemen: Among a number of 
people 'With whom I have dis­
cussed the unfortunate Phagan 
affair, I have found very few 
who now believe in the guilt of 
Leo M. Frank, and I have felt 
a deep conviction growing in my 

heart that a terrible injuatiee 
might he in11icted upon an inno­
cent man." 

Isaac Haas. Know Leo M. 
Frank; bis cb&.raeter is very 
good. 

A. N. Andersote. Am clerk at 
Atlanta Bank. The pass book of 
Leo M. Frank shows a balance 
to his credit of $16 on April 18, 
don't know that that's the only 
bank account that he had. 

R . P. Butler. Am the shipping 
clerk for the Pencil Company; 
the doors leading into the metal 
room are wooden doom with 
glass windO"WB; there is no 
trouble looking through them in­
to the metal room, even when the 
doors are closed. 

I. U. Kauftnaff. Made a 
drawing of the Selig residence 
on Georgia avenue, in this city. 
Standing in the back door of the 
kitchen room against the north 
side of the door, I could not see 
that mirror, because of the par­
tition between the passageway 
and the dining room. 

J. Q. Adams. Am a photogra­
pher; took photographs of the 
Selig home from the inside; one 
photograph was taken standing 
directly in the door; you could 
not see the mirror with the 
naked eye or in the picture; took 
views also of the pencil factory; 
standing in the door you could 
not see any part of Mr. Frank's 
desk, or a telephone or a win­
dow. 

Prof. Geo. Bac7una-. Am 
professor of physiology and 
physiological chemistry. Bomar 
says it takes four hours and a 
half to digest cabbage. If the 
cabbage is not well chewed it 
would take considerably longer. 

Dr . .7'1aomas HMCock. Have 
practioed for twenty-two years; 
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engaged in hospital work six or 
seven years; have treated about 
14,000 cases of surgery; ·have ex­
amined the private parts of Leo 
M. Frank and found nothing 
abnormal; he is a normal man, 
118X1lally. Neither I nor anybody 
else eould give an intelligent 
opinion of how long that cab­
bage and wheat bread had been 
in the stomach before death. 
Finding the epithelium missing 
in several places or separated 
from the wall of the vagina 
would not indicate any violence 
done to the subject in life. The 
condition of the blood vessels as 
described I would expect to re­
sult from other e&1JS88 than vio­
lence. Even if violence camied 
them, you could not tell how 
long before death that vioJenee 
had been inflicted, or that it had 
been inflicted 'Within from five 
to fifteen minutes before death. 

Dr. Wi1lis F. Westmoreland. 
Am a practicing physician for 
twenty-eight years, general prac­
tice and surgery. A professor of 
surgery for twenty years, and 
formerly president of the State 
Board of Health. From the evi­
dence I have heard it would be 
imp0881"ble to tell whether or not 
that would have produced un­
eonsciousnMS before death; skull 
may be fractured 'Without pro­
dueing unconsciousness· death 
may be produced by a blow on 
the head that leaves very little 
outward signs. From looking at 
sueh a wound without any knowl­
edge of the amount of blood lost, 
one could not tell whether it was 
inflicted before or after death; 
one could not tell from looking 
at a wound of that sort from 
which direction it was inflicted. 
Have no :personal feeling against 
Dr. Harris; preferred charges 

with State Boe.rd of Health 
charging Dr. Harris with pro­
fessional dishonsety. It would 
be impossible to form a reliable 
opinion that cabbage and bread 
had been in that stomach before 
death, on that data or any other 
data, that could be found by 
looking at the stomach nine or 
ten days after death. Many 
things retard digestion. Muoh 
depends upon the particular 
stomach and its affinity for par-­
ticular foods. Food that is not 
thoroughly emulsified 'Will re­
main in the stomach indefinitely. 
Cabbage like that, and wheat 
·bread, might remain in the stom­
ach until the process of dig9Jtion 
is complete, which ordinarily 
would be from three and a half 
to four holll'S. Any epithelium 
ean be very easily stripped after 
death. The digital examination 
could have stripped it. So could 
the removal for purposes of post 
mortem examination. If the sub­
ject had had a menstrual period 
a day or two before death and 
she was found in the act of men­
struating at the time of death, 
this would account for the con­
gested blood vessels, and it would 
also make the epithelium much 
easier to strip. Even if an 
opinion could be expressed as to 
violence before death, it would 
be impoesible to say that it oc­
curred from five to fifteen min­
ut.ee before death. From an ex­
amination of the private parts 
of Leo M. Frank be appeam to 
be a perfectly normal man. A 
black eye could be inflicted after 
death. · 

Cross-examined. There an 
sexual inverts who are absolutely 
normal in physical appearance. 
A doctor could not look at cab­
bage in various stages of diges-
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tion and venture an opinion as 
to how long it had been m a wom­
an's stomach. The human tongue 
could not produce any signs of 
violence in the vagina. 

Dr. J. C. Olmstead. Praetie­
ing physician for 36 years. Giv­
en the facts on this case it would 
not be possible for a physician 
to determine whether or not that 
iwound produced unconsciousness 
before death. Buch a wound 
could have been made within a 
short while after death. Cab­
bage like that is liable to ob­
struct the opening of the pyloria 
and to delay digestion. That a 
mieroscope shows on parts of the 
vagina removed from the body 
that the blood vessels are con­
gested may be due to menstrua­
tion or the natural gravitation 
of blood to those parts and is not 
neceesarily indicative of violence. 
The use of embalming fluid 
would make a diagnosis of vio­
lence utterly unreliable. It would 
be impossible for a doctor finding 
those conditions in the vagina by 
means of a microscope 9 or 10 
days after death to tell that vio­
lence had been inflicted from 5 
to 15 minutes before death. 

Dr. W. S. Kendrick. Have 
been a practicing physician for 
35 1ears. Don't think that the 
flndmg of the epithelium strip­
ped from the wall would indicate 
anything unusual; don't think 
that would indicate any act of 
violence. A female's menstrual 
periods brings about congestion 
and hemorrhages of the blood ves­
sels every time. The body describ­
ed nine or ten days after death 
one could have no way of telling 
whether that wound would pro­
duce unconsciousness or not; 
would be a plll'e eonjectme. 
Skulls are sometimes fractured 

without unconsciousness. Some 
stomachs will digest dllferent 
substances quicker that others; 
don't think there is an expert in 
the world who could form any 
daflnite idea by either chemical 
analysis of the liquids of the 
stomach or by the condition of 
the cabbage lod~ in the stom­
ach as to how long it bad been 
in the stomach. 

John A.s1dey Jona. Have 
known Mr. Frank a year; his 
general character is good; am 
resident agent for the New York 
Lite Insurance Company; have 
never heard any talk of Mr. 
Frank's practices and relations 
with the girls down there. Mr. 
Frank has a policy of insurance 
with us. It is our custom to seek 
a very thorough report on the 
moral hazard on all risks. The 
report on him showed up first 
class, physically as well as mor­
ally; have never seen any nude 
pictures hanging in his office, al­
though I have been there a num­
ber of times; have never beard 
that he smiled and winked at 
young girls. 

Dr. Leroy Childs. Am a sur­
geon ; cabbage is the hardest food 
to digest among carbohydrates, 
because it has so mooh cellulose 
which is a woody fibre. Cabbage 
gets its digestion in the mouth. 
That cabbage has not been masti­
cated thoroughly. They have been 
swallowed almost whole. Raw 
cabbage is easier digested than 
cooked cabbage. The shortest 
time for boiled cabbage to pass 
into the small intestines is 4 and 
a half hours after it is eaten. The 
stomach does not digest the cab­
bage. Physic influences will re­
tard digestion as excitement, 
fear, anger, also physical or men­
fial aerclse. If a hUDllll bocJt II 
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disinterred at the end of 9 days 
and the stomach is taken out and 
among the eoutent.a you tlnd cab­
bage like that and fragmen18 of 
wheat bread slightly digested, 
you could not by looking at the 
cabbage hazard an opinion as t.o 
how long before death that had 
been taken into the stoma.eh. 

AlfrtJd Loring Lane. Am a 
resident of Brooklyn, N. Y. Knew 
Leo Frank 4 years ·at Pratt In­
stitute whiCh we both attended. 
His general character is good. 

Philip Nash. Knew Leo Frank 
4 years at Pratt Institute. His 
genenl character is good. 

Richard A. Wright. Live in 
Brooklyn, N. Y. Knew Leo 
Frank 4 years at Pratt Insti­
tute, also 3 years at Cornell. His 
general character is good. 

H4f'T11 Lewis. Live in Brook­
lyn, N. Y.; am a lawyer; have 
known Leo Frank about 12 
years; have been a neighbor of 
his ontil he came South. His 
general character is good. 

Herbert Lasher. Knew Leo 
Frank at Cornell Univemity; 
was in his~ and we roomed 
together for 2 years. His gen­
eral character was very good. 

John W. Todd, Prof. C. D. 
Albert, Prof. J. E. Vanderhoff, 
V. H. Kriegshaber, M. F. Gold­
stein, Dr. D<Wid Marx, Jewish 
Rabbi, and R. A. Bonn, Super­
intendent of the Hebrew Or­
phans' Home, testified that ·his 
eharaeter was good. 

Arllatw Heyman, Mrs. H. Glo­
gowki, Mn. Adolpla Montag, 
Mrs. J. 0. Parmelee, Ida Hays, 
Eula May Flo1Ht's, Opie Dicker­
son testifled to the same effect. 

Mn. E•ma Clark Freeman. 
Have worked at the pencil fae­
t.ory over 4 years. Mr. Frank's 
general character is good; am a 

married woman; have known 
Conley ever since he has been at 
tile factory. His general char­
acter for truth and veracity is 
bad; would not believe him on 
oatb. 

Cross-exaMined. Have never 
heard any suggestion of any 
wrongdoing on the part of Mr. 
Frank, either in or out of the 
factory; was forelady at the fac­
tory for about 3 years. 

Sarah Bames. Worked at the 
pencil factory over 4 years; his 
character is good. He has been 
the best of men. 

Irene Jackson. Worked at 
the pencil factory for 3 years. 
Mr. Frank's character was very 
well. He never said anything to 
me; never met Mr. Frank at any 
time for 11DY immoral purpose. 

Cross-examined. The girls 
seemed to be afraid of him; 
heard some remarks two or three 
times abont Mr. Frank's going 
to the dressing room on differ­
ent occasions .i. never heard any 
talk about Jnr. Frank going 
around putting his hands on 
girls; never heard of Ms going 
out wi.th 11DY of the girls. 

Miu Bessie Fleming. Worked 
as stenographer for Mr. Frank; 
his character was unusually 
good. 

Cross-examined. Am just 
talking about my personal rela­
tions with him ; have never seen 
him do anything wrong tbere in 
the factory. He never made any 
·advances to me or anyone else. 

Mrs. Mattie Tlaompson. Work 
at the pencil factory. Mr. 
Frank's eharacter is good. I have 
never heard anything against 
him; have never met Mr. Frank 
anywhere or at any time for any 
immoral purpose. 

Miss Irene Carson. Worked 
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at the pencil factory; have never lation of Mr. Frank wida any of 
met Mr. Frank at any time or the girls at the faetory. I have 
plaee for aay immoral porpoee. never heard of his putting bis 

Mn. J . J. Wardlaw. Worked arm around any girls on the 
at the pencil. faet.ory; Mr. street car, or going to the woods 
Frank's character is good; have with them. 
IMWer heard of any improper re-

THE PRISONER'S STATEMENT. 

uo M. Frank. Gentlemen of the j_nry: In the year 1884, on 
the 17th day of April, I IW88 bom in Quero, Tens. At the age of 
three months, my parents took me to Brooklyn, New York, and I 
remained in my home until I eame South, to Atlanta, to make my 
home here. I attended the public schools of Brooklyn, and pre­
pared for college, in Pratt Institute, Brooklyn, New York. In the 
fall of 1902, I entered Cornell Univer&ity, where I took the course 
in mechanical engineering, and graduated after four years, in June, 
1906. I then accepted a position as draftsman :with the B. F. 
Sturtevant Company, of Hyde Park, Massachusetts. After re­
maining with this flnn about six months, I n1turned onee mon1 to 
my ·home in Brooklyn, where I accepted a position as testing en­
gineer and draftsman with tile National Meter Company of Brook­
lyn, New Yoric. I remained in this ·p<l8ition until about the middle 
of October, 1907, when, at the invitation of some citizens of Atlanta, 
I came South t.o confer wit.h them in referenee to the starting and 
operation of a pencil factory, to be located in Atlanta. After 
remaining here for about tJwo weeks, I returned onee more to New 
York, where I engaged passage and went to Europe. I remained 
in Europe nine months. During my sojourn abroad, I studied the 
pencil business, and looked after the erection and testing of die 
machinery which had been previously contracted for. The first 
part of August, 1908, I returned once more to America, and im­
mediately came South to Atlanta, which has remained my home 
ever since. I married in Atlanta, an At.kmta girl, Miss Lucile Selig. 
The major portion of my married life has been spent et the home 
of my parents in law, Mr. and Mrs. Selig1 at 68 East Georgia Ave­
nue. My married life has been exceptionally happy-indeed, it 
has •been the happiest days of my life. My duties as BOperintend­
ent of the N'B.tional Pencil Company were in general as follows : 
I had charge of the technical and mechanical end of die faet.ory 
looking after the operations and seeing that the product was tum~ 
out in quality equal to the standard which is set by our competitors. 
I looked after the installation of new machinery and the purehase 
of new ml!Alhinery. In addition to that, I had charge of the omee 
work at the Fo~ Street plant, and general supervision of the 
lead plant, which JS situated on Bell Street. I looked after the pur­
ehase of the raw materials which are used in the manufacture of 
pencils, kept up with the market of those materials, where the prices 
fluetuated, so that the purchases could be made to the best possible 
advantage. (After describing what he did on Friday.) On Sat-
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urday, April 261D, arrived at the facoory at about 8 :30 a. m. I 
found Mr. Holloway, the day watchman, at his usual place and Alonzo 
Mann, the office boy, in the outer office. (After describing at 
length the work be did in his office that morning.) 

About 9 o'clock Mr. Darley and Mr. Wade Campbell, the in­
spector of the factory, came into the outer office, and I stopped 
what work I was doing that day on this work, and went to the 
outer office and chatt.ed with Mr. Darley and Mr. Campbell for 10 
or 15 minutes, and conversed with them, and joked with them, and 
while I was talking to them, about 9 :15, Miss Mattie Smith came 
in and asked me for her pay envelope, and for that of her sister­
in-law, and I went to the safe and unlocked it and got out the pack­
age of envelopes that Mr. Schiff had given me the evening before, 
and gave her the required two envelopes, and placed the remafoing 
envelopes that I got out, that were left over from the day previous, 
in my ea.sh box, where I would have them handy in case others 
might come in. I continued to work on those invoices, when I was 
interrupted by Mr. Lyons, Superintendent of Montag Brothers. I 
told him if he would wait for a. minute I would go over to Montag 
Brothers with him, as I was going over there; and he stepped out 
to ibe outer office, and as soon as I come to a convenient stopping 
place in the work, I put the papers I had made out to take iwith me 
in a folder, and put on my bat and coat and went to the outer 
office, when I found that Mr. Lyons had already left. Mr. Darley 
left with me about 9 :35 or 9 :40, and we paseed out of the factory, 
and stopped at the corner of Hunter and Forsyth Streets, where 
we each had a drink at Crnickshank's soda water fount, where 
I bought a package of Favorite cigarettes, and after we bad our 
drink I lighted a cigarette and went on my way to Montag Brothers, 
where I arrived at 10 o'clock. Chatted with Mr. Montag, and spoke 
to Mr. Matthews, and Mr. Cross, of the Montag Brothers, and to 
Mies Hattie Hall, ·the Pencil Company's stenographer, and asked 
her to come over and help me that morning;. that I had enough 
work to keep her busy that whole afternoon, but she said she didn't 
want to do that, she wanted to ·have at least half a holiday on 
Memorial Day. I then spoke to several of the Montag Brothers' 
force on ·business matters and other matters, and after that I saw 
Harry Gottheimer, the sales man·ager of the National Pencil Com­
pany, and I spoke at some length with him in reference to several 
of his orders that were in iwork at the facoory, there were two of 
his orders especially that he laid special stress on, as be said he 
desired to ship them right away. Returned to the factory alone. 
On arrival there I went to second or office floor, and I noticed the 
eloek, it indicated 5 minutes after 11. I saw Mr. Holloway therP,, 
and I told him he could go as soon as he got ready, and he oold me 
he had some work oo do for Harry Denham and Arthur White, 
who were doing some repair work np on the top floor, and he would 
do the work first. I then went into the office and found Miss Hat­
tie Hall, who had preceded me over from Montag's, and another 
lady who introduced herself to me as Mrs. Arthur White, and the 
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office boy; Mrs. Arthur White want.ed to see her husband. I told 
Alonzo Mann, the office boy, to call up Mr. Sehift, and ftnd out when 
he was coming down. The answer was that Mr. Schiff would be_ 
right down. About this time Mrs. Emma Clarke Freeman and Miss 
Corinthia Hall, two of the girls who worked on the fourth floor, 
came in, and asked permission to go upstairs and get Mrs. Free­
man's eoat, which I readily gave, and I told them at the same time 
to tell Arthur White that his wife was down&tairs. A short. time 
after, two gentlemen came in, one of them a Mr. Graham, and the 
other the father of a boy by the name of Earle Burdette; these two 
boys had gotten into some sort of trouble during die noon recess 
the day before and were taken down to police headquarters, and 
of course didn1t get their envelopes the mght before, and I gave 
the required par envelopes to the two fathers, and chatt.ed with them 
at some length m reference to the trouble their boys •had gotten into 
the day previous. Just before they left the office, Mrs. Emma 
Freeman and Miss Corinthia Hall came into my office and asked 
permission to use the telephone. Miss Clark and Miss Hall left 
the office, as near as may be, at a quarter to 12, and went out, and 
I started to work reading over the letters and signing the mail and 
transacting orders. 

There were in the building then Arthur White and Harry 
Denham and Arthur White's wife on the top ftoor. From 10 to 15 
minutes after Miss Hall left my office, this little girl, whom I after· 
wards found to be Mary Phagan, entered my office and asked for 
her pay envelope. I asked for her number and she t.old me; I went 
to the ca.ah box and t.ook her envelope out and •handed it to her, 
identifying the envelope by the number. She left my office and 
apparently had gotten as far as the door from my office leading to 
the outer office, when she evidently stopped and asked me if the 
metal had arrived, and I told her no. She continued on her way 
out, and I heard the sound of her footsteps as she went away. It 
was a few moments after she asked me this question that I had an 
impression of a female voice saying something; I don't know which 
way it came from i just passed away and I had that impression. 
This litile girl had evidentlr worked in the metal department by 
her question and had been laid otf owing -to the fact tbat some metal 
that had been ordered had not arrived at the fact.ory; hence, her ques­
tion. I only recognized this little girl from having seen her around 
the plant and did not know her name, simply identifying her en­
velope from her having called her number to me. 

She had left the plant hardly five minutes when Lemmie Quinn, 
the foreman of the plant, came in and told me ttiat I could not 
keep him away from the factory, even though it was a holiday; at 
which I smiled and kept on working. He asked me if Mr. Schiff 
had come down and I told him he had not and he turned around 
and left. I continued work until I ftnished this work and these 
requisitions and I looked at my watch and noticed that it was a 
quarter to 1. I called my home up on the telephone, for I knew 
that my wife and my mother-in-law were going to a matinee and I 
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wanted to know :when they would have lunch. Minola answered 
·the phone that they would have lunch immediately and for me to 
eome right on home. I gathered my papers together and went up­
stairs to see the boys on the top ·floor. I B&W: Arthur White and 
Harry Denham who had been working up there and Mr. White's 
wife. I asked them if they were ready to go and they said they 
bad enough worli: to keep them several holll'S. I noticed that they 
bad laid out some work and I had to see what work they had done 
and were going to do. I asked Mr. White's wife if she was going 
or would stay there as I would be obliged to lock up the tactory1 
and Mrs. White said, no, she would go then. I went down antt 
gathered up my papers and locked my desk and went around and 
washed my bands and put on my hat and coat and looked the inQM 
door to my office and looked the doors to the street and started to 
go home. 

Now, gentlemen, to the best of my recollection from the time 
the whistle blew for 12 o'clock until after a quarter to 1 when I 
went up stairs and spoke to Arthur White and Harry Denham, to 
the best of my recollection, I did not stir out of the inner office; 
but it is possible that in order to answer a call of nature or to 
urinate I may have gone to the toilet. Those are things that a man 
does unconsciously and cannot tell how many times nor when he 
does it. Now, sitting in my office at my desk, it is impossible for 
me to see out into the outer hall w.hen the safe door is open, aa it 
was that morning, and not only is it impossible for me to see out, 
but it is impossible for people to see in and see me there. 

Arrived home about 1 :20. I found that my wife and my mother­
in-law were eating their dinner, and my father-in-law had just sat 
down and started bis dinner. Called up my brother-in-law to tell 
him that on account of some work I had to do at the :factory, I 
would be unable to go with him, he having invited me to go with 
him out to the ball game. After a few minutes my wife and moth­
er-in-law ftnished their dinner and left and told me good-bye. My 
father-in-law and myself continued eating our dinner, Minola 
McKnight serving us. After finishing dinner, I lighted a cigarette 
and laid down. After a few minotes I got up and walked up 
Georgia Avenue to get a car. I saw the Was~ington Street car 
eoming and I ran up and got on the car and talked to Mr. Loeb 
on the way to town. About the intersection of Washington Street 
and Hunter Street and the fire engine house there iwas & couple 
of ears stalled up ahead of us, the ears were waiting there to see 
the memorial parade. After it stood t.here a few minutes, I told 
Mr. Loeb that I :was going to get out and go on as I bad work to 
do. I went on down Hunter Street, when I got down to the cor-

. ner of Whitehall and Hunter, the parade had started t.o come 
around and I had to stay there 15 or 20 minutes and see the parade. 
I stood there between half-past 2 and a few minutes to 3 o'clock 
until the parade passed; then I went on down to Jacobs and pur· 
ehased twenty-fl.ve cents worth of cigars; then down Forsyth Street 
to the factory; unlocked t.be stl'eet door and the inner door and 
left it open and went on upstairs to tell the boys that I had come 
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back and wanted to know if they were ready to go, and at that 
time they were preparing Ito leave. I rwent immediately down to 
my office and opened the safe and my desk and •hung up my coat 
and hat and started to work on the financial report. Mr. Scbi1f 
had not come oown and there was additional work for me to do. 

I heard the bell ring on the time clock and Arthur White and 
Harry Denham ea.me into the office and Arthur White borrowed 
$2.00 from me in advance on ibis wages. I had gotten to work on 
the financial sheet, figuring it out, when I happened to go out to the 
lavatory and on returning to the office, I noticed Newt Lee, the 
rwatchman, eoming from towards the ihead of the stairs, coming to­
wards me. I looked at bhe clock and told him the night before to 
come ·back at 4 o'clock for I expected to go to the base ball game. 
Newt Lee eame along and greeted me and offered me a banana; 
I declined the banana and told him that I had no way of letting 
him know sooner that I was to be there at work and that I changed 
my mind about going to the ball game. I told him that he could 
go if he wanted to or he could amuse himself in any way he 1111.w fit 
for and hour and a half, but to be sure and be back by half-past 6 
o'clock. He went oft' down 1he stair case leading out and I r&­
turned to my office. 

(After describing at length his work on the financial sheet and 
orders.) 

I 11.n.ished this work that I have just outlined at about 5 minut.es 
to 6, and I proceeded to take out the clock strips from 1he clock 
which were used that day and replaee them. T·he slips I put in 
that night were stamped with a blue ink, with a rubber dating 
stamp, "April 28th." Saturday night we put the slips into the 
clock dated with the date on which the help were coming into the 
factory to go about their regular duties and register on the Mon­
day following, which was April 28th. As I was putting these slips 
into the clock, I sa.w Newt Lee coming up the stairs, and looking at 
the clocks, it was as near as may be 6 o'clock. I finished putting 
the slip in and as I was rwashing, heard Newt Lee ring the bell on 
obhe clock when •he registered his first punch for the night, and he 
went down etairs to the front door to await my departure. After 
washing, I went down stairs to -the front door. I saw outside on 
the street Newt Lee in conversation rwibh Mr. J. M. Gantt, a man 
that I had let go from the office itwo weeks previous. Newt Lee 
told me that Mr. Gantt wanted to go back up into the factory, and 
he had refused him admission, because his instructions were for no 
one to go back into the faotory after he went out, unless 1ie got 
contrary instructions from Mr. Darley or myself. I asked him 
what he wanted1 he said he bad a couple of pairs of shoes, black 
pair and tan pair, in the shipping room; -told Newt Lee it would be 
all right to J>tl88 Gantt in, and Gantt went in, Newt Lee closed the 
door locking it after him. I then walked up Forsyth. Street, posted 
two letters, got a drink at soda fount, and bought my wife a box 
of candy. Arrived home about 6:25; sat looking at the paper until 
about 6 :30 wiien I called up at the factory -to find out if Mr. Gantt 
had left. Couldn't get Newt Lee then. At 7 I again called the fac-
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tory, got Newt Lee and asked him if Mr. Gantt had gone again, he 
says, "Yes." I asked if everything else was all right at the factory; 
it was, and then I •hung up and had supper, and phoned to my 
brother-in-law, Mr. Ursenbacll if he would be at home that evening, 
but he said he had another engagement, so I stayed home reading 
a newspaper or magazine. About 8 I saw Minola pass out on her 
way home. That evening, my parents in law, Mr. and Mrs. Emil 
Selig, <had company, and among those present were Mr. and Mrs. 
Morris Goldstein, Mr. and Mrs. M. Marcus, Mrs. A. E. Marcus 
and Mrs. Ike Stmuss. Sat reading in the hall until 10 :30 when 
I turned out the gas, went into the dining room, ·bade them all 
good night, and went upstairs t.o take my bath, a fp, minut.es later 
my wife followed me upstairs. 

Sunday, April 27th, I was awakened before 7 o'clock by the tele­
phone. The man that spoke was City Detective Starnes; he said, "Is 
this Mr. Frank, superintendent of the National Pencil Compe.nyf" 
I says, "Yes, sir," he says, "I want you t.o come down t.o the factory 
right away," I says, What's the ·trouble, 'has there been a flret 
He says, "No, a tragedy, I wantlou to come down right awe.y;" 
I says, All right, he says, ''I'll sen an automobile for you," I says, 
All right, and hung up and went upstairs to dress; was in the 
midst of dressing when the automobile drove up, the bell rang and 
my wife went down stairs to answer the door. She had on a night 
dress with a robe over it. I followed my iwife in a minute or two. 
I asked them what the trou'ble was, end the man who I afterwards 
found oat was detective Black, hung his head and didn't say any­
thing. They asked me did I know Mary Phagan, and I told them 
I didn't, they then said to me, didn't a little girl with long hair 
hanging down her back come up t.o your office yesterday some time 
for her money. I says, Yes, I do remember such a girl coming up 
to my office that worked in ·the tipping room, but I didn~t know her 
name was Mary Phagan. ''Well, we want you to -come down right 
away with us to the factory." I didn't have breakfast, but went 
right on with them in the automobile. They took me to the under­
taker's, as they wanted me t.o see the body and see if I could iden­
tify die little girl. One of tile two men asked the attendant to 
show us the way into where the body was, and the attendant went 
down a long, dark pasageway :with Mr. Rogers following, then I 
eame, and Black brought up the rear until we got to a plaoo that 
was apparently the door to a small room-very dark-the attend­
ant went in and suddenly switched on ·the electric light, and I saw 
the body of the little girl Mr. Rogers stood to my right, inside ot 
the room, I stood right in the door, leaning up against the right 
facing of the door, and Mr. Black was to -the left, leaning on the 
left facing, but a little to my rear, and the attendant, whose name 
I have since learned :was Mr. Gheesling, was on the opposite side 
of the little cooling table to where I stood. He removed the sheet 
which was eovering die body, and took the head in ms bands, 
turned it over, put his &ger exactly where wound in the left side 
ot the bead was located. I noticed the hands and arms of the little 
girl were vuy dirty-blue and ground with dirt and cinders, the 
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nostrils and mouth just full of sawdust and irwollen, and there was 
a deep ecratoh over the left eye on the forehead; about the neck 
there was twine-a piece of cord similar to that which is used at the 
pencil facto~ and also a piece of white rag. After looking at the 
body, I ident.ift.ed that litUe girl as the one that had been up shorUy 
after noon the day previollB and got her money from me. We d:ien 
left tbe undertaking establishment, got in the automobile and rode 
over to the pencil factory. Just as we arrived, I saw Mr. Darley 
going into the front door with another man. We went up to tile 
second floor, the office floor, I :went into the inner office, hung up 
my hat, and in the inner office I saw lhe night watehman, Newt 
Lee, in die custody of an officer, w'ho I think was detective Starnes 
-the man wiio had phoned me. I unlocked the safe and took out 
the pay roll book and found that it was true that a litUe girl by 
the name of Mary Phagan did work in filie metal plant, and that 
she waa due to dra.'W' $1.20, the pay roll book showed that, and as the 
detective had told me that some one had identified the body of that 
litUe girl as that of Mary Phagan, there could be no question but 
what it was one and the same girl. The detectives told me then 
they wanted to take me down in t'he basement and show me exactly 
where the girl's body was found, and the other paraphernalia that 
they found strewed about; and I IW'eDt to the elevator box-the 
swit.eh box, so that I could turn on the eurrent, and found it open. 
I got on the elevator and started to pull the rope to start it going, 
and it seemed to be caught, and I couldn't move it. However, Mr. 
Darley was successful in getting it loose, and it started up. 

In the basement, the officers showed us just where the body was 
found, and in behind the door to the dust bin, ·the:r. showed us 
where they found the bat and slipper on the trash ptle, and they 
showed us where the back'. door, where the door to the rear was 
opened about 18 inches. We all went ha.ck upstairs and Mr. Dar­
ley and myself got some cords and some nails and a hammer and 
went down ·the basement again to lock up the back door, so that we 
eould seal the factory from the back and nobody would enter. After 
returning upstairs, Mr. Darley and myself a.ccompanied Chief Lan­
ford on a tour of inspection t'hrough the three upper floors of tile 
factory. We did not notice anything peculiar. 

We removed the clock slip. After putting a new slip in die 
clock, we all went out of the factory and !Wl!nt downstairs and 
locked the door and we went to the police headquarters. 

Now, gentlemen, I .have heard a great deal, and so have you, in. 
this trial, about bow nervous I was tbat morning. I wa8 nervous, 
completely unstrung; imagine, awakened out of my sound sleep, 
and a morning run down in the cool of the morning in an auto­
mobile driven at top speed, without any food or breakfast, rushing 
into a dark passageway, coming into a darkened room, and ttien 
suddenly an electric light flashed on, and to see the sight that was 
presented by that poor little child; why, it was a sight that was 
enough to drive a man to distraction. Of course I was nervous; 
any man would be nervous if he was a man. We rode to headquar­
ters very quickly and Mr. Darley and I went up to Ohief Lanford's 
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omee where I sat and talked and answered every one of their 
questions fnlely and frankly, trying to aid and to help ·them in any 
way that I oould. Aft.er staying there a few minutes, Mr. Darley 
and myself went over to Bloomdeld's; they told us somebody was 
busy wibh tlhe body at that time and we couldn't see it. So we went 
over to Montag Brot!iers and found that nobody was down there. 
After that I caught a Georgia Avenue ear and rode to the house 
of Mr. Sig Montag, our General Manager, and discussed with him 
at length and in detail what I had seen that morning and what 1lhe 
deteetives bad to say. I returned to my home at about a quarter to 
11; washed up and had my breakfast in company with my wife. I 
told •her of the experience I had had that morning. I left tlhe house 
and went to Mn. W olfsheimer's house; found quite a company of 
people, and the conversation turned largely on what I had seen that 
morning. 'l'te conversation was about the little girl that had been 
killed in ille pencil factory that morning, although it was at that 
time as mueb a ~e to me as it was apparently to everybody 
else. Returned with my wife to my home, where we took our lunch 
together with my parents-in-law, with Minola McKnight serving. 
After dinner, read a little while, and ttien went down town; went 
into the undertaker Bloomfield's, where I saw a large crowd of 
people nearby on the outside; on entering I found quite a number 
of people who were working at fftle pencil factory; stood in line 
and went into tile room again and stayed a few minutes in the 
mortuary chamber. Then Mr. Darley and Mr. Schift and myself 
IWent down to police headquarters and into Chief Lanford's omce, 
and the three of us answered all sorts of questions that not only 
Chief Lanford, but the other detectives would shoot at us. Mr. 
Darley said he would like to talk to Newt Lee and went into an­
other room. The detectives showed us the two notes and the pad 
haek with still a few unused leaves to it, and the pencil that they 
claimed they had found down in the basement near the body. One 
ot these notes was written on a sheet of pencil pad paper, tile other 
was writt.en on a sheet of yellow paper, apparently a yellow sheet 
from the regulation order pad or order book of the National Pen­
eil Company. These are the two notes. Mr. Schif? and myself 
left police headqnarten down to Jacobs' Alabama and Whitehall 
Street store, and each of us bad a drink, and I bought a cigar for 
ea.fl of us at the cigar count.er. I returned to my home about a 
quarter to 4. Went out again. Reached home about 7 or a little 
after for supper. After supper had callers. About 10 o'clock, all 
the company left, and I went upstairs with my wife and retired 
about 10 o'clock. 

Next morning, al'OSe about 7 and washed and shaved and dressed, 
and while I was dressing the door bell rang, and my wife again 
answered t!ie door, and tfbere were two detectives down there, one 
was John Black, and the other, Mr. Haslett, of the city detective11. 
They told me they 1W1U1ted me to step down to headquarters with 
them. On the way down, I asked Detective Hllslett what the trouble 
down at the station lhouse was, and be said: "Well, Newt Lee 
has been saying something, and Chief Lanford wanted to ask you 
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a few questions about itr" and I said, What did Newt Lee say; 
''Well, Chief Lanford will tell you iwben you get down there." 
When I got down to police headquarters, Chief Lanford hadn't 
eome down yet. I waited around the office possibly an hour1 chat­
ting and talking to the officers. Later Chief Lanford eame m and 
says: "Come ·here," and beckoned to me; and I went with hilµ 
and went into his room, in his office, and whlle I was in there, t.o the 
best of my recolleetion, anyhow it is my impression nmr, dlat diis 
very time slip, on which at that time that "taken out at 8 :26," 
with the two lines under it, ·bad not been erased, was shown to me, 
and in looking over it and studying it carefully, I found where the 
interval of an hour had occurred tlhree times during the time that 
Newt Lee had been punching on that Saturday night, April 26th. 
When I had first looked at it, I only noticed that every line bad a 
punch on it, ·but I didn't notiee what time the punoh marks them­
selves were on; this ·time I studied the slip carefully, it iwas the 
same slip I had taken out of the clock, Chief Lanford or one of 
the officers ·handed it to me at police headquarters, which I abso­
lutely identified with the writing which was on it, which you can 
readily see if you look now, even though it has been erased. There 
seemed to be some altercation about Mr. Rosser coming in that 
room, and I ·heard Mr. Rosser say: "I am going into that room, 
that man is my elient ;" 1>hat was the first intimation I bad that Mr. 
Rosser was going to look after my interests in this matter. Chief 
Beavers stated that he rwanted me to give him a statement, and he 
said : "Mr. Frank, will you give us a statement t" And I said: 
Certainly. After I :had given the statement, I overheard Mr. 
Rosser say: "Why, it is preposterous, a man who would have done 
such a deed must be fnll of scratches and marks and his clothing 
must be bloody.'' I turned and jumped up and showed them my 
underclothing and my top shirt and my body, I bared it to them 
all that came within the range of ·their vision. I had everything 
open to them, and all they had to do was to look and see it. After 
that, Mr. Rosser insisted that two of the detectives, Mr. Black and 
another detective, accompany Mr. Hass, Mr. Herbert Hass, and 
myself to my home and look over my soiled clothing for the past 
week, whi~ I anticipated :had not been given to the washrwoman. 
They complied with this request. The detectives immediately went 
uptairs to my room with Mr. Haas and myself, and I took the 
!aundry bag in whleh my soiled la~dry is always kept and emptied 
it out on the bed, and they examined each and every article of 
clothing that I 'had discarded that past week, and I again opened 
the clothing whioh I IW'll8 then wearing, and which was the brown 
suit I have here, this brown suit is the same suit I wore that Sat­
urday, April 26th, and Monday, April 28th, and I lhave worn that 
suit continuously since then until the weabher became so bot, and 
it has neither been pressed nor cleaned since them. The detectives 
:were evidently perfectly well satisfied with what th~y bad seen there, 
and they left without any further remarks with Mr. Haas. After 
dinner, I telephoned down to the office and to Mr. Schllf, and told 
him to get Mr. Montag's permission for the Pencil Company to put 



LEO M. FRANK. 233 

on a det.ective, preferably a Pinkerton detective, to work with and 
assist the city detectives in ferreting out the crime. Then I went 
down town to the pencil factory, and on going into the office, I saw 
tbe following men there: Mr. Herbert Schlff, Mr. Wade Campbell. 
Mr. Darley-Mr. Holloway IW'8S out in bis place in the hall, and 
Mr. Stelker and Mr. Quinn and Mr. Ziganke, these foremen were 
sitting around there because we had shut down there, as they told 
me, due to the fact thait the plant was wholly demoralized, <the girls 
were running into hysterics, they couldn't stick at their work, they 
were erying and going on over what ·had happened there. Mr. 
Qoinn said be !\rould like to take me back -to the metal department 
on the office floor where the newspapers had said that Mr. Barrett 
of the metal deparbnent had claimed he had found blood spots, 
and where he had found some hair. They then took me over to the 
place in front of the dressing room where it was claimed •the blood 
spots were found. I examined those spots; took a strong electric 
fl.ash lamp that be had around there and looked at ·them and exam­
ined tihem carefully. With refereooe to those spots that are claimed 
to be blood that Mr. Barrett found, I don't claim they are not blood, 
they may have been, they are right close to the ladies' dressing 
room, and we have bad accidents there. Where people just eut their 
fingers and they go 'baek to work, we don't make any record of that, 
and we have people there cutting their fingers there very often, and 
IW'hen tihey cut their fingers, their line of travel is right by that 
place w1iere Mr. Barrett found those spots, right to the office. 
While I don't say that this is not blood, it may be, but it could also 
have been paint. When I got down and looked at it, you could 
have scratched away from the top of those dark stains an accumula­
tion of dirt that was the aooumulation of at least three months, from 
off the top of those spots, without touclring the spot itself. That 
'Wlhite stuff, in my opinion, was haskoline compound. 

I returned after making this examination to my office and gath­
ered up what papers I had to take over to Montag Brothers, and 
I took the financial report which I had made out the Saturday 
aftemoon previous, and I talked it over with Mr. Sig Montag. 

I returned from Montag Brothers ·to the pencil factory, being ac­
companied by one of the traveling men, Mr. Sol Hein, and on my 
arrival I went up into the office and distributed the various papers 
all over the factory to 'be acted on ·the next day. In a f6W' minutes 
Mr. Harry Scott of the Pinkerton detectives came in and I took 
him aside into my office, my private office, and spoke to him in the 
presence of Mr. N. V. Darley and Hr. Herbert Schiff. I told him 
that I expected that he had seen what had •happend at the pencil 
factory by reading the newspapers and knew all the details. He 
said he didn't read the newpapers and didn't know the details, so I 
sat down and gave him all the details that I could; took ·him around 
the building, took him first back to the metal roqm and showed him 
the place where the hair had been fouBd; showed ·him the spot in 
front of the dressing room and took him to the fourth floor; took 
him down into the basement and made a thorough search, and that 
ineloded an enmin•tion of the elevator -well which was at IM>ttoa 
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of elevator shaft; then 1Went baek and I showed him where the oftl­
cer said the slipper had been found, the hat had been found and the 
little girl's body was located. I showed hlm, in faet, everythlng that 
the officers had showed us. 

On Friday I arrived at the pencil factory about 8 :30; immedi­
ately entered upon my routine work sending the various orders to 
the various places in the factory where they were due to go; a lit­
tle later detectives Scott and Black came up to the factory and 
said: . ''Mr. Frank, in want you to go down to headquarters with 
us,'' and I went with them. ·We went down to headquarters and I 
have •been incarcerated ever since. Detective Scott and detective 
Blaek showed me a little piece of material of some abirt and asked 
me if I had a shirt of that material; told them I didn't think I ever 
bail a shirt of that description; they brought in Newt Lee, the 
nightwatohman from a cell and showed him the sample; be said he 
bad a shirt like that bat didn't remember having worn it for two 
years. Detectives 8eott and Black then opened a package they bad 
and disclosed the full shirt of that material that bad all the ap­
pearance of being freshly stained with blood,, and bad a very dis­
tinct odor. Newt Lee was taken back to the cell After a time Chief 
Langford came over to me and ·began an examination of my face 
and of my head and my hands and my arms. Detective Starnes took 
me down to the desk sergeant where they searched me and entered 
my name on the book under a charge of suspicion. Detectives Scott 
and Black came in at midnight, Tuesday, April 29th, and said: 
"Mr.~ we would like to talk to you a little bit." They stressed 
the poai.bility of couples having been let into the factory at night 
by the night :wabchman, N6W't Lee. I told them that I didn't know 
anything about it, that if I bad, I certainly would have put a stop 
to it long ago. They said: ''Mr. Frank, you have never talked 
alone with Newt Lee. You are bis boss and he respects you. See 
what you can do with him. We can't get anything more out of 
him, see if you ea.n.'' I says: "All right, I underatand what you 
mean; I will do my beet," because I was only too willing to help. 
Black says: "Now put it strong to him, put it strong to him, and 
tell him to oough up and tell all be knows. Tell him that you are 
here and that he is here and t.hat he better open up and tell all he 
knows about happenings at the pencil factory that Saturday night, 
or __you will •both go to hell." 

In a few minutes detective Starnes brought up Newt Lee from 
the cell room and handcuffed lbim to a chair. I spoke to him at some 
length in there, ·but I couldn't get anything additional out of him. 
He said be knew nothing about couples coming in dlere at night, 
and remembering the instructions Mr. Black had given me I said: 
"Now, Newt, you are here and I am here, and you had better open 
up and tell all you know, and tell the truth and tell the full truth, 
becanse you will get us both into lots of trouble if you don't tell all 
you know," and he answered me like an old negro: "Before God 
Mr. Frank, I am telling you t.he truth and I have told you all I 
know." And the conversation ended right there. Within a min­
ute or two afterwards the det.eotives came back into the room, that 
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is, detective Scott and detective Black, and then began questioning 
Newt Lee, and then it WWI that I ·had my ftrst initiation into the 
third degree of tbe Atlanta police depatiment. The way tbat fel­
low Black cuned at that poor old negro, Newt Lee, was something 
awful. He shrieked at him, he hollered at him, he cmsed him, and 
did everything but beat him. Then t.hey took lilewt Lee down to a 
eell and I went to my cot in tile outer room. 

Before closing my statement, I wish to touch upon a couple of 
insinuations and accusations other than the one on the bill of in­
dictment, that have been leveled •gs.inst me so far during the triaL 
The first is this, the fact that I would not talk to the detectives; that 
I would not see Jim Conley. 

On Sunday morning I went to headquarters twice, willingly, 
without anybody coming for me 1 I answered frankly and 1Ull'e881'V· 
edly, ·giving them the beneftt or the best of my knowledge. On 
Monday they eame for me; I went down and answered any and all 
of -their questions and gave them -a statement which they took down 
in writing. Tuesday I was at police station again, and answered 
every question ; talked to anybody who wanted to talk with me 
about it, and I have even talked with them at midnigiht when I was 
jmit about to go to bed. I spoke to Newt Lee alone, but what was 
the result t They commenced and they grilled that poor negro and 
put words into his mouth that I never said, and twisted not alone 
the English, bnt distorted my meaning. I decided then and itihere 
that if that iwas the line of conduct they were going to pursue, I 
would wash my hands of them. On May 1st, was taken to the Ful­
ton County Tower. On May 3rd detectives Black and Scott came 
up to my eell; wanted to speak to me alone without an1 of my 
friends around. Black said : "Mr. Frank, we are suspicious of 
that man Darley. We are watching him· we have been shadowing 
him. Nmr open up and tell us what you how abo~ him.'' I said: 
"Gentlemen, you :have come to the wrong man, because Mr. Darley 
is t.he soul of honor and as true as steel He would not do a crime 
like that, he couldn't do it." And Black said: "Come on, Scott, 
nothing doing," and off they go. That showed me how much reli­
ance eould be placed in either the city detective or our own Pink­
erton detectives, and it was for this reason that I didn't see Con­
ley, 1mrounded with a bevy of city detectivES and Mr. Scott, be­
eause I knew that there would not be an action so trifilng, that 
there was not an action so natural but that they :would distort and 
twist it to be used against me, and that there was not a word that 
I eould utter that thei would not deform and twist and distort to be 
used against me, bnt I told them through Mr. Klein that if diey got 
the permission of Mr. Rosser to come, I would speak to them• 
would speak to Conley and face him or anything they wanted-if 
they got that permission ar brought Mr. Roeser. Now, that is tile 
reason that I kve kept my silence, not because I didn't want to, 
but became I didn't want to have things twisted. 

Then that other implication, the one of knowing that Conley 
eould write, and didn't tell the authorities. 

On May 1st I was taken to ·the tower. On the same date the 
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negro Conley was amisted. I didn't know anybody had any sus­
picions about him. His name was not in die papen; I had no ink­
ling that he ever said he couldn't write. I IW98 sitting in that cell 
in the Fulton County jail, about April 12th or 14th, Mr. Leo Gott­
heimer, a salesman for the National Pencil Company, came run­
ning over, and says, "Leo, ibe Pinkerton detectives have 81lSpieions 
of Conley. He keeps saying he can't write i these fellows over at 
the factory ~ow well enough that he can wnte, can't he!" I said: 
"Sure he can write." "We can prove it; the nigger says he can't 
write and we feel that he can write." I said: ''I know· he can 
write. I have received many notes from him asking me to loan 
him money. In other words, I 1have received notes signed with his 
name, purporting to have been written by him1 though I have never 
seen him to this date use a pencil. It you will look into a drawer 
in the safe you will flnd the card of a jeweler from whom Conley 
bought a watch on the installment. If you go to that jeweler you 
may fl.nd some sort of a receipt that Conley had to give." Gott­
heimer took that information io the Pinkertons; they did just as I 
said; they got the contract with Conley's name on it; Scott then 
told the negro to write. The man who found out or paved the way 
to fl.nd out that Jim Conley eould write is sitting right here in thls 
chair. That is the truth about it. 

Then that other insinuation, so dastardly that it is beyond the •P­
preciation of a •human being, that my wife didn't visit me; the 
truth is, that on April 29di, when I :was taken in custody at head­
quarters, my wife was diere to see me; was downstairs on the fl.rst 
floor; I was up on the top floor. She was there almost in hysterics, 
having been brought there by her two brothers-in-law, and her 
father. Rabbi Marx was !With me at the time. I consulted with 
him. as to the advisability of allowing my dear wife to come up to 
the top door to see me in those surroundings with city detectives, 
reporters and snapshooters; I thought I would save her that humili­
ation, because I expected any day to be returned once more to her 
side at home. Gentlemen, we did all we could do to restrain her in 
the fl.rst daye when I was down at the jail from coming on alone 
down to the jail, but she was perfectly willing to even be locked up 
with me and share my incarceration. 

Gentlemen, I know nothing whatever of the death of little Mary 
Phagan. I had no part in causing her duth nor do I know how 
she came to -her death after she took her money and left my oftlce. 
I never even saw Conley in the factory or anywhere else on April 
26, 1913. 

The statement of the witness Dalton is utterly false as to com­
ing to my omce and being introduced: to me by the woman Daisy 
Hopkins. If Dalton was ever in the factory •building !With any 
woman, I didn't know it. I never say Dalton in my life to know 
him until this crime. 

Miss Irene Jackson is wholly mistaken in supposing that I ever 
went to a ladies' dressing room for the purpose of making improper 
gue into the girls' room. I have no recollection of occasions of 
which she speaks. There was no bath or toilet in that room, and it 
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had windows opening onto the street. There was no loelt on the 
door, and I know I never went into that room at any lb.our when the 
girls were dressing. Occasionally I have bad reports that the girls. 
were filrtin~ from this dressing room through the windows with 
men ; SODli!times the girls twould loiter in this room when they: 
ought to have been doing their work. It is possible that on some 
oecasM>ns I looked into this room .to see if the girls were doing their 
duty and were not using this room as a place for loitering and for 
1lirting 
' The *tement of Conley is a tissue of lies from first to last. I 
know nothing whatever of the cause of the death of ~ Pha­
gan, and Conley's statement as to his coming up and helpmg me 

'dispose of ihe 'body, or that I had anything to do with her or to do 
. with him that day is a monstroM lie. 
• The story as to women coming into the factory with me for im­
moral purposes is a ·base lie and the few occasions that he elaitm 
to have seen me in indecent positions !with women is a lie so vile 

. that I have no language with whloh to 11.tly denounce it. 
· I have no rich relatives in Brooklyn, N. Y. My father is an inv,... 
lid. My father and mother together are people of very limited 
means, who ·have barely enough upon which to live. My father is 
not able to work. I have no relative who bas any means at all, ex .. 
eept Mr. M. Frank who lives in Atlanta, Ga. Nobody has ralsed ai 

fund ·to pay the fees of my atto:!:li' These fees have been paid 
by the saeriflee in part of the property which my parent.a 
poesesa. 

Gentlemen, some newspaper men have called me "the m1ent man 
in the trJwer," and I kept my silence and my counsel advisedly, un­
til the proper time and place. The time is now; the pbce is here; 
end I have told you the troth, the whole truth. 

Misa Emtly Mayfield. Worked 
·at the pencil factory last year; 
liave never been in the dressing 
room when Mr. Frank would 
eome in and look at anybody. 
thet was undressing. 

Cron-.zamined. Don~t remem­
ber any occasion when Mr. 
Frank came in the d,ressing room 
door while Miss Irene Jackson 
end her sister were there. 

.AHis Oaborns, Rebecca Car­
•ow, Maude Wright and Jira. EUa 
fio1Jlaa aid they were employees 
of the National Pencil Company. 
Mr. Frank's general character 
was good; that Conley's general 
ehancter for truth and veracity 
llraS bad and that t.hey would not 
believe him on oath. 

Mollie Blair, Ethel Ste1D<Jrl, 
Cora C010an, B. D. Smith, LUeie 
Wora, Beaais White, Grace At'h:­
erlon and Mra. Bamea, emplor­
ees of the pencil company, said 
that the character of Leo M. 
Frank was good; that they have 
never gone with him at any 
time or place for any immoral 
purpose, and that they have nev· 
er heard of his doing anything 
wrong. 

Corinthia HaU, Annls H010ell, 
Lillis JI. Goodman, Velma 
Hayes, Jennie Mayfield, Ida 
Holmes, Willie Hatchett, Mary 
Hatchett, Minnie Smith, Marjo­
rie McCord, Lena McMurly, Mra. 
W.R. Johnson, Mrs. 8. A. Wsl­
aon, Mrs. Gsorgia Denham, Mra. 



238 X . AMERIO.AN ST A.TE TRI.ALB. 

0. Jonu, Miss Zilla Spi'IJey, 
Charl6s Lee, N. V. Dar'ltly, F. 
Ziganki, A . C. HoUdtoay and 
Minnie Foster, teetift.ed that 
they were employees of ·the pen­
cil company and. knew Leo M. 
Frank, and that bis general 
character was good. 

D. I. Macintyre, B. Wadauer, 
Mn. Dan Klein, Al6z Dittl6r, Dr. 
J. E. Somfndf'fitlltl, F. G. Sclail, 
Al Gut1aman, J osep1a G6f"81'on, 
P. D. McCarley, Mn. M. W. 
Meyer, Mrs. Dtwid Marz, Mn. 
.A. I. Hams, M. S. Rice, L. H. 
Mou, Mrs. L. H. Moss, Mrs. 
J osep1a Bro'Wfl, E. E. Fit•paf­
rick, Emil Dittl6r, Wm. BOIUf', 
Miss Helen Loeb, .Al Foa:, Mn. 
MGrlift May, Julian V. BoeA•, 

Mrs. Mollie RostlfWerg, M. H. 
Siwerman, Mn. L. SterM, C'ltas. 
.Adler, Mn. R. A. Sonrt, Miss 
Bay Klein, .A. J. JO'Ms, L. Ein­
ateitt, J. Bernard, J. Foz, Mar­
cua Loeb, Fred Heilbrort, Milfort 
Kleirt, Nat/tan Coplart, Mn. J. 
E. Sommerfield, all residents of 
Atlanta, have known Leo lrf. 
Frank ever since he bas lived in 
Atlanta; his general Clhaeater is 
good 

Mn. M. W. Canort, Mary Pirk, 
Mrs. Doro Small, Jwlio FU88, R • 
P. Butl6r, Joe Stelker, testllled 
that they were employees of the 
pencil company; that 1iiey knew 
Leo lrf. Frank, and that his gen­
etal ebaraeter is good. 

EVIDENCE IN REBUTTAL FOR STATE 

J. B. Floyd, R. M. Goddard, 
.A. L. Goddard, N. J . Ballard, 
HetW1J Carr, J. 8. Bice, Lem 
SmitA testified that they knew 
Daisy Hopkins; that her gen­
eral earaeter for truth and verac­
ity was bad, and that they would 
not believe her on oath. 

J. B. Floyd. Heard Daisy 
Hopkins talk about Frank and 
said there was a eot in the base-
ment. · 

J. T. Heam. Have known C. 
B. Dalton from 1890 to 1904; at 
first his general character was 
bad, bat the last I knowed of 
him it was good; would believe 
him on oath. 
. R. V. J oAnson. Have known 
C. B. Dalton for about 20 years. 
His character for truth and ve­
racity is good; would believe him 
on oath. 

W. M. Cook, W. J. Elder, .A. 
B. Hciu8ton, J. T. Born, W. M. 
WrigAt, C. B. McGiflflis, F. P. 
Hefner, W. C. Hal6, Leon Boy~, 
JI. G. Caldwell, .A. W. Hurtt, W. 

C. Patrick knew C. B. Dalton; 
his general character for truth 
and veracity was good ; they 
would believe him on oath. 

Myrtl6 Coto, Maggitl Griffi•, 
Mrs. C. D. DoMgan, Mrs. H . B. 
Jo1afl8on, Miss Marie Cant, Miss 
NeUie Pettis, Mary Davis, Mn. 
Mary E. Wallace, Estelle Win­
kle, Carrie Smit.,. twere formerly 
employed at the pencil company 
and worked at the factory; Leo 
M. Frank's character for lascivi­
ousness was bad. 

Mamie Kitc1atlfl8. Have worked 
at the National Pencil Company 
two years; am on the fourth 
floor; was in the dressing room 
with Miss Irene J aekson when 
she was undressed. Mr. Frank 
opened the door, stuck bis head 
inside; he did not knock; he just 
stood there and laughed; Miss 
Jackson said: "Well, we are 
dressing, blame it," and then he 
shut the door. 

Cross-ezamined. He asked us 
if we didn't have any work to 
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do it was during business 
hours; have never met Mr. 
Frank anywhere, or any time for 
immoral purposes. 

Rtdla BobimOfl. Have seen 
Leo M. Frank talking to Mary 
Phagan. He would stand just 
close enough to her to tell her 
about her work; would show her 
how to put rubbers in the pen­
eils; would just take up the pen­
eil and show her bow. to do it; 
he called her Mary. 

DevJey He111eU. Stay in the 
Home of the Good Shepherd in 
Cincinnati; I worked at the pen­
cil factory four months; have 
seen Mr. Frank talk to Mary 
Phagan two or three times a day 
in the metal department; have 
seen him hold his hand on her 
shoulder. He oalled her Mary; 
he would stand pretty close to 
her; would lean over in her face. 

Oroaa-ezaminetl. All the rest 
of the girls were there when he 
talked to her; don't know 'What 
he was talking to her about. 

Jlyrliu Cato and Maggi.8 
Gnffi• had seen Miss Rebecca 
Canon go into the ladies' dress­
ing room on the fourth floor with 
Leo M. Frank two or three times 
during working hours ; there 
were other ladies working on the 
fourth floor at the time this 
happened. 

J. E. Dufy. Worked at the 
National Pencil Company i out 
a foreftn~r on the left nand; 
went to the office to have it 
dNSSed; a few drops of blood 
dropped on the floor at the ma­
ehine where I IW1ls hurt; no­
where else ueept at that ma­
chine; none near the ladies' 
dre1Bing room or the ·water 
eooler; had a large piece of cot­
ton wrapped around my ftn~r. 

Or08B-ezamitted. Never saw 

any blood anywhere except at 
the machine; went from the of-
11.ee to the Atlanta Hospital to 
have my ftn~r attended to. 

W. E. Turner. Worked at the 
National Pencil Company; saw 
Leo Frank talking to Mary Pha­
gan on the second floor, about the 
middle of March; there was no­
body else in the room; she was 
going to 1trork and he stopped to 
talk to her; she told him she had 
to go to work; be told her that 
he was the superintendent of the 
faetory, and that be wanted to 
talk to her, and she said she had 
to go to work; she backed off and 
he went on towards her talking 
to her. 

OroBB-ezaminetl. Can't de-
scribe Mary Phagan; don't know 
any of the other little girls in 
there; don't remember who 
ealled her Mary Phagan, a young 
man on the fourth floor told me 
her name was Mary Phagan; I 
don't know rwho he waa; didn't 
know anybody in the factory; 
can't describe any of the girls. 

W. P. Merk. Know Daisy 
Hopkins; met her at 2 :30 or 3 :30 
on a Saturday; she said she was 
going to pencil factory; made an 
engagement with her to go to her 
room t.o see her that Saturday; 
was in a room with her at the 
comer of Walker and Peters 
street about 8:30 o'clock; she 
told me she had been to the pen­
cil factory that afternoon ; her 
general character for truth and 
veracity is bad; would not be­
lieve ·her on oath. 

George Gordon. Am a lawyer; 
was at police station part of the 
time 'When Minola McKnight was 
making her statement; went 
down there with habeas corpt18 
proceedings to have her sign the 
affidavit; I sat down and waited 
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outside for her two hours, then 
went in and found Mr. February 
reading over to her some steno­
graphic statement ·he had taken. 
As to whether Minola McKnight 
did not sign this paper freely 
and voluntarily, it was signed in 
my absence while I :was at po­
lice station. That paper is sub­
stantially the notes that Mr. Feb­
ruary read over to her. 

Albert McKnight. This side­
board sets more this way than it 
was at the time I was there. 

Cross-examined. Don't know 
if the sideboard was changed, 
but it wasn't setting like that is 
in the comer. 

R. L. Craven. Am oonnected 
with the Beck and Gregg Hard­
ware Co. Albert McKnight also 
works there. He asked me to go 
dawn and see if I could get Mi­
nola McKnight out when she 
was arrested. I was present 
when she signed that affidavit. 
They brought Minola McKnight 
in and we questioned her as to 
the statements Albert had given 
me; at first she would not talk, 
she said she didn't know any­
thing about it. I told her that 
Albert made the statement that 
he was there Saturday when Mr. 
Frank came home, and ·he said 
Mr. Frank came in the dining 
room and stayed about ten min­
utes and went to the sideboard 
and caught a car in about ten 
minutes after he first arrived 
there, and that Albert had said 
that Minola bad overheard Mrs. 
Frank tell Mrs. Selig that Mr. 
Frank didn~t rest -well and he 
came home drinking and made 
Mrs. Frank get out of bed and 
sleep on a rug by the side of the 
bed and wanted her to give him 
his pistol to shoot bis head olf 
and that he had murdered some-

body, or something like that. Mi­
nola at first hesitated, but finally 
she told everything that was in 
that affidavit. When she did that 
Mr. Starnes, Mr. Campbell, Mr. 
February, Albert MrKnight, Mr. 
Pickett, and Mr. Gordon were 
there. 

E. H. Pickett. Work at Beck 
& Gregg Hdw. Co.; was present 
when the affidavit was signed by 
Minola McKnight. We ques­
tioned her about the statement 
Albert bad made, and she denied 
it all at first. She said she had 
been cautioned not to talk about 
this alfair by Mrs. Frank or Mrs. 
Selig. She stated that Albert had 
lied in what he told us. She 
finally began to weaken on one 
or two points and admitted that 
she had been paid a little more 
money than "WBB ordinarily due 
her. Nobody threatened her when 
she was there. 

M. E. McCoy. Knew Mary 
Phagan. I saw her April 26th, 
in front of 12 Forsyth street. She 
was going towards the pencil 
company. It was near 12 o'clock. 
Know the time as I looked at my 
watch. 

George Kendley. Am 'With the 
Georgia R. & P. Co.; saw Mary 
Phagan about noon on April 26. 
She was going to the pencil fac­
tory from Marietta Street. 

Cross-examined. Was on the 
front end of the Hapeville car 
iwhen I saw her. It is due in town 
at 12 o'clock. I told several peo­
ple about seeing- her the next 
day; didn't testify at the Coro­
ner's inquest because nobody 
eame lo ask me; have not abused 
and villified Frank since this 
tragedy; know Mr. Brent; didn't 
tell him that Mr. Frank's chil­
dren said he was guilty. As to 
whether I abused and villi1led 
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him in the preseooe of Miss Haas 
and other passengers, there has 
been so much talk that I don't 
know what has been said; don't 
remember saying that I would 
join a party to help lynch him if 
he got out. 

N. Kelly. Am motorman of 
the Power Co. On April 26th was 
at the comer of Forsyth and Ma­
rietta Street about three minutes 
after 12; saw the English Ave­
nue car of Matthews and Mr. 
Hollis arrive at Forsyth and Ma­
rietta about 12 :03; knew Mary 
Phagan; she was not on that car. 

W. B. 010ens. Rode on the 
White City line of the Georgia 
Railway Co. We got to town on 
April 26th, at 12 :05; don't re­
member seeing the Engliah Ave­
nue ear that day. 

O. T11lander. Mr. Graham and 
I went to the pencil factory 
April 26th, about 20 minutes to 
12 ; ssw Conley this morning; 
am not positive that he is the 
man I saw there; he looked to 
be about the same size. 

E. K. Graham. Was at the 
pencil factory April 26th, with 
Mr. Tillander, about 20 minutes 
to 12. We met a negro on the 
ground floor. I don't know 
whether it was Jim Conley or 
not. He was about the same 
tri7.e. If he was drunk I couldn't 
notice it. 

lt:y Joftes. Saw Jim Conley at 
the comer of Hunter and For­
syth Streets on April 26th. He 
eame in the saloon while I was 
there, between 1 and 2 o'clock. 
He was not drunk; left him a 
little after 2 o'clock. 

Ha"Y Scott. Picked up a cord 
in the basement when I went 
through there with Mr. Frank. 
Lee's shirt ·had no color on it, ex­
eepting that of blood; got the 

information as to Conley's being 
able to write from McWorth 
when I returned to Atlanta. 

L. T. Kendrick. Was night 
'Watchman at the pencil factory. 
I punched the clocks for a whole 
night's work in two or three min­
utes; don't think you could have 
heard the elevator on the top 
floor if the machinery was run­
ning or any one was knocking on 
any of the floors. 

C. J. Maynard. Have seen 
Burtus Dalton go in the factory 
with a woman in June or July, 
1912. It was between 1 :30 and 
2 o'clock in the afternoon on 
Saturday. 

W. T. Hollis. Have always 
said, that if Epps :was on the car 
I did not see him. 

J. D. Reed. Mr. Hollis told 
me Monday, April 28th, that 
Epps had gotten on the car and 
taken his seat next to Mary, and 
that the two talked to each other 
all the way as though they were 
little sweethearts. 

Dr. Clarence Johnson. Am a 
specialist on diseases of the stom­
ach and intestines; am a physi­
ologist. A physiologist makes 
his searches on the living 
body; the pathologist makes his 
on a dead body. In the case be­
fore me my opinion is that the 
digestion of bread and cabbage 
was stopped within an hour af­
ter they were eaten. 

Dr. GeorgtJ M. Ni'ltls. Confine 
my work to diseases of digestion. 
Every healthy stomach has a cer­
tain definite and orderly relation 
to every other healthy stomach. 
Assuming a young lady between 
13 and 14 years of age at 11 :30, 
April 26, 1913, eats a meal of 
cabbage and bread, that the next 
morning about 3 o'clock ·her dead 
body is found, with the other ev· 
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idence I have listened to. I 
would say that indicated that di­
gestion had been progressing lea& 
than an hour. 

Cross-examined. Coudn't pre­
sume to say how long that cab­
bage lay in Mary Phagan's stom­
ach; if it had been a live, health7 
stomach and the process of di­
gestion was going on ordinarily, 
it would be pulverized in four or 
11.ve hours. It would be more bro­
ken up and triculated than it is. 

Dr. J ohft Funk. Am profes­
sor of pathology and bacteriolo­
gist; was shown by Dr. Harris 
sections from the vaginal wall of 
Mary Phagan. They showed that 
the epithelium wall was tom off 
at points immedately beneath 

that covering in the tissues be­
low, and there was infiltrated 
pnaaure of blood. They were 
engorged, and the white blood 
cells in those blood vessels were 
more numeroos than yon will 
11.nd in a normal blood vessel. 
Those conditions must have been 
produced prior to death, beeause 
the ·blood could not invade the 
tissues after death. I would say 
that under those conditions that 
the epithelium was tom off be­
fore death; would not exprem 
an opinion as to bow long cab­
bage had been in the stomach, 
from the appeal'aMe of the cab­
bage itself. It is reasonable to 
assume that the digestion had 
progressed probably an hour. 

EVIDENCE FOR PRISONER IN SUR-REBUTTAL. 

T. Y. Brent. Have heard Geo. 
Kendley on several occasions u­
press himself very bitterly to­
wards Leo Frank. Be said Frank 
was nothing but an old JfJW' and 
they ought to take him out and 
bang him anyhow. 

M. E. Stahl. Have heard Geo. 
Kendley, the conductor, express 
his feelings toward Leo Frank. 
Be said that Frank was as guilty 
as a snake, and should be bung, 

and that if the court didn't con­
vict •him that he would be one of 
11.ve or seven that would get him. 

Mila 0. 8. Haas. Beard Kend­
ley two weeks ago talk about the 
Frank case so loud that the en­
tire street ear beard it. Be said 
that 90 per cent of the best peo­
ple in the city, including him­
self, thought that Frank wu 
gulty and ought to bang. 

The State offered in evidence the following: 

Frank's statement made before Lanford, Chief of Detectives, on 
Monday moming, April 28: 

Am general superintendent and director of the National Pencil 
Company. Saturday, April 26th was a holiday with our company, 
and the factory was shut down. There were several people who came 
in during the moming. The office boy and the stenographer were in 
the office with m.G until noon. They left about 12 or a little after. 
We have a day watchman there. He left shortly before 12 o'clock. 
After the office ·boy and the stenographer left, this little girl, Mary 
Phagan, came in, but at the time I didn't know that was her name. 
She came in between 12 :05 and 12 :10, to get her pay envelope, her 
salary. I paid her, and she went out of the office. I was in the inner 
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omee. It was impossible to see the direction she went in when she 
left. I didn't keep the door locked downstairs that morning beca.1188 
the mail was coming in. I locked it at 1 :10 when I iwent to dinner. 
Arthur White and Harry Denham were also in the building. They 
IWere working on the machinery, doing repair work; and Mrs. White 
was also in the building. I went up there and told them I was ·going 
to dinner and they had to get out, and they said they bad not dnished, 
then I said, "Mrs. White, you will have to go, for I am going to 
loek these boys in here.'' You can go in the basement from the front. 
I got back at 3 o'clock; iwent upstairs to tell those boys I was back; 
told them to "ring out when you go down to let me kriow when you 
go out," and they rang out, and Arthur White came in the omce and 
said, "Mr. Frank, loan me $2.00," and I give him $2.00, and be 
walked away. I locked the outer door behind them. The night 
watebman got there at twenty minutes to 4. On Friday night I told 
him, "You bad better come around early tomorrow, because I may 
go to the ball game. I told him he could go out; be got there so 
early and I was going to be there. He come back about four minutes 
to 6; the reason I knCJW' that I was putting the clock slips in and the 
clock was right in front of me. I said, "I will be ready in a min­
ute," and be went downstairs and I came to the office and put on my 
coat and hat and followed him and went out. When I went out, talk­
ing to Newt Lee was J.M. Gantt, a man I ·bad fired about two iweeka 
previous. Newt told me he wanted to go up to get a pair of shoes 
he left while he was working there, and I said; "That's all right, go 
with him, Newt"; oand I :went on home, and got there about 6 :25. 
I tried to telephone Newt when I got home; didn't get an answer, 
and at 7 o'clock I ealled him and asked him if Gantt got his shoes, 
and he said, "Yes; ·be got them," and I said, "Is everything all right," 
and be said, "Yes"; and the next thing I knew they ealled me at 7 :36 
the next morning; don't.know that our watchman bas been in the 
habit of letting people in the factory at any time. I took a bath 
Saturday night at my ·home. I changed my clothes. The elothes that 
I changed are at home, and this is the suit of clothes I was wearing 
Saturday. After I left the shop I 'ftnt to Jacob's Pharmacy and 
bought a box of candy for my wife and got home about 6 :25. 

The State also introduced the following exhibits: 

A piece of cord found around Mary Phagan's neck, about the 
!Me of a heavy twine, with a. knot in it. 

A rag that was found around Mary Phagan's neck, with blood on 
it. White pieee of cloth, soiled. Looked as if it was a piece torn off 
from petticoat. 

Four or tlve chips of wood, with red splotches on them, chipped up 
from the second floor of the National Pencil Company factory in 
front of la.dies' dressing room. 

A shirt found by detectives in trash barrel at Newt Lee's home. 
Shirt 'W8S very bloody; blood was on both sides of shirt and high up 
on armpita on the inside. 
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A scratch pad that Couley wrote on ; an ordinary white scratch 
pad. 

The following affidavit executed by Minola McKnight: 
Saturday morning, April 26th, Mr. Frank left home about eight. 

Albert, my husband, got there about a quarter after one, and he was 
there when Mr. Frank came for dinner, which was about half-past 
one. Mr. Frank did not eat any dinner, and he left in about ten 
minutes. Mr. Frank come back to the house at seven o'clock that 
night, and Albert was there when •he got there. 

Tuesday, Mr. Frank says to me, "It is mighty bad, Minola, I might 
have to go to jail about this girl, and I don't know anything 
about it." 

Sunday, Miss Lucile said to Mrs. Selig that Mr. Frank didn't rest 
BO good Saturday night; she said he was drunk and wouldn't let her 
sleep with him, and she said she slept on the door on the rug by the 
bad because Mr. Frank was drinking. Miss Lucile said Sunday that 
Mr. Frank told her Saturday night that he was in trouble, and that 
he didn't know the reason why he would murder, and he told his wif'e 
to get bis pistol and let him kill himself. 

When I left home to go to the solicitor general's office, they told 
me to mind how I talked. They pay me $3.50 a week, but last week 
they paid me $4.00, and one week she paid me $6.50. They would 
tell me to mind how I talked, and Miss Lucile gave me a bat. 

Notes found by policemen in sawdust beside body of Mary Phagan, 
written on white and yellow paper. 

(He said he would love me, laid down play like the night witch 
did it but that long tall black negro did boy hisself.) 

[Mam that negro fire down here did this when i went to make 
water and he push me down a hole a long tall negro black that did 
(had) it. i right while play with me.] 

The Prisoner's Counsel introduced in evidence the follow­
ing statements made by the witness Conley before the trial : 

STATEMENT OF JAMES CONLEY, MAY 18, 1913. 

My full name is James Couley; reside 172 Rhodes Street, with 
Lorine Jones. This woman is not my wife, and I have been living 
with ·her a litUe over two years. I have been having intercourse with 
Lorine Jones. I have been employed as elevator man and roustabout 
at the National Pencil Co. factory in Atlanta for the past two years. 
Before going there, I was employed by Dr. L. Palmer and others 
as a driver. Previous to that time I worked for Adam Woodward, 
as a stable hand. I am 2:l years of' age. 

On Saturday, April 26, at 10 :30, left my house, and visited 
a number of saloons between Fair and Peters and Haynes and 
Peters Street. I arrived home at 2 :30 p. m., and found L. 
Jones there and she asked me if I had any money. Gave 
her $3.50. At 3:30 p. m. or 4:00 p. m., Saturday, I ptll'­
ehased 15 cents worth of beer and then returned to the 
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house. I had also bought a pint of rye and some pan sausage. 
I remained at home all Saturday night, and at 12 o'clock 
noon, Sunday, walked up on Mitchell Street and got a cigarette, 
remaining there until 12 :45 p. m., and returned home, remaining 
until 6 :30 p. m., when I went to my mother's house, and got my 
lunch, and then returned home and remained at home until Monday, 
April 28th. On April 28th, reported for work at the pencil factory 
at 7:05 a. m. 

STATEMENT OF JAMES CONLEY, MAY 24, 1913. 

On Friday evening before the holid&y, about one o'clock, :Mr. 
Frank come up the aisle in the factory and asked me to come to his 
office. He asked me, could I write, and I told him yes, I could write 
a little bit, and he gave me a scratch pad and told me iwhat to put 
on it, and told me to put on there, "dear mother," "a long, tall, black 
negro did this by himself," and be told me to write it two or three 
times on there. I wrote it on a white scratch pad, single ruled. He 
pulled out a box of cigarettes, and in that box he had $2.50, two 
paper dollars and two quarters, and I taken one of the cigarettes and 
handed him the box, and I told him he had some money in the box, 
and he said that was all right, I was welcome to that for I was a 
good -working negro around there, and then he asked me where Gor­
don Bailey (Snowball, they call him) W1!8, and I told him on the 
elevator, and he asked me if I knew the night watchman, and I told 
him no, and he asked me if I ever saw him in the basement, and I 
told him no, and I asked him not to take out any money for that 
watch man I owed, for I didn't have any to spare, and he told me he 
wouldn't, but he would see to me getting some money a little bit 
later. He told me he had some wealthy people in Brooklyn, and 
then he held his head up and looking out of "the comer of his eyes 
and said, "Why should I hang!'~ and that's all I remember him say­
ing to me. When I asked him not to take out any money for the 
rwatch, he said you ought not to buy any watch, for that big fat wife 
of mine wants me to buy her an automobile, but he wouldn't do it; 
I never did see his wife. On Tuesday morning after the holiday on 
Saturday, before Mr. Frank got in jail, he come up the aisle where 
I was sweeping and held his head over to me and whispered to me 
to be a good boy and that was all he said to me. 

STATEMENT OF CONLEY, MAY 28, 1913. 

I make this statement, my second statement, in regard to the m'Dl'­
der of Mary Phagan. I made the statement that I went to the pencil 
factory on Friday, April 25, 1913, and went to Frank's office at 
four minutes to 1, !Which is a mistake. I made this statement in 
order that I might not be accused of knowing anything of this mur­
der, for I thought that if I put myself there on Saturday, they might 
aceuse me of having a band in it; I now make my second and last 
statement, freely and voluntarily, after thinking over the situation, 
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and I have made up my mind to tell the whole troth, without the 
promise of any reward or from foree or fear of punishment in 
any way. 

I got up Saturday morning, April 26th, between 9 and half-past 9. 
I went to Peters Street, and stopped at the beer saloon, and bought 
two beers there for myself and give another fellow a beer, I don't 
know what his name was, but they call him Bob. Then I walks up 
to the Butt-In saloon and shoots dice and won 90 centB. Then I went 
to Earley's beer saloon, and bought two glasses of beer, and come 
out and bought a half pint of whiskey; I drank some of the whiskey, 
then I started to the Capitol City Laundry, and on my way there met 
Mr. Frank, going to Montags; he told me to wait a few minutes. 
He come back and told me to come to the factory, that be want.ed 

·to see me, and I went to the factory with him; and after we got to 
the factory, Mr. Frank took the box and put it there at the trash 
barrel, which was just to the right of the steps as you go in, for me 
to sit on. He told me to sit down there until I heard him whistle. 
Then he told me not to let Mr. Darley see me, and after Mr. Frank 
went up the steps, in a few minutes here comes a young lady down­
stairs, that was Miss Mattie. Then come Mr. Darley down, and he 
stopped Miss Mattie at the front door. I heard Mr. Darley say to 
her, "Don't :worry, I will see that you get that next week." Then 
comes Mr. Holloway down, about ftve minutes after Mr. Darley had 
gone. Then come another colored fellow, a pegged-legged one, and 
he went up the steps, he had some bills in bis bands, and Mr. Hollo­
way come back down with the pegged-legged one and went out on 
the sidewalk and looked at the fellow's wagon, but what he said" to 
him I don't know. Then Mr. Holloway went back upst.airs and come 
back down and was gone for good. Then there comes another lady 
into the factory, and she had on a green looking dress; she works 
on the fourth floor. She stayed up there seven or eight minutes, and 
then she come back down with her money in her hand, and count.ed 
it, and 'Went out the door; the next thing, Mr. Frank whistled for 
me twice; I went on up the stairs and the double doors on the stair­
way were closed, and I opened them and they shut themselves, and 
Mr. Frank was standing at the top of the steps, and he said, "You 
heard me, did youT" and I said, ''Yes, sir," and Mr. Frank grabbed 
me by my arm so tight his hand was trembling. He carried me into 
his private office, then he saw two ladies coming, and he said to me, 
"Gee, here comes Miss Emma Clark and Miss Corinthia Hall," and 
he come back in there to me; he was walking fast and seemed to be 
excited, and he said to me, "Come right in here, Jim." Mr. Frank 
grabbed me and gave me a shove and put me in the wardrobe and he 
t1hnt the doors and told me to stay there until after they had gone. 
Mr. Frank come and let me out of the wardrobe. I don't remember 
Miss Hall and Miss Clark using the telephone. I stayed in the 
wardrobe a pretty good while, for the whiskey and beer I bad 
drank got me to sweating. I couldn't hear them t.alking, only I heard 
Miss Emma say, "Good morning.'' I said, "I got too hot in there " 
and he said, ''Yes, I see you are sweating." He said, "Jim, can y~u 
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writef" I said, ''Yes, sir, I ean write a little bit," and then he give 
me a pencil that he got off the top of his desk, and told me to put 
on there, "dear mother, a long tall black negro did this by hisself," 
and when I went to put daw·n ''negro" I put it "n+g-r-o-s" and he 
said don't put no "s" there, he said that means negros and he said 
now rub the "s" off, and I rubbed the "s" out, and he said "It means 
just one person like yourself," and he told me to write it again, and 
I written it, and he looked at it and slapped me on the back and 
said, "That's all right, old boy," and he said ''write it again," and I 
written it for him three times. Then Mr. Frank takes out a cigarette 
for himself and handed me the box, and I taken out a cigarette and 
lit it, and saw some money in the box, and he said that was all right, 
I could have that. Then Mr. Frank looked around at me and held 
up his head towards the top of the house and said, "Why should 
I hang, I have wealthy people in Brooklyn." I didn't know iwhat 
he was talking about, I didn't have any idea in the world what he 
was talking about, and he was winking and rubbing his hanca 
together and touching me on the shank with his foot and took a .deep 
breath, he said, ''Why should I hangf" and shook his head and 
rubbed his hands together. Then he asked me where was Snowball, 
and I told him I didn't know, and he asked me, did I know the night 
watchman, and I told him no, sir, I just knew him by passing him, 
and he asked me if I had seen him in the basement at any time, and 
I told him no, sir, that he would have to ask the fireman about that, 
for be. was down in the basement more than any of us was, and when 
I told Mr. Frank that he stuck one finger in his mouth and said, 
"S+.s-h, that's all right," and then Mr. Frank told me he iwas going 
to take that note I had written and send it off in a letter to his peo­
ple when he wrote, and recommend me to them, because I was a good 
working negro around there, and he liked me, and when Mr. Frank 
said that I said ''Don't take out another dollar for that watch man,'' 
and he said "All right, I won't,'' and he said, "I don't see why you 
want to buy a watch, because that big fat wife of mine wanted me to 
buy her an automobile, but I won't do it." Then he reached in his 
pocket and pulled out his watch and said, "It is nearly time for me 
to be going to dinner." Then I asked Mr. Frank if that was all he 
wanted with me right now, and he said, !es; but all the time, 
though, he was talking and jollying and going on with me, and I . 
began to think it was something, for a white man to be playing with 
a negro, and during the time he cast his eyes up to the top of the 
house and said, ''Why should I hang, I have wealthy people in 
Brooklyn." Then Mr. Frank said, "I will see you Monday, if I live 
and nothing happens, James," and I said, ''Well, is that all you want 
for good Mr. Frank f" and he said, ''Yes," and I saw him go to his 
desk and take out a brownish-looking scratch pad, and he took his 
pencil and made a mark on it. I took it to be an ''M," but he shut 
the tablet up and looked at me and told me that was all he iwanted 
with me. I pulled the front doors to as I went out, and I iwent to 
the beer saloon across the street and opened the cigarette box, and 
it had two paper dollars in there and two silver quarters, and I 
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laughed and said, "Good luck has done struck me,'' and I bought a 
ten-cent double-header and then went back to Peters Street, and 
hadn't none of the boys got there that I run with and I walks up 
there to the moving picture show and looked at the pictures. I got 
home about half-past 2 o'clock, and I took the bucket and went and 

_got fifteen cents' worth of beer in it and come back home and sent 
the little girl to get a dime's worth of stove wood and a nickel's 
worth of pan sausage, and I eat half the pan sausage up raw, and I 
give my old lady $3.50, and the other little change I kept it, and I 
layed down across the bed and didn't leave home no more until 12 
o'clock Sunday, in the day time. Next morning I got to the factory 
four or five minutes after 7 o'clock, and when I got there went up­
stairs to the dressing room, and in comes Gordon Bailey, and Joe 
Williams, and Mr. Wade Campbell, the lead inspector, and he says, 
"Wasn't it bad about that girl being killed," and we asked him, 
''which girl," and it seemed like he said "Mary Puckett," and we 
asked him whereabouts, and he said, "in the basement," and· we 
asked him "if it was a white or colored girl," and he said, "it was 
a white girl," and we asked him how she got killed, and he said he 
didn't know, and I stayed down the aisle until about 9 o'clock, and 
went to the fourth floor, and then I said I would go to the basement 
and see who that was that got killed; when I got there there was 
such a crowd of white people there I couldn't go back there. Tues­
day morning I got through with my work and went down stairs 
about half-past 9, and there was such a crowd down there I didn't 
stay long. About half-past 10 Mr. Frank came back up the aisle andi 
leaned over to me and said, "Jim, be a good boy," and I said, "Yes, 
sir, I am, Mr. Frank," and when I heard from Mr. Frank again he 
iwas arrested. I come to work Wednesday morning, and works all 
that day, and Thursday morning I come to work, and went down­
stairs, and the fireman and another colored fellow was down there, 
and I asked the fireman where it was that they say the young lady 
got killed at, and he told me right around there, and I took a little 
piece of paper and went around there to see if I could see, but I 
couldn't see where anybody had been laying at, and I went upstairs, 
and stayed there until 12, and the detectives were giving us all sub­
poenas and got my subpoena and started to cleaning up at half-past 
12, and got through cleaning at half-past 1. I went down to wash 
my shirt so I could have a clean one to wear to court, for I had been 
wearing this one for three weeks. Some of them saw me back there 
washing my shirt and called up the detectives, and when the detec­
tives come up there I had done put on my shirt, and they asked me 
where was the shirt I was washing, and I told them this here was 
the shirt. They brought me down here and found there 'W'88 no 
blood on the shirt, and give me my shirt back, and that's all I know. 

CONLEY'S STATEMENT MAY 29, 1913. 

On Saturday, April 26, 1913, when I come back to the pencil fac­
tory rwith Mr. Frank, I waited for him downstairs like he told me, 
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and when he whistled for me I went upstairs, and he asked me if I 
wanted to make some money right quick, and I told him, "Yes, sir," 
and he told me that he had picked up a girl back there and had let 
her fall, and that her head hit against something, he didn't know 
what it was, and for me to move her; I hollered and told him the 
girl was dead, and he told me to pick her up and bring her to the 
elevator, and I told him I didn't have nothing to pick her np with, 
and he told me to go and look by the cotton box there and get a piece 
of cloth, and I got a wide piece of cloth and tied her up in it. I 
carried her on my right shoulder, and she got too heavy for me and 
she slipped off and fell on the floor at the dressing room. I hollered 
for Mr. Frank to come there and help me, that she was too heavy 
for me, and Mr. Frank come down there and told me to pick her np, 
damn fool, and he run down there to me, and he was excited, and he 
picked her up by the feet, her bead and feet were sticking out of the 
cloth, and then we brought her on to the elevator, Mr. Frank carry­
ing her by the feet and me by the shoulders, and we brought her to 
the elevator, and then Mr. Frank says, "Wait, let me get the key/' 
and he went into the office and got the key and come back and un­
locked the elevator door and started the elevator down. We went on 
dawn to the basement, and Mr. Frank helped me take it off the 
elevator, and he told me to take it back there to the sawdust pile, 
and I picked it up and put it on my shoulder again, and Mr. Frank, 
be went up the ladder and watched the trap door to see if anybody 
was coming, and I took her back there and taken the cloth from 
around her and taken her hat and shoe which I had picked up up­
stairs right where her body was lying, and brought them down and 
untied the cloth and brought them back and throwed them on the 
trash pile in front of the furnace, and Mr. Frank was standing at 
the trap door at the bead of the ladder. He didn't tell me iwhere 
to put the things. I layed her body down with her head towards the 
elevator, lying on her stomach. Mr. Frank joined me baek on the 
flrst floor. He said, "Gee, that was a tiresome job," and I told him 
his job was not as tiresome as mine was, because I bad to tote it all 
the way from where she was lying to the dressing room, and in the · 
basement from the elevator to where I left her. Then iwe went on 
into the office, and Mr. Frank he couldn't hardly keep still; he was 
all the time moving about from one office to the other, then he come 
baek into the stenographer's office and come back, and be told me, 
Here comes Emma Clark and Corinthia Hall/' and he opened the 
wardrobe and told me to get in there. Mr. Frank come back and I 
said, "Goodness alive, you kept me in there a mighty long time," and 
he said, "Yes, I see I did, yon are sweating," and then me and Mr. 
Frank set down in a chair. Mr. Frank then took out a cigarette, 
and he gave me the box and asked me did I want to smoke. I banded 
him the cigarette box, and he told me that was all right, I could keep 
that, and I told him he had some money in it, and he told me that 
was all right, I could keep that; Mr. Frank then asked me to writ.e 
a few lines on that paper, a white scratch pad he had there, and he 
told me what to put on there. After I got through writing, Mr. 
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Frank looked at it and said it was all right, and Mr. Frank looked 
up at the top of the house and said, "Why should I hang, I have 
wealthy people in Brooklyn"; I asked him what about me, and he 
told me that was all right about me, for me to keep my mouth shut, 
and he would make everything all right, and then I asked him where 
was the money be said he was going to _give me, and Mr. Frank 
said, ''Here, here is two hundred dollars," and he handed me a big 
roll of greenback money and I didn't count it; I stood there a little 
while, looking at it in my hand, and I told Mr. Frank not to take 
another dollar for that watch man I owed and he said he wouldn't-­
and the rest is just like I have told it before. 

The reason I have not told this before is I thought Mr. Frank 
would get out and help me out, but it seems that he is not going to 
get out, and I have decided to tell the whole truth about this matter. 

While I was looking at the money in my bands, Mr. Frank said, 
"Let me have that and I will make it all right with you Monday if 
I live and nothing happens," and he took the money back and I 
asked him if that was the way ·he done, and he said he would give it 
back Monday. 

'l'ke PNoner'• Counsel put in evidence this letter, written 
by Leo M. Frank to Mr. Moses Frank, not typewritten but in 
long hand: 

Dear Uncle: 
Atlanta, Ga., April 26, 1913. 

I trust that this duds you and dear Tante well after arriving 
safely in New York. I hope that you found all the dear ones well in 
Brooklyn and I await a letter from you telling me bow you duel 
things there. Lucila and I are well. 

It is too short a time since you left for anything startling to have 
developed down here. The opera has Atlanta in its grip, but that 
ends today. I've heard a rumor that opera will not be given again 
in a hurry here. 

Today was "Y ondef'' here, and the thin gray line of veterans, 
smaller each year, braved the rather chilly weather to do honor to 
their fallen comrades. 

Enclosed you will dud last week's report. The shipments still keep 
up well, tho' the result is not what one would wish. There is nothing 
new in the factory, etc., to report. Enclosed please dud the price list 
you desired. 

The next letter from me, you should get on board ship. After that 
I will write to the address you gave me in Frankfurt. 

With much love to you both, in which Lucile joins me, I am 
Your aft'.ectionate nephew, 

Leo M. Frank. 



LEO M. FRANK. 251 

THE SPEECHES TO THE JURY. 

KB. HOOPER FOB THE STATE. 

Aug1Ut 21. 

llr. Hooper. Gentlemen of the Jury: TOO object of this 
trial, as well as all other trials, is the ascertainment of truth 
and the attainment of justioo. In the beginning, I want to 
have it understood that we are not seeking a verdict of guilty 
against the defendant unless he is guilty. 

The burden of guilt is upon our shoulders -we confront 
the undertaking of putting it upon his. We recognize that 
it must be done beyond a reasonable doubt, and that it must 
be done purely by the evidence which we have produced be­
fore you. 

We have cheerfully 8SSUDled this burden. We have cheer­
fully undertaken the task, but, there is not a single man on 
the prosecution who would harm a hair of the defendant's 
head wrongfully. We want him given the same measure of 
justice that should be meted to all classes of defendants. He 
is entitled, though, to the same degree of law as any other 
prisoner. But, he is not entitled -to any more because of his 
wealth or social position. The arm of the law is strong 
enough to reach to the highest pinnacle of position and drag 
down the guilty, and strong enough to probe into the gutter 
and drag up the lowest. 

There is not a case in the history of Georgia that has been 
as long and as important as this. With this importance, 
there arises a great degree of responsibility that rests upon 
your shoulders. I call your attention to the facts and law as 
they will be given you in the charge-your only instructions, 
the orders by which you will be guided in the end. 

There is one thing I want to say, and that is this: This 
man should not be convicted purely because the law is seek­
ing a victim. The law doesn't demand it. It demands only 
that you seek the tru~, the absolute truth, the showing of 
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which is required by us, the prosecution. We are not looking 
for blood indiscriminately. We are only seeking the slayer 
of Mary Phagan, and in seeking him, I try as much as poaai­
ble to feel as though I were one of you twelve. 

Now, let's see what was the situation on April 26 in the 
pencil factory. This factory was being run by Sig Montag 
as its boss, Frank as its superintendent, assisted by the hand­
some Mr. Darley and the able Mr. Sehi1f. 

As a citizen of Atlanta, I am not proud of conditions that 
existed in that factory I What was its moral atmosphere f 
The charaeter of it appeals wonderfully to us as we seek the 
truth. 

The defense has produced numbers of girl workers who 
told us of his charact.er. They say it is good. That is only 
negative because he has never harmed them. They do not 
know him. But, while we are considering their stories, there 
are the stories of others-girls who left his factory because 
of his character and his conduct toward them. They say his 
charact.er is bad. You have from the two your choice of 
either. Those who still are there-those who have never been 
harmed-and those who have left because of him and his 
character. 

The law is a peculiar thing. We named over our plans 
with the first witnesses put on the stand. We showed at first 
just exactly '\Vhat we had in view, exposed our hand, so to 
speak, and even went so far as to put the stories before you 
in so far as they were allowed to be told. They could have 
gone into detail were we permitted to have allowed them. 
They could have told of incidents that would have been con­
vincing. We have adopted the only legal manner in which 
the matter could be sifted. It's on this principle: If fifty 
men were asked of the character of a certain place or man, 
and twenty-five or more say it is good, while as few as tell 
say it's bad, what is the character of this place or person, 
considering, of course, that all have an equal opportunity to 
observe f Would you say it was good f This question of 
charact.er was one into which we were not permitted to go. 
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But the defense, on the other hand, were allowed to let down 
the bars and walk in. 

That pencil factory was a great place for a man without 
a conscience. It was a great place for Frank, his handsome 
a111istant, Mr. Darley, and the able Mr. Schllf. We find that 
Frank had coupled himself up for nightly meeting with Dal­
ton, who now has, it seems, turned respectable. My friends, 
no doubt, will argue that it was strange a man of such busi­
ness and social position should consort with such a character. 
It will be a good argument, likely, but probe a little deeper 
and see if Dalton was not the kind of man required by a dual 
personality such as possessed by Frank t 

We all have dual personalities. There is not a man so good 
without evil, and no man so bad without good. But when the 
evil is predominant the man is bad. Vice versa with the 
good. A man may mingle with his varnished class by day, 
but when the shades ·of night are falling And the evil domi­
nate, he doesn't go and get good men who can tell of his good 
character. He goes for his Dalton. We all are Dr. Jekyls 
and Mr. Hydes. There are two sides to each of us. 

Dalton seems to have overcome this evil. He is apparently 
making sood, as many substantial folks have told us on the 
witness stand. You can't blame Dalton so much. 

This factory was under the control of this' man Frank. It 
is a house of bad reputation. You find other acts of this sort 
committed therein. It is unsavory. Frank is its head. He 
contends he did not know Mary Phagan. Why, every day as 
he walked through the floor on which his oftice was situated, 
he passed by her at her machine. You find, gentlemen, that 
he often stopped at her place of duty to show her this or to 
show her that, to help her in her work. Not only that, but 
he followed her out of her beaten path-following like some 
wild animal, telling her of his superiority, coaxing, persuad­
ing, all the while she strove to return to her work at her me­
chine. You will notioo on this diagram that every time he 
crossed the door he passed this beautiful girl, looking upon 
her with the eye of lust. The fi1'8t in~ation of his attitude 



254 X. AMERIO.AN STATE TRIALS. 

toward his victim is in the tall, good-natured Jim Gantt, 
friend of Mary. He asks Gantt: "You're pretty thick with 
Mary, aren't youf" It shows that he knew her and that he 
had his eye on her. What next f He wants to get rid of 
Gantt. How does he go about itt You have seen that pre­
viously he was bragging on Gantt, on Gantt 's ability as a 
workman. But, just as soon as his eye is set upon the pretty 
little friend of Gantt, he sets plans to get rid of him. And, 
it comes up about a dollar. He says it was something about 
money, hoping to lead you, gentlemen, to believe that Gantt 
was a thief. He would not let Gantt go into the building 
because he was a thief. Didn't he know that this long-legged 
mountaineer was coming back at him f Sure, he knew it. 
And, they parted company at once. Gantt was fired. What 
was he accomplishing by this f He was getting rid of the 
only man on either floor-in the whole factory-who knew 
Mary Phagan, and who would raise a hand to protect her. 

Then he sets about laying plans. And those plans I 
You will notice that the defense has pit.ehed its every effort 

entirely on Jim Conley. I don't blame them. He was like 
Stone Mountain is to some highways in its vicinity. They 
couldn't get by him. We could have left him out and have 
had an excellent chain of circumstantial evidence. Without 
Jim, though, the defense eouldn 't move - they ~ouldn 't 
budge. You have sat and seen the biggest legal battle ever 
fought in a court house between skillful intellect and a wit­
ness negro. You have seen brainy eloquence pitted against 
the slow, incomprehensible dialect of a negro. You have seen 
a trained and speedy mind battling with blunt ignorance. 
And, what was the result f At the end of three and a half 
days it came. That negro was asked questions about every­
thing Rosser could conceive. His answers were hurried from 
the stenographer's notes and transcribed on typewriter. 
Then, they were hurled back into Conley's face. But, it was 
like water poured onto a mill wheel. They received the same 
answers, the same story. 

It was because, gentlemen, the negro was telling the trath. 
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Truth is stronger than all the brains and ingenuity that C8J) 

be collected in this whole town-this state, the world. How 
they did hate to give up the fight. They lost, and with the 
loss went the loss of their theory in whole. 

When all was through, they were forced to sit and leave 
Jim's truth unscathed. HO\V unfortunate I All they could 
say was that Jim had been a big liar~ That is true. In his 
1irst two stories, he lied. But, if I had any comment on Jim 
Conley, it would be that if they had bored me as they bored 
him at police headquarters, they could have muddled me 
even more. 

Suppose Frank's conduct in this ease is shown as it bas 
been. He is a smart man. There is no disputing that fact. 
He needn't have told you all the details on the stand of the 
amount of work he did that day. You can tell that he is 
smart, clever, ingenious. 

Now, Jim, he comes back that Saturday morning by order 
of the brilliant Frank, bis boss. There's no denial of this, so 
far. Other people tell you they have seen women enter the fac­
tory with men at suspicious hours. Jim tells you of watch­
ing for these folks. And there is this to reckon with: Provi­
dence has a way of revealing the truth at the final minute. 
At the eleventh hour we found two men yesterday who bad 
been to the pencil factory at the noon Mary Phagan was 
murdered. They saw Jim Conley just as he tells you, sitting 
on the first :floor, near the door where he watched for Frank. 
.Mn. White saw him, although she doesn't identify him per­
fectly. One thing true, she saw a negro in the position Jim 
tells us he was in. Now, for what purpose was he theret 
Waiting t.o do the same thing he had done before-to watch 
for his boas. They say he was drunk. Very well But, did 
you notice how clearly he ~ited incidents and told the 
names of people he saw at the times they claim he was so 
drankf 

We are brought up to the time of the tragedy. J'un is still 
there. Everybody has gone, leaving him and Frank in the 
building. Frank knew that Kary Phagan was coming that 
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day, and he knew the hour. On thti previous afternoon little 
Helen Ferguson, Mary's chum, had called for Mary's pay, 
and Frank had told her that Mary should come and get her 
own pay, breaking a rule of the plant in doing so. He 
arranges with Jim to hang around and make himself con­
venient. Jim takes his accustomed seat in the hallway. Par­
ties come and go. Jim observes all that happens, he says 
nothing. Finally, Mary Phagen arrives, beautiful, innocent, 
coming in her blue frock and new hat and a ribbon around 
her hair. Without any thought of evil or foreboding of 
~dy, she tripped into the building and up the stairs, 
going for $1.20. No explanation can come from Mary. The 
dead have no stories to tell. She went in a little after 12. 
She found Frank. He tells us that much from his own lips. 
He was there from 12 to 1. It's bis own statement. What 
a statement! 

There was Mary. Then, there was another little girl, Mon­
teen Stover. He never knew Monteen was there, and he said he 
stayed in his office from 12 until after 1-never left. Mon­
teen waited around for five minutes. Then she left. The 
result T There comes for the first time from the lips of 
Frank, the defendant, the admission that he might have gone 
to some other part of the building during this time-he 
didn't remember clearly. 

Jim Conley, sitting faithfully downstairs, beard footst:eps 
going toward the metal room. Then there came the sound of 
other footsteps, footsteps -that pursued. There was no return 
of the 1lrst footsteps, and the footsteps that pursued tiptoed 
back from the metal room. Then Leo stamped a signal on 
the office door. 

I will be fair with Frank. When he followed the child 
back into the metal room, he didn't know that it would 
necessitate force to accomplish his purpose. I don't believe 
he originally had murder in his heart. 

There was a scream. Jim Conley heard it. Just for the 
sake of knowing how harrowing it was, I wish you jurymeti 
could hear a similar scream. It was poorly described by the 
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negro. He said it sounded as if a laugh was broken o« into 
a shriek. He heard it break through the stillness of the 
hushed building. It was uncanny, but he sat faithfully on. 
He was under orders. He was to come on signal. That 
scream was no signal Later, Frank would stamp on the 
the oftlce :floor. 

This negro tells you that the white man killed the little 
girl. But, no! Frank was in his office, busy with his won­
derful financial sheet. I will show you how he could have sat 
at his desk and heard this negro attack the little child who 
had come to draw her pay. 

[Mr. Hooper turned to the diagram, showing the jury the 
nearness of the metal room to Frank's office, explaining his 
theory that nothing could have happened on the :floor without 
being heard or seen by Frank.] 

Mr. Frank, I will give you the benefit of all you deserve. 
When all is summed up, you were sitting only a few feet 
from the spot where a murder was committed, and you never 
raised a finger. Let me show you something else. When this 
thing was over there were two men and a woman upstairs 
who had to get out the building before the body was moved. 
It would be dangerous to leave it lying back in the metal 
room, staring hideously from unseeing eyes. Frank went up­
stairs and told the trio up there that if they were going, it 
was time for them to leave, as he was going to lock up the fac­
tory. He was in a hurry and told them so. Mrs. Arthur 
White, perceiving his evident hurry, hastened downstairs. 
When she reached the office, Frank, the man-in-a-hurry, was 
in his shirt sleeves, writing at his desk. 

Why should I hang f What does that show f In the first 
place, his appreciation of a little girl of 14. Did it hurt him 
to knot the rope of cord around her neck, did it hurt him as 
he drew it tighter and tighter around the tender throat until 
the dim spark of life was choked extinct f To the contrary. 
It only excited him enough to ask himself the question "Why 
should I hang!" There come times when we all speak our 
true thoughts and sentiments. That was such a tim~. 
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Now, which is the more probable-that Jim heard this ex­
pression, or that he imagined the story T Did Jim know 
Frank had relatives in Brooklyn T. Did Jim know there was 
soch a thing as Brooklyn T Did he know they were rich T 
And Jim says, with the typical soul of Africa: "What's 
goin' to become of met" Frank says, "I'll take care of 
you, for I '11 write my mother a letter, so that she can help 
you." He asb Jim if he can write, and Jim tells him a little 
bit. He wasn't on his guard. He should have detected 
Frank's purpose. Frank was smart, Jim was dull. Frank 
dictated, Jim wrote. 

Now, gentlemen, I suppose most of you are southern men, 
men who know the characteristics of the negro. Will you 
please tell i;ne what idea this negro would have had to write 
these notes accusing a negro, and, just the same as saying, 
this was done by a negro who is a fool and who cannot write T 
It was foolish enough for the mighty brain of Frank to put 
the notes beside the body. The truth of the businees is, that 
this looks like the only time the brainy Frank aver lost his 
head. Then, next comes the money. Frank pulls out his 
roll of bills, and says, "Jim, here's that $200." Jim is so 
overwhelmed that he doesn't notice the amount, but puts the 
roll in his pocket. Frank reflects. He need not waste the 
$200. Jim is as deep in the mire as he is in the mud. He 
recovers the money. "Let's see, Jim, if everything comes 
out all right, I '11 return this money." He tells Jim that Jim 
has the goods to deliver. The body must be disposed of. 
That will be left to Jim. He depends on Jim's lust for the 
$200 to bring him back to the factory to burn the corpse of 
little Mary, the victim! Nobody else was expected by him 
that afOOrnoon but Jim Conley and Newt Lee. 

It makes no difference to me about how long it took Frank 
to go to lunch, the minute he put in here and the minute he 
put in there, about which there has been such a squabble in 
tOO evidence. That is aside from the point. The fact remains 
that at or about 3 o'clock he came back to the pencil factory 
to await the arrival of Jim Conley to burn that body I He 
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was expecting Jim Conley, and he also knew that Newt Lee 
was coming. Aye, there was the rub l He expected them 
both, and it depended upon which one arrived fust as to how 
things would go. If Jim got there fust and disposed of that 
body, all right; but suppose Newt Lee got there first l Then 
was the def-endant in the position of Napoleon at the battle 
of Waterloo, when he wondered whicll army would &l'.rive 
fust, and knew that upon this question depended victory or 
defeat. The wrong army arrived, and Napoleon went down l 

Newt Lee arrived at the pencil factory that afternoon, but 
where was Jim Conley f Yes, that's what the defendant 
asked himself, "Where is Jim Conley!" Jim Conley was 
getting that much-needed sleep after the exciting events he 
had gone through with. That's where Jim Conley was. Then 
was the defendant lost. 

1He sent Newt Lee away, with the last hope that Jim might 
yet turn up and burn the body as had been agreed upon. 
"Go out and have a good time, Newt," that's what the de­
fendant told good old honest Newt Lee. He said, "It is not 
Newt Lee I want, it is Jim Conley. Go away, Newt, and stay 
until 6 o'clock. Give me two hours more." Two hours 
passed, and Jim Conley did not show up. He was taking 
that much-needed nap. Newt came back, and the game was 
up. He talked to Newt Lee about the night's work and 
started home. 

Now, gentlemen of the jury, I want to call your attention 
to a very peculiar thing: As the defendant passed out of the 
factory door, he met Gantt, old long-legged Gantt, who was 
looking for his shoes. Witnesses testifted that the defendant 
jumped back startled. Why f Think why f He wasn't 
afraid of Gantt. Gantt wouldn't hurt a 6.ee. That wasn't 
the reason. He knew that Gantt knew Mary Phagan and 
had lived close to the family, and Frank thought that Gantt 
was looking for little Mary, who was missing from home and 
should have been back long ago. That's why he jumped back 
when he saw Gantt. He had called Gantt down about "set­
ting up" to Mary, and had fired him over an argument about 
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who was going to pay a dollar or so. He didn't think that 
Gantt stole that paltry dollar. He expected him to ask where 
Mary Phagan was. That, gentlemen of the jury, is why he 
jumped back when he saw Gantt. But Gantt spoke to the 
defendant. He just said, "Howdy, Mr. Frank," The de­
fendant felt relieved then. Gantt told him that he had left 
a pair of shoes in the factory and wanted to get them. But 
it won't do to let him go in that building now, thought the 
defendant. Suppose he should :ft.nd· outf He ·musn't go in 
there. So the defendant said that he thought he had seen a 
nigger sweeping Gantt's shoes out of the building. Then 
Gantt said he had two pairs of shoes in there, and that maybe 
the other pair 'Wasn't swept out. 

This was the last hope. What could he say to that t He 
had said that he saw the nigger sweeping out only one pair. 
In a few days this murder must be out, anyway. To keep 
Gantt out would arouse his suspicions. And this is what 
went on in the defendant's mind: "I '11 let him in, but I '11 
guard him like a thief." And he said, "Newt, go with him." 
Strange to say, Gantt found both pairs of shoes, just where 
he said he had left them. Gentlemen, does that look like the 
defendant had seen a nigger sweeping them out t Does that 
look like the truth t 

After he had let Gantt in the factory, what did he dot He 
called up the factory by phone, a thing that he never had 
done before. Why! Why did he do that thing! Gantt! 
Gantt! That's why! He wanted to know if Gantt had gone, 
and whether he was any the wiser. He couldn't rest until he 
knew this. This Banquo 's ghost of a Gantt was haunting 
him. But 'When he knew that Gantt was safely gone and 
everything was all right, he was in a fine humor then. He 
could laugh and talk. He could sit down in the house with 
his wife and read baseball in the newspaper. He could laugh 
and try playfully to break up a card game. He felt :6.ne and 
relieved. As glad and free as a school boy I Old long-legged 
· Gannt was gone, and everything was all right ! 

Now, about Newt Lee. I don't want to thresh out all the 
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details in this respect. You remember the evidence about 
honest old Newt Lee's &ding the body. That's all we need 
io know about him. No suspicion att.aches to Newt. He 
notifted the police, and tried to notify Frank. The police 
eame and took the body of little Mary Phagan to the under­
takers. 

The police c&lled up Frank then and told him they wanted 
him. Detective Starnes got mixed up when he told about 
this on the stand, but he never forgot that when he ealled 
Frank up, Frank did not ask him what the trouble was. He 
didn't ask him whether anybody had been killed at the fac­
tory. He didn't ask them if everything at the factory was 
all right. They took Frank to the undertaker's. He was 
nervous then. But have you seen a quiver of a muscle since 
he has been these weeks in the court room f He is facing the 
fight now, and his nerves are set. But that morning he was 
as nervous as a eat. He said, "I think it's a girl I paid off 
yesterday. I'll have to look at my books and see.'' That's 
what he said about the body of the girl he saw every 'day and 
talked to. He offered no consolation, or anything. He got 
away from there. · 

Another thing, when they carried him to the basement and 
brought him back upstairs, what was going on in his mind 
then f He thought he must look at that time slip. So he got 
the key and unlocked the clock and took out the slip. He 
examined it while others were looking over his shoulder, and 
said it was correctly punched, that it was all right, and 
others agreed to it. "Here's the slip." He said, "That's all 
right. That clears you, Newt." 

What next occurred to him f He ·saw he was getting into 
a 1lx, and he had better take a shot at Newt. What happens f 
Another slip turns up. He says he was mistaken at first. 
There were lapses in the punches on the slip, showing time 
enough unaccounted for to allow Newt to go home. 

Policeman Black had suspicions. He goes to Newt Lee's 
home. He unlocks the door with his keys, and looks in the 
1loose and on the trash pile, and in the bottom of the barrel, 
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with a lot of things piled on top of it, he found a bloody shirt I 
How did it get there T Newt Lee accounts for his time Sun­
day. No suspicion attaches to Newt Lee. He is a free man. 
How did that bloody shirt get there t It had to be planted. 
Gentlemen, it was planted! Here are the two propositions, 
gentlemen. If Newt Lee was to be made the goat, 8118picion 
had to be directed to him. Somebody had to plant that sos­
picion. 

He would sacrifice Newt Lee that he might live! 
The Bible says, "What will not a man give for his life!" 

He was willing to give the life of Newt Lee that his own life 
might be spared. He was willing to give the life of Gantt 
that he might live. Was not Gantt arrested a few days 
after! 

But not once at that time did he think of giving the life 
of Jim Conley. But somebody found Jim Conley washing a 
shirt to go to the trial, and there was where Jim got into 
trouble. 

But Frank didn't try to fix it on Jim then. He waited 
until Newt had failed, and all else had failed, except the BUS· 

picion which rested upon him.self. Then he turned on Jim 
Conley. 

I call your attention, gentlemen of the jury, to another 
peculiar thing: Weeks after the murder, and after the fac­
tory had been searched, a big, bloody stick was found by 
shrewd Pinkerton detectives, who can ftnd anything-even 
an elephant, if it gets in the way. They also found a piece 
of envelope. But, fortunately, they showed this to Mr. Cole­
man, who said that Mary had received but $1.20 and that the 
:figure '' 5'' on the envelope had no business there. And so, 
it was rubbed out. Besides the shirt, then, we ftnd the club 
and the pay envelope. Another very peculiar thing is about 
this man named Mincey. Conley was asked, "Didn't you 
confess to Mincey that you were the man that killed the 
girlt" Conley said, "No." That question was asked, gen­
tlemen, as a foundation upon whicll to introduce Mincey. 
Where is Mincey T He is the man who could clear it all up. 
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He is the man about whom it appeared that the whole fight 
would center. If he could convince you that Jim confessed 
the murder to him, that would let Frank out 1 Yet where is 
Mincey f Gentlemen, this has been a long testimony which 
you have had to sit through, and I do not wish to take ~p any 
more of your time than necessary. 

Gentlemen, the only belief required of you is the same sort 
of belief that you would have upon the street, at your places 
of business, or in your homes, and on this belief you are to act. 
Simply use your common sense in the jury boL I thank you. 

KB. ARNOLD, POB THE .PRISONER. 

Mr. Anaold. Gentlemen of the Jury: We are all to be 
congratulated that this case is drawing to a close. We have 
all suffered here from trying a long and complicated case at 
the heated term of the year. It has been a case that bas 
taken so much effort and so much concentration and so much 
time, and the' quarters here are so poor, that it has been par­
ticularly hard on you members of the jury who are prac­
tically in custody while the case is going on. I know it's 
hard on a jury, to be kept confined this way, but it is neces­
sary that they be segregated and set apart where they will 
get no impression at home nor on the st:reet. The members of 
the jury are in a sense set apart on a mountain, where, far 
removed from the. passion and heat of the plain, calmness 
rules them and they can judge a case on its merits. 

My friend Hooper said a funny thing here a while ago. 
I don't think he meant what he said, however. Mr. Hooper 
said that the men in the jury box are not dift'erent from the 
men on the street. Your Honor, I'm learning something 
every day, and I certainly learned something today, if that's 
true. 

Jlr. Hooptr. Mr. Arnold evidently mistakes my meaning, which 
I thought I made clear. I stated that the men in the jury box were 
like they would be on the street in the fact that in making up their 
minds about the guilt or innocence of the accused they must use the 
same common sense that they would if they were not part of the 
eomL 
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[Mr. Arnold next described the ·horrible crime that had 
been committed that afternoon or night in the National Pen­
cil Company's dark basement. He dwelt on the effect of the 
crime upon the people of Atlanta and of how high feeling 
ran and still runs, and of the omnipresent desire for the 
death of the man who committed the crime.] 

There are fellows like that street car man, Kendley, the one 
who villi1ied this defendant here and eried for him to be 
lynched, and shouted that he was guilty until he made him­
self a nuisanee on the cars he ran. Why, I can hardly 1'e8lize 
that a man holding a position as responsible as that of a mo­
torman and a man with certain police powers and the discre­
tion necessary to guide a car through the crowded city streets 
would give way to passion and prejudice lilre that. It was 
a type of man like Kendley who said he did not know for SOl"e 

whether those negroes hanged in Decatur for the shooting of 
the street car men were guilty, but he was glad they were 
hung, as some negroes ought to be hanged for the crime. He's 
the same sort of a man who believes that there ought to be 
a hanging because that innocent little girl was murde~ 
and who would like to see this Jew here hang because some­
body ought to hang for it. 

I '11 tell you right now, if Frank hadn't been a Jew there 
would never have been any. prosecution against him. I'm 
asking my own people to turn him loose, asking them to do 
justice to a Jew, and I'm not a Jew, but I would rather die 
before doing injustice to a Jew. 

This case has just been built up by degrees; they have a 
monstrous perjurer here in the form of this Jim Conley 
against Frank. You know what sort of a man Conley is, and 
you know that up to the time the murder was committed no 
one ever heard a word against Frank. Villainy like this 
charged to him does not crop out in a daf. There are long 
mutterings of it for years before. There are only a few who 
have ever said anything against Frank. I want to call your 
attention later to the class of their witnesses and the class of 
ours. A few floaters around the factory, out of the hundreds 
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who have worked there in the plant three or four years, have 
been induced to come up here and swear that Frank has not 
a good character, but the decent employees down there have 
sworn to his good character. Look at the jail birds they 
brought up here, the very dregs of humanity, men and 
women who have disgraced themselves and who now have 
come and tried to swear away the life of an innocent man. 

I know that you members of the jury are impartial. That's 
the only reason why you are here, and I'm going to strip the 
stat.e's case bare for you, if I have the strength t.o last t.o do 
it. They have got to show Frank guilty of one thing before 
you can convict him; they've got t.o show that he is guilty 
of the murder, no matter what else they show about him. 
You are trying him solely for the murder, and there must be 
no ehance that anyone else could just as likely be guilty. If 
the jury sees that there is just as good a chance that Conley 
can be guilty, then they must turn Frank loose 

Now, you can see how in this case the detectives were put 
to it to lay the crime on somebody. First, it was Lee, and 
then it was Gantt, and various people came in and declared 
they had seen the girl alive late Saturday night and at other 
times, and no one knew what t.o do. Well, suspicion turned 
away from Gantt, and in a little while it turned away from 
Lee. Now, I don't believe that Lee is guilty of the crime, 
but I do believe that he knows a lot more about the crime 
than he told. He knows about those letters and he found 
that body a lot sooner than he said he did. 

Oh, well, the whole case is a mystery, a deep mystery, but 
there is one thing pretty plain, and that is that whoever wrote 
those notes committed the crime. Those notes certainly had 
some connection with the murder, and whoever wrote those 
notes committed the crime. 

Well, they put Newt Lee through the third degree and -the 
fourth degree, and maybe a few others. That's the way, you 
know, they got this affidavit bom the poor negro woman, 
Minola McKnight. Why, just the other day the supreme 
court handed down a decision in which it referred t.o the third 
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degree methods of the police and detectives in words that 
burned. 

Well, they used those methods with Jim Conley. My 
friend, Hooper, said nothing held Conley to the witness chair 
here but the truth, but I tell you that the fear of a broken 
neck held him there. I think this decision about the third 
degree was handed down with Conley's ease in mind. I'm 
going to show this Conley business up before I get through. 
I'm going to show that this entire case is the greatest frame­
up in the history of the state. 

My friend Hooper remarked something about cil"CUID8tan­
tial evideooe, and how powerful it frequently was. He forgot 
to say that the circumstances, in every case, must jnvariably 
be proved by witnesses. History contains a long record of 
circumstantial evidence, and I once had a book on the sub­
ject which dwelt on such cases, most all of which sickens the 
man who reads them. Horrible mistakes have been made by 
circumstantial evidence-more so than by any other kind.1 

Hooper says, ''Suppose Frank didn't kill the girl, and Jim 
Conley did, wasn't it Frank's duty to protect her" He was 
taking the position that if Jim went back there and killed 
her, Frank could not help but know about the murder. 
Which position, I think, is quite absurd. Take this hypo­
thesis, then, of Mr. Hooper's. If Jim saw the girl go up and 
went back and killed her, would he have taken the body down 
the elevator at that time t Wouldn't he have waited until 
Frank and White and Denham, and Mrs. White and all 
others were out of the building! I think so. But there's not 
a possibility of the girl having been killed on the second fi.oor. 
Hooper smells a plot, and says Frank has his eye on the little 
girl who was killed. The crime isn't an act of a civimed 

1 Here Mr. Arnold cited the Durant case in San Francisco, the 
Hampton case in England, and the Dreyfus case in France as in­
stances of mistakes of cireumsta.otisl evidence. In the Dreyfus 
case he declared it was purely persecution of the Jew. The hide­
ousness of tlle murder itself was not as savege, he asserted, as the 
feeling to oonviot this man. But the -~ and venom is there 
just the same, and it is a case very much on the order of Dreyfus. 
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man-it's the crime of a cannibal, a man-eater. Hpoper is 
bard-pressed and wan18 to ~t up a plot-he sees he has to 
get up something. He forms his plot from Jim Conley's 
st.ory. 

They say that on Friday, Frank knew he was going to 
make an attack of some sort on Mary Phagan. The plot 
thickens. Of all the wild things I have ever heard, that is the 
wildest. It is ridiculous. Mary Phagan worked in the pencil 
factory for months, and all the evidence they have produced 
that Frank ever associated with he~ver knew he:r-is the 
story of weasley little Willie Turner, who can't even descnl>e 
the little girl who was killed. 

.A little further on in his story, Jim is beginning the plot. 
They used him to corroborate everything as they advised. 
J°JJD. is laying the foundation for the plot. What is it-this 
plot f Only that on Friday Frank was planning to commit 
BOme kind of assault upon Mary Phagan. Jim was their tool 
Even Scott swears that when he told Jim that Jim's story 
didn't :flt, Jim very obligingly adapt.ed it to snit his defense. 
He was scrupulous about things like that. He was quite con­
siderate. Certainly. He had his own neck to save. 

Jim undertook to show that Frank had an engagement with 
BOme woman at the pencil factory that Saturday morning. 
There is no pretense that another woman is mixed up in the 
ease. No one would argue that he planned to meet and 
88Bault this innocent little girl who was killed. Who but God 
would know whether she was coming for her pay that Friday 
afternoon or the next Saturday t Are we st.ark idiom t Can't 
we divine some things f 

They's got a girl named Fergoson, who says she went for 
H.ary Phagan 's pay on the Friday before she was killed, and 
that Frank wouldn't give it to her. It is the wildest theory 
on earth, and it 1lts nothing. It is a strained conspiracy. 
Frank, to show you I am correct, bad nothing whatever to do 
with paying off on Friday. Scbii? did it all. And little Mag­
nolia Kennedy, Helen F'erguson 's best friend, says she was 
with Helen when Helen went to draw her pay, and that Helen 
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never said a word about Mary's envelope. There's your con­
spiracy, with Jim Conley's story as its foundation. It's too 
thin. It's prepost.erous. 

Then my friend Hooper says Frank discharged Gantt be­
cause he saw Gantt talking to Mary Phagan. If you con­
vict men on such distorted evidence as this, why you'd be 
hanging men perpetually. Gantt, in the first place, doesn't 
come into this case in any good light. It is ridiculously ab­
surd to bring his discharge into this plot of the defense. 
Why, even Grace Hicks, who worked with Mary Phagan, and 
who is a sister-in-law of Boots Rogers, says that Frank did 
not know the little girl 

Hooper also says that bad things are going on in the pen­
cil factory, and that it is natural for men to cast about for 
girls in such environments. We are not trying thilt ease on 
whether you or I or Frank had been perfect in the past. This 
is a case of murder. Let him who is without sin cast the first 
stone. I say this much, and that is that there has been as 
little evidence of such conditions in this plant as any other 
of its kind you can :find in the city. They have produced 
some, of course, but it is an easy matter to locate some ten 
or twelve disgruntled ex-employees who are vengeful enough 
to swear against their former superintendent, even though 
they don't know him except by sight. 

I want to ask this much : Could Frank have remained at 
the head of this concern if he had been as loose morally as 
the state has striven to show f If he had carried on with the 
girls of the place as my friend alleged, wouldn't the entire 
working force have been demoralized, ruined t He may have 
looked into this dressing room, as the little Jackson girl says, 
but, if he did, it was done to see that the girls weren't loiter­
ing. There were no lavatories, no toilets, no baths in these 
dressing rooms. The girls only changed their top garments. 
He wouldn't have seen much if he had peered into the place. 
You can go to Piedmont park any day ·and see girls and 
women with a whole lot less on their persons. And to the 
shows any night you can see the actresses with almost nothiq 
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on. Everything brought against Frank was some aet he did 
openly and in broad daylight, and an act against which no 
kick was made. 

The trouble with Hooper is that he sees a bear in every 
bush. He sees a plot in this because Frank told Jim Conley 
to come back Saturday morning. The office that day was 
filled with persons throughout the day. How could he know 
when Mary Phagan was coming or how many persons would 
be in the place when she arrived f 

This crime is the hideous act of a negro who would ravish 
at.en-year-old girl the same as he would ravish a woman of 
years. It isn't a white man's crime. It's the crime of a 
beast-a low, savage beast! 

Now, back to the case. There is an explorer in the pencil 
factory by the name of Barrett-I call him Christopher Co­
lumbus Barrett purely for his penchant for finding things. 
.Mr. Barrett discovered the blood spots in the place where 
Chief Beavers, Chief Lanford and Mr. Black and Mr. Starnes 
had searched on the Sunday of the discovery. They found 
nothing of the sort. Barrett discovered the stains after he 
had proclaimed to the whole second floor that he was going 
to get the $4,000 reward if Mr. Frank was convicted. Now, 
you talk about plants! If this doesn't look mighty funny 
that a man expecting a reward would :find blood spots in a 
place that has been scoured by detectives, I don't know what 
does. Four chips of this flooring were chiseled from this 
ftooring where these spots were found. The floor was an inch 
deep in dirt and grease. Victims of accidents had paseed by 
the spot with bleeding fingers and hands. If a drop of blood 
had ever fallen there, a chemist could find it four years later. 
Their con~ntion is that all the big spots were undiluted blood. 
Yet, let's see how much blood Dr. Claude Smith found on the 
chips. Probably :6.ve corpuscles, that's all, and that's what 
he t.estified here at the trial. My recollection is that one sin­
gle drop of blood contains 8,000 corpuscles. And, he found 
these corpuscles on only one chip. I say that half of the 
blood had been on the floor two or three years. The stain on 
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all chips but one were not blood. Dorsey's own doct.ors have 
put him where he can ,t wriggle-his own evidence hampers 
him I They found blood spots on a certain spot and then bad 
Jim adapt his st.ory accordingly. They had him put the find­
ing of the body near the blood spots, and had him drop it 
right where the spots were found. 

It stands t.o reason that if a girl had been wounded on the 
lathing machine, there would have been blood in the vicinity 
of the machine. Yet, there was no blood in that place, and 
neither was there any where the body was said to have been 
found by Conley. The ease doesn't flt. It's :flimsy. And, 
this white machine oil that they've raised such a rumpus over. 
It was put on the floor as a cheap, common plant to mab it ap­
pear as though someone had put it there in an effort to hide the 
blood spots. The two spots of blood and the strands of hair 
are the only evidence that the prosecution has that the girl 
was killed on the second floor. 

Now, about these strands of hair. Barrett, the explorer, 
says he found four or :ftve strands on the lathing machine. I 
don't know whether he did or not. They've never been pro­
duced. I've never seen them. But, it's probable, for just 
beyond the lathing machine, right in the path of a draft that 
blows in from the window, is a gas jet used by the girls in 
curling and primping their.hair. It's very probable that 
strands of hair have been blown from this jet to the lathing 
machine. 

The detectives say that Frank is a erafty, cunning crimi­
nal, when deep down in their heart of hearts they know good 
and well that their case is built against him purely because 
he was honest enough to admit having seen her that day. 
Had he been a criminal, he never would have told. about see­
ing her and would have replaced her envelope in the desk, 
saying she had never called for her pay. 

I believe that a majority of women are good. The state 
jumped on poor Daisy Hopkins. I don't contend, now, mind 
you, that she is a paragon of virtue. But there are men who 
were put up by the state who are no better than she. For in-
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stance, this Dalton, who says openly that he went into ihe 
basement with Daisy. I don't believe he ever did, but, in 
such a ease, he slipped in. There are some fallen women who 
can tell the truth. They have characteristics like all other 
types. We put her on the stand to prove Dalton a liar, and 
she did it. Now, gentlemen, don't you think the prosecution 
is hard pressed when they put up such a character as Dalton f 
They say he has reformed. A man with thievery in his soul 
never reforms. Drunkards do, and men with bad habits, but 
thieves t No. Would you convict a man like Frank on the 
word of a perjurer like Dalton t 

Now, I'm coming back to Jim Conley. The whole case cen­
t.ers around him. Mr. Hooper argues well on that part. At 
the outset of the case, the suspicion pointed to Frank merely 
because he was the only man in the building. It never 
cropped out for weeks that anyone else was on the 1lrst 1loor. 
The det.ectives put their efforts on Frank because he admitted 
having seen the girl. They have let their zeal run away with 
them in this case, and it is tragic. They are proud whenever 
they get a prisoner who will t.ell something. The humbler the 
victim the worse is the case. Such evidence comes with the 
stamp of untruth on its face. 

Jim Conley was telling his story to save his neck, and the 
detectives were happy listeners. If there is one thing for 
which a negro is capable it is for telling a story in detail. It 
is the same with children. Both have vivid imaginations. 
And a negro is also the best mimic in the world. He can 
imitate anybody. Jim Conley, as he lay in his cell and read 
the papers and talked with the detectives, conjured up his 
wonderful story, and laid the crime on Frank, because the 
detectives had laid it there and were helping him do the 
same. 

Now, Brother Hooper waves the bloody shirt in our face. It 
was found, Monday or Tuesday, in Newt Lee's house, while 
Detectives Black and Scott were giving Cain to poor old man 
Newt Lee. I don't doubt for a minute that they knew it 
wu out thtn when they started out after it. I can't say 
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they planted it, but it does look suspicious. Don't ask ua 
about a planted shirt. Ask Scott and Black. 

The first thing that points to Conley's guilt is his original 
denial that he could write. Why did he deny it! Why! I 
don't suppose much was thought of it when Jim said he 
couldn't write, because there are plenty of negroes who are in 
the same :fix. But later, when they found he could, and 
found that his script compared perfectly with the murder 
notes, they went right on aoousing Frank. Not in criminal 
annals was there a better chance t.o lay at the door of another 
man a crime than Jim Conley had. 

You see, there is a reason t.o all things. The det.ective de­
partment had many reasons t.o push the case against Frank. 
He was a man of position and culture. They were afraid 
that someone, unless they pushed the case to the jumping off 
place, would accuse them of trying to shield him. They are 
afraid of public and sentiment, and do not want to combat it, 
so, in such cases, they invariably follow the line of least 
resistance. 

[Reading Conley's statement, Mr. Arnold pointed out the uee of 
words, which he declared no negro would naturally have used. These 
were long words with many syllables in them. They said that Conley 
used so much detail in .his statements ·that he could not have been 
lying! He then read parts of statemell'ts w5:iich Conley had repudi­
ated as willful lies and· poinied out the wealth of detail with w1lich 
they were filled. And yet t11ey say he couldn't fabricate so much 
detail I Oh, 'he is smart! He then read the statement of May 24, 
in whim Conley admitted writing the notes. In this he shows three 
different times at which Conley stated he wrote the notes, these 
being early in the morning, at 12 :04 and at 3 p. m.] 

The stat.ernents were not genuinely Conley's. Take the 
word "negro." The first word that a nigger learns to spell 
correctly is negro, and he always takes particular pains t.o 
spell it n-e-g-r-o. He knows how to spell it. Listen to the 
statement. He says that at :first he spelled the word "ne­
gros," but that Frank did not want the "s" on it and told 
him to rub it out, which he did. Then he says that he wrote 
the word over. 

Look at the notes. He was treed about those notes, and he 
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had to tell a lie and put upon someone the burden of instruct­
ing him to write them. The first statement about them was 
a blunt lie-a lie in its incipiency. He said he wrote the 
notes on Friday. This was untrue, and unreasonable and 
he saw it. Frank could not have known anything of an in­
tended murder on Friday from any viewpoint you might 
take, and therefore he could not have made Conley write 
them on Friday. ..Ah, gentlemen of the jury, I tell you these 
people had a great find when they got this admission from 
Conley! If Conley had stayed over there in the Tower with 
Uncle Wheeler Mangnm he would have told the truth long 
ago. There's where he should have stayed, with Wheeler 
Mangum. 

My good friend, Dorsey, is all right. I like him. But he 
should not have walked hand in glove with the detectives. 
There's where he went wrong: My good old friend, Charlie 
Hill would not have done that. He would have let the nigger 
stay in the jail with Uncle Wheeler. I like Dorsey. He sim­
ply made a mistake by joining in the hunt, in becoming a part 
of the chase. The solicitor should be little short of as fair as 
the judge himself. But he's young and lacks the experience. 
He will probably know better in the future. Dorsey did this: 
He went to the judge and got the nigger move4 from the jail 
to the police station. The judge simply said, "Whatever you 
say is all right." 

Now, I'm going to show you how John Black got the state­
ment of Conley changed. I am going to give you a demon­
stration. I have learned some things in this case about get­
ting evidence I 

They say that Frank cut Conley loose and he decided to 
tell the truth. Conley is a wretch with a long criminal rec­
ord. Gentlemen, how can they expect what he says to be 
believed against the statement of Leo M. Frank f They say 
Conley can't lie about detail. Here are four pages, all of 
which he himself admits are lies. They are about every 
saloon on Peters street, saloons to which he went, his shoot­
ing craps, his buying beer and all the ways in which he spent 
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a morning. There is detail enough, and he admits that they 
are lies. Now, in his third statement, that of May 28, he 
changes the time of writing the letters from Friday to Satur­
day. Here are two pages of what he said, all of which he 
afterwards said were lies. He says that he made the state­
ment that he wrote the notes on Friday in order to divert sus­
pi<lion from his being connect.ed with the murder which hap­
pened on Saturday. He also says that this is his final and 
true statement. God only knows how many statements be 
will make. He said he made the statement voluntarily and 
truthfully without promise of reward, and that he is telling 
the truth and the whole truth. He said in his statement that 
he never went to the building on Saturday. Yet we know 
that he was lurking in the building all the morning on the day 
of the murder. We know that he watched every girl that 
walked into that building so closely that he could tell you the 
spots on their dresses. We know that he was drunk, or had 
enough liquor in him to fire his blood. 

I know why he wouldn't admit being in that building on 
Saturday. He had guilt on his soul, and he didn't want it 
to be known that he was here on Saturday'.' That's why! 

When they pinned him down, what did he do f He says 
that he was watching for Frank. My God, wasn't he a watch­
man I He said that he heard Frank and Mary Phagan walk­
ing upstairs, and that he heard Mary Phagan scream, and that 
immediately after hearing the scream he let Monteen Stover 
into the building. 

Why, they even have him saying that he watched for 
Frank, when another concern was using the very floor space 
in which Frank's office was locat.ed, and you know they 
wouldn't submit to anything like that. Look again t He says 
that Mr. Frank said, "Jim, can you write f" What a lie I He 
admitted that he had been writing for Frank for two years. 
It's awful to have to argue about a thing like this, gentlemen! 
You will remember Hooper said, "How foolish of Conley to 
write these notes!" How much more foolish, I say, of Frank 
to do itr 
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I don't think that Newt killed the girl, but I believe be dis­
covered the body some time before be notified the poliee. 
Newt's a good nigge1. 

Scott said that it took Conley six minutes to write a part 
of one note. Conley said that he wrot.e the notes three times. 

They say that nigger couldn't lie. Gentlemen, if there is 
any one thing that nigger can do, it is to lie. .AJJ my good old 
friend, Charlie Hill, would say, "Put him in a bopper and 
he '11 drip lye ! " 

He was trying to prove an alibi for himself when he said 
that he was not in the factory on Saturday and told all the 
things that he did elsewhere on that day. But we know that 
the Wl"et.cb was lurking in the factory all of Saturday morn­
ing. Further, he swore that while he was in Frank's office he 
heard someone approaching, and Mr. Frank cried out, "Gee t 
Here come Corinthia Hall and Emma Clarke I'' and that 
Frank shut him up in a wardrobe until they left. According 
to Conley, they came into the factory between 12 and 1 
o'clock, when as a matter of fact, we know that they came be­
tween 11 and 12. And as for his being able to fabrieat.e the 
details of his statement-why, he knew every inch of that 
building from top to bottom! Hadn't he been sweeping and 
cleaning it for a long timef With this knowledge of the build­
ing, he naturally had no trouble in his pantomime after he 
had formed his story. The miserable wret.ch has Frank hid­
ing him in the wardrobe when Emma Clarke came in after the 
murder, when it has been proved that she came there and left 
before Mary Phagan ever entered the building on that day. 

They saw where they were wrong in that statement, and 
they made Conley change it on the stand. They made him 
say, "I thought it was them." They knew that that story 
wouldn't 1lt. 

Do you remember, how eagerly Conley took the p.apers from 
the girls at the factory f And do you remember how for four 
or 1lve days the papers were full of the fact that Frank's 
home was in Brooklyn, and that his relatives were reported 
to be wealthy f Conley didn't have to go far to get material 
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for that stat.ement he put in Frank's mouth. It so happened, 
though, that Frank really did not ha'.ve rich relatives in 
Brooklyn. His mother testifted that his father was in ill 
health, and had but moderate means and that his sister worked 
in New York for her living. 

Gentlemen, am I living or dreaming, that I have to argue 
sueh points as these f This is what you've got to do: You've 
got to swallow every word that Conley has said-feathers and 
all, or you've got to believe none of it. How are you going 
to piek out of such a pack of lies as these what you will believe 
and what you will not f Ye~ this is what the prosecution has 
based the case upon. If this fails, all fails. 

And do you remember about the watch, where Conley said 
that Frank asked him, "Why do you want to buy a watch for 
your wife f My big, fat wife wanted me to buy her an auto­
mobile, but I wouldn't do it!" Do you believe that, gentle­
men of the jury11 

I tell you that they have mistreated this poor woman ter­
noly. They have insinuated that she would not come to the 
tower to see Frank-had deserted him. When we know that 
she stayed away from the jail at Frank's own request because 
he did not want to submit her to the humiliation of seeing him 
locked up and to the vulgar gaze of the morbid and to the 
cameras of the newspaper men. The most awful thing in the 
whole case is the way this family has been mistreated I The 
way they invaded Frank's home and manipulated his ser­
vants. I deny that the people who did this are representative 
of the 175,000 people of Fulton county I We are a fair peo­
ple, and we are a chivalrous people. Such acts as these are 
not in our natures. 

Conley next changes the time of the writing of the notes to 
Saturday, but denies knowledge of the murder. That, of 
course, did not satisfy these gentlemen, and they went back 
to him. They knew he was dodging incrimination. So they 
had him to change the statement again. Scott and other de­
tectives spent six h01ll'B at the time with Conley on occasions, 
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and used profanity and worried him to get a confession. 
Hooper thinks that we have to break down Conley's testimony 
on the stand, but there is no such ruling. You can't tell when 
to believe him, he has lied so mueh. Scott says the detectives 
went over the testimony with Dorsey. There is where my 
friend got into it. They grilled Conley for six hours, trying 
to impress on him the fact that Frank would not have written 
the notes on Friday. They wanted another statement. He 
insisted that he had no other statement to make, but he did 
change the time of the writing of the notes from Friday to 
Saturday. This shows, gentlemen, as elearly as anything can 
show, how they got Conley's statements. In the statement of 
May 29, they had nothing from Jim Conley about his knowl­
edge of the killing of the little girl, and the negro merely said 
that Frank had told him something about the girl having 
received a fall and about his helping Frank to hide the body. 

·Oh, Conley, we are going to have you tell enough to have 
you convict Frank and yet keep yourself elear. That's a 
smart negro, that Conley. And you notice how the state 
bragged on him because he stood up under the cross-examina­
tion of Colonel Rosser. Well, that negro's been well versed in 
law. Scott and Black and Starnes drilled him ; they gave him 
the broad hints. 

We came here to go to trial, and knew nothing of the 
IHlgro's claim to seeing the cord around the little girl's neck, 
or of bis claim of seeing Lemmie Quinn go into the factory, 
or of a score of other things. Yet, Conley was then telling the 
truth, he said, and he had thrown Frank aside. Oh, he was no 
longer shielding Frank, and yet he didn't tell it all when he 
said he was telling the whole truth. Well, Conley had a reve­
lation, you know. My friend Dorsey visited with him seven 
times. And my friend, Jim Starnes, and my Irish friend, 
Patrick Campbell, they visited him, and on each visit Conley 
saw new light. Well, I guess they showed him things and 
other things. Does Jim tell a thing because it's the truth, 
gentlemen of the jury, or because it fits into something that 
another witness bas told t Scott says they told him things 

• 
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that fitted. And Conley changed things every time he had 
a visit from Dorsey and the detectives. .Are you going t.o 
hang a man on that f Gentlemen, it's foolish for me t.o have 
to argue such a thing. 

The man that wrote those murder notes is the man who 
killed that girl. Prove that man was there and that he wrote 
the notes and you know who killed the girl. Well, Conley 
acknowledges he wrote the notes and witnesses have proved 
he was there and he admits that, too. That negro was in the 
building near the elevator shaft; it took but two steps for 
him to grab that little .girl's mesh bag. She probably held on 
t.o it and struggled with him. A moment later he had struck 
her in the eye and she had fallen. It is the work of a moment 
for Conley to throw her down the elevator shaft. 

Ian 't it more proba!>le that the story I have outlined is true 
than the one that Conley tells on Frank f Suppose Conley 
were now under indictment and Frank out, how long would 
such a story against Frank stand the pressure f 

In the statement of May 29 there are any number of things 
that are not told of which later were told on the stand. In the 
May 29 statement Conley never told of seeing Mary Phagan 
enter ; he never told of seeing Monteen Stover enter, nor of 
seeing Lemmie Quinn enter; now he tells of having seen all of 
them enter. Don't you see how they just made it to flt wit­
nesses and what the witnesses would swearf It was, "Here, 
Conley, swear that Quinn came up, swear that the dead girl 
came up, and swear that Miss Stover came up ; they all did, 
and it's true, swear to it I" And Conley would say, cc All right, 
boss, Ah reckon they did." And it was "Conley, how did you 
fail to hear that girl go into the metal room f We know she went 
there, because by our blood and hair we have proved she was 
killed there," and the poor negro thought a minute, and then 
he said, "Yes, !boss, I heard her go in." The state's repre­
sentatives had put it into the negro's head to swear he heard 
Frank go in with her, and that he heard Frank come tiptoe­
ing out later, and that by that method they made Conley 
swear that Frank was a moral pervert. Now, I don't know 
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that they told Conley to swear to this and to swear to that, 
but they made the suggestions, and Conley knew whom he 
had to please. He knew that when he pleased the detectives 
that the rope knot around his neck grew looser. In the same 
way they made Conley swear about Dalton, and in the same 
way about Daisy Hopkins. They didn't ask him about the 
mesh bag. They forgot that until Conley got on the stand. 
That mesh ~ag and that pay envelope furnish the true motive 
for this crime, too, and if the girl was ravished, Conley did it 
after he had robbed her and thrown her body into the base­
ment. Well, they got Conley on the stand, and my friend 
Dorsey here asked Conley about the mesh bag, and he said, 
yes, Frank had put it in his safe. That was the crowning lie 
of all! 

Well, they've gone on this way, adding one thing and an­
othei: thing. They wouldn't let Conley out of jail; they had 
their own reasons for that, and yet I never heard that old 
man over there (pointing to the sheriff) called dishonest. He 
rans his jail in a way to protect the innocent and not to con­
vict them in this jail. 

Gentlemen, right here a little girl was murdered, and it's 
a t.errible crime. The Phagan tragedy, the crime that stirred 
Atlanta as none other ever did. 

We have already got in court the man who wrot.e those 
not.es, and the man who by his own confession was there; the 
man who robbed her, and, gentlemen, why go further in seek­
ing the murderer than the black brut.e who sat there by the 
elevator shaft f The man who sat by that elevator shaft is the 
man who committed the crime. He was full of passion and 
lust; be had drunk of mean whiskey, and he want.ed money 
at first to buy more whiskey. 

[Mr. Ansold asked the sheritr to unwrap a chart which had pre­
viously been brought into court. It proved to be a chronological 
ehart of Frank's alleged movements on Saturday, April 26, the day 
of the erime, and Mr. Arnold announced to the jury t'liat he would 
prove by the chart that it was a physical impossibility for Frank 
to have committed the crime.] 
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Every word on that chart is taken from the evidence, and 
it will show you that Frank did not have time to commit the 
crime charged to him. The state has wriggled a lot in this 
affair; they put up little George Epps, and he swore that he 
and Mary Phagan got to town about seven after twelve, and 
then they used other witnesses, and my friend Dorsey tried 
to boot the Epps boy's evidence aside as though it were 
nothing. The two street car men, Hollis and Mathews, say 
that Mary Phagan got to Forsyth and Marietta at five or six 
minutes after twelve, and they stuck to it, despite every 
attempt to bulldov.e them, and then Mathews, who rode on 
the car to Whitehall and Mitchell, says that Mary Phagan 
rode around with him. to Broad and Hunter streets before she 
got off. 

Well, the state put up McCoy, the man who never got his 
watch out of soak until about the time he was called as a wit­
ness, and they had him swear that he looked at his watch at 
Walton and Forsyth (and he never had any watch), and it 
was 12 o'clock exactly, and then he walked down the street and 
saw Mary Phagan on her way to the factory. Now, I don't 
believe McCoy ever saw Mary Phagan. Epps. may have seen 
her, but the State apparently calls him a liar, when they intro­
duce other testimony to show a change of time to what he 
swore to. It's certain those two street car men who knew the 
girl, saw her, lbut the state comes in with the watchlese McCoy 
and Kendley, the Jew-hater, and try to advance new theories 
about the time and different ones from what their own wit­
ness had sworn to. Well, we have enough to prove the time, 
all right; we have the street car schedule, the statement of 
Hollis and Mathews and of ~orge Epps, the state's own 
witness. 

The next thing is, how long did it take Conley to go through 
with what he claims happened from the time he went into 
Frank's office and was told to get the body until he left the 
factory. According to Conley's own statement, he started at 
four minutes to 1 o'clock and got through at 1 :30 o'clock, 
making 34 minutes in all. 
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Harlee Branch says that he was there when the detectives 
made Conley go through with what he claimed took place, and 
that he started then at 12 :17, and by Mr. Braneh 's :figures, it 
took Conley 50 minutes to complete the motions. Well, the 
state has attacked nearly everybody we have brought into this 
case, but they didn't attack Dr. William Owen, and he showed 
by his experiments that Conley could not have gone through 
those motions in 34 minutes. 

Jim Conley declared that he started at 4: minutes to 1 
o'clock to get the body, and that he and Frank left at 1 :30. 
If we ever pinned the negro down to anything, we did to that, 
and we have shown that he could not have done all that in 
34 minutes. 

Away with your filth and your dirty, shameful evidence of 
perversion ; your low street gossip, and come back to the 
time-the time-element in the case. 

Now, I don't believe the little Stover girl ever went into 
the inner office. She was a sweet, innocent, timid little girl, 
and she just peeped into the offi<le from the outer one, and if 
Frank was in there, the safe door hid him from her view, or 
if be was not there, he might have stepped out for just a 
moment. 

Oh, my friend, Dorsey, he stops clocks and he changes 
schedules, and he even changes a man 'fl whole physical 
make-up, and he's almost changed the course of time in an 
e1fort to get Frank convicted. 

Oh, I hate to think of litfle Mary Phagan in this. I hat.e 
to think that such a sweet, pure, good little girl as she was, 
with never a breath of anything wrong whispered against her, 
should have her memory polluted with such rotten evidence 
against an innocent man. Well, Mary Phagan entered the 
factory at approximately 12 minutes after 12, and did you 
ever stop to think that it was Frank who told them that the 
girl entered the office when she entered it t If he had killed 
her he would have just slipped her pay envelope back in the 
safe and declared that he never saw her that day at all, and 
then no one could have ever explained how she -got into that 
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basement. But Frank couldn't know that there was hatred 
enough left in this country against his race to bring such a 
hideous charge against him. Well, the little girl entered, and 
she got her pay and asked about the metal and then she left, 
but, there was a black spider waiting down there near the 
elevator shaft, a great passionate, lustful animal, full of mean 
whiskey and wanting money with which to buy more whiskey. 
He was as full of vile lust as he was of the passion for more 
whisby, and the negro (and there are a thousand of them in 
Atlanta who would assault a white woman if they had the 
ehance and knew they wouldn't get caught) robbed her and 
struck her and threw her body down the shaft, and later he 
carried it back, and maybe, if she was alive, when he came 
back, he committed a worse crime, and then he put the cord 
around her neck and left the body there. 

Do you suppose Frank would have gone out at 1 :20 o'clock 
and left that body in the basement and those two men, White 
and Denham, at work upstairs t Do you suppose an intelligent 
man like Frank would have risked running that elevator, like 
Conley says he did, with the rest of the machinery of the fae~ 
tory shut off and nothing to prevent those men up there hear­
ing himt 

Well, Frank says he left the faetory at 1 o'clock, and Con­
ley says he left there at 1 :30. Now, there's a little girl, who 
tried the week before to get a job as stenographer in Frank's 
oftlce, who was standing at Whitehall and Alabama streets, 
and saw Frank at t.en minutes after 1. Did she lief Well, 
Dorsey didn't try to show it, and according to Dorsey, eVf!rY· 
body lied except Conley and Dalton and Albert McKnight. 
This little girl says she knows it was Frank, because Professor 
Briscoe had introduced her to him the week before, and she 
knows the time of day because she had looked at a clock, as she 
had an engagement to meet another little girl. That stamps 
your Conley story a lie lblacker than hell! Then, Mrs. Len., 
she's a Jew, but she's telling the truth; she was looking for 
her son to come home, and she saw Frank get off the car at 
his home corner, and she looked at her clock and saw it was 
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1 :20. Then, Mrs. Selig and Mr. Selig swore on the stand that 
they knew he came in at 1 :20. 

Oh, of course, Dorsey says they are Frank's parents and 
wretched liars when they say they saw him cOine in at 1 :20. 
There's no one in this case that cant.ell the truth but Conley, 
Dalton and Albert McKnight. They are the lowest dregs and 
jail-birds, and all that, but they are the only ones who know 
how to t.ell the truth l Well, now Albert says he was there at 
the Selig home when Frank came in ; of course he is lying, 
for his wife and the Seligs prove that, 1but he's the state's 
witness and he says Frank got there at 1 :30, and thus he 
brands Conley's story about Frank's leaving the factory at 
1 :30 a lie. Well, along the same lines, Albert says Frank 
didn't eat and that he was nervous, and Albert says he 
learned all this by looking into a mirror in the dining room, 
and seeing Frank's reflection. Then Albert caps the climax 
to his seri-es of lies 'by having Frank board the car for town 
at Pnlliam street and Glenn. 

Now as to the affidavit signed by Minola McKnight, the cook 
for Mr. and Mrs. Emil Selig. How would you feel, gentlemen of 
the jury, if your cook, who had done no wrong and for whom 
no warrant had been issued, and from whom the solicitor had 
already got a statement, was to be locked up T Well, they got 
that wretched husband of Minola 's by means of Craven and 
Pickett, two men seeking a reward, and then they got Minola, 
and they said to her, 11 Oh, Minola, why don't you tell the 
trnth like Albert's t.elling it T '' 

They had no warrant when they locked this woman up. 
Starnes was guilty of a crime when he locked that woman 
up without a warrant, and Dorsey was, too, if he had 
anything to do with it. Now, George Gordon, Minola's law­
yer, says that he asked Dorsey about getting the woman out, 
and Dorsey replied, 11 I'm afraid to give my consent to turn­
ing her loose ; I might get in bad with the detective depart­
ment." That's the way you men got evidence, was itT 

Miss Rebeooa Carson, a forewoman of the National Pencil 
factory, swore Frank had a good charact.er. The stat.e bad 
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introduced witnesses who swore that the woman and Frank 
had gone into the woman's dressing room when no one was 
around. I brand it a eulmination of all lies when this woman 
was attacked. Frank had declared her to be a perfect lady 
with no shadow of suspicion. against her. 

Well, Frank went on back to the factory that afternoon 
when he had eat.en his lunch, and he started in and made out 
the 1lnancial sheet. I don't reckon he could have done that if 
he had just oommitted a murder, particularly when the state 
says he was so nervous the next morning that he shook and 
trembled. 

Then, the stat.e says Frank wouldn't look at the oorpse. But 
who said he didn't f Nobody. Why, Gheesling and Black 
didn't swear to that.. 

Now, gentlemen, I've al>out finished this chapter, and I 
know it's been long and hard on you and I know it's been 
hard on me, too; I'm almost broken down, but it means a lot 
to that man over there. It means a lot to him, and don't for­
get that. This case has been made up of just two things-­
prejudice and perjury. I've never seen such malice, such per­
sonal hatred in all my life, and I don't think anyone ever has. 
The crime itself is dreadful, too horrible to talk about, and 
God grant that the murderer may be found out, and I think 
he has. I think we can point to Jim Conley and say there is 
the man. 

But, above all, gentlemen, let's follow the law in this mat­
ter. In circumstantial cases you can't convict a man as long 
as there's any other possible theory for the crime of which 
he .is accused, and you can't :find Frank guilty if there's a 
chance that Conley is the murderer. The state has nothing 
on which to base their case but Conley, and we've shown Con­
ley a liar. Write your verdict of not guilty and your con­
sciences will give your approval. 

KB. ROSSER, FOB THE PRISONER. Augulf 22• 

Mr. Ro88er: Gentlemen of the jury. All things come to 
an end. With the end of this case has almost come the end 
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of the speakers, and but for the masterly effort of my brother, 
Arnold, I almost wish it had ended with no speaking. My 
eondition is such that I can say ·but little; my voice is husky 
and my throat almost gone. But for my interest in this case 
and my profound conviction of the innocence of this man, I 
would not undertake to speak at all. 

I want to repeat what my friend, Arnold, said so simply. 
He said this jury is no mob. The attitude of the juror's mind 
is not that of the mind of the man who carelessly walks the 
streets. My friend, Hooper, must have brought that doctrine 
with.him when he came to Atlanta. We walk the street care­
lessly and we meet our friends and do not reeognir.e them; we 
are too mucli absorbed m our own interest& Our minds wan­
der in filghts of fancy or in :ftts of reverence ; we may mean 
no harm to o111'8elves, nor to our friends, but we are careless. 
No oath binds us when we walk the streets. 

Men, you are di1ferent; you are set aside; you ceased when 
you took your juror's oath to be one of the rollicking men 
of the streets; you were purged by your oath. In old pagan 
Rome the women laughed and chattered on the streets as they 
went to and fro, but there were a few-the Vestal Virgins-­
they cared not for the gladiatorial games, nor the strife of 
the day. So it is with you men, set apart; you care not for 
the chatter and laughter of the rabble; you are unprejudiced 
and it is your duty to pass on a man's life with no passion and 
no cruelty, but as men purged by an oath from the carelem 
people of the streets. You are to decide from the evidence, 
with no fear of a hostile mob and no thought of favor to any­
one. 

What suggestion comes into a man 'a mind when he thinks 
of a crime like this f And what crime could be more horrible 
than this one f What punishment too great for the brute in 
human forni who committed it and who excited this commu­
nity to a high pitch f 

Since 1908 the National Pencil factory has employed hun­
dreds of girls and women, and also of men, and not all of the 
girls and women, not all of the men have been perfect, but 
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yon can find good men and w0t00n in all strata of life, and 
yet the detectives, working with mieroecopes and with the aid 
of my friend, Dorsey, excired almost beyond peradventure, 
found only two to swear against Frank. They found Dalton 
and they found Conley. Well, I'll take up Conley at a more 
fitting time, but Dalton, who is Dalton t God Almighty writ.es 
on a man's face and he don't always 'Write a pretty hand, but 
he writes a legiole one. When you aee Dalton you put your 
hand on your pocketbook. 

When Dalton took the stand ?rlr. Arnold and I had never 
had the pleasure of see~g his sweet countenance before, but 
Mr. Arnold leaned orer and whispered in my ear, "There's 
a thief if there ever was one." I smelt about him the odor of 
the chaingang, and I began to fool him ont. I asked him if 
he had ever been away from home for any length of time, and 
he knew at once what I meant and he began to dodge and to 
wriggle, and before he left the stand I was sure he was a thief. 

Dalton was on, three ~es in Walton county and then in 
another county where he probably went to escape further 
trouble in Walton, he got into trouble again. It wasn't just 
the going wrong of a young man who falls once and tries to 
get over it, but it was the steady thievery of a man at heart a 
thief. Of course, Dalton comes here to Atlanta and reforms. 
Yes, he joined a Godly congregation and persuaded them that 
he had quit his evil ways. That's an old trick of thieves and 
they use it to help their trade along. 

I believe in the divine power of reg.meration; I believe that 
you can reform, that there's always time to turn back and do 
right, but there's one kind of man whom I don't 1believe can 
ever reform. Once a thief, always a thief. 

Our Master knew it. He recognized the qualities of a thief. 
You remember when they crucified Him and He bung on the 
cross there on the hill. Well, He had a thief hanging beside 
Him, and He said to that thief, ''This day thou abalt be with 
Me in Paradise." He didn't dare say tomorrow. He knew 
He'd better say today, because by tomorrow that thief would 
be stealing again in Jerusalem. Dalton disgraced the name 
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of his race, and he was a thief and worse, if there can be, and 
yet he joined the church. He joined the chureh and he's now 
a decent, believable man. Well, you remember how brazenly 
he sat here on the stand .and bragged of his "peach," how in­
decently he bragged of hie fall; how he gloat.eel over his vice. 
He was asked if he ever went to that miserable, dirty faetory 
basement with a woman for immoral purposes, and he was 
proud to say that he had. 

Gentlemen, it was the first time Dalton had ever been in the 
limelight; it was the first time decent, respectable white men 
and women had ever listened to him with respect, let alone 
attention. 

When he was asked about that, if he was guilty, if he had 
fallen, he might have declined to answer, he might have hung 
his head in shame, as any decent, respectable man would have 
done, but instead, he bragged and boasted of it. 

When Conley was asked what sort of a woman Frank had, 
he •bruenly and braggingly said he did not know, that he him­
self had soch a peach there that he could not take hie eyee 
off her to look at Frank's woman. Well, you have seen Dal­
ton's peach; you all have seen Daisy. 

Conley t.ells a ditferent story. He says Frank took the 
peach (that lemon) for himsell and that Dalton had to get 
him another woman. 

I'm not saying that we are all free of passion, that we are 
all moral and perfect, but at least the decent man don't brag 
of having a peach. Well, if you believe Dalton's story, and 
let's presume it true now. If you believe it he went into that 
scuttle hole there at the faetory with Daisy. Dalton took that 
woman into the faetory, into a dirty, nasty, fetid hole where 
the slime oozed and where no decent dog or cat would go, and 
there he satis1led his passion. That's what he told us. Well, 
Dalton told us he went there about 2 o'clock one Saturday 
afternoon last year, and of course, at that time the Clarke 
Wooden Ware company occupied the lower :ftoor and used the 
same entrance that the National Pencil Company did, and 
Frank 'WBB at lunch and knew nothing of Dalton 'a visit. Of 
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course, Dalton left an oozy trail behind him; wherever he 
went he did that. You can still feel it in this court room. Of 
course, too, Dalton may have gone into the pencil factory that 
day and left his oozy, slimy trail there, but otherwise there's 
nothing against the factory, and you know there's not, for 
our great quartet-Starnes and Campbell and Black (oh, how 
I love Black; I always want to put my arms around him when­
ever I think of him), and Scott, for he was with that crowd; 
they tried their very best to find something that would show 
that factory up as a -rile hole. 

Well, there's another reason that proves conclusively that 
it was not the assignation place Dalton and Conley name it. 
It has always been wrong for men and women to commit for­
nication and adultery, but it's always been done and the 
world, as long as it was done decently and quietly and not 
bragged about and ~luoned forth in public places, has rather 
allowed it to go unchecked, but it's not so no'!'. 

You know, I know the working people of this state and this 
city. I've always worked with my head and it's newr been 
my good fortune to be one of the working people, but there 
are no silken ladies in my ancestry, nor are there any dudish 
men. I know the working men and the working women, be­
cause that blood runs in my veins, and if any man in Atlanta 
knows them I do, and I t.ell you that there are no 100 work­
ing girls and women in Atlanta who could be got together by 
raking with a fine-tooth comb who'd stay there at that fac­
tory with conditions as bad as they have been painted, and 
there are no 100 working men here so thin blooded as to allow 
such conditions there. 

Frank's stat.ement to the jury, it was Frank's handiwork 
only, and neither he nor Mr. Arnold knew what Frank was 
going to say when he got on the stand. Look at the stat.ement 
this man made to you, and it was his stat.ement, not mine. I 
can prove that by the simple reason that I haven't got brains 
enough to have made it up, and Mr. Arnold (though he's got 
far more brains than I), .be could not have made it. Mr. Ar­
nold might have given it the same weight and thickness, but 
not the living ring of truth. 
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Now, another thmg. We didn't have to put Frank's~ 
act.er ,.. If we hadn't the judge would have told you Frank 
must be presumed t.o have a good character, and that you did 
not have the right to ask that question about him, but we 
thought you were, and we put it up and see what a character 
the man has. There 'a not a man in the sound of my voice who 
eould prove a better character. Of course, I mean from the 
erecb"ble evidence, not that stutf of Conley's and Dalton 'a. 
But you say, some people, some former employee swore he had 
a bad eharact.er. You know that when you want t.o, you ean 
always get someone to swear against anybody's character. 
Put me in his place and let my friend, Arnold, te foolish 
enough to put my eharacter up and there'd be plenty of thosa 
I have maybe hurt or offended as I have gone through life, 
would swear it was wrong, and I believe I've got an ordinarily 
good character. Why, you eould bring twenty men here in 
Fult.on county to lm!ar that Judge Roan, there on the bench. 
has a ·bad eharact.er. You know that he's had to judge men 
and aometimes to be what they thought was severe on them, 
and he's naturally made men hate him and they'd gladly 
eome and swear his character away. But if the men and 
women who live near him, the good and decent men and 
women, who lived near him and knew, came up and said his 
character was good, you'd believe them, wouldn't you t 

Well, pntlemen, the older I ~t the gentler I get and I 
wouldn't think CTI' say anything wrong about those mislead­
ing little girls who swore Frank was a bad man. I guess they 
thought they were telling the truth. Well, did Miss Maggie 
Gri11ln really think Frank was a vicious man and yet work 
there three years with him t Don't you think she heard 
thinp against him after the crime was committed and that 
when she got up here and looked through the heated atmos­
phere of this trial, she did not see the real truth t And Mm 
Jr(aegie Gri8ln, she was there two months. I wonder what she 
eould know about Frank in that time. There was Mrs. Don­
egan and Miss Johnson and another girl there about two 
months, and Nellie Potts, who never worked there at all, and 
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M'.ary Wallace, there three days, and Estelle Wallace, there 
a week and Carrie Smith, who like MilB Cato, worked there 
three years. These are the only ones >in the hundreds who 
have worked there since 1908 who will say that Frank bas a 
bad character. Why, you could find more people to say that 
the Bishop of .Atlanta, I believe, bad a bad character, than 
have been fbrought against Frank. 

You noticed they were not able to get any men to come 
from the factory and swear against Frank. Men are harder 

• to wheedle than are little girls. Does anybody doubt th~t if 
that factory had been the bed of vice that they call it, that 
the long-lefMed Gantt would have know of it t They had 
Gantt on the stand twice, and, well, you know Gantt was dis­
charged from the factory, of course you ~eren 't told why in 
plain words, ~ut you all know why. Well, Frank is not liked 
by Gantt and Gantt would have lowd to tell something against 
his former employer, but be eouldn 't. 

If they have any further BOSpieions against this :man. the7 
haven't given them, either because they are afraid or are un­
able to prove their BUSPicions, if they have such 1U1Pieions, 
though, and are doing you a worse injustice. 

What are these BUSPicions that they have advaneed thus 
fart First, Miss Robinson is said to have said that she saw 
Frank teaching Mary Phagan how to work. Dorsey reached 
for it on the instant, scenting something improper as is quit.e 
charaet.eristic of him. But :Miss Robinson denies it. There's 
nothing in it, absolutely nothing. Then they say he called 
her .Mary. Well, what about itt What if he did t We all 
have ·bad memories. If you met me on the street six months 
ago, can you recall right now whether you called me Luther 
or Roeser t The next is Willie Turne~oor little Willie I 
I have nohing against Willie. He seems to be a right clever 
sort of a boy. But just think of the methods the detectives 
used against him-think of the way they handled him, and 
think of the way Dorsey treated him on the witness stand. 
He saY11-Willie does-that he saw Frank talking to Mary 
Phagan in the metal room. What does it show if he did see 
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such a scene T I can't see for the life of me where it indicates 
any sign of lascivious lust. Does what Willie Turner saw, 
taking for granted he saw it, show that Frank was planning 
to ruin little Mary Phagan t Does it uphold this plot my 
friend Hooper had so much to say about T Even with that­
considering Willie Turner did see sneh a thing, there's one 
fact that takes the sting out of it. He saw it in broad day­
light. Frank was with the little ·girl right in front of Lem­
mie Quinn's ofllce in an open factory where there were a lot 
of people and where the girls were quitting their work and 
getting ready to go home to dinner. It wasn't so, though, and 
Frank never made any improper advances to this little girl. 
Let me tell you why. Mary Phagan was a good girl, as pure 
as God makes them and as innocent. She was all that, and 
more. But, she would have known a lascivious advance or 
an ogling eye the minute she saw it, and the minute this man 
made any sort of a move to her, she would have fled instantly 
to home to tell this good father and mother of hers. 

Then next, they bring Dewey Hewell, who says she saw 
Frank with his hand on Mary's shoulder. That's all right, 
but there is Grace Hix and Helen Ferguson and Magnolia 
Kennedy who contradict her and say Frank: never knew Mary 
Phagan. You can say all you please about such as that, but 
there is one fact that stands out indisputable. If that little 
girl had ever received mistreatment at the pencil factory, no 
deer would have :bounded more quickly from the l>rosh at the 
bay of dogs than she would have :fled home to tell her father 
and mother. 

Now, my friend from the Viregrass says Gantt was a vic­
tim of his "plot" by Frank against Mary Phagan. I don't 
doubt that this "plot" has been framed in the hearing of 
every detective in the sound of my voice. Hooper says Frank 
plotted to get the girl there on the Saturday she was killed­
says he plotted with Jim Conley. Jim says Frank told him at 
four o'clock Friday afternoon to return on the next morning. 
How coald Frank have known she was coming 'be.ck Saturday. 
He couldn't have known. He's no seer, no mind-reader, al-
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though he's a mighty bright man. It is true that some of 
the pay envelopes were left over on Friday, but he didn't 
know whose they were. Helen Ferguson says that on Friday 
she asked for Mary Phagan 's pay and that Frank refused 
to give it to her, saying Mary would eome next day and get it 
herself. Magnolia Kennedy swears to the contrary. You 
have one or the other to believe. Consider, though, that this 
be true I How would Frank know who would be in the fac­
tory when Mary Phagan came I How did he know she was 
coming Saturday I Some envelopes went over to Monday and 
Tuesday. How would he know whether she would come on 
Saturday or either of these latter days! 

Now, what else have they put up against this man I They 
say he was nervous. We admit he was. Black says it, Dar­
ley says it, Sig. Montag says it-others say it! The handom.e 
Mr. Darley was nervous and our friend Schiff was nervous. 
Why not hang them if you 're hanging men for nervousness I 
Isaae Haas-old man Isaae-openly admits he was nervous. 
The girls-why don't you hang them, these sweet little girls 
in the factory-all of whom were so nervous they couldn't 
work on the following day I 

If you had seen this little child, crushed, mangled, muti- · 
lated, with the sawdust crumbled in her eyes and her tongue 
protruding; staring up from that stinking, smelling base­
ment, you'd have been nervous, too, every mother's son of 
you. Gentlemen, I don't profess to be chicken-hearted. I 
can see grown men hurt and suffering and I can stand a lot 
of things without .growing hysterical, but I never walked 
along the street and heard the pitiful cry of a girl or woman 
without becoming nervous. God grant I will always be so. 
Frank looked at the mangled form and crushed virginity of 
Mary Phagan and his nerves fluttered. Hang him I Hang 
him.I 

Another susp~ous circumstance. He didn't wake up 
when they telephoned him that morning the body was found. 
That might depend on what he ate that night; it might de­
pend on a lot of other things. Some of us wake with the 
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birds, while others slumber even through the tempting call 
of the breakfast bell Would you hang us for that! 

Then, they say he hired a lawyer, and they call it suspi­
cious-mighty suspicious. They wouldn't have kicked if he 
had hired Rube Arnold, ·because Rube has a good character. 
But they hired me and they kicked and yelled "suspicious" 
ao loudly you could hear it all the way from here to Jesup 's 
cut. I don't know that I had ever met Frank before that 
morning, 'but I had represented the pencil factory previously. 
And as to their employing me, it's this way: 

There's no telling what was floating around in John Black's 
head that morning. They sent men after Frank and there 
was no telling what was likely to happen to him. They were 
forced t.o do something in his own defense. And, as a result, 
the state's worst suspicion is the fact that they employed me 
and Herbert Haas. Now, gentlemen, let's see what there is 
in it; I have told you that twice on that Sunday he had been 
to police headquarters without counsel, without friends. The 
next day they adopted new methods of getting him there 
and sent two det.ectives for him. Black had said he had been 
watching Frank, and woe to him who is haunted by the 
eagle eye of dear old John. They took him to police station 
Monday-took him I say. The police idea was to show their 
fangs. He was under arrest, that's an undisputed fact. Thety 
had him at police station, Lanford, in bis wonted dignity, sit­
ting around doing nothing, letting Frank soak. Beavers, the 
handsome one, was doing the same. Frank didn't call for 
friends or lawyer. He didn't call for anything. If he had 
known what he was up against, though, in this police depart­
ment of ours, he'd probaa>ly have called for two lawyers-or 
even more. But old man Sig Montag, who has been here a 
long time, knew this old police crowd and he knew their 
tactics. He was well on to their curves. He knew what danger 
there was to Frank. He called up Haas. Haas didn't want to 
come to police station-he ha<i a good Nason. Sig went to 
police station and was Tefosed permission to see Frank. Now, 
I want you to get that in your mind. A citizen-not under 
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arrest, as they say-held without the privilege of seeing 
friends, relatives or coUDSel. It was a deplorable state of 
atlairs. What happened f 

Haas went t.o the phone and ea.1led an older and more ex­
perienoed head t.o battle with this poliee iniquity; Why 
shouldn't he f Doney sees in this harmless message a chance. 
He snaps at it like a snake. Dorsey is a good man-in his 
way. He'll 'be a better man, though, when be get.a older and 
loses some of his present spirit and venom. There are things 
he has done in this trial that will never be done again. .Gen­
tlemen, I 8llJ1ll'e you of that. 

Did Frank do anything else BOBpicious f Year Two others, 
according t.o Hooper from the Wiregrasa. One of which was 
the employment of a det.ective agency t.o ferret out this hor­
rible murder that bad lbeen committed in his factory building. 
Wbyf Under what cimunatanceaf I'll tell you. Frank had 
been to the police station and bad given his statement. Haas 
was the man who t.elephoned me and who employed me-not 
Frank. I ~nt to police headquart.ers and was very mueb un­
welcomed. There was a frigid atmosphere as I walked in. I 
saw Frank for the first time in my life. I said: "What's the 
matter, boysf" Somebody answered that Mr. Frank was 
under arrest. Black was there, Lanford was there. Neither 
took the pains to deny that he was under arrest. Somebody 
said they wanted Mr. Frank t.o make a stat.ement, and I ad­
vised him to go ahead and make it. When he went into the 
oftlce, I followed. They said: "We don't want you." I re­
plied that whether they wanted me or not, I was coming, any­
how. I had a good reason, too, for coming. I wanted to 
hear what he said so they eouldn 't distort his words. While 
we were in the room a peculiar thing happened. Frank ex­
posed his person. There were no marks. I said that it was 
prepost.erous to thing that a man could commit such a crime 
and not bear some marks. Lanford 's face fell. Why didn't 
Lanford get on the stand and deny it f Was it because he 
didn't want to get into a loving conflict with me f Or did he 
want to keep from reopening the dark and nasty history of 
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the Conley story and the Minola McKnight story that at"e 
hidden in the still darbr recesses of poliee headquart.ers f 

Frank makes his stat.ement and is released. Re goes back 
to the pencil factory, 8SB1lDling that BUSpieion bas been di­
verted from him. Re thinks of the hom1>le murder that bas 
been committed in his plant. Re t.elephonee Sig Montag 
a'bout hiring a detective agency to solve the crime. Sig ad­
vises him to do it. I don't believe there is any det.ective liv­
ing who ean consort with eroob and criminals and felons, 
scheme with them, mingle with them and spy on the homes 
of good people and bad who can then exalt his ebaracter as 
a result. Re absorbs some of the atmosphere and the 
traits. It is logical that be should. But, even at that they've 
got some good men in the detective and police department. 
Old man Sig Montag said hire a detective and Frank hired 
the Pinkertons. Scott came and took Frank's stat.ement and 
said: "We work in co-operation with the city police depart­
ment." Now, isn't that a horrible situation-going hand in 
glove with the police department! But, it's a fact. Just as 
soon as Scott left Frank, he walked down, arm in arm with 
John Black, to the nasty, smelly basement of the pencil fac­
tory. What did that mean f It meant a eomplet.e line-up 
with the police. It meant if the police turn you loose, I turn 
you loose. If the police bang you, I hang you! 

Gentlemen, take a look at this spectacle, if you can. Here 
is a Jewish boy from the north. Re is unacquainted with the 
south. Re came here alone and without friends and he stood 
alone. This murder happened in his place of business. He 
told the Pinkertons to find the man, trusting to them entirely, 
no matter where or what they found might strike. Re is de­
fenseless and helpless. Re knows his innocence and is will­
ing to find the murderer. They try to place the murder on 
him. God, all merciful and all powerful, look upon a scene 
like this! 

Anything else f Yes. Look at this. I do not believe my 
friend who preceded me intended to do this. I refer to the 
incident about the time slip. I have to use harsh words here, 



296 X. AMERIO.AN STATE TRIALS. 

but I don't want to. This seems to me the most unkindest 
cut of all. They say that that time slip was planted. They 
say the shirt was planted. Gentlemen, is there any evidence 
of this f Let's see about this statement. Black and somebody 
else, I believe, went out to Newt's house on Tuesday morning 
and found the shirt in the bottom of a lbarret They brought 
the shirt back to the police station and Newt said the shirt 
was his-or it loolred like his shirt. Newt Lee had been 
hired at the factory but three weeks, yet they want you to 
believe that they found a shirt liJm the old man had and went 
out to his house and put it in a barrel. 

One thing is wrong. The newspapers and others, I am 
afraid, think this is a contest between lawyers. It is not 
God forbid that I should let any such thing enter into this 
case when this ·boy's life is at stake. 

There are several things I don't understand about this 
ease, and never will. Why old man Lee didn't ftnd the body 
sooner; why he found it lying on i1s face; how he saw it from 
a place he could not have seen it from. I was raised with 
niggers and know something about them. I do not know them 
as well as the police, perhaps, for they know them like no one 
else. But I know something about them. 

There must have been a nigger in the crime who knew 
about it before Newt or anyone else. I am afraid Newt knew. 
Yet, if he did, he is one of the most remarkable niggers I 
ever saw and I wish I had his nerve. There were things you 
detectives did to him for which you will never be forgiven. 
You persecuted the old nigger, and all you got was '' Fo' God 
I don't know." I don't believe he killed her, but I 'believe he 
knows more than he told. 

But they say now that he jumped back. Suppose he did 
jump back. Look at the boy (Frank). If you put a girl the 
size of Mary Phagan in a room with him she could make him 
jump out of the window. Suddenly this boy stepped out in 
front of this giant of a Gantt, and he jumped 'back. Dorsey 
would have done the same thing; Newt Lee would; Jim Con­
ley would, and I would, as big as I am. 
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Here is another suspicious thing. Newt Lee came to the 
factory at four o'clock and Frank sent the old man away. It 
was suggested that he was afraid the nigger would ilnd the 
body, yet when he came back at 6, Frank let him stay at the 
factory when he knew that in 30 minutes Newt was on the 
job he must go into the basement where they say Frank knew 
the body was. 

They say he was laughing at ms home. If he had known of 
the crime of which he would be accused, that laugh would 
have been the laugh of a maniac to be ended by the discovery 
of the body. 

Another susp~ious thing. You know that he was in the fac­
tory, but it turns out that he was not the only one. If the 
eorpse was found in the basement and he was the only one 
in the building, then there might be some basis. But he was 
in an open room and there were workmen upstairs. My friend 
tried to disput.e that. That waan 't all. Conley was also 
there, and it came out yesterday that there was also another 
nigger-a lighter nigger than Conley-there. What scoun­
drels in white skin were in the building and had opportunity 
to eomm.it the crime, God only knows. 

The thing that arises in this ease to fatigue my indignation 
is that men born of such parents should believe the statement 
of Conley against the statement of Frank. Who is Conley f 
Who was Conley as he used to be and as you have seen him t 
He was a dirty, filthy, black, drunken, lying nigger. Black 
knows that. Starnes knows that. Chief Beavers knows it. 
Who was it that made this dirty nigger come up here looking 
so slick! Why didn't they let you see him as he was f They 
shaved him, washed him and dressed him up. Gentlemen of 
the jury, the charge of moral perversion against a man is a 
ternole thing for him, but it is even more so when that man 
has a wife and mother to be affected by it. Dalton, even Dal­
ton did not say this against Frank. It was just Conley. Dal­
ton, you remember, did not even say that Frank was guilty 
of wrong-doing as far ~ he knew. There never was any 
proof of Frank's alleged moral perversion, unless you call Jim 
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Conley proof. None of these niggers ever came up and said 
Conley was there and that they were with him. Starnes­
and Starnes could find a needle in a haystack, but the Lord 
only knows what he'd do in an acre-he could not find any of 
these niggers. · 

Then there was that old negro drayman, old McCrary, the 
old peg-leg negro drayman, and thank God he was an old­
timer, "fo" de war nigger. You know Conley, wishing to add 
a few finishing trimmings to his lines, said that old McCrary 
sent him down in the basement that Saturday morning and 
when the old darkey was put on the stand he said simply, 
"No, iboss, I never eont him down thar." Everywhere you 
go you find that Conley lied. He says he wat.ched there one 
Saturday last year 'between 2 and 3 o'clock. Well, Schi1f 
says he didn't and so does Darley and Holloway, the latter 
guaranteed by the state, and the little oftlce boys, niee look­
ing little chaps from niee families, they all say be didn't. 
Cut out Conley and you strip the case to nothing. 

Did you hear the way Conley told his story t Have you 
ever heard an actor, who knew his Shakespearean plays, his 
"Merchant of Venice" or his "Hamlet"t He can wake up 
at any time of the night and say those lines, but he can't say 
any lines of a play he has never learned. So it was with Con­
ley. He could tell the story of the disposition of the girl 'a 
body, and he knew it so well he could reel it off backward or 
forward, any old way, lbut when you got to asking him about 
other things, he always had one phrase, "Boss, ah can't 
'mem:ber dat. '' 

They say Conley could not have made up that story. Well, 
I don't know about that. There is something queer in the 
whole thing, you know. I conldn 't climb that poet over there, 
gentlemen. I mean I couldn't go very far up it, but if I had 
Professor Starnes, and Professor Black, and Professor Camp­
bell, and Professor Rosser, and then Dean Lanford to help 
me, I'd go quite a way up. Well, they took a notion Mrs. 
White had seen the negro, and they carried Mrs. White there 
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to see him, and he twisted up his features so that she couldn't 
recognize him. 

Next, they learned Conley could write. Frank told them 
that, you biow. Well, I don't mean to be severe, but they 
took that negro and they gave him the third degree. Black 
and Scott eursed him. "You black scoundrel," they yelled 
at him. "You know that man never bad you come there and 
write those notes on Friday I" And the ·poor negro, under­
standing and trying to pleese, said, "Yes, bcss, zat's right, 
ah was dere on Saturday." And so they went OD and got 
first one affidavit and then another out of him. Well, Scott 
and Black had him there, and Conley was only in high 
school. I don't know whether to call Scott and Black "pro­
fessors" or not. Scott says, "We told him what would fit 
and what would not.'' And it was ''stand up, Jam.es Con­
ley and recite, when did you :8x those notes, James t'' and 
James would answer that he fixed them OD Friday, and then 
the t.eachers would tell James it was surely wrong, that he 
must have fixed them on Saturday, and James would know 
what was wanted and would acknowledge his error. Then 
it would be, "That's a good lesson, James, you are excused, 
James." I'm not guessing in this thing. Scott told it on 
the stand, only in not so plain words. So it was that when 
this negro bad told the whole truth they had another reci­
tation. 

Was it fair for two skilled white men to train that negro 
by the hour and by the day and to teach him and then get 
a statement from him and call it the truth t Well, Professors 
Black and Scott :finished with him, and they thought Con­
ley's education was through, but that nigger bad to have a 
university course I 

Scott, you arid Black milked him dry; you thought you 
did, anyhow, but you got no moral perversion and no watcll­
ing. In the university they gave a slightly different course. 
It was given by Professors Stames and Campbell. Oh, I 
wish I could look as pious as Stames does. And Professor 
Dol'8ey helped out, I suppose. I don't know what Professor 
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Doraey did, only he gave him several lessons, and they must 
have been just sort of flniahing touehes before he got his 
degree. Well, in the university courae they didn't dare put 
the steps in writing, aa they had done in the high school; it 
would have been too easy to trace from step to step, the sug­
~ons made, the additions and subtractions here and there. 

Professor Dorsey had him seven times, I know that, but 
God alone knows how many times the deteetives had him. 
W aa it fair to take this weak, pliable negro and have theae 
white men teach him, one after another! Who knows what 
is the flnal story that Conley will tell f He added the meah­
bag when he waa on the stand. 

Mary Phagan had reached the factory at apprmimately 
twelve minutes after 12, and it must have been after Mon­
teen Stover had gone. See the statements of W. !rl. Mathen 
and W. T. Hollia, street ear men called .by the defense, and 
George Epps, the little newsie, called by the state, and also 
the street car schedule. 

But, supposing that ahe was there at 12 :05, aa I believe 
the state claims, then Monteen Stover must have seen her. 
I don't see how they could have helped meeting. But sup­
pose she got there a moment after Monteen Stover left, then 
Lemmie Quinn was there at 12 :20, and he found Frank at 
work. Could Frank have murdered a girl and hid her body 
and then got baek t.o work with no blood stains on him in less 
than filteen minutest If Frank is guilty, he must have, 
according to Conley, disposed of the body in the time be­
tween four minutes to 1 and 1 :30. There can be no dispute 
Jbout this; it's Conley's last revelation. If Frank is gailty, 
he waa at his office between four minutes to 1 and 1 :30, but 
who believes that story! 

Little Miss Kerns saw him at Alabama and Whitehall at 
1 :10, and at 1 :20 Mrs. LeyY, honest woman that she is, saw him 
get off the car at his home corner, and his wife's parent.a saw, 
and they all swear he was there at 1 :20, and then, if-you are 
going to call them all perjurers and believe Jim Conley, 
think what you must do; think what a homole thing you 
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must do-you must make Minola 's husband a perjurer, and 
that would be terrible. 

You know about that Minola McKnight affair. It is the 
blackest of all. A negro woman locked·up from the solici­
tor's ofllce, not because she would talk-she's given a state­
ment-but because she would not talk to suit Starnes and 
Campbell, and two white men, and shame to them, got her 
into it. Where was Chief Beavers t What was he doing that 
he became a party to this crime t Beavers, who would en­
foree the law; Beavers, the immaculate I 

Believe Frank was in the factory if you can at 1 :30; throw 
aside all the respectable people and swear by Conley. Well, 
I know the American jury is supreme, that it is the sovereign 
over lives; that sometimes you can sway it by passion and 
prejudice, but you can't make . it believe anything like this. 

Neither prejudice, nor passion, wrought by monsters so 
vile they ought not to be in the court room, could make them 
believe it. They said that there was a certain man, named 
Mincey, whom we ealled as a witness but did not use. Well, 
the only use we would have had for Mincey was to contradict 
Conley, and as soon as Conley got on the stand he contra­
dicted himself enough without our having to go to the trouble 
of calling on witnesses to do it. If we had put Mincey up there 
would have been a day's row about his probity, and what 
would have been the use-Conley said time and again that he 
had lied time and again. 

Gentlemen, I want only the straight truth here, and I have 
yet to believe that the truth has to be watched and cultivated 
by these detectives and by seven visits of the solicitor general 
I don't believe any man, no matter what his rate, ought to be 
tried under such testimony. If I was raising sheep and feared 
for iny lambs, I might hang a yellow dog on it. I might do it 
in the daytime, but when things got quiet at night and I got 
to thinking, I'd be ashamed of myself. You have been overly 
kind to me, gentlemen. True, you have been up agair.st a 
situation like that old Sol Russell used to describe when he 
would say, "Well, I've leetured off and on for forty years, and 
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the benches always stuck it out, but they was screwed to the 
floor." You gentlemen have !been practically in that fix, but 
I feel, nevertheless, that you have been peeuliarl7 kind, and 
I thank you. 

THE SOLICITOR GENERAL FOR THE STATE. 

Jlr. Dor161J. Gentlemen of the Jury: This ease is not 
only, as His Honor has t.old you, important, but it is extraor­
dinary. It is extraordinary as a crime-a most heinous crime, 
a crime of a demoniac, a crime that has demanded vigorous, 
earnest and conscientious effort on the part of your detectives, 
and which demands honest, earnest, conscientious consider~ 
tion on your part. It is extraordinary because of the 
prominence, learning, ability, standing of counsel pitted 
against me. It is extraordinary because of the defendant-it 
is extraordinary in the manner in which the gentlemen argue 
it, in the methods they have pursued in its management. 
They have had two of the ablest lawyers in the country. They 
have had Rosser, the rider of the winds and the stirrer of the 
storm, and Arnold (and I can say it ·because I love him), as 
mild a man as ever eut a throat or scuttled a ship. They have 
abused me ; they have abused the detective department; they 
have heaped so much calumny on me that the mother of the d3-
fendant was constrained t.o arise in their presence and de­
nounce me as a dog. Well, there's an old adage, and it's 
true, that says, "When did any thref ever feel the halter draw 
with any good opinion of the law f" -· 

Oli, prejuClice and perjuryl Tliey say that is what this 
case is built on, and they 11Be that stereotyped phrase until 
ft fatigues the mind to think about it. Don't let this pur­
chased indignation disturb you. Oh, they ought to have been 
indignant; they were paid to play the pa.rt. Gentlemen, do 
you think that these detectives and I were controTied by preju­
dice in this easef Would we, the sworn oft!cers of the law, 
have sought t.o hang this man on account of his race and 
pus over the negro, Jim Conleyf Was it prejudice when 
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we arrest.ed Gantt, when we arrested Lee, when we arrested 
others f No, the prejudice eame when we arrested this man, 
and never until he was arrested was there a ery of prejudice. 

Those gentlemen over there were disappojnted when :we did 
not pitch our ease along that line, but not a word emanated 
from this side, showing any prejudice on our P.art. -1aowing 
any feeling against Jew or Gentile. 

We would not have dared to eome into this presence and ask 
the eonviction of a man because he was a Gentile, a Jew or 
a negro. Oh, no two men ever had any ~ater pleasme shown 
on their faces than did Mr. A.mold and Kr. Bosser when they 
st.arted to question Kendley and began to get before the court 
aomething about prejudice against the J ewa. Thel seized 
with avidity the suggestion that Frank was a Jew. 

Remember, they put it before this comt, and we did not; 
the word Jew never escaped our lips. I say that the race this 
man comes from is as good as oars; his forefathers were civil- • 
ized and living in cities and following laws when oara were 
roaming at large in the forest and eating human flesh. I say 
his raee is just as igood as oars, but no better. I honor the race 
that produced Disraeli, the great.eat of British stabmnen; 
that produced Judah P. Benjamin, as great a lawyer as Eng­
land or America ever saw; I honor the Strauss brothers; I 
roomed with one of bis race at college; one of my partners is 
is of his race. I served on the 'board of trustees of GraCly hos­
pital with Hr. Hirsch, and I know others, t.oo many to count, 
but when Lieutenant Beclrer wished to make away with bis 
enemies, he sought men of this man's nee. 

Then, you wi11 recall Abe Hummell, the rascally lawyer, and 
Reuff, another scoundrel, and Schwartz, who killed a little girl 
in New York, and scores of others, and you will ftnd that this 
great race is as amenable to the same laws as any others of the 
white race or as the black race is. 

They rise to heights sublime, but they also link to the low­
est depths of degradation f 

We don't ask a conviction of this man aaept fn eonformif:7 
with the law which His Honor wfll give you in charge~ llil 
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Honor will charge you that you should not convict this man 
unless you think he is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. 

A great many jurors, gentlemen, and the people generally 
get an idea that there is something mysterious and unfathom­
able about this reasonal>le doubt proposition. It's 88 plain 88 

the nose on your face. The text writers and lawyers and 
lu• go around in a circle when they undertake to define it; 
it 'a a thing that speaks for itself, and every man of common 
sense knows what it is, and it isn't susceptible of any defini­
tion. One text writer says a man who undertakes to deftne it 
118e& tautology-the same words over again. Just remember, 
genUemen of the jury, that it is no abstruse proposition, it is 
not a proposition way over and above your head-it's just 
a common sense, ordinary, everyday practical question. In the 
83rd Georgia, one of our judges defines it thus: 

"A reasonable doubt is one that is opposed to an unreasonable 
doubt; it is one for whieb a reason can be given, and it is one that 
is based on reason, and it is such a doubt that leaves the miDd in 
an 1lllCleriain and wavering eondition, l'IVbere it is bn~"ble to eay 
with :reason nor eertainty that 1he aeoused is guilty. 

If you have a doubt, it must be such a donbt 88 to control 
and decide your conduct in the highest and moat ~portant 
at!airs of life. It isn't, gentlemen, 88 is said in the ease of 
John vs. State, in 33d Georgia, "a vague, conjectural doubt or 
a mere guess that possibly the accused may not be guilty"; it 
isn't that; "it must be such a doubt 88 a sensible, honest­
minded man would reasonably entertain in an honest investi­
gation after truth." It must not be, as they say, in the case 
of Butler vs. State, 92 Georgia, "A doubt conjured up"; or as 
they say jn the 83 Georgia, "A doubt which might be conjured 
up to acquit a friend." "It must not 1be," as they say in the 
63 Georgia, "a fanciful doubt, a trivial supposition, a bare 
pOBBibility of innoeenee, "-that won't do, that won't do; "it 
doesn't mean the doubt,'' they say in 90 Georgia, ''of a crank 
or a man with an over-sensitive nature, but practical, common 
sense is the standard. '' 

Convfotion can be established as well upon circumstantial 
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evidence as upon direct evidence. Eminent authority shows 
that in many cases circumstantial evidence is more certain 
than direct evidence. Conviction can '1>e established better by 
a large number of witnesses giving circumstantial evidence 
and incidents pointing to guilt than by the testimony of a few 
witnesses who may have been eye-witnesses to the actual deed. 

In this ease, we have both circumstantial evidence and ad­
mission. Hence, with reasonable doubt as a basis, the evidence 
shows such a consisteney that a reasonable conelusion is all 
that is needed. 

This thing of a reasonable doubt originated long ago, when: 
the accused was not allowed to be represent.ed by counsel to 
defend him. In time the reasonable doubt will drop out. Our 
people are getting better and ·better about this all the time. 
The state is handicapped in all sorts of ways by this reasona­
ble doubt proposition, and has to more than prove a man's 
guilt often before a conviction can result. 

You can't get at a verdict ·by mathematics, but you can get 
at it by a moral certainty. 

People sometimes say that they will not convict on circum­
stantial evidence. That is the merest bosh. Authorities show 
that circmnstantial evidence is tOO best evidence. People are 
improving about this. Yet juries are often reticent upon this 
point. But juries should not hesitate at laek of positive evi­
dence. The almost unerring indication of circumstantial 
evidence should control Otherwise society is exposed to free­
dom in the commission of all sorts of the most horrible crimes. 
Ci:rcumstanees which would warrant a mere conjecture of 
guilt are not warranted as the basis for a conviction, but when 
the evidence is consistent with all the facts in the ease only: 
a conviction can :result.' · · 

Now, let's examine this question of good character. I grant 
you, good character spells a whole lot, but first, let's establish 

1 Mr. Dorsey Jwre told the graphic &t.ory of how W. a T. l>1Jl'o 
rant, upon eimunstantial evidence, was convicted of the murder of 
Blanehe lAmont in Emmanuel Baptist church in San Francisco. 
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good character. It is presumed-had he not put his character 
in issue, it would have teen presumed-and the State would 
have been absolutely helpless-that this man was as good a 
man as lived in the City of Atlanta. It's a mighty easy thing, 
if a man is worth anything, if a man attains to any degree of 
respectability, it's a mighty easy thing to get some one to sus­
tain his character but it's the hardest thing known to a law­
yer to get people to impeach the character of another. In the 
Durant case, his character was unimpeached. The defendant 
here put his character in issue and we accepted the challenge, 
and we met it, I submit to you. Now, if we concede that this 
defendant in this case wa& a man of good character-a thing 
we don't concede-still, under your oath and under the law 
that His Honor will give you in charge, as is laid down in the 
88 Georgia, page 92, ''Proof of good character will not hinder 
conviction, if the guilt of the defendant is plainly proved to 
the satisfaction of the jury." 

First, you have got to ha~e the good character, before' it 
ftighs a feather in the balance, and remember, that the 
hardest burden, so far as proof is coooerned, that ever rests 
on anybOdy, is to break down the character of a man who 
really has character and I ask you if this defendant stands 
before you a man of good character T 

Mr. Arnold, as though he had not realized the force of the 
evioonce here against the man who, on April 26th, snu1fed out 
the life of little Mary Phagan, in his desperation stood up in 
this presence and called nineteen or twenty of these reputable, 
high-toned girls, though they be working girls, "crack-brain 
fanatics and liars," and they have hurled that word around 
here a good deal, too, they have burled that word around here 
a good deal If that's an attribute of great men and great 
lawyers, I here and now proclaim to you I have no aspirations 
to attain them. Not once will I say that anybody has lied, 
but I'll put it up to you as twelve honest, conscientious men 
by your verdict to say where the truth lies and who has lied. 
I'm going to be satisfied with your verdict, too-I know this 
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ease and I know the conscience that abides in the breast of 
hont'St, courageous men. 

Now, the book says that if a man has good character, never­
theless it will not hinder conviction, if the guilt of the 
defendant is plainly proved to the satisfaction of the jury­
as it was in the Durant case, and I submit that, character or 
no character, this evidence demands a conviction. And I'm 
not asking you for it either because of prejudice-I'm coming 
to the perjury after a bit. Have I so forgotten myself that I 
would ask you to convict that man if the evidence demanded 
that Jim Conley's neck be broken! 

Now, Mr. Arnold said yesterday, and I noticed it, though 
it wasn't in evidence, that Jim Conley wasn't indicted. No, 
he will never be, for this crime, because there is no evidence­
he's an accessory after the fact, according to his own admis­
sion, and he's guilty of that and nothing more. And I'm here 
to tell you that, unless there's some other evidence ·besides that 
which has been shown here or heretofore, you've got to get 
you another Solicitor General before I '11 ask any jury to hang 
him, lousy negro though be may be; and if that be treason, 
make the most of it. I have got my own conscience to keep, 
and I wouldn't rest quite so well to feel that I had been instru­
mental in putting a rope around the neck of Jim Conley for 
a crime that Leo ll. Frank committed. You '11 do it, too. 

I want you to bear in mind, now, we haven't touched the 
body of this case, we have been just clearing up the under­
brush-we '11 get to the big timber after awhile. "Where char­
acter is put in issue"-and the State can't do it, it rests with 
him-' 'Where character is put in issue, the direct examina. 
tion must relate to the general reputation, good or bad;" that 
is, whoever puts character in issue, can ask the question with 
reference to the general reputation, good or bad, as the case 
may be, "but on cross-examination particular transactions or 
statements of single individuals may be brought into the 
inquiry in testing the extent and foundation of the witnesses' 
knowledge, and the correctness of his testimony on direct 
examination.'' 
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We did exercise that right in the examination of one wit­
ness, but knowing that we oouldn 't put specific instances in 
unless they drew it out, I didn't want even to do this man the 
injustice, so we suspended, and we put it before this jury in 
this kind of ·position-you put his charaeter in, we put up 
witnesses to disprove it, you could cl'Ofll examine every one of 
them and ask them what they knew and what they had heard 
and what they had seen; we had already given them enough 
instances, ·but they didn't dare, they didn't dare to do it. 
Mark you, now, here's the law: 

"Where character is put in issue, the direct examination 
must relate to the general reputation;'' we couldn't go fur­
ther, but on cross examination, when we put up these little 
girls, sweet and tender, ah, but "particular instances or 
statement.a of single individuals, you could have brought into 
the inquiry," but you dared not do it. You tell me that 
the testimony of these good people living out on W aahington 
Street, the good people connected with the Hebrew Orphans, 
Home, Doctor Man, Doctor Sonn, you tell me that they know 
the character of Leo H. Frank 88 these .girls do, who have 
worked there but are not now under the in1luence of the Na­
tional Pencil Company and its employees! Do you tell me 
that if you are accused of a crime, or I am accused of a crime, 
and your character or my character is put in issue, that if I 
were mean enough to do it, or if Messrs. Starnes and Camp­
bell were corrupt enough to do it, that you could get others 
who would do your bidding! I tell you, in principle and com­
mon sense, it is a dastardly suggestion. You know it, and I 
know you know it, and you listen to your conscience and it 
will tell you you know it, and you have got no doubt about it. 
The trouble about this business is, throughout the length and 
breadth of our land, there's too much shenanigane and too 
little honest, plain dealings; let's be fair, let's be honest, let's 
be courageous I Tell me that old Pat Campbell or John 
Starnes or Mr. Rosser-in whose veins, he says, there fiows 
the same blood 88 fiows in the attorney's veins-that they 
could go and get nineteen or twenty of them, through preju-
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dice and passion to come up here and swear that that man's 
eharaeter is bad and it not be true t I tell you it can't be 
done, and you know it. 

Ah, but, on the other hand, Doctor Marx, Doctor Sonn, all 
these other people, as Mr. Hooper said, who run with Doc~r 
Jekyll, don't know the character of Mr. Hyde. And he didn't 
call Doctor Marx down to the factory on Saturday evenings 
to show what he was going to do with those girls, but the girls 
know. 

Now, gentlemen, put yourself in this man's place. If you 
are a man of good character, and twenty people oome in here 
and state that you are of bad character, your counsel have 
got the right to ask them who they ever heard talking about 
you and what they ever heard said and what they ever saw. 
Is it possible, I '11 ask you in the name of oommon sense, that 
you would permit your counsel to sit mute t You wouldn't 
do it, would you T If a man says that I am a person of bad 
character, I want to know, curiosity makes me want to know, 
and if it's proclaimed, published to the world and it's a lie, I 
want to nail ~the lie-to show that he never saw it, and never 
heard it and knows nothing about it. And yet, three able 
counsel and an innocent man, and twenty or more girls all of 
whom had worked in the factory but none of whom work 
there at this time, except one on the fourth floor, tell you 
that that man had a bad character, and had a bad character 
for lasciviousness-the uncontrolled and uncontrollable pas­
sion that led him on to kill poor Mary Phagan. This book 
says it is allowable to cross-examine a witness, to see and 
find out what he knows, who told him those things-and I'm 
here to tell you that this thing of itself is pregnant, pregnant, 
pregnant with significance, and does not comport with inno­
cence on the part of any man. We furnished him the names 
of some. Well, even by their own witnesses, it looks to me 
there was a leak, and little Miss Jackson dropped it out just 
as easy. Now, what business did this man have going in up 
there, peering in on those little girls-the head of the factory, 
the man that wanted :flirting forbidden T What business did 
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he have going up into those dressing rooms t You tell me f.o 
go up there to the girls' dressing room, shove open the door 
and walk in is a part of'his duty, when he has foreladiea to 
stop it t No, indeed. And old Jim Conley may not have been 
so far wrong as you may think. He says that somebody went 
up there that worked on the fourth ftoor, he didn't know who. 
This man, according to the evidence of people that I submit 
you will believe, notwithst.anding the fact that Mr. Reuben R. 
Arnold said it was a lie and called them hair-brained fanat­
ica-eecording to the testimony even of a lady who works there 
now and yet is brave enough and courageous enough to come 
down here and tell you that that man had been in a room 
with a lady that works on the fourth ftoor; and it may have 
been that he was then, when he went in there on this little 
Jackson girl and the Mayfield girl and Miss Kitchens, look­
ing out to see if the way was clear to take her in again-and 
Miss J acbon, their witness, says she heard about his going 
in there three or four times more than she ever saw it, and 
they complained to the foreladiea-it may have been right 
then and there he went to see some woman on the fourth 
:floor that old Jim Conley says he saw go up there to meet 
him Saturday evening, when all these good people were out 
on Washington Street and Montag&, and the pencil factory 
employees, even, didn't know of the occurrence of these things. 

August 23. 
'Jlr. Dorsey. I was just about concluding, yesterday, what 

I had to say in reference to the matter of character, and I 
think that I demonstrated by the law, to any fair-minded man, 
that this defendant has not a good character. The conduct of 
counsel in this ease, as I stated, in failing to cross-examine, in 
refusing to cross-examine these twenty young ladies, refutes 
etfectively and absolutely the claims of this defendant that 
he has good character. As I said, if this man had had a good 
character, no power on earth could have kept him and his 
counsel from asking those girls where they got their informa­
tion, and why it was they said that this defendant was a man 
of bad character. I have already shown you that under the 
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law, they had the right to go into that character, and you saw 
that on cross-examination they dared not do it. I have here 
an authority that puf.s it right squarely, that "whenever any 
one has evidence (83 Ga., 581) in their poaession, and they 
fail to produce it, the strongest presumption arises that it 
would be hurtful if they had, and their failure to produce 
evidence is a eircumatance against them.'' 

You don't need any law book to make you know that that's 
true, because your common sense tells you that whenever a 
man can bring evidence, and you know that he has got it and 
don't do it, the strongest presumption arises against him. And 
you know, as twelve honest men seeking to get at the truth, 
that the reason these able counsel didn't ask those "hair­
brained fanatics,'' as Mr. Arnold called them, before they had 
ever gone on the stand-girls whose appearance is as good as 
any they brought, girls that you know by their manner on the 
stand spoke the truth, girls who are unimpeached and unim­
peachable, was because they dared not do it. You know it; if 
it had never been put in a law book you'd know it. And then 
you tell me that because these good people from Washington 
Street come down here and say that they never heard any­
thing, that he is a man of good character. 

Many a man has gone through life and even his wife and 
his best friends never knew his character; and some one has 
said that it takes the valet to really know the character of a 
man. And I had rather believe that these poor, unprotected 
working girls, who have no interest in this case and are not 
under the influence of the pencil company or Montag or any­
body else, know that man, as many a man has been heretofore, 
is of bad character, than to believe the Rabbi of his church and 
the members of the Hebrew Orphans' Home. 

Sometimes, you know, a man of bad character uses charitable 
and religions organizations to cover up the defects, and some­
times a consciousness in the heart of a man will make him 
over-active in some other line, in order to cover up and mislead 
the public generally. Many a man has been a wolf in sheep's 
clothing; many a man has walked in high society and 

-
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appeared on the outside as a whited sepulcher, who waa u 
rotten on the inside as it was poseible to be. 

So he has got no good character, I submit, never had it; he 
has got a reputation-that's what people say and think about 
you-and he has got a reputation for good conduct only 
among those people that don't know his character. But sup­
pose that he had a good character; that would amount to 
nothing. David of old was a great charact.er until he put old 
Uriah in the fore-front of battle in order that he might be 
killed-that Uriah might be killed, and David take his wife. 
Judas Iscariot was a good character, and one of the Twelve, 
until he took the thirty pieces of silver and betrayed our Lord 
Jesus Christ. Benedict Arnold was brave, enjoyed the conft­
dence of all the people and those in charge of the management 
of the Revolutionary War until he betrayed his country. 
Since that day his name has been a aynonym for infamy. 
~ar Wilde, an Irish Knight, a literary man, brilliant, the 
author of works that will go down the ages-Lady Winde­
mere 'a Fan, De Profondis-which he wrote while conftned 
in jail; a man who had the e1frontery and the boldness, when 
the Marquis of Queensblll'1' saw that there was something 

· wrong between this intellectual giant and his son, sought to 
break up their companionship, he sued the Marquis for dam.­
ages, which brought retaliation on the part of the Marquis for 
criminal practices on the part of Wilde, this int.ellectual 
giant; and wherever the English language is read, the e1front­
ery, the boldness, the coolness of this man, Oscar Wilde, as he 
stood the cross-examination of the ablest lawyers of Eng­
land-an etfrontery that is characteristic of the man of his 
type-that examination will remain the subject matter of 
study for lawyers and for people who are interested in the 
type of pervert like this man. Not even Oscar Wilde's wife-­
for he was married and had two children-suspected that he 
was guilty of such immoral practices, and, as I say, it never 
would have been brought to light probably, because committed 
in secret, had not this man had the effrontery and the bold­
ness and the impudence himself to start the proceeding which 
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eolminated in sending him to prison for three long years. 
He's the man who led the aesthetic movement; he was a 
scholar, a literary man, eool, calm and cultured, and as I say, 
his Cl'088 examination is a thing to be read with admiration by 
all lawyers, but he was convicted, and in his old age, went tot­
t.ering to the grave, a confessed pervert. Good character! 
Why, he came to America, after having launched what is 
known as the "Aesthetic . movement," in England, and 
throughout this country lectured to large audiences, and it is 
he who raised the 811D1lower from a weed to the dignity of a 
ftower. Handsome, not lacking in physical or moral courage, 
and yet a pervert, but a man of previous good character. 
Abe Reuf, of San Francisco, a man of his raee and religion, 
was the boss of the town, respected and honored, but he cor­
rupted Schmitt, and he corrupted everything that he put his 
hands on, and just as a life of immorality, a life of sin, a life 
in which he fooled the good people when debauching the poor 
girls with whom he came in contact has brought this man 
before this jury, 80 did eventually Reuf's career terminate in 
the penitentiary. I have already referred to Durant. 
Look at McCue, the mayor of Charlottesville; a man of 
such reputation that the people elevated him to the head of 
that municipality, but notwithstanding that good reputation, 
he didn't have rock bed character, and, becoming tired of his 
wife, he shot her in the bath tub, and the jury of gallant and 
noble and courageous Vll'ginia gentlemen, notwithstanding his 
pod character, sent him to a felon's grave. Richardson, of 
Boston, was a preacher, who enjoyed the confidence of his 
flock. He was engaged to one of the wealthiest and most fas­
cinating women in Baston, but an entanglement with a poor 
little girl, of whom he wished to rid himself, caused this man 
Richardson to 80 far forget his character and reputation and 
his career as to put her to death. And all these are cases of 
circumstantial evidence. And after conviction, after he had 
fought, he at last admitted it, in the hope that the Governor 
would at least save his life, but he didn't do it; and the Jrlas.. 
achusetts jury and the Massachusetts Governor were eour-
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ageous endugh to let that man who had taken that poor girl's 
life to save his reputation as the pastor of his 1lock, go, and it 
ja an illustration that will encourage and stimulate eveey 
right-thinking man to do his duty. Then, there's Beattie. 
Heney Clay Beattie, of Richmond, of splendid family, a weal­
thy family, proved good character, though he didn't poesess 
it, took his wife, the mother of a twelve-months-old baby, out 
automobiling, and shot her; yet that man, looking at the 
blood in the automobile, joked! joked! joked! He was cool 
and calm, but he joked too much; and although the detectives 
were abused and maligned, and slush funds to save him from 
the gallows were used, in his defense, a courageous juey, an 
honest jury, a Virginia juey measured up to the requirements 
of the hour and sent him to his death; thus putting old Vir­
ginia and her eitiMnship on a high plane. .And he never did 
confe111, but left a note to be read after he was dead, saying 
that he was guilty. Crippen, of England, a doctor, a man of 
high standing, recognized ability and good reputation, killed 
his wife because of infatuation for another woman, and put 
her remains away where he thought, as this man thought, that 
it would never ·be discovered; but murder will out, and he 
was discovered, and he was tried, and be it said to the glory 
of old England, he was executed. 

But you 887, you've got an alibi. Now, let's examine that 
proposition a little ·bit. .An alibi-Section 1018 de1lnes what 
an ah"bi is. "An alibi, as a defense, involves the impOMi­
·bility"-mark that-"of the prisoner's presence at the aaene 
of the o1fense at the time of its commilllion." "An alibi in­
volves the impossibility, and the range of evidence must be 
such as reasonably to exclude the possibility of guilt"--and 
the burden of carrying that alibi is on this defendant. "It 
involves the impossibility"-they must show to you that it 
was impoan"ble for this man to have been at the scene of that 
crime. The burden is on them; an alibi, gentlemen of the 
jury, while the very best kind of defense if properly sus­
tained, is absolutely worthlee&-I'm going to show you in a 
minute that this alibi is worse than no defense at all. I want 
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to read you a definition that an old darkey gave of an alibi, 
which I think illustrates the idea. Rastus asked his compan­
ion, "What's this here alibi you hear so much talk about!" 
And old Sam says, ''An ahoi is proving that you was at the 
prayer meeting, where you wasn't, to show that you wasn't at 
the crap game, where you was." 

Now, right here, let me interpolat.e, this man never made 
an admission, from the beginning until the end of this ease, 
except he knew that some one could fast.en it on him-wher­
ever he knew that people knew he was in the factory, he ad­
mitt.ed it. All right; but you prove an alibi by that little 
Kerens.girl, do yout She swore that she saw you at Alabama 
and Broad at 1 :10, and >"It here is the paper containing your 
admiAlrion made jn the presence of your attorney, Monday 
morning, April 28, that you didn't leave the factoey until I :10. 

Gentlemen, talk to me about sad spectacles, but of all the 
sad spectacles that I have witnessed throughout this ease-I 
don't know who did it, I don't know who's responsible, and I 
hope that I '1l go to my grave in ignorance of who it was that 
brought this little Kerens girl, the daughter of a man that 
works for Montag, into this case, to prove this alibi for this 
red-handed murderer, who killed that little girl t.o protect his 
reputation among the people of his own l'rMle and religion. 
Jurors are sworn, and His Honor will eharge you, you have 
got. the right to take int.o consideration the deportment, the 
manner, the bearing, the reasonableness of what any witnem 
swears to, and if any man in this court house, any honest man, 
seeking t.o get at the truth, looked at that little girl, her man­
ner, her bearing, her attitude, her actions, her connections 
with Montag, and don't know that she, like that little Bauer 
boy, had been riding in Montag's automobile, I am at a loee 
t.o understand your mental operations. 

But if Frank locked the factory door at t.en minutes past 
one, if that be true, how in the name of goodness did she ever 
see him at Alabama and Broad at 1 :lOt Mark you, she had 
never seen him but one time ; had never seen him but one time, 
and with the people up there on the street, to see the parade, 
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waiting for her companions, this daughter of an employee of 
.Montag comes- into this presence and tells you the unreuon­
able, absurd story, the story that's in contradiction t.o the 
story made by Frank, which has been introduced. in evidence 
and will be out with you, that abe aaw that fellor up there 
at Jacobs'. 

On this time proposition, I want t.o read you tlm-it made 
a wonderful impression on me when I read it-it's the won­
derful speech of a wonderful man, a lawyer t.o whom even 
such men as Messrs. Arnold and Roeser, as 8004 as the country 
affords, as good men and as good lawyers as they are, had they 
stood in his presence, would have pulled off their hats in admi­
ration for his intellect and his charaetel'-1 refer t.o Daniel 
Webster, and I quot.e from Webster's great apeech in the 
Knapp case: 

"Time is identical, ita sabdmsiona are all alike, no man bow 
one day from another, or one boar from another, bat by some faet, 
connected with it. Days and ·boars are not visib~ to the aeuea, nor 
to be apprehended and distinguished by understanding. Be who 
speaks of tile d&t.e, the minat.e and the boar of oecnmeneea with 
nothing to guide his recollection, speaks at rendom." 

That's put better than I could have put it. That'• put 
tersely, concisely, logically, and it's the truth. Now, what else 
about this alibi, this chronological table here, moved up and 
down to save a few minutest The evidence, as old Sig .Montag 
warned me not to do, twisted, yea, I'll say contorted, warped, 
in order to sostain this man in his claim of an alibi. For 
instance, they got it down here "Frank arrived at the fact.ory, 
according to Holloway, Alonzo Mann, Roy Irby, at 8 :25." 
That's getting it down some, ain't itt Frank says he arrived 
at 8 :30. Old Jim Conley, perjured, lousy and dirty, says that 
he arrived there at 8 :30, and he arrived, carrying a rain coat. 
And they tried mightily to make it appear that Frank didn't 
have a rain coat, that he borrowed one from his brother-in-law, 
but Mrs. Ureenback says that Frank had one ; and if the troth 
were known, I venture the assertion that the reason Frank 
borrowed Ursenback's rain coat on Sunday was because, after 
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the murder of this girl on Saturday, he forgot to get the rain 
coat that old Jim saw him have. Miss Mattie Smith leaves 
building, you say, at 9 :20 A. M. She said-or Frank says-at 
9 :15. You have it on this chart here that's turned to the wall 
that Frank telephoned Schllf to come to his office at 10 o'clock, 
and yet this man Frank, coolly, composedly, with his great 
capacity for :figures and data, in his own statement says that 
he gets to Montag's at that hour. And you've got the records, 
trot them out, if I'm wrong. At 11 A. M. Frank returns to 
the pen<ll1 factory; Holloway and Mann come to the office ; 
Frank dictates mail and acknowledges letters. Frank, in his 
statement, says 11 :05. Any way, oh Lord, any hour, any min­
ute, move them up and move them down, we've got to have 
the alibi-like old Uncle Remus' rabbit, we 're just 'bleeged 
to climb. "12 :12, approximate time Mary Phagan arrives." 
Frank says that Mary Phagan arrived ten or :fifteen minutes 
after Miss Hall left; and with mathematical accuracy, you've 
got Miss Hall leaving the factory at 12 :03. Why, I never 
saw so many watches, so many clocks or so many people who 
seem to have had their minds centered on time as in this 
ease. Why, if people in real life were really as accurate as 
you gentlemen seek to have us believe, I tell you this would 
be a glorious old world, and no person and no train would 
ever be behind time. It doesn't happen that way, though. 
But to crown it all, in this table which is now turned to the 
wall, you have Lemmie Quinn arriving, not on the minute, 
but, to serve your purpoees, from 12 :20 to 12 :22; but that, 
gentlemen, confticts with the evidence of Freeman and the 
other young lady, who placed Quinn by their evidence, in the 
factory before that time. 

Mr . .Ant0l<l. There isn't a word of evidence to that effect; thoee 
ladies were there at 11 :35 and left at 11 :45, Corinthia Hall and 
Miss Fn!eman, they left there at 11 :45, and it 'Was after they bad 
eaten lunch and about to pay their fare before they ever saw 
Quinn, at the little eafe, the Bnsy Bee. He says that they saw 
Quinn over at the factory before 12, as I understood it. 

Mr. Doney. Yes, sir, by his evidence. 
Mr. .Arnold. That's absolutely ineorrect, they never saw Quinn 

there then and never swore they did. 
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Mr. Dorst11J. No, they didn't see him there, I doubt if anybody 
else saw him there either. 

Mr • .Arnold. If a crowd of people here laugh every time we say 
anything, how are we to hear the Court t He has made a whole lot 
of little miB11tatementa, but I let those pass, but I'm 'going t.o inter­
rupt him on every substantial one he makes. 

Mr. Doney. He says those I&dies saw Quinn-says they 
"saw Quinn was there before 12, and before I left there at 1 
o'clock." "You saw him at that, did yout" "Yes, sir." 
"Now, you are sure he did thatt" "Yes, sir." "You are 
positive he did thatt" "Yes, sir"; and then Mr. Amold 
comes in with his suggestion, and she takes the bait and runs 
under the bank-he saw how it cut Then I came back at her 
again-now, just to show how she turned turtle, "You did see 
Frank working Saturday morning on the :financial sheett" 
"No, he didn't work on the :financial sheet." "Why did you 
state a moment ago you saw him working on itt" "No, sir, I 
didn't." 

My Lord l Gentlemen, are you going to take that kind of 
stu1ft I know she is a woman, and I'd hesitate except I had 
the paper here in my hand, to make this charge, but if you, as 
honest men, are going to let the people of Georgia and Fulton 
County and of Atlanta suifer one of its innocent girls to go 
to her death at the hands of a man like this and then tum him 
loose on such evidence as this, then I say, it's time to quit 
going through the farce of summoning a jury to try him. If 
I had the standing, the ability and the power of either Messrs. 
Arnold or Rosser, to ring that into your ears and drive it 
home, you would almost write a verdict of guilty before you 
left your boL 

Perjury! Perjury! When did old John Starnes and Pat 
Campbell, from the Emerald Isle, or Rosser ever fall so low 
that, when they could convict a negro-easy, because he 
wouldn't have Arnold and RoSser, but just my friend Bill 
Smith. And for what reason do they want to let Jim go and 
go after this man Frank! Why didn't they take Newt Leet 
Why dido 't they take Gantt t The best reason in the world 
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is that they had only cob-webs, cob-webs, weak and flimsy cir­
cumstances against those men, and the circumstances were 
inconsistent with the theory of guilt and consistent with some 
other hypothesis. 

But 88 to this man, you have got cables, strong, so strong 
that even the ability, the combined ability of the erudite Ar­
nold and the dynamic Rosser couldn't ·break them or disturb 
them. 

Circumstantial evidence is just 88 good 88 any other kind, 
when it's the right kind. It's a poor case of circumstantial 
evidence against Newt Lee ; it's no ease against that long­
legged Gantt from the bills of Cobb. But against this man, 
oh, a perfect, a perfect case. And you stood up here and 
dealt in generalities as to perjury and corruption; it isn't 
worth a cent unless you put your finger on the specific in­
stances, and here it is in black and white, committed in the 
presence of this jury, after he had already said that he wrote 
the financial sheet Saturday morning, and at your su~ion, 
he turned around and swore to the contrary. 

Yet my friend Schiff says-no, I take that back-Schiff 
says, with the stenographer gone, with Frank behind in his 
work, that he went home and slept all day, and didn't get up 
what he called the "dahta"-well, he's a Joe Darter, that's· 
what Schiff is. It never happened, it never happened, with 
that financial sheet that Saturday morning, but if it did, it 
wouldn't prove anything. He may have the nerve of an Oscar 
Wilde, he may have been cool, when nobody was there to 
accuse him, and it isn't at aU improbable, if he didn't have 
the "dabta" in the morning, for him to have sat there and 
deliberately written that financial sheet. 

Do you tell me that Frank, when the factory eloeed at 
twelve o'clock Saturdays, with as charming a wife 88 he pos-
1088e8, with baseball-the college graduate, the head of the 
B 'nai 'Brith, the man who loved to play cards and mix with 
friends, would spend bis Saturday afternoons using this 
"data" that Scbitf got up for him, when he could do it Sat. 
urda7 mondngt No, air. Kim ~ told the truth up UD· 
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til that time-" I didn't stay there very often on Saturday 
afternoon;'' Miss Fleming didn't stay there all aft.ernoon. 
Now, gentlemen, I submit this man made that financial sheet 
Saturday morning. He could have fixed up that 1lnancial 
sheet Saturday afternoon, but he wouldn't have done it with­
out Schiff having furnished the data if he hadn't been sus­
pecting an accusation of murdering that little girl A man 
of Frank's type could easily have fixed that :ftnancial aheet­
a thing he did :ftfty-two times a year for 1lve or six years-and 
eould have betrayed no nervol181less, he might easily-u he 
did when he wrote for the police-in the handwriting, a thing 
that he was aceustomed to do-even in the presence of the 
po&e-you '11 have it out with you-he may have written IO 

as not to betray his nervousness. 
And speaking about perjury: There's a writing that his 

mother said anybody who knew his writing ought to be able 
t.o identify and yet, that man you put up there to prove 
Frank's writing, was so afraid that he would do this man 
some injury, that he wouldn't identify the writing that his 
mother says that anybody that knows it at all, could recognize. 
I grant you that he didn't betray nervousness, probably, in 
the bosom of his family; I grant you that he could fix up a 
1lnancial sheet that he had been fixing up :6.fty-two times a 
year for five or six years and not betray nervousness; I grant 
you that he could unlock the safe, a thing that he did ~ery 
day for three hundred and sixty-Ave days in the year, without 
betraying nervousness; but when he went to run the elevator, 
when he '\!rent to nail up the door, when he talked to the police, 
when he rode to the station, then he showed nervousness. 

And he could sit in a hall and read and joke about the 
baseball umpire, but his frivolty, that annoyed the people 
Saturday night that they had the card game, was the same 
kind of frivolity that Beattie betrayed when he stood at the 
automobile that contained the blood of his wife that he had 
shot. And certainly it is 'before this jury that he went in · 
laughing and joking and trying t.o read a story that resulted 
only in annoyance to the people that were in that oard game. 
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But whether or not he made out that financial sheet, I '11 
tell you something that he did do Saturday afternoon, when 
he was waiting up there for old Jim to come back to burn that 
body, I'll tell you something that he did do-and don't forget 
the envelope and don't forget the way that that paper was 
folded, either, don't forget it. Listen to this: "I trust this 
finds you and dear tont (that's the German ·for aunt) well 
after arriving safe in New York. I hope you found all the 
dear ones well, in Brooklyn." 

Didn't have any wealthy people in Brooklyn, eh t Thia 
uncle of his was mighty near Brooklyn, the very time old Jim 
says he looked 11p and said, "I have wealthy people in Brook­
lyn.." And I would really like to know, I would like to see 
how much that brother-in-law that runs that cigar busineaa 
has invested in that store, and how much he has got. The very 
letter that you wrote on Saturday, the 26th, shows that you 
anticipated that this old -gentleman, whom everybody says has 
got money, was then, you supposed, in Brooklyn, because here 
you say that "I hope you have found all the dear ones well"­
but I'm coming back to what Frank said to old Jim-'' and I 
await a letter from you telling me how you found things there 
in Brooklyn. Lucile and I are well. 

Now, here is a sentence that is pregnant with significance, 
which bears the ear-marks of the guilty conscience; tremulous 
as he wrote it t No, he could shut bis eyes and write and make 
up a financial sheet.--he' a capable and smart, wonderfully 
endowed intellectually, but here's a sentence that, if I know 
human nature and know the conduct of the guilty conscience, 
and whatever you may say about whether or not he prepared 
the financial sheet on Saturday morning, here's a document 
I'll concede was written when he knew that the body of little 
Mary Phagan, who died for virtue's sake, lay in the dark 
recesses of that basement. "It is too short a time," he says, 
"since you left for anything startling to have developed down 
here." Too short t Too short f Startling t But "Too short a 
time," and that it.self shows that the dastardly deed was done 
in an inerecb°bily short time. And do you tell me, honest men, 
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fair men, courageous men, true Georgians, seeking to do your 
duty, that that phrase, penned by that man to his uncle on 
Saturday afternoon, didn't come from a conscience that was 
its own accuser! "It is too short a time since you left for 
anything startling to have developed down here.'' What do 
you think of that t .And then listen at this-as if that old 
gentleman, his uncle, cared anything for this proposition, this 
old millionaire traveling abroad to Germany for his health, 
this man from Brooklyn-an eminent authority says that 
unusual, unnecessary, unexpected and extravagant expres­
sions are always earmarks of fraud; and do you tell me that 
this old gentleman, expecting to sail for Europe, the man who 
wanted the price list and financial sheet, cared anything for 
those old heroes in gray! And isn't this sentence itself sig­
nificant: "Today was yonti1f (holiday) here, and the thin 
gray lines of veterans here braved the rather chilly weather 
to do honor to their fallen comrades"; and this from Leo M. 
Frank, the statistician, to the old man, the millionaire , or 
nearly so, who cared so little about the thin gray line of vet­
erans, but who cared all for how much money had been gotten 
in by the pencil factory. 

"Too short a time for anything startling to have happened 
down here since you left''; but there was something startling, 
and it happened within the space of thirty minutes. "There 
is nothing new in the factory to report." Ah I there was some­
thing new, and there was something startling, and the time 
was not too short. You can take that letter and read it for 
yourself. You tell me that letter was written in the morning, 
do you believe it t I tell you that that letter shows on its face 
that something startling had happened, and that there was 
something new in the factory, and I tell you that that rich 
uncle, then supposed to be with his kindred in Brooklyn, 
didn't care a flip of bis finger about the thin gray line of vet­
erans. His people lived in Brooklyn, that's one thing dead 
sure and certain, and old Jim never would have known it ex­
cept Leo M. Frank had told him, and they had at least $20,000 
in cold cash out on interest, and the brother-in-law the owner 
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of a st.ore employing two or three people, and we don't know 
how many more; and if the uncle wasn't in Brooklyn, he was 
so near thereto that even Frank himself thought he was at the 
very moment he claimed he was there, because he says, "you 
have seen or are with the people in Brooklyn.'' · 

All right; let's go a step further. On April 28th, he wired 
Adolph Montag in care of the Imperial Hotel-listen, now, 
to what he says-"You may have read in Atlanta papers of 
factory girl found dead Sunday morning." In factory! In 
factory! No, "in cellar." Cella:i,- where! "Cellar of pencil 
factory." There's where he placed her, there's where he ex­
pected her to be found; and the thing welled up in his mind 
to such an extent that, Monday morning, April 28th, before 
he had ever been arrested, he wires Montag forestalling what 
he knew would surely and certainly come unless the Atlanta 
detectives were corrupted and should suppress it. 

"You have read in Atlanta papers of factory girl found 
dead Sunday morning in cellar of pencil factory. Police will 
eventually solve it, "-he didn't have any doubt about it­
'1 Police will eventually solve it"-and be it said to their 
credit, they did,-" Assure my uncle "-he says, Monday 
morning-"I am all right in case he asks. Our company has 
ease well in hand." "Girl found dead in pencil factory cel­
lar," he says in the telegram, "the police will eventually 
solve it," he says, before he was arrested, "I am all right, 
in case my uncle asks,'' and ''our company has the ease well 
in hand." 

Well, maybe he did think that when he got that fellow 
Scott, that he had it well in hand. I'll tell you, there's an 
honest man. If there was a slush fund in this case,-these 
witnesses here say they don't know anything about it, but if 
there was a slush fund in this case, Scott could have got it, 
because, at first, he never heard any words that sounded bet­
ter to him than when Scott said "we travel arm in arm with 
the police," that's exactly what Frank wanted them to do 
at that time, he wanted somebody that would run with Black 
and Starnes and Rosser, and it sounded good to him, and 
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he said all right. He didn't want him to ran anywhere else, 
because he wanted him to work hand in glove with these 
men, and he wanted to know what they did and what they 
said and what they thought. But Haas-and he's nobody's 
fool-when he saw that they were getting hot on the trail, 
opened up the conversation with the suggestion that "now 
you let us have what you get, ftrat," and if Scott had fallen 
for that suggestion, then there would have been something 
else. You know it. You tell me that letter and that telegram 
are not signi1lcant f I tell you that this evidence shows, not­
withstanding what "Joe Darter" Schi.t! swore, when he saw 
the necessity to meet this evidence of Miss Fleming, which 
Mr. Arnold tried so hard, because he saw the force of it, to 
turn into another channel, that Frank didn't fix that flnan­
cial sheet Saturday morning. I say that, with the steno­
grapher gone and Frank behind (and Schllf bad never done 
such a thing before, he had always stuck to him in getting 
it up before), that what Gantt told you is the truth. 

This man, expert, brilliant-talk about this expert account­
ant, Joel Hunter! Why, he isn't near as smart as this man 
Frank, to begin on, and besides, the idea of his going up there 
and taking up those things and trying to institute a compari­
son as to how long it would take him, even if he had the ca­
pacity of Frank-he hasn't got it-to go up there and do 
those things-why, it's worse than ridiculous. 

And Frank himself wasn't satisfied with all this showing 
about what he had done, he got up on the stand,-he saw 
the weakness of his case, and he's as smart as either one of 
his lawyers, too, let me tell you, and I '11 bet you he wrote 
that statement, too, they may have read it, but he wrote it-­
Frank realized that he must go over and beyond what the evi­
dence was, and through his statement he sought to lug into 
this case something that they didn't have any evidence for. 
Why f Because he knew in his heart that all this talk about 
the length of time it took to fix that financial sheet was mere 
buncombe. Then he seeks to put in here through that state. 
ment-and if we hadn't stopped him he would have done it-
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a whole raft of other stuil that Schiff, as willing as he was, 
as anxious as he was, couldn't stultify himself to such an ex­
tent as to tell you that Frank did that work Saturday morn­
ing. But if he did write that financial sheet Saturday after­
noon, a thing I submit he didn't do,-1 'm willing to admit 
he wrote tiiat letter,-1 ask you, as fair men and honest 
men and disinterested jurors representing the people of this 
community in seeing that justice is done and that the man 
who committed that dastardly deed has meted out to him 
that which he meted out to this poor little girl, if this docu­
mentary evidence, these papers, don't have the impress of a 
guilty man f You know it. 

All right; but you say there's perjury. Where is itf I'll 
tell you another case-I have already referred to it-it's 
when that man, :put up there to identify Frank's writing, 
failed to identify a writing that Frank's own mother swore 
that anybody that knew anything about his writing could 
have identified. There's perjury there when Roy Bauer 
swore with such minute particularity as to his visits to that 
faetory. There's perjury when this man Lee says that Duffy 
held his 1lnger out and just let that blood spurt. But that 
ain't all. Here's the evidence of Mrs. Carson. Mrs. Carson 
says she has worked in that factory three years; and Mr. 
Arnold, in that suave manner of his, without any evidence to 
support it, not under oath, says "Mrs. Carson, I'll ask you 11 

question I would.n 't ask a younger woman, have you ever at 
any time around .the ladies' dressing room seen any blood 
spots!" and she said "I certainly have." That's a ridiculous 
proposition on its face. "Have you seen that on several oc. 
casions or notf" "I seen it three or four times"-not in 
three years; but now, "Did you ever have any conversation 
with Jim Conley f'' and she says, ''Yes, on Tuesday he came 
around to sweep around my table"-that's exactly where 
Jim says he was Tuesday morning before this man was ar­
rested; "What floor do you work on f" "Fourth." "What 
door do your daughters work on f" "On the fourth." "Did 
you eee him up there Monday morning!" "No sir"-that's 
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Frank. "Tuesday momingf" "I saw him Tuesday morn­
ing"-he was up there on the fourth ftoor after the murder, 
on Tuesday, "sometime between nine and eleven o'clock." I 
said, "between nine and eleven, somewhere along there!" 
"Sometime between nine and eleven thirty." "Now, Jim 
Conley and Leo M. Frank were both on your 1loor between 
the same hours!" "I saw Mr. Frank and I saw Jim Conley." 

"You know it because you had a conversation with Mr. 
Frank, and you had a conversation with Jim Conley!" "Yes, 
I saw them. both." And Conley says-and surely Conley 
couldn't have been put up to it by these men, even if they had 
wanted to suborn perjury-that when Frank came up there 
Tuesday morning before he was arrested, it was then that he 
came to him and leaned over and said cc Jim, be a good boy," 
and then Jim, remembering the money and remembering the 
wealthy people in Brooklyn and the promises that Frank 
made, says, "Yes, I is." · 

Tuesday moming, says Mrs. Carson, your witness, Jim 
Conley and Frank both were on that ftoor, and Jim was do­
ing exactly what he said he was doing, sweeping. Now, let's 
see. This old lady was very much interested. "Now, did 
you go on the oftlce ftoor to see that blood"-listen at this 
"What blood!" "The blood right there by the dressing 
room!" "What dressing room, what blood are you talking 
aboutf" "She had seen it three or four times all over the fac­
tory. "On the second ftoor!" "No sir," she says, "I never 
did see that spot." "Never saw it at all ! " "No, I didn't 
care to look at nothing like that." "You don't care tO look 
at nothing like thatf" "No sir, I don't." 

Now, that's Mrs. Carson, the mother of Miss Rebecca, 
that's what she told you under oath when she was on the 
stand. 

Now, let's see about perjury. Now, mark you, I'm not 
getting up here and saying this generally, without putting 
my finger on the specific instances, and I'm not nearly ex­
hausting the record,-you can follow it up,-but I am just 
picking out a few instances. Here's what Mrs. Small says 
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about Jim Conley reading the newspapers. Well, if Jim 
had committed that crime and he hadn't felt that he had 
the power and infiuence of Leo Frank back of him to pro­
tect him, he never would have gone back there to that fac. 
tory or sat around and read newspapers, and you know it, 
if you know anything about the character of the negro. 
Why was he so anxious to get the newspapersT It was be­
cause Jim knew some of the facts that he wanted to see, 
negro-like,-that's what made him so anxious about it. 
Here Mr. Arnold comes,-"You are a lady that works on the 
fourth floor, and I'm going to ask you a question that we 
are going to ask every lady that works on that fourth 
ftoor;" and we caught them out on that proposition, too, 
didn't we T And you don't know right now how many wom­
en that worked on that floor were put up and how many 
weren't. You've got the books and the records and you 
could have called the names, and you didn't dare do it, and 
after you had gone ahead and four-flushed before this jury 
as to what you were going to do, we picked out Miss Kitchens 
and brought her here and she corroborated your own witness, 
.M°l88 · Jackson, as to the misconduct of this superintendent, 
Frank. 

Now, let's see what Mrs. Small says-Mrs. Small is the 
lady that got the raise, you remember, and couldn't tell what 
date it was, thought it had been about four months ago, she 
got a five cent raise; about four months ago would make it 
since this murder, and when I got to quizzing her about it 
she didn't know when she got the raise, and she's not the 
only one that got the raise, and it wasn't only in the factory 
that they raised them, either. Even Minola McKnight got 
some raise, and after she saw the import of it, "You don't 
remember the exact date." "No sir, I don't," when she 
had already placed the date subsequent to this murder; and 
this woman, Mrs. Small, also corroborates Jim Conley about 
being up there Tuesday. 

"Did you see Mr. Frank up there any of those daysT" "I 
saw Mr. Frank up there Tuesday after that time." "What 
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time Tuesday f" "I eouldn 't tell you, I guess it was between 
eight and nine o'clock." The other one saw him aomewhere 
between nine and eleven or eleven thirty. Thia lady, their 
witness, says that he wu up there between eight and nine. 

Why was Frank so aui0ll8 to go up there on that fioorf 
Whyf It was because. he wanted to see this man Jim Con­
ley that he thought was going to protect him. Mr. Roeser 
charactemed my suggestion that this man Frank called upon 
and expected Jlm Conley to conceal the crime as a dirty sug­
gestion, and I accept it as absolutely true, and I go a st.ep 
further, and say it was not only dirty, it was infamous. 
And he would today sit here in this court house and see a 
jury of honest men put a rope around Jim Conley's neck, 
the man that was brought into it by him; and he didn't 
mean to bring Jim Conley in unless he had to-and he had 
to. Jim says the first question he asked him when he saw 
him down there after this dastardly crime had been eom­
mitted was, "Have you seen anybody go upf" · "Yea," says 
Jim, "I have seen two girls go up but I haven't seen but one 
come down." And then it was that this man saw the abao­
lute necessity of taking Jim into his confidence, because he 
knew that Jim was on the lookout for him, and Starnes and 
Campbell and Black, combined, together, and even if you 
make a composite intellect and add the brilliance of Measra. 
Roeser and Arnold to that of these detectives, could never 
have fitted that piece of mosiac into the· situation; it im 't 
to be done. 

"Jim, have you seen anybody go upf'~ "Yes," said Jim, 
"I see two girls go up but only one came down." And you 
told Jim to protect you, and Jim tried to do it, and the sug­
gestion was dirty, and worse than that, it is infamous, to be 
willing to see J°lDl Conley hung for a crime that Leo Frank 
committed. 

But I'm coming to that after a while, I haven't got to the 
State's case yet, I'm just cutting away some of the under­
brush that you have tried to plant in this forest of gigantic 
oab to smother up their growth, but yoa can't do ·it, the 
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facts are too firmly and too deeply rooted. Oh, yes, says 
Mrs. Small, I saw Frank up there on that fourth 1loor be­
tween eight and nine o'clock Tuesday morning, and the other 
lady saw him up there between nine and eleven, she wouldn't 
be sure the day he was arrested-I say arrested, according to 
Frank's own statement himself, they got him and just de­
tained him, and even then, red-handed murderer as he was, 
his standing and in1luence, and the standing and in1luence of 
his attorney, somehow or other-and that's the only thing to 
the discredit of the police department throughout the whole 
thing, say what you may-they were intimidated and afraid 
because of the in11uence that was back of him, to consign him 
to a eell like they did Lee and Conley, and it took them a 
little time to anive at the pc)int where they bad the nerve 
and courage to face the situation and put him where he 
ought to be. 

Now, I'll tell you another thing, too, if old John Blaek­
and Mr. Rosser didn't get such a great triumph out of him 
as he would have us believe, either. Black's methods are 
somewhat like Rosser's methods, and if Black had Ro.er 
where Roeser had Black, or if Black had Romer down at 
poliee station, Black would get Roeser; and if Black had been 
given an opportunity to go after this man, Leo M. Frank, 
like he went after that poor defenseless negro, Newt Lee, 
towards whom you would have directed suspicion, this trial 
might have been obviated, and a confession might have bee1 ·. 
obtained. You didn't get your lawyer to sustain you and 
support you a moment too soon. You called for Darley, and 
you ealled for Haas, and you called for Rosser, and you called 
for .Arnold, and it took the combined eftorts of all of the:rr. 
to keep up your nerve. .And I don't want to misquote and 
I won't misquote, but I want to drive it home with all the 
power that I possibly can or that I p088e88. The only thing 
in this case that can be said to the discredit of the police de­
partment of the City of .Atlanta is that you treated this man, 
who snufted out that little girl's life on the second floor of 
that pencil factory, with too much consideration, and you 
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let able counsel and the glamour that surrounds wealth and 
in1luence, deter you. I honol'-but I honor the way they 
went after Minola McKnight. I don't know whether they 
want me to apologize for them or not, but if you think that 
finding the red-handed murderer of a little girl like this is 
a ladies' tea party, and that the detectives should have the 
manners of a dancing master and apologize and palaver, 
you don't know anything about the business. You have seen 
these dogs that hunt the 'poamm bark up a tree or in a 
stump, and when they once get the scent of the 'possum, you 
can do what you like but they'll bark up that tree and they'll 
bark in that stump until they run him out, and so with old 
John Starnes and Campbell. They knew and you know that 
Albert McKnight would never have told Craven this tale 
about what he saw and what his wife had told him except for 
the fact that it be true, and if you had been Starnes, you 
would have been barking up that tree or barking in that 
stump until you ran out what you knew was in there. That '1 

all there is to it. 
You have got the writ of habeas corpus that's guaranteed 

to you, go and get it; and if Mr. Haas had come to me Tues­
day morning and said "You direct the police"-on Monday 
morning, when Frank was taken down into custody, and 
said to me, ''You direct the police to turn this man Frank 
loose, he's innocent," I would have said "It's none of :tny 
business, I run my oftlce, they run their oftlce," and the next 
time the police department, in an effort to serve the people 
of this community, take a negro that they know and you 
know and lock her up or what not, I '11 not usurp the func­
tions of the judge of these courts, who can turn her loose on 
a habeas corpus, and direct them to turn her loose or inter­
fere in any way in their business; I don't run the police de­
partment of the City of Atlanta, I run the oftlce of Solicitor 
General for the term that the people have elected me, and 
I'm taken to task because I went in at the beginning of this 
thing and didn't stand back 

I honor Mr. Hill. I am as proud of having succeeded him 
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as I am that I was elected to the position by the people of 
this community, to the oftiee of Solicitor General, but I have 
never yet seen the man that I would 'take as my model or 
pattern; I follow the dictates of my own conscience. And 
if there is one act since I have been Solictor General of 
which I am proud, it is the fact that I joined band and glove 
with the detectives in the e«ort to seek the murderer of 
Mary Phagan, and when your influence poured letters in to 
the Grand Jury, in an effort to hang an innocent man, negro 
though he be, that I stood :8rmly up against it. If that be 
treason, make the best of it. And if you don't want me to 
do it, then get somebody else to :B.11 the job, and the quicker 
you do it the better it will suit me. I will not pattern myself 
after anybody or anybody's method, not even Mr. Hill, and, 
bless his old soul, he was grand and great, and I have wished 
a hundred times that he was here today to make the speech 
that I'm now making. There wouldn't be hair or hide left 
on you,-he was as noble as any Roman that ever lived, as 
courageous as Julius Caesar, and as eloquent as Demosthenes. 
Such talk as that don't scare me, don't terrify me, don't dis­
turb the serenity of my conscience, which approves of every­
thing that I have done in the prosecution of this man. 

Now, let's come back here and discWIS this thing of per­
jury, let's talk about that a little, let's not get up here and 
say that everybody is a liar without citing any instances and 
that they are crack-brain fanatics, let's knuckle down and 
get specific instances. So this Mrs. Small says she saw Jim 
Conley,-"Did you see Mr. Frank up there on any of those 
days t" "I saw Mr. Frank after that crime on Tuesday." 
"What time Tuesdayt" "I couldn't tell you, I guess be­
tween eight and nine o'clock, he and Miss Carson were com­
ing up from the back end of the factory (Miss Rebecca, I 
presume)." "He and Mrs. Carson were coming up from 
the back end of the factory, and I stepped up in front of 
him and I said 'Here, Mr. Frank, wait a moment, 0. K. this 
ticket,' he says 'are you going to put me to work as soon as I 
get here t' and I says 'Yes it's good for your health.' He 
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0. K. 'd the ticket and I went on with my work.'' So Frank 
was up there Tuesday morning. 

"Now, speaking about Mrs. Carson, how far towards the 
elevator did Mrs. Carson go with Frank t A.-'' Mrs. Car­
aon wasn't up there, it was Miss Carson, Miss Rebecca.'' 
The old lady says she was; I said, ''Oh, the old lady wun 't 
up there at all!" No, sir; she wasn't there Tuesday at all." 
"You saw Miss Rebecca Ca1'80n walking up t.owards the 
elevator!" "Yes sir." "What was Conley doing!" "Stand­
ing there by the elevator." And yet Jim has lied about 
Frank I Frank was up there twice, J'un was sweeping, Jim 
was there by the elevator. "At the time you saw Frank, 
the negro was standing there at the elevator!" "Yes, sir; 
he wasn't sweeping, he was standing there with his hand on 
the truck looking around." "Did he see you and Frank!" 
"I guess he must have seen U&" "Where was Conley when 
he went down the steps!" "Standing in front of the eleva­
tor." "How close did Frank pass Conley!" ".As close as 
from here to that table, about four feet." "Conley was still 
standing there with his hand on that thing, is that true t'' 
"Yes sir." 

"That's exactly like Conley says." .And here's another 
thing: This woman, Mrs. Small, testi1les about that eleva­
tor,-it shakes the whole building, I said, anybody in the 
world could tell it if the machinery wasn't running! She 
says, "No, anybody in the world could tell it if the machin­
ery wasn't running, but you ean 't notice it unless you are 
close to the elevator." I asked "If there was hammering 
and knocking, would you still hear the elevator t '' She said, 
''You could if you get close to it.'' Well, of course, you eould, 
nobody disputes that. "If the elevator was up here, and 
you were back in the rear and there was hammering and 
knocking going on, you eouldn 'tt" "No sir." And that dis­
poses of that point, that's the truth on that. 

Now, Mrs. Carson had already sworn here positively that 
she didn't go down to see that blood, hasn't she t There were 
too many o~ these people over there at the factory who had 
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seen that blood,-that blood that at ftrst W88Il 't blood, it was 
paint, and then wasn't paint but was cat's ·blood or blood 
from aomebody that was injured, and then wasn't fresh 
blood but was stale blood-too many of them had seen it. 
"On Wednesday I had no business back there, I was there 
one da7 but can't remember." "What did you go back there 
fort'~ "A crowd of us went at noon to see if we could see 
any blood spots.'~ "Were you suecessfult" "No sir." 
"Who went with you!'~ .And lo and behold, Mrs. Carson, 
the mother of Rebecca, had already stated that she didn't go 
about it, the very ftrst person that this Mrs. Small refers to­
"Well, Mrs. Carson." "Mrs. Carson went with you," I said. 
"Yes sir, she saw the places where the blood was said to 
be." "You know she was there, you are pretty sure she was 
there!" Mrs. Small said "Yes sir." "It looked like what!" 
"Looked like powder." "How much of it down there!" "A 
small amount, just a little, looked like some of the girls had 
been powdering their face and spilled powder." You know 
better than that. I came back to ihe subject, "What makes 
you say Mrs. Carson went down there with you t" Answer 
-"Because curiosity sent us down there." "Did curiosity 
send her down there toot" "We went back afterwards." 

Now, gentlemen, somebody swore,-and I put it up tO you, 
too,--eomebody committed perjury t "You were going back 
yourself and went to get her!" "Yes sir." "She didn't 
make any objection to going down, did she!" "No sir." 
''Don't you know she did!' 't go t'' ''I know,'' she says, ''that 
ahe did." 

.AD right; if this case is founded on perjury, it's the kettle 
ealling the pot black, and I haven't dealt in glittering gen­
eralities, I have set forth specllle cases. But that isn't in­
tended to be exhaustive, that's a mere summary of a few of 
these instances, they are too numerous to mention. The 
truth is that there is no phase of this ease, where evidence 
was needed to bolster it up that somebody hasn't come in, 
1011 say, willingly and without pay, because, you say there is 
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no slush fund back of this case. Now, let's pass on here a 
little bit. 

They tried mighty hard to- break down this man Albert 
McKnight with Minola-and I believe I '11 leave that for a 
little later and come now to this statement of Frank's. Gen­
tlemen, I wish I could travel faster over this. I'm doing the 
very best I can, I have a diftlcult task and I wish I didn't 
have it to do at all. 

Now, gentlemen, I want to discuss brie1ly right here these 
lett.ers, and if these letters weren't "the order of an all-ruling 
Providence I should agree with my friends that they are the 
silliest pieces of stwr ever practiced; but these letters have 
intrinsic marks of a knowledge of this transaction," these 
pads, that pad,-things usually found in his oftice,-this man 
Frank, by the language of these notes, in attempting to fas­
ten the crime upon another, "has indell"bly :fixed it upon him­
self." I repeat it, these not.es, which were intended to fix the 
crime upon another, "have indelibly :fixed it upon this de­
fendant," Leo M. Frank. The pad, the paper, the fact that 
he want.ed a note,-you tell me that ever a negro lived on the 
face of the earth who, after having killed and robbed, or rav­
ished and murdered a girl down in that dark basement, or 
down there in that area, would have taken up the time to 
have written these notes, and written them on a scratch pad 
which is a thing that usually: stays in the office, or written 
them on paper like this, found right outside of the office of 
Frank, as shown on that diagram, which is introduced in evi­
dence and which you will have out with you t You tell me 
that that man, Jim Conley, sober, as Tillander and Graham 
tell you, when they went there, would have ravished this girl 
with a knowledge of the fact that Frank was in that house t 
I tell you no. Do you tell me that this man, Jim Conley, 
"drunk as a :fiddler's bitch," if you want it that way, would, 
o:r eould have taken time to have written these notes to put 
beside the body of that dead girl t I tell you no, and you 
don't need me to tell you, you know it. The fact, gentlemen 
of the jury, that these notes were written-ah, but YOll say 
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that it's foolish. You say it's foolish. It's ridiculous. It 
was a silly piece of business, it was a great folly; but murder 
will out, and Providence directs things in a mysterious way, 
and not only that, as Judge Bleckley says, "Crime, whenever 
eommitted, is a mistake in it.self; and what kind of logic is 
it that will say that a man committed a erime, which is a 
great big mistake and then in an e1fort t.o cover it up, won't 
make a smaller mistake!'' There's no logic in that position. 
The man who commits a crime makes a mistake, and the man 
who seeks t.o cover it up nearly always makes also a little 
mistake. And this man here, by these notes, purporting t.o 
have been written by little Mary Phagan, by the verbiage and 
the language and the context, in trying t.o fasten it on an­
other, as sure as you are sitting in this jury box "has indeli­
bly fastened it on bimMl.f." These gentlemen saw the signift­
eance of the di1ference between Scott's evidence, when he 
was before the Coroner,-and he wasn't quizzed there par­
tieularly about it,-"1 t.old her no," and "It.old her I didn't 
know;" t.o tell that little girl "No," would have given her no 
excuse, according t.o their way of thinking, t.o go back t.o see 
whether that metal had come or not, but t.o tell her "I didn't 
know," would lure her back int.o the snare where she met her 
death. And your own detective, Scott, says, after he gave 
the thing mature deliberation, that this man on the Monday 
evening,-and he was so anxious about getting a detective 
that he had that man Schi1f telephone three times, three 
times, three times, three times,-remember that,--eo anxious 
was he. Scott says, after thinking over the matfier, that Leo 
M. Frank t.old that girl that he didn't know whether the 
metal had come or not, and she went back there t.o see about 
the metal, and he followed her back there. 

I'll tell you another thing, that old Starnes and Campbell 
and Rosser, and even Newport Lanford, if he had been called 
in, and even if I had been called in, t.o save my life, could not 
have known that the very word that Leo M. Frank used, ac­
cording t.o Jim Conley when Conley says Frank t.old him 
"I'm going t.o chat with a girl," would have been used ex-
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actly four times, as I'll show you when I come t.o read this 
statement by Leo M. Frank, for he chatted, and he cbatt.ed, 
and he ehatt.ed, and he chatted, according t.o his own state­
ment. This letter that I hold in my hand says that this 
negro "did it." Old Jim Conley in his statement here, which 
I hold in my hand, every time he opened his mouth 1&ys "I 
done it." Old Jim Conley, if he had written these notes, 
never would have said "this negro did it by his self" but 
Frank wanted it understood that the man that did do it, 
"did it by his self." Jim Conley says that Frank 1&ys he 
wanted t.o chat, and four times in this statement before the;y 
811Bpended t.o go out and let you refresh younelf, this man 
Frank had said that somebody came in the o8lce "to chat," 
and Mr. .Arnold, in making his argument to the jury, real­
illed, because he is as keen and as smart as they ever pt to 
be, the force of that word and endeavored t.o parry the blow 
whieh I now seek t.o give this defendant. 

And you tell me that old Jim Conle;y, after he had robbed 
and murdered, or after he had ravished and murdered this 
girl, when he would have had no occasion in the world t.o ha'Ve 
eared whether her dead body was found right there at that 
chute, was such a fool as t.o take the time t.o take her body 
way back there in the basement and hide it behind the cor­
ner of that room t I tell you that it never occurred. That 
body was taken down there and put in the place where it was. 
Whyt Because she was murdered on the second :floor, where 
the blood spots are found, and because Leo M. Frank, the 
superintendent of the plant, saw and felt the necessity that 
that girl's body should not be found on the second :floor of 
the peneil fact.ory, but, t.o use the language which he put in 
the letter or telegram which he sent to Adolph Montag in 
New York, "in the cellar." My! My! "That negro fireman 
down here did this." 

Now, let's see how many times Jim says "done it": "I 
locked the door like he done t.old me, I remembers that be­
eause the man what was with the baby looked at me like he 
thought I done it." That's when they ran int.o the man that 
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Jim says looked at him like he thought ''I done it.'' 
It's the dllference between ignorance and edueation, and 
these notes that you had that man prepare in your office on 
this paper that stayed on that ftoor and on that pad that 
came from your office, T>ear the marks of your diction, and 
Starnes and Campbell, with all their ingenuity, couldn't have 
antieip'ated that old Jim would get up here and state that 
"this man looked at me when he ran into that baby, like I 
done it;" and couldn't have made him say "I locked the 
door like he done told me;" and couldn't have said "I went 
on and walked up to Mr. Frank and told him that girl was 
done dead, he done just like this and said sh-h-h. '' I could go 
on with other instances. 

·And there's your word "chat," "chat," "chat," "chat," 
four times, I'm going to read it to you, it's here in black and 
white, and you ean 't get around it. This girl went down 
there in that scuttle hole t Listen at this,-you didn't want 
to say that she went back there to see about the metal, but 
you knew that the ladies' water eloset was back there, and 
you make this poor girl say "I went to make water," "I 
went to make water, he pushed me down that hole, a -long, 
tall, blaek negro"-"long, slim, tall, ~gro, I write while he 
play with me." And this note says "that long, tall, black 
negro did it by his self." Make water t Where did she go to 
make water! Right back there in the same direction that she 
would have gone to see about the metal. You tell me, except 
providentially, that that would have crept in here t You tell 
me that old Jim Conley, negro, after he had struck that girl 
with that big stick,-which is a plant as sure as you are liv· 
ing here and as sure as Newt Lee's shirt was a plant,-you 
tell me that negro felt any inducement or necessity for leav­
ing that girl's form anywhere except where he hit her and 
knocked her down t You tell me that he had the ingenuity, 
--and mark you, Starnes and these other Dli!n weren't there 
then to dictate and map out,-you tell me that he would 
write a note that she went back to make water when there's 
no place and her usual place was up there on the second ftoort 
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I tell you, gentlemen of the jury, that a smarter man than 
Starnes, or a smarter man than Campbell, a smarter man 
than Black, a smarter man than Rosser, in the person of Leo 
M. Frank, felt impelled to put there these letters, which he 
thought would exculpate him, but which incriminate and 
damn him in the minds of every man seeking to get at the 
truth. Yet you tell me there's nothing in circumstantial 
evidenee, when here 'a a pad and there's the pad and there 'a 
the notes, which you must admit, or which you don't deny, 
old Jim Conley wrote, because you say in your statement you 
had got numerous notes from him, and yet, the very day, at 
the police station, according to your own statement, when 
you wrote that, you saw the original of these, and you didn't 
open your mouth, you didn't say a word, you didn't direct 
the :finger of suspeeion against this man Jim Conley, who 
had been infamously directed to keep quiet to protect you. 
Things don't happen that way, gentlemen, and you know it. 
There isn't an honest man on that jury, unbiased, unpreju­
diced, seeking to get at the truth, but what knows that these 
letters,-silly t Yes, silly, except you see the band of Provi­
dence in it all-that don't know that the language and the 
context and the material out of which they are written were 
written for the protection of Leo M. Frank, the superinten­
dent of this factory, who wired Montag to tell bis uncle "if 
my uncle inquires about me state that I am all right, the po­
lice have the thing well in hand and will eventually solve the 
problem," and the girl was found dead, not in the factory, 
but in the cellar. The man who wrote the not.e, "nothing 
startling has happened in so short a time,'' wrote it with 
a knowledge and conscious of the fact that this poor girl's 
life had been snuffed out even at the time he penned the 
words. 

You '11 have this out with you, you look at them, if you can 
get anything else out of them you do it, and as honest men, I 
don't want you to convict this man unless you are satisfted 
of his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, but don't let that 
doubt be the doubt of a crank, don't let it be the doubt of a 
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man who has conjured it up simply to acquit a friend, or a 
man that has been the friend of a friend; let it be the doubt 
of an honest, conscientious, upright juror, the noblest work 
of Almighty God. 

Now this statement. I tell you, gentlemen of the jury, 
that when this statement you heard Frank make is scanned, 
it is susceptible of but one construction, and that is, that 
it is the statement of a guilty man, made to ftt in these gen­
eral circumstances, as they would have you believe-these 
gentlemen here harped a great deal, gentlemen of the jury, 
''are you going to convict him on this, are you going to con­
vict him on that." It isn't the law that circumstantial evi­
dence is inferior to direct and positive evidence, and it is 
correct to instruct the jury that there is nothing in the na­
ture of circumstantial evidence that renders it less reliable 
than other classes of evidence. The illustration that they 
would seek, gentlemen of the jury, not by direct language 
did they do it in their argument to you, because we had 
already read them this authority, but they would bring up 
this isolated fact and that isolated fact and they would say 
''are you going to convict him on that f'' I don't ask your 
conviction on that. Two illustrations, first, each of the inci­
dental facts surrounding the main fact in issue, is a link in 
a chain, and that the chain is not stronger than its weakest 
link, this authority says is generally rejected as an incorrect 
metaphor and liable to misconstruction. The second illustra­
tion and the one that is approved is, each of the incidental 
facts surrounding the main facts in issue are compared to 
the strands in a rope, where none of them may be sufficient 
in itself, but all taken together may be strong enough to es­
tablish the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt. 

And so they took isolated instance after isolated instance 
and then said "are you going to convict him on that!" I say 
no. But I do say that these instances each constitute a 
chain, or a cord,--a strand in a cable, and that, when you get 
them all, all together, you have a cable that ought to hang 
anybody. That's the proposition. Not on this isolated in-
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stance or that one, but upon all, taken together and bound 
together, which make a cable 88 strong 88 it is possible for 
the ingenllity of man to weave around anybody. 

Now, listen at this statement and let's analyr.e that 88 we 
go on a little. I don't know whether this man's statement 
to the jury will rank along with the croa-examination of 
that celebrated pervert, Oscard Wilde,. or not, but it was a 
brilliant. statement, when unanalyzed, and if you just simply 
shut your eyes and mind to reason and take this statement, 
then, of course, you are not going to convict. But listen to 
what our Courts say about these statements-I have already 
read it to you, but I want to read it again. "Evidence given 
by a witness has inherent strength whieh even a jury cannot 
under all circumstances disregard; a statement has none.'' 
No cross-examination, no oath, merely a statement adroitly 
prepared to meet the exigencies of the case. 

Now, listen at this. This man Frank says "I sat in my of. 
1lce checking over the amount of money which had been left 
over"-not the cash, not cash, but the amount of money 
which had been left over-"from the pay-roll"-from the 
$1,100.00 that they had drawn Friday, and to this day, we 
don't know how much was left over, and we don't know 
whether what was left over coupled with the cash left on 
hand would make this bundle of bills that old Jim says was 
shown to him and taken back, when Frank wanted to get him· 
to go down into the dark cellar and burn that body by him· 
self, and old Jim says "I'll go if you go, but if I go down 
there and burn that body, somebody might come along and 
catch me and then what kind of a :fh: will I be int" And I'll 
tell you right now, if Jim Conley had gone down in that cel­
lar and had undertaken to have burned that body, 88 SUl'e 

as the smoke would have curled upward out of that funnel 
towards Heaven, just so certain would Leo M. Frank have 
been down there with these same detectives, and Jim Conley 
would have been without a shadow of a defense. But old 
Jim, drunk or sober, ignorant or smart, vile or pure, had too 
much sense, and while be was willing to write the notes to 
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be put by the dead body, and was willing to help this man 
take the ·body from the second :ft.oor, where the blood was 
found, into the basement and keep his mouth shut and to 
protect him, until the combined efforts of Scott and Black 
and Starnes and all these detectives beat him down and made 
him admit a little now and a little then, he wasn't willing, 
and he had too much sense, to go down into that basement to 
do that dirty job by himself and cremate the remains of this 
little girl that that man in his passionate lust had put to 
death. You don't show that he didn't have the money, and 
the truth of the business is, I expect, that out of that $1,-
100.00 for the pay-roll, and $30.00 in cash which you had, if 
the truth were known, you offered old Jim Conley and bought 
him with that $200.00 just as surely as Judas Iscariot im­
planted the kiss for the thirty shelrels. 

He says that "No one came into my oftlee who asked for a 
pay envelope or for the pay envelope of another." This run­
ning-mate and friend of the dead girl tells you under oath 
that she went there on Friday evening when they were paid, 
with the knowledge that little Mary wasn't there, and as she 
had done on previous occasions, sought to get the money to 
take to her. And I'll show you when I get to the State's 
ease later on that this diabolical plot, of which you have made 
so much fun, is founded in reason and really did exist, and 
that this man really, goaded on by passion, had been expect­
ing some time before to ultimately, not murder this little 
girl, but cause her to yield to his blandishments and de:ft.ower 
here without her resistance. Let me do it right now. 

Way back yonder in March, as far back as March, little 
Willie Turner, an ignorant country boy, saw Frank trying 
to force his attentions on this little girl in the metal room; 
he is unimpeached, he is unimpeachable. She backed o« and 
told him she must go to her work, and Frank said "I am su­
perintendent of this factory, "-a species of coercion-" and 
I want to talk to you.'' You tell me that that little girl that 
worked up there and upon the same :ft.oor with you in the 
metal department, and you had passed right by her machine, 
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this pretty, attractive little girl, twelve months, and a man 
of your brilliant parts didn't even know her, and do you tell 
me that you had made up the pay-roll with Schiff fifty-two 
times during the year that Mary Phagan was there and still 
you didn't know her name or number f You tell me that this 
little country boy who comes from Oak Grove, near Sandy 
Springs in the northern part of this county, was lying when 
he got on that stand f I'll tell you no. Do you tell me that 
little Dewey Hewell, a little girl now from the Home of the 
Good Shepherd in Cincinnati, who used to work at the Na­
tional Pencil Company, who probably bas lost her virtue 
though she is of such tender years, was lying when she tells 
you that she heard him talking to her frequently,-talked to 
Mary frequently, placed bis bands on her shoulder and called 
her Mary f You tell me that that long-legged man, Gantt, 
the man you tried to direct suspicion towards, the man Schiff 
was so anxious to have arrested that he accompanied the 
police, that you said in your telegram to your uncle, had the 
case in hand and would eventually solve the m.ystery,-do 
you tell me that Gantt has lied when he tells you that this 
man Frank noticed that he knew little Mary and said to him, 
"I see that you know Mary pretty well f" 

I am prepared to believe, knowing this man's character as 
shown by this evidence, that way back yonder in March, old 
passion bad seized him. Yesterday Mr. Rosser ff.UOted from 
Burns, and said it's human to err; and I quote you from the 
same poem, in which old Burns says that ''there's no telling 
what a man will do when he bas the lassie, when convenience 
snug, and he bas a treacherous, passionate inclination." 
There's no telling what he will do when he's normal, there's 
no telling what he will do when be 'a like other men, but oh I 
gentlemen, there's no telling what a pervert will do when 
he 'a goaded on by the unusual, extraordinary passion that 
goaded on this man, Leo M. Frank, when he saw his oppor­
tunity with this little girl in that pencil faetory, when she 
went back to find out if the metal had come. 

You tell me that all of these people have lied,-Willie Tur-
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ner has lied f Dewey Hewell has lied t That Gailli has lied t 
That Miss Ruth Robinson has lied t And even Frank, in his 
statement, admits that he knew Mary well enough to know 
that Gantt was familiar with her, because Chief Detective 
Harry Scott was told on Monday, April 28th, that this man 
Gantt was familiar with little Mary. And yet you expect an 
honest jury of twelve men-although out of your own mouth 
you told these detectives, whom you wired your un-Ole would 
eventually solve the problem, you told them that this man 
Gantt was so familiar with her that you directed suspicion 
towards him. How did you know it if you didn't know little 
Macy t And in addition, as I have stated, you tell me that 
this brilliant man had helped to make out the pay-roll for 
Mty-two times and seen little Mary's name there, and be 
didn't even know her name and bad to go and get his book 
to tell whether she worked there or not t And I wouldn't be 
at all surprised, gentlemen of the jury-it's your man 
Frank's own statement,-that shortages occurred in the cash 
even after this man Gantt left,-I wouldn't be at all sur­
prised if the truth of the business is that this man coveted 
that little girl away back yonder in March, I wouldn't be at 
all surprised, gentlemen, and, indeed, I submit that it's the 
truth, that every one of these girls has told the truth when 
they swore to you on the stand that back yonder in March, 
after this little girl had come down to work on the office 
ftoor in the metal department, that they observed this man, 
Leo M. Frank, making advances towards her and using his 
position as superintendent to force her to talk with him. I 
wouldn't be at all 811rprised if he didn't hang around, I 
wouldn't be at all sprprised if he didn't try to get little Mary 
to yield. I wouldn't be surprised if he didn't look upon this 
man Gantt, who was raised. on an adjoining farm in Cobb 
County, as an obstacle to the accomplishment of the evil pur­
paae which he had in hand, and I wouldn't be at all surprised 
if, instead of discharging Gantt for a one dollar shortage, 
which Gantt says "I'll give up my job rather than pay," that 
1ou put him out of that factory because you thought he stood 
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in the way of the consummation of your aiabolical and evil 
plans. 

And you say that you and Sehl« made up the pay-roll Fri­
day, and I wouldn't be at all surprised that, after little Mary 
had gone and while you and Schiff were making up the pay­
roll Friday afternoon, you saw little Mary's name and you 
knew that she hadn't been noti1led to come there and get her 
money Friday afternoon at six o'clock, and then, as early as 
three o'clock,-yes, as early as three,-knowing that this 
little girl would probably come there Saturday at twelve, at 
the usual hour, to get her pay, you went up and arranged 
with this man Jim Conley to look out for you,-this man. J'1m. 
Conley, who had looked out for you on other occasions, who 
had locked the door and unlocked it while you carried on your 
immoral practices in that factory,-yes, at three o'clock, 
when you and Schift were so busy working on the pay-roll, I 
dare say you went up there and told Jim that you wanted 
him to come back Saturday but you didn't want Darley to 
know that he was there. And I wouldn't be at all surprised 
if it were not true that this little Helen Fergoson, the friend 
of Mary Phagan, who had often gotten Mary's pay envelope 
before, when she went in and asked you to let her have that 
pay envelope, if you didn't refuse because 7ou had already 
arranged with Jim to be there, and you expected to make the 
final onslaught on this girl, in order to deflour and ruin her 
and make her, this poor little factory girl, subservient to 
your purposes. 

Ah, gentlemen, then Saturday comes, Saturday comes, and 
it's a reasonable tale that old Jim tells you, and old Jim says 
"I done it,"-not "I did it," but "I done it" just exactly 
like this brilliant factory superintendent told him. There's 
your plot. I '11 tell you, you know this thing passion is like 
fraud,-it's subtle, it moves in mysterious ways; people don't 
know what lurks in the mind of a libertine, or how anxious 
they are, or how far ahead they look, and it isn't at all im­
probable, indeed, I submit to you as honest men seeking to 
get at the truth, that this man, whose character was put in 
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issue and tom down, who refused . to go into speci1lc instances 
on cross-examination, if he didn't contemplate this little 
girl's ruin and damnation it was because he was infatuated 
with her and didn't have the power to control that ungovern­
able passion. There's your plot; and it ftt.s right in and jams 
right up, and you can twist and turn and wabble as much as 
you want to, but ·out of your own mouth, when you told 
your detective, Seott, that this man Gantt was familiar with 
that little girl, notwithstanding at other places in this state­
men you tried to lead this jury of honest men to believe you 
didn't know her-I tell you that he did know her, and you 
know that he knew her. 

What are you going to believe f Has this little Fergoson 
girl lied f Is this little factory girl a hair-brained fanatic 
suborned to come up here and perjure he1'8elf, by John 
Starnes or Blaek or Campbell or any of the detectives! Do 
you tell me that such a thing can· be done, when the State of 
Georgia, under the law hasn't a nickel that this girl could 
get f I tell you, gentlemen, you know that's a charge that 
can't stand one instant. 

Now, he says right here in his statement that he kept the 
key to his cash box right there in his desk. Well, he makes 
a very beautiful statement about these slips-but I'll pass 
that and come to that later. He explains why they were put 
on there April 28th, and so forth. Now, here's the 1lrst refer­
ence that he. makes to "chatting": "I Stopped that work 
that I was doing that day and went to the outer ofllce and 
chatted with Hr. Darley and Mr. Campbell." "I should fig­
ure about 9 :15, or a quarter to nine, Miss Mattie Smith came 
in and asked for her pay envelope.'' Jim is corroborated 
there, he identifted Miss Mattie Smith and told with partic­
ularity what she did. He says, ''I kept my cash box in the 
lower drawer of the left hand side of my desk." Jim says 
that's where he got some cash. This man also shows he took 
a drink at Cruickshank 's soda fount and two or three times 
during this statement he showed that he was doing at the 
llOda fount euctly as Jim says he was doing as they came on 
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back from the factory. Again he says, "but I know there 
was several of them and I went on chatting with Mr. Mon­
tag.'' I told you I was going to read you this, and I just 
wanted 1011 to know we WQ'e going to have this out with 
you. Another thing he says, ''I moved the papers I brought 
back from Montag 's in the folder;'' old Jim says he had 
the folder and put the folder away; "I would look and see 
how far along the reports were which I used in getting my 
financial statement up every Saturday afternoon, and, to 
my surprise, I found the sheet which contains the record 
of pencils packed for the week didn't include the report 
for Thursday, the day the fiscal week ended, that's the 
only part of the data that Schi1f hadn't got up." "A short 
time after they left my office, two gentlemen eame in, one 
of them Mr. Graham"-Mr. Graham says that he talked to 
this negro down stairs; the negro told him the way to the 
office, and they tried to get around it on the idea there '1 

some difference in color. Well, being in jail, gentlemen, 
changes the complexion of anybody. That man was there, 
Graham says, Tillander says, and he was there for what 
purpose f By whose request f And he wasn't drunk, either. 
And then he says, "I gave the required pay envelope to 
the two fathers," this man Frank says, "I gave the pay 
envelope and chatted with them at some length." 

Mr. Arnold says these darkeys pick up the language and 
manners of the men by whom they are employed. I tell you 
that, if Frank didn't come in contact with the people that 
worked in that factory more than he would lead you to be­
lieve, old Jim Conley never had the opportunity to pick up 
words that he uses; and yet here old Jim says, and even in 
his statement, even in his statement, this man uses the very 
language that Jim puts in his mouth. I just picked out 
four of them, in a very few pages, I don't know how many 
others there are. 

"Miss Hall finished her work and started to leave when 
the twelve o'clock whistle blew." Whistle blowing on a 
holiday! Well, maybe it did, I'll leave that for you to sq. 
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.Another place he says "I chatted with them:" "Entering, 
I found quite a number of people, among them Darley," 
etc. "I chatted with them a few minutes,"-using the 
same words Jim said he used with reference to this girl: 
''Miss Hall left my office on her way home ; there were in 
the building at the time, Arthur White and Harry Denham 
and Arthur White's wife, on the top :Boor; to the best of 
my knowledge, it must have been ten or fifteen minutes 
after Miss Hall left my office when this little girl, whom I 
afterwards found to be Mary Phagan, entered my office 
and asked for her pay envelope." "This little girl whom 
I afterwards found"-why didn't you give her her money! 
No, he didn't give her her money; he knew her all right. 
That child never got her money, she never got her money, 
and this man Frank, when Mrs. White came down there at 
12 :35, and when he jumped and when Jim Conley was still 
sitting down stairs,-the one fact in this case that must 
make you see that Jim Conley didn't do the deed,-this 
man Frank was at that safe then, when he jumped and 
Mrs. White came up, getting out the pay envelope of this 
little girl, who had gone back to the rear to see whether 
the metal had c01ne or not-not to make water, as he stated 
in that note. At the time Frank was at that safe and Mrs. 
White came in, she says he jumped. Remember that. As 
she went down the stairs at 12 :35 she saw Jim Conley, or a 
negro who resembled him, and that's the one incident in 
this case that shows that old Jim Conley didn't do the deed. 
Then it was after this man had tipped up and tipped back, 
-then it was, he had to let Mrs. White go up. Previously 
he had sent up had them to come down, but this time he 
lets Mrs. White go up, and then after Mrs. White had been 
up there a little while, and in order not to get caught in the 
act of moving that body, because he knew Mrs. White 
might come down, he knew that these men had their 
lunches and would work and stay up on that :Ooor; at 
12 :50, Mrs. White says when she went down she saw Con­
ley there, at 12 :50, and Frank was anxious to get Hrs. 
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White out of the building, in order that he might call .Tun 
Conley, if Jim had seen, and his saying that he had aeen 
would have given him away; then it was that he wanted to 
get her out of the building, and he sent her upstairs and 
then went upstairs to get her out and pretended to be in a 
big hurey to get out, but according to her evidence, instead 
of going out, he didn't have on his coat and went back in 
his omce and sat down at his desk. Anxious to get out,­
going to elose up right nowt Now, that wasn't the purpose. 

Talk about n9 blood being found back down there t Talk 
about no blood being found! Well, there's two reasons why 
there wasn't any found: Thia lick the girl got on the baek 
of the head down there wasn't sufficient to have caused any 
great amount of blood, and if old .T:un Conley hadn't 
dropped that girl as he went by the dressing room and the 
thing hadn't gone out like a sunburst all around there, like 
these men describe it, there wouldn't have been any blood. 
When you assaulted her and you hit her and she fell and 
she was unconscious, you gagged her with that, and then 
quickly you tipped up to the front, where you knew there was 
a eord, and you got the cord and in order to save this repu­
tation which you had among the members of the B 'nai 
B 'rith, in order to save, not your character because you 
never had it, but in order to save the reputation with the 
Haases and the Montags and the members of Doctor Marx's 
church and the members of the B 'nai B 'rith and your kin­
folks in Brooklyn, rich and poor, and in Athens, then it 
was that you got the cord and fixed the little girl whom 
you had assaulted, who wouldn't yield to your proposals, 
to save your reputation, because dead people tell no tales, 
dead people can't talk. And you talk about George Kend­
ley saying that be would be one to lead a riot, and you talk 
about your ability to run George Kendley with a fan or a 
corn shuck. I tell you Frank knew and you know that 
there would have been men who would have sprung up in 
this town, had that little girl lived to tell the tale of that 
brutal assault, that would have run over ten thousand men 
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like you, would have stormed the jail or done anything. 
It oughtn't to be, because that thing ought to be left to be 
threshed out before an upright Court and an honest jury. 

But this in.an Frank knew,-he didn't expect her to t~ 
·him down, he paved the way, he had set the snare and he 
thought that this poor little girl would yield to his impor­
tunities, but, ah I thank God, she was made of that kind of 
stu1f to which you are a stranger, and she resisted, she 
wouldn't yield, you couldn't control your passion and you 
struck her and you ravished her, she was unconscious, you 
gagged her and you choked her. Then you got Mrs. White 
out, the woman that saw you jump at 12 :35 when you were 
there :flxing to see about little Mary's pay envelope, which 
you never did give the poor child. And you fussed a good 
deal about that pocket book, that mesh bag; I wouldn't be 
at all surprised if old Jim's statement that Frank had that 
mesh bag, didn't keep that mesh bag from turning up in 
this trial, just exactly like that plant of old Newt Lee's 
shirt and just exactly like that club and just exactly like 
these spots these men found on May 15th around that scut­
tle hole. It worried you too much, it worried you too much, 
it disconcerted your plans. The thing had already been done 
when Mrs. White got back there at 12 :35 and old ·Jim Con­
ley was still sitting down there waiting patiently for the 
signal that had been agreed upon, waiting patiently for the 
signals that you had used when some other women from the 
fourth :ftoor and other people had been down there to meet 
you Saturdays and holidays. And the 1lrst thing he did 
after he had gagged her with a piece of her underskirt, 
tom from her own underskirt, was to tip up to the front, 
where he knew the cords hung, and come back down there 
and choke that poor little child to death. You tell me that 
she wasn't ravished! I ask you to look at the blood-you 
tell me that that little child wasn't ravished t I ask you to 
look at the drawers, that were tom, I ask you to look at 
the blood on the drawers, I ask you to look at the thing 
that held up the stockings. And I say that &iS sure as 
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you are born, that man is not like other men. Be saw this 
girl, he coveted her; others without her stamina and her 
character had yielded to his lust, but she denied him, and 
when she did, not being like other men, he struck her, he 
gagged her, he choked her; and then able counsel go 
through the farce of showing that he had no marks on his 
person I Durant didn't have any marks on his person, 
either. Be didn't give her time to put marks on his per­
son, but in his shirt sleeves, goaded on by an uncontrollable 
passion, this Jittle girl gave up her life in defense of that 
which is dearer than life, and you know it. 

Why this man says he had an impression of a female 
voice saying something. Bow unjust I This little girl had 
evidently-listen at that, gentleman, this little girl whose 
name had appeared on the pay-roll, had evidently worked 
in the metal department, and never was such a farce en­
acted in the courthouse as this effort on the part of able 
counsel to make it appear that that wasn't blood up there 
on that :floor. Absurd I Not satisfied with the absurdity 
of the contention that it's paint, that it's eat blood, rat's 
blood, varnish, they bring in this fellow Lee, who perjures 
himself to say that that man stood there just letting the 
blood drip. Old man Starnes tells you that they saw the 
blood there and chipped it up, and saw the blood right 
along on the route towards the elevator; Jim Conley tells 
you that right there is where he dropped the head so hard, 
and where Frank came and took hold and caught the feet. 

Every person that described that blood and its appear­
ance bears it out that it was caused by dropping, because it 
was spattered,--one big spot here and other little ones 
around it,-and if human testimony is to be believed, you 
know that was blood-that that was blood and not paint, 
you know that it was the blood of Mary Phagan and not the 
blood of Duffy. Duffy says so. You know that it was the 
blood of Mary Phagan because it corresponds with the man­
ner in which Jim Conley says he dropped the body. You 
know it's blood because Chief Beavers saw blood there. It 
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spattered towards the dressing room; you know it was 
blood because Starnes says he saw it was blood and he saw 
that the haskoline had been put over it,-and I'm going to 
read you this man's stat.ement, t.oo, unless I give-out phys­
ically, about this haskoline, it's the purest subterfuge that 
ever a man sought to palm off on an honest jury. 

Starnes tells you that "I found more blood fifty feet 
nearer the elevator on a nail." Barrett,-Christopher Co­
lumbus Barrett, if you will, that discovered the hair that 
was identified, I believe, by Magnolia Kennedy, Monday 
morning, as soon as they began work, before anybody ever 
had had time to write a reward,-Barrett, who was not 
caught in a single lie, Barrett, who though he works for the 
National Pencil Company, had the manhood to stand up-I 
trust him and put him up against this man Holloway, who 
says that Jim Conley was his nigger. This man Holloway, 
who made a statement to me in my office, when he didn't 
see the purpose and the import and the force of the sugges­
tion that this elevator key, after the elevator box was 
locked, was always put in Frank's oftlce, but when it 00.. 
came apparent that too many people saw this man Frank 
Sunday morning go there and turn the lever in the power 
box, without going to his office to get the key, then it was 
that this man Holloway, who we put up and for whose ve­
racity we vouched and who betrayed us and entrapped us, 
after he saw the force of the suggestion, after he had told 
us that always, without exception, he had locked this ele­
vator box himself and put the key in Frank's office, throws 
us down and by his own affidavit as read in your presence 
here, made at a time when he didn't see the importance of 
the proposition, changed his evidence and perjured him· 
self either to have this jury acquit this guilty defendant, 
his boss and employer, or to get the reward for the convic­
tion of "his nigger," J"un Conley. 

Contrast him with Barrett,-Barrett, the man who dis­
covered the hair on his machine early in the morning and 
whose attention was called to this blood there by the dress-
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ing room at a time when no reward is shown to have been 
otfered and indeed, when you know that no reward was of­
fered because no executive of this State or of this city of­
fered any reward during Sunday or as early as 7 or 8 
o'clock Monday morning. I say to you that this man Bar­
rett stands an oasis in a mighty desert, standing up for 
truth and right and telling it, though his own job is at 
stake, and you know it. And you may fling your charges of 
perjury just as far as you want to, but I tell you right now, 
gentlemen, that Barrett, when he swore that he found 
blood there at the place where Conley said he dropped the 
body, told the truth; and when he said he found that hair 
on that machine, I tell you Barrett told the truth, and if 
there be a man in this town that rightly deserves and who 
ought to receive the rewards, if there are any, it's this poor 
employe of the National Pencil Company, who had the 
manhood and the courage to tell the truth, and I hope if 
there be such a thing as a reward te be given to anybody, 
that this man Barrett gets it. But not a single thing did 
Barrett swear but that either didn't occur before any re­
wards were offered, or that weren't substantiated by four 
and five of the most reputable witnesses that could be 
found. And Barrett didn't make his discoveries Hay 15th, 
either, Barrett made them Monday morning, April 8th, 
and they haven 9t any resemblance to a plant. They eome so 
clean and so natural that the most warped and the most 
biased must recognize the fact that Barrett has told the 
truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth. 

But you can wipe Barrett out of this case and still you 
have got an abundance of firm ground upon which to stand. 
Barrett isn't shown to have lied, dodged or equivocated. 
Hrs. Jefferson,---and I'm only going to give you a few of 
the people that saw blood there-Mrs. Jefferson saw dark 
red spot about as large as a fan, and in her opinion, it was 
blood, and it was blood. Mel Stanford says he saw the 
blood at the dressing room Monday, dark spots that looked 
exactly like blood and this white stuff, haskoline, had been 
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smeared over it. "It was not there Friday, I know," said 
Mel Stanford, "because I swept the :ftoor Friday at that 
place. The white substance appeared to have been swept 
over with a coarse broom; we have such a broom, but the 
one used by me Friday in sweeping over that identical spot 
was of finer straw; the spots were dry and the dark led 
right up here within five feet of where the smear was." 
Blood and haskoline. 

Jim Conley saw her go up and didn't see her go down. 
Necessary, absolutely necessary, that this man should put 
her where he said in his telegram or letter the body was 
found. The discovery made Monday by Barrett and Jef­
ferson and Mel Stanford and seen by Beavers and Stames, 
but not only that, but reinforced by Darley, for Darley says 
"I saw what appeared to be blood spots at the dre88ing 
room, a white substance had been smeared over it, as if to 
hide it." And Quinn says "The spots I saw at or near the 
dressing room looked like blood to me.'' 

Sometimes you have got to go into the enemy's camp to 
get ammunition. It's a mighty dangerous proposition,­
Doctor Connally knows what a dangerous proposition it is 
to go into the enemy's camp to get ammunition, he has been 
an old soldier and he will tell you that there is no more dan­
gerous proposition,-! expect Mr. Mangum knows some­
thing about it, this going into the enemy's camp to get am· 
munition; and yet in this case, conscious of the fact that we 
were right, having Darley tied up with an aftldavit, we 
dared to go right into the enemy's camp, and there we got 
the best evidence of the fact that Frank was more nervous 
than he had ever been known to be except on two occa. 
sions, one when he had seen a little child killed, and the 
other when he and his l>oss had had a falling out-this man 
Montag, who was so afraid something was going to be 
twisted in this ease-and also Darley saw the blood. It 
was a mighty hard pill for Darley, it was an awful hard 
situation for him, but we drove it up to him and he dared 
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not go back on the aftldavit which he had signed, though he 
did modif;y bis statement.a. 

All right; I'm not going to eall over all these other peo­
ple,-Mrs. Small and others,-though 1lra. Carson denied 
it, she went there,-who claimed to have seen that blood. 
But to eap it all, Mel Stanford says "I swept the 1loor,"­
he's an employe and he's an honest man,-"it wasn't there 
Friday." Whyf Because old Jim, when he went to move 
that body, put it there Saturday. To eap it all, Doctor 
Claude Smith, the City Bacteriologist, says "I analyzed it 
and I tell you that I found blood corpuscles." And now 
you come in with the proposition that that blood had been 
there ever since that machinist Lee saw that fellow Duffy 
stand there with bis finger cut and let it spout out at the 
end,-a thing Duffy says never happened, and you know 
never happened, and we ealled on you to produce the paper 
this man Lee said he signed and you can't do it, beeause he 
never signed one. Not only that, but your own employe, 
your own witness, Mary Pirk, your own witness, Julia 
Fuss, your own witness, Magnolia Kennedy, your own wit­
ness, Wade Campbell, and your own witness Sehifl and 
others whose names are too numerous to take up your val­
uable time to mention, all say tha&t they saw this great big 
spot there covered over with something white, which we 
know to have been haskoline. 

Now, Harry Scott didn't manipulate exactly right, so 
they got them some new Richmond& and put them in the 
field, and this fellow Pierce,-and where is Pierce f Echo 
answers where f And where, oh, where, is Whitfteld f And 
echo answers where f The only man you bring in here is 
this man Mc Worth. Starnes denies, Black denies, Scott de­
nies, every witness put on the stand denies, that around 
that scuttle hole anything was seen immediately after that 
murder. Don't you know that Frank, who went through 
that factory,-that Schiff, Darley, Holloway, don't you 
know that they would have been only too glad to have re­
ported to Frank that blood rpots had been found around 
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that scuttle hole, and don't you know that Frank would 
have rushed to get his detective Scott to put the police in 
charge of the information that blood had been found here f 
But long after Jim Conley had been arrested, after this 
man Holloway had arrested him, after this man Holloway 
~d said that Jim was ''his nigger,'' realizing the despera­
tion of the situation, realizing that something had to be 
forthcoming to bolster up the charge that Conley did it, 
then it was and not until then . that this man Mc Worth, 
after he bad gone looking through the factory for a whole 
day, at about 3 :30 o'clock saw seven large stains, found the 
envelope and stick right there in the con;ier. 

Now, be found too much, didn't bef Wasn't that a lit­
tle too much f Is there a man on this jury that believes that 
all these officers looking as they did there, through that fac­
tory, going down in this basement there through that very 
scuttle hole, would have overlooked seven large stains 
which were not found there until May 15th f Scott said "I 
looked there just after the murder, made search at the scut­
tle hole, didn't see blood spots there." Starnes says the 
same, Rosser says the same, and these men Mel Stanford 
and Darley both say they had been cleaning up all that 
very area Hay 3rd, and yet the men who cleaned up and 
all these men never saw them and never even found the en­
velope or the stick. Why it's just in keeping with that 
plant of the shirt at Newt Lee's house. I don't care how 
much you mix this man Black. Boots Rogers says, Darley 
says,· that Sunday morning, when suspicion pointed towards 
this man Newt Lee, that this man Frank, the brilliant Cor­
nell graduate and the man who was so capable at making 
figures that certain parts of bis work have never been fixed 
since he left that factory, when hti knew a girl had been 
murdered down stairs, wilen he knew that suspicion pointed 
towards Newt Lee, took that slip out of the clock and stood 
there, looked at it, told those men, in anrwer to a question, 
if Newt Lee would have had time to have left and gone 
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home after he killed that girl and changed his clothing, 
that old Newt didn't have the time. 

Why did he say it then f Because he knew that Lanford 
and Black and the other detectives who were there would 
have examined that slip for themselves, then and there, and 
would have seen that these punches were regular or irreg­
ular. But he stood there, and because he knew he would 
be detected if he tried to palm off a fraud at that time and 
place, this man of keen perception, this man who is quick at 
figures, this Comell graduate of high standing, looked over 
those figures which register the punches for simply twelve 
hours,-not quite twelve hours,-in that presence, sur­
rounded by those men, told them that Newt Lee wouldn't 
have had the time, but, ah I Monday aftemoon, when he 
sees that there isn't enough evidence against Newt Lee, and 
that the thing ain't working quite as nicely against this 
man Gantt, who he told was familiar with this little girl, 
Mary Phagan, and then he suddenly proposes, after a con­
ference with his astute counsel, Mr. Haas, that "you go out 
to my house and make a search," and then, in the same 
breath and at the same time, he shrewdly and adroitly sug­
gests to Black that Newt Lee, he has suddenly discovered, 
had time to go out to his house, and forthwith, early Tues­
day morning, John Black, not having been there before be­
cause Leo M. Frank told him that Newt Lee didn't have 
time to go out to his house, but after the information comes 
in then Tuesday morning, John Black puts out and goes to 
old Newt's house and :finds a shirt; that's a plant as sure as 
the envelope is a plant, as the stick is a plant, as the spots 
around the scuttle hole. And the man that did his job, did 
it too well; he gets a shirt that has the odor of blood, but 
one that has none of the scent of the negro Newt Lee in the 
armpit. He puts it, not on one side, as any man moving a 
body would necessarily have done, but he smears it on both 
sides, and this carries with it, as you as honest men must 
know, unmistakable evidence of the fact that somebody 
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planted that shirt sometime Monday, at whose instance and 
suggestion we don't know. 

And that club business: Doctor Harris says that that 
wound could not have been done with that club, and Doc­
tor Hurt says it could not have been done with that club, 
and not a doctor of all the numerous doctors, good men and 
good doctors as they are for some purposes, ever denies it. 
A physical examination of that shirt shows you that it 
wasn't on the person when that blood got on it,-there is as 
much blood on the inside or the under side that didn't 
come through to the outside. Lee didn't deny the shirt, 
but he never did say that it was his shirt. Cornered up as 
he was, not a negro, one negiro in a thousand, that wouldn't 
have denied the ownership of that shirt, but old Lee was 
too honest to say that it wasn't his shirt,-he didn't re­
member it; and you don't know whether it was his or not. 

Now this envelope and this stick is found at the radiator, 
at the scuttle hole, May 15th, after the place had been 
cleaned up, according to Darley and other witnesses, in­
cluding Mel Stanford, and after, as I said, it had been thor­
oughly searched by Scott, Campbell, Rosser, Starnes and I 
don't know how many others; and then you say that these 
things weren't a part and parcel of the same scheme that 
caused this man to have Conley write those notes planted 
by the body to draw attention away from him. Gentlemen, 
you can't get away from the fact that blood was there, you 
can't do it; now, can you f Just as honest men, now, honest 
men can you get away from that f If human testimony is 
to be believed, you've got to recognize the fact that blood 
was on the second 1loor, and that there was no blood at the 
scuttle hole; that the shirt and the club and the spots were 
plants. 

"She had left the plant five minutes when Lemmie Quinn, 
the foreman of that plant, came in and told me I couldn't 
keep him away from the factory even though it was a holi­
day, at which time I smiled and kept on working." Smiled 
and kept on working! "I wanted to know when they would 



358 I. AMERICAN 8'1' A'l'E 'l'BIALB. 

have lunch, I got my house and Minola answered the phone 
and she answered me back that she would have lunch im­
mediately and for me to come right away. I then gathered 
my papers together and went upstairs to see the boys on 
the top fioor; this must have been, since I just looked at my 
watch, ten minutes to one. Mrs. White states that it was 
12 :35, that she passed by and saw me, that's possibly true, 
I have no recollection about it, perhaps her recollection is 
better than mine." She remembered it very well. 

Now, this Minola McKnight business. Isn't it strange 
that this man Albert, her husband, would go up there and 
tell that kind of a tale if there wasn't some truth in it t 
Isn't it strange that Minola herself, in the tale that they 
seek to have you believe was a lie, should have been sus­
tained by Mrs. Selig, when she tells you "Yes, I gave her 
$5.00 to go get some change," and Mrs . . Frank gave her a 
hatt Do you believe that this husband of hers didn't see 
that man Frank when, after this murder, he went home and 
was anxious to see how he looked in the glass, but as the 
people had gone to the opera, anxious to get back to keep 
his engagement with Jim Conley t And all this talk about 
Hrs. Selig, about this thing not having been changed. Gen­
tlemen, are you just going to swallow that kind of stuff 
without using your knowledge of human nature T And you 
tried to mix old Albert up, and right he~, I'm going to read 
you a little bit about Albert's evidence: "Yes sir, he came 
in close to 1 :30, I guess, something like that." "Did he or 
not eat anything!" "No sir, not at that time, he didn't, he 
came in and went to the sideboard in the dining room and 
stood there a few minutes, then he goes out ·and catches the 
car." "How long did he stay at the house!" "I suppose 
he stayed there five or ten minutes." "About five or ten 
minutes T" "About five or ten minutes." "What did he 
do at the sideboardt" "I didn't see him do anything at the 
sideboard." "Isn't there a door between the cook room 
and the dining room f" These gentlemen asked him, and 
Albert said, "Yes, this here dining room was open;" yes, 
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they didn't keep it shut all the time, said Albert. "And 
you know he didn't eat anything in that dining roomt" 
"Yes, I know he didn't eat." 

And this is the tale that had been told Craven by the 
husband of Minola McKnight, and Minola went down there 
and in the presence of her counsel, stated these things to 
these officers and she never would have done it if it hadn't 
been the truth. Gordon was down there, and he could have 
said-and if he hadn't said it then he's unworthy of the 
name of lawyer--''Minola, if these things aren't true, don't 
you put your J1ame to it, if you do you are liable to go to 
the penitentiary for false swearing; if you don't, the writ 
of habeas corpus is guaranteed to every man, and in less 
than two hours, by an order of a judge of the Superior Court 
I'll have you out of here." And yet, George Gordon, with 
his knowledge of the law, with his knowledge of his client's 
rights, sits there and lets Minola McKnight, the cook, who 
is sustained in the statement that she then made, but which 
here in this presenee she repudiated, corroborated by her 
husband and sustained in many particulars by the Seliga 
themselves,-George Gordon sat there and let her put her 
ftst to that paper, swearing to a lie that might send her to 
rhe penitentiary, and he was her lawyer and could have re­
leased her from that prison by a writ of habeas corpus as 
quick as he could have gotten to a judge, because any judge 
that fails to hear a writ of habeas corpus immediately is 
subject to damages and impeachment. 

But Craven was there and Albert was there and this 
woman, McKnight, sitting there in the presence of her 
lawyer, this man that was so eager to inject into this ease 
something that these men wanted in here all the time, but 
never could get until he got on that stand and swore that 
I bad said a thing that you saw by the questions that I 
asked him never did occur, that I was afraid that I would 
get in bad with the detectives-I would get in bad with 
them if I would try to run their business, and I never will 
get in bad with them because I never expect to undertake ' 
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to run their business; 1 've got 88 much as I can say grace 
over to attend to my own business. And you go out there, 
now, and bring in Julius Fisher and a photographer, and 
all these people, and try to prove this negro Albert Mc­
Knight lied, and by the mere movement of that sideboard, 
which Mrs. Selig in h~r evidence says, even, every time 
they swept it was put just exactly back in the same place, 
-then you try to break down Albert McKnight's evidence 
with that. Why, gentlemen, Albert says that that sideboard 
had been mowd, and you know it had been moved, and Al­
bert McKnight stood, not where these gentlemen sought to 
put him, but at a place where he could see this man Frank, 
who came home, there sometimes, as Albert says, between one 
and two o'clock, after he had murdered the girl, and didn't 
eat his dinner, but hurried back to the factory to keep his en­
gagement with Jim Conley, who had promised to come back 
and bum her body in the furnace. 

You tell me that Albert would have told that lief You 
tell me that Albert's wife, in the presence of Albert and 
Craven and Pickett, honorable, upright men, who worked 
for the Beck & Gregg Company, the same firm that Albert 
McKnight works at,-and do you tell me that George Gor­
don, a man who poses as an attorney, who wants to pro­
tect the rights of his client, as he would have you see, sat 
there in that presence and allowed this woman, for her hus­
band, to put her fist to a paper and swear to it which would 
consign her to the penitentiaryf I tell you that that thing 
never happened, and the reason Minola McKnight made 
that affidavit, corroborating this man, her husband, Albert, 
sustained as she is by the Seligs, biased and prejudiced and 
willing to protect their son-in-law 88 they were, is because 
it was the embodiment of the truth and nothing but the 
truth; and as honest, unprejudiced, unbiased men, you 
know it. 

And you know he didn't eat anything in that dining 
room, yes, I know he didn't eat. "Don't you know you 
can't sit in that dining room," says Mr. Arnold, "and don't 
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you know you can't see from the kitchen into the dining 
room, you know that, don't you!" "Yes sir, you certainly 
can see ; " and the very evidence of the photographs and 
Julius Fischer and others who cmne here, after that side­
board had been moved, sustains Albert McKnight, and 
shows that once that sideboard is adjusted, you could see, 
as Albert says, and he did see because he would have never 
told that tale unless he had been there and seen it. "You 
can see in there f" "Yes sir, you can see ; look in the mir­
ror in the corner and see all over that dining room;" that's 
what Albert swore. And if there's anybody in the world 
that knows how to get up a plan to see from the kitchen 
into the dining room or to hear what's going on among the 
white folks in the dining room, it's a negro. And Albert 
told too straight a tale, he told too reasonable a tale. 
''Don't you know that you can't look in the mirror in the 
corner and see itT" Albert says "I did do it, I stayed there 
about :five or ten minutes while he was there and looked in 
that mirror at him, Mr. Frank." "You stayed there in 
that kitchen on that occasion and looked in the mirror at 
him that five or ten minutes he stayed theret" "Yes sir." 
"By looking in that mirror you can see what's going on in 
that roomT" "You can see if they are eating at the table." 
"Don't you know that you can't see in that room by look­
ing into that mirrort" "Yes sir, you can see in there." 
"You can see all over the room T"-tried to make him say 
that--" No, not all over it exactly." "But you can see 
even when they are eating at the table7" "You can look 
in that mirror and see in the sitting room and through that 
dining room," said Albert, "to a certain extent." And he 
says he never was in the dining room in his life. That 'a 
reasonable. "You were right side of the back door of the 
kitchen!" "Yes, sir." "Let me give you a little drawing; 
now were you sitting right in front of that little hallway 
between the two rooms, in front of it T" Says Albert, "Not 
exactly." "You were sitting right here against the wall, 
weren't you T" And he said "Yes sir." "I don't know 
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whether it's fair or not,-that's a fair statement!" And 
Albert says, "I don't know whether it's fair or not, but I 
know I saw Leo M. Frank come in there some time between 
one and two o'clock Saturday, April 26th, and I know he 
didn't stay but about ten minutes and left to go to town.'' 
And he tells you the way in which he left, and Frank in his 
statement says that, while he didn't get on that ear, he 
went in such a direction as Albert McKnight might have 
naturally supposed he went down there. "Minola she went 
in there but stayed only a minute or two in the dining 
room, I never looked at the clock." "You don't know ex­
actly what timef" "No, but I know it was obliged to have 
been something after one when Yr. Frank came there and 
he came in and went before the sideboard and then went 
back to town." And he says "I don't know exactly 
whether he did or not because I have never been in the 
house no further than the cook room." Then he says "Who 
did you tell 7" "I told Mr. Craven." "Who is Craven f" 
"He is the boss at the plow department at the Beck & 
Gregg Hardware Company;" and that's the way the de­
tectives got hold of it, and try all you will to break old 
Albert down, I submit to you, gentlemen, that he has told 
the absolute tmth and stands unimpeached. 

August 25. 
Mr. Dorsey: I regretted more than you the necessity for 

your being carried over another week or, rather, another 
Sunday. I was even more exhausted than I anticipated, 
and this morning my throat and voice are in such shape 
that I fear I will not be able to do the ease the justice it 
demands. I thought myself, had we not had the adjoum­
ment that I might have been able to finish my speech and 
ms Honor charge you Saturday aftemoon, but I am sure 
such would not have been the ease. 

When we closed on ·Saturday, I was just completing a 
brief analysis of the statement made by this defendant. 
I'm not going into any exhaustive analysis of that state­
ment, because it is not necessary to further inconvenience 
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you and I haven't the physical strength, but there is cer­
tain language and eertain statements and assertions made in 
this statement by this defendant which merit some considera­
tion. This defendant stated to you, after His Honor had ex­
cluded our evidence and properly, I think, that his wife visited 
him at the police station. He says that she was there almost in 
hysterics, having been brought there by her father and two 
brothers-in-law and Rabbi Marx-no, "Rabbi Marx: was 
with me, I consulted with him as to the advisability of al­
lowing my dear wife to come up to the top 'floor to see 
those surroundings, city detectives, reporters and snap­
shotters." He doesn't prove that by a living soul and re­
lies merely upon his own statement. If they could have 
proven it by Rabbi Marx, who was there and adTised him, 
why didn't they do itf Do you tell me that there liTes a 
true wife, comcfous of her husband's lnnoeenee, that 
wouldn't have gone through snap.shotters, reporters and 
everything else, to have seen him- · 

Mr. Arnold. I m'Dlt object to as unfair and outrageons an argu­
ment as that, that his wife didn't go there through any eonseiousness 
of goilt on his part. I have sat here and heard the unfairest argu­
ment I have ever heard, and I can't object to it, but I do object to his 
making any allusion to the failure of the wife to go and see him; it's 
unfair, it isn't the way to treat a man on trial for his life. 

The CoURT. Is there any evidence to that dect t 
Jlr. Don~. Here is the statement I have read. 
Mr. Arnold. I object to his drawing any eonelusions from his 

wife going or not going, one way or the other, it's an outrage upon 
lsw and decency and fairness. 

The COURT. Whatever was in the evidence or the statement I 
m11Bt allow it. 

Mr. Dors61J. "Let the galled jade wince"-
Jlr. Arnold. I object to that, I'm not a "galled jade," and I've 

got a right to object. I'm not galled at all, and that statement is 
entirely unealled for. 

Frank said that his wife never went back there because 
she was afraid that the snapshotters would get her picture­
because she didn't want to go through the line of anapshot­
ten. I tell you, gentlemen of the jury, that there never 
lived a woman, conscious of the rectitude and innocence of 
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her hllSband, who wouldn't have gone to him through snap­
shotters, reporrers and over the advice of any Rabbi under 
the sun. And you know it. Fraok says in his statement, 
with reference to these notes written by Conley, "I said I 
know he can write." How long did it take him to say it, if 
he ever said it. ''I received many notes from him asking me 
to loan him money, I have received too many notes from him 
not to know that he can write." In other words, says Frank, 
in his statement, I have received notes signed with his name, 
purporting to have been written by him, and he says they 
were written by a pencil Frank says he said "I told them 
if you will look in the drawer in the safe you will find the 
card of a jeweler from whom Conley 'bought a watch on the 
installment plan." He corroborates Conley there, with refer­
ence to the watch incident and what occurred there in his 
office when Conley told him not to take any more money out. 
"Now, perhaps if you go to that jeweler you may ftnd some 
sort of receipt that Conley had to give and be able to prove 
that Conley ean write." Scott says that no such thing ever 
happened But if Frank knew so well that this man Conley 
could write, in the name of fairness why didn't Frank, when 
he saw those notes at the police station, found beside this 
dead body, then and there say "this is the writing of James 
Conleyf" Why didn't he do itf Scott denies that any such 
thing happened, or that they came into possession of any in­
formation from Frank that led to knowledge on their part 
that this man Conley could write. And up to the time that 
they discovered this man Conley could write, this man 
had kept his mouth sealed and it was only the knowledge on 
the part of the detectives and the knowledge on the part of 
Conley that the detectives knew he was lying about his ability 
to write, that forced him to make the ftrst admission that he 
was connected with this crime. He says he knew that Con­
ley could write. Why, then, did he keep his mouth shut 
until the detectives discovered it, when he knew that the 
notes found beside that poor girl's body was the one key that 

. was going to unlock the Phagan mystery f 
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You know why. Ah, you did know that Conley could 
write. You knew it, not only because he wrote the notes for 
you, through which you sought to place the responsibility 
for this crime on another man, but you knew it because he 
checked up the boxes of pencils, and he had written you 
numerous notes to get money from you, just like he borrowed 
money from those other people in that factory. You knew 
that the most powerful fact that could be brought to light 
showing who committed this dastardly crime was to :flnd 
who penned the notes placed with the body; and yet, al­
though you saw them, according to your own statement, at 
police headquarters and saw them there the very Sunday 
morning that the crime was committed, not a word, not a 
word, although the notes themselves said that the crime was 
done by a negro. It is not necessary to discuss that further. 

Frank says, with reference to this visit of Conley to the 
factory, after Conley had gone through over yonder and 
demonstrated in detail, as told you by Branch, and in the 
same length of time and almost to the minute that Conley 
himself says it took, too, though Conley only knows the clock 
ftgistered four minutes to one and don't know anything 
about the balance of the time, he says, with reference to the 
visit of Conley to the jail, when Conley wanted to confront 
him, "I told them if they got the permission, I told them 
through my fmnd Mr. Klein, that if they got the permis­
sion of Mr. Rosser to come, I would speak to them, would 
speak to Conley and face him or anything they wanted, if 
they got the permission of Mr. Rosser. Mr. Rosser was on 
that day up at Tallulah Falls trying a case." But Mr. Ros­
ser got back, didn't he f Mr. Rosser didn't remain at Tallu­
lah Falls. 

I tell you, gentlemen of the jury, measuring my words aa 
I utter them, and if you have sense enough to get out of a 
shower of rain you know it's true, that never in the history 
of the Anglo-Saxon race, never in the history of the African 
race in America, never in the history of any other race, did 
an ignorant, filthy negro, accuse a white maa of a crime and 
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that man decline t.o face him. And there never lived within 
the Sta~ of Georgia, a lawyer with one-half the ability of 
Mr. Luther Roeser, who poeseased a eonsciousneaa of his 
client's jnnoeence, that wouldn't have said "Let this ignor­
ant negro confront my innocent client" If there be a negro 
who accuses me of a crime of which I am innocent. I tell you, 
and you know it's true, I'm going to confront him, even be­
fore my att.orney, no matter who he is, returns from Tallulah 
Falls, and if not then, I t.ell you just as soon as that att.orney 
does return, I'm going t.o see that that :riegro is brought into 
my presence and permitted t.o aet forth his accusations. 

Yoti make much here of the fact that you didn't know what 
this man Conley was going to say when he got on the stand. 
You could have kn<>Wn it, but you dared not do it. 

M~. ROBBer ... May it please the Court, that is an untrue ata• 
ment; at that time, when he proposed to go through that dirty 
faree, with a dirty negro, with a crowd of policemen, confronting 
this man, he made his flrst statemen~his last statement, be &aid, and 
these addendas nobody ever dreamed of them, and Frank had no 
chance to meet them; that's the truth. You ought to tell the truth, 
if a man is involved for his life; that's the truth. . 

Mr. Dorsey. It does not make any difference about your adden­
das, and I'm going to put it right up to this jury-

M r. Rosser. May it please the Court, have I got the right to 
interrupt him 'When he mis-states the factst 

The CoUBT. Whenever he goes outside of the record. 
Mr. Rosser. Has he got the right to comment that I haven't exer­

eised my :reasonable rights t 
The CoUBT. No sir, not if he has done that. 
Mr. Ross.,.. No~y has got a right to comment on the fact that 

I have made a reasonable objection. 
Mr. Dorsey. But I'm inside of the record, and you know it, and 

the jury knows it. I said, may it please Your Honor, that this man 
Frank declined to be confronted by this man Conley. 

Mr. Rosser. That isn't what I objected to; he said that at that 
meeting that was proposed by Conley, as he says, but really proposed 
by the detectives, when I was out of the city, that if that had been 
met, I would have known Conley's statement, and that's not true; I 
would not have been any wiser about his statement than I was here 
the other day. 

The CoURT. You ean comment upon the faet that he refused to 
meet Frank or Frank refused to meet him, and at the time he did it, 
he was out of the city. 

Mr. Arftold. We did object to that evidence, Your Honor, but 
Your Honor let that in. 



LEO JI. FRANK. 367 

The Comrr. I know; go on. 
Mr. Dor1ey. They see the force of it • 

. Mr. Rosser. Is that a fair comment, Yom Honor, if I make a 
reasonable objection~ to say that we see the force of it t 

The Comrr. I don'·t think that, in reply to yom objeriion, ia a 
fall statement. 

Mr. Doney. Now, may it please Your Honor, if they don't see 
the foree of it, you do--

Mr. Rosser. I want to know, is Your Honor's ruling to be Mlao­
lutely disregarded like thatt 

The CoURT. Mr. Dorsey, stay inside of the record, and quit eom­
menting on what they say and do. 

Mr. Don!Y· I am inside of the record, and Your Honor know 
that's an entU'ely proper comment. 

Mr. Rosser. Your Honor rnl~he says one thing and then a&ya 
Your Honor knaw9 better--

Mr. Dorsey. Your Honor knows I have got a right to eomment 
on the conduct of this defendant. 

The CoURT. Of course, you have, but when tiley get up, I don't 
think you have any right to comment on their objections as they are 
making them to the Court. 

Mr. Doney. I don't. 
The Comrr. No, I don't think so. 
Mr. Doney. Isn't everything that occurs in the presence of the 

Court the subject matter for comment t 
The CoUBT. No, I don't think you can eomment on these things. 

You can eomment on any conduct within the province of this trial, 
but if he makes an objection that's sustained, why, then, you can't 
comment on that. 

Mr. Don.,. Does Your Honor say I'm otlfaide of the recordt 
The CoURT. Noz I don't, but I say tbis1 you can comment on the 

fact that Frank refused to meet this man, tf that's in the record, you 
have a right to do that. 

This man Frank, a graduate of Cornell, the super­
intendent of the pencil factory, so anxious to ferret 
out this murder that he had phoned ~ three times on 
Monday, April 28th, to employ the Pinkerton Detective Agen­
ey, this white man refused to meet this ignorant negro, Jim 
Conley. He refused upon the filmsy pretext that his counsel 
was out of town, but when his co1Ill8el returned, ~n he had 
the opportunity to knaw at least something of the aecmsations 
that Conley brought against this man, he dared not let him 
meet him. It is unnecessary to take up time diseossing that. 
You tell me that the weakest among you, if you were inno­
eent and a man of black skin charges you with an infamou 
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murder, that any lawyer, Roeser or anybody else, could keep 
you from confronting him and nailing the lie! No lawyer 
on earth, no lawyer that ever lived in any age or any clime 
could prevent me, if I were innocent, from confronting a 
man who accused me wrongfully, be he white or black. 

And you, Leo Frank, went in and interviewed Newt Lee 
down yonder at twelve o'clock, Tuesday night, April 29th. 
And what did you dot Did you act like a man who wanted 
to get at the truth, who didn't know it and wanted to get at 
the truth! Ah, no. Instead of going into that room and 
taking up with this negro Newt Lee, the man towards whom 
you had directed sospicion infamously to save your own 
neck, a man that you would have seen hung on the gallows in 
order to saw your reputation with the people on Washington 
street and the members of the B 'nai B 'rith, did you make an 
earnest, honest, conscientious e«ort, as an innocent employer 
would with his employee, to get at the truth! 

No; according to Lee, you hung your head and qui.zr.ed him 
not, but predicted that .both Lee and you would go to hell if 
Lee continued to tell the story whieh he tells even until this 
good day: and then in your statement here, try to make it 
appear that your detective Scott and old John Black con­
cocted a scheme against you and lied as to what occurred on 
that Tuesday night. The reason why Frank didn't put it up 
to Newt Lee and try to get Newt Lee to tell him how that 
murder occurred and what he knew about it, was because 
Frank knew that Lee was innocent, that he was the murderer 
and that he was adding to the dastardly erime of assault 
upon the virtue of this girl, was adding to the crime of 
murder of this girl, another infamous e1fort to send this negro 
to the gallows in order to save his reputation and neck. 

Listen to this-he's smart, and just listen how, in his 
stat.ement, he qualifies and :flxes it up so that, when we come 
back with rebuttal, the technical law will protect him : 
"They (meaning the detectives) stress the possibil'ity of 
couples having been let into the factory at night"-by night 
watchmen! No,-"By night Wat.chman Newt Lee." Lee 
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had been there but two or three weeks,-three weeks. 
Frank could have told you that the detectives stressed the 
fact that couples went in there holidays, Saturdays and at 
nights, at all times and at any time when other night watch­
men were there, but Newt Lee, having 'been there but three 
weeks, he e1fectively shuts off the State from impeaching his 
statement or contradicting it, and therefore, he tells you that 
the detectives stressed the fact that couples had been in here 
while the night watchman Newt Lee, was watching,-and 
Newt had been there but three weeks. 

That wasn't the period, that wasn't the time. During that 
three weeks that old Newt was night watching, there was 
·but one person for whom your passion burned, and that was 
Mary Phagan. And she wouldn't meet you, and she didn't 
meet you any time during that period that Newt Lee was 
night watching. But in the summer previous, when Dalton was 
seen to go there, if it be not true that couples were admitted, 
why didn't you make the bold, emphatic, challenging stat.e­
ment that at no time were couples ever admitted T And then 
you tell me that that's a good statement and a fair statement 
and a frank statement T 

Now, another thing. Liston to this-I read from the de­
fendant 's statement: "Now, with reference to these spots 
that are claimOO to be blood and that Mr. Barrett found, I 
don't claim they are not blood, they may have been, they 
were right close to the ladies' dressing room, and we have 
accidents there, and by the way, in reference to those acci­
dents, the accidents of which we have records are not the 
only accidents that have happened there. Now, we use paint 
and varnish around there, a great deal of it, and while I 
don't say that this is not blood, it may be, but it could also 
have been paint; I have seen the girls drop bottles of paint 
and varnish and have them break there on the 1loor, I have 
seen that happen right close to that spot. If that had been 
fresh red i;aint or if it had been fresh red blood and that 
hasbline compound, that soap in it which is a great solvent, 
had been put on there in the liquid state, it wouldn't have 
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shown up white, as it showed up then, but it would have . 
showed up either pink or red." 

Now, first, contrast that statement for a moment with 
this statement with reference to the condition of the floor 
where Barrett worked. There he says there wasn't a spot, 
much less a blood spot,-"looked at the machinery and the 
lathe, looked at the table on which the lathe stands and the 
lathe bed and the floor undel'Death the lathe and there wasn't 
a spot, much less a blood spot undel'Death. '' All right; 
you say that that wasn't blood, you say that that haskoline 
wouldn't turn that color. In the name of goodness, in the 
name of truth, I ask you, if that haskoline mixed with that 
blood on the second floor wouldn't have produced the identi­
cal result that these witnesses have swol'D, if it be true, as 
Yr. Rosser stated, that you don't attach any importance to 
the cabbage &dings and experiments made in this case, why 
didn't you devote a little of your time to bringing before this 
jury a reputable chemist and a man who could sustain you in 
that statement f You had that evidence in your posseSsion, 
or if you were able to bring in these medical experts here 
to tear down the powerful evidence of Dr. Roy Harris, as 
eminent an authority as lives in the State of Georgia, in the 
name of truth and fair play, before you men who ought to 
have every fact that will enable you to get at the truth, why 
didn't you bring one chemist to sustain you T There's but 
one answer, and you know what it is. Those spots were blood, 
they were blood over which had been placed that substance, 
haskoline, and the color that blood and haskoline would make 
upon that floor was the identical color found there by the 
numerous witnesses who saw it. Important f There is no 
more important fact for you to have shown than that this 
haskoline, when wiped over blood, would have made a color 
the like unto which Frank in his statement would have you 
believe would have been made. 

Are you going to accept the statement of this man, with all 
these circumstances unsupported 'by chemists or anybody 
on earth, because they eouldn 't get them to come in and stul· 
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tify themselves on that point, as against the evidence of all 
these witnesse8 who have told you that that was blood, and 
against the evidence of Doctor Claude Smith, the City Bacte­
riologist of the City of Atlanta, who tells you that through a 
chemical analysis he developed the fact that that wa.:s blood T 

This defense, gentlemen-they have got no defense, they 
never have come into close contact in this case, except on the 
proposition of abuse and villification. They circle and flutter 
but never light; they grab at varnish and cat's blood and 
rat's blood and Du1fy 's blood, but they never knuckle down 

· and show this jury that it wasn't blood; and in view of the 
statement of that boy, Mel Stanford, who swept that floor 
Friday afternoon, in view of the statement of Mrs. Je1ferson, 
in view of the statement of "Christopher Columbus" Bar­
rett, who tells the truth, notwithstanding the fact that he 
gets his daily bread out of the co1fers of the National Pencil 
Company, you know that that was the blood of this innocent 
victim of Frank's lustful passion. 

The defense is uncertain and indistinct on another propo­
sition, they flutter and flurry but never light when it comes 
to showing you what hole Jim Conley pushed his victim down. 
Did he shoot her back of that staircase back there! No. 
Why T Because the dust was thick over it. Because unim­
peached witnesses have shown you it was nailed down; be­
cause if he had shot her down that hole, the boxes piled 
up there to the ceiling would have as e1fectively concealed 
her body as if she had been buried in the grave, for some 
days or weeks. Did he shoot her down this other hole in the 
Clark Woodenware Company's place of business! Where 
even if what Schi1f says is true, that they kept the shellac 
there, it would nevertheless have concealed her body a longer 
time than to put it down there by the dust bin where the 
fireman and people were coming in through the back door. 
Did this negro, who they say robbed this girl, even if he had 
taken the time to write the notes, which, of course, he didn't 
-even after he had knocked her in the head with that 
bludgeon, which they tell you had blood on it, and robbed 
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her, even if he had been such a fool and so unlike the other 
members of his race, by whom brutal murders have been 
committed, should have taken time to have tied a cord around 
her neck, a cord seldom found down there in the ·basement, 
according to your own statement, except when it's swept 
down in the trash, but a cord that hangs right up there on 
the office floor, both back there in the varnish room and up 
there in the front. If he had done all that,-a thing you 
know that he didn't do, after he had shot her down in that 
hole in the Clark W oodenware Company, down there in that 
wing of the place where they keep this shellac, if they do 
keep it, why would that negro have gone down there and 
moved her body, when she was more securely fixed down 
there f And why was it, will you t.ell me, if he shot her down 
that scuttle hole, that he wrote the notes and fixed the cord, 
and will you tell me how it happens that, when after this 
man Holloway, on May 1st, had grabbed old Jim Conley, 
when he saw him washing his shirt and said "he's my nig­
ger, "-fifteen days afterwards, when squad number two of 
the Pinkerton people had been searehing through that fac­
tory a whole day and right down in that area, the elevator 
being run, the detectives, both the Pinkertons and the city 
foree had looked around there immediately after the crime, 
will you tell me how it happened that, if he shot her down 
that hole, that there was so much 'blood not found until the 
15th of May, and more blood than that poor girl is ever 
shown to have lost f 

Another thing: This man Frank says that "Mr. Quinn 
said he would like to take me back to the metal department 
on the ofllee floor, where the newspapers that morning stated 
that Mr. Barrett of the metal department had claimed he had 
found blood spots, and where he had found some hair." Al­
though he had seen in the morning papers that this man 
Barrett claimed to have seen blood there, before he went 
back to see it, although this thing tore him all to pieces, and 
although he was anxious to employ a detective,--M anxious 
that he phoned Schi1? three times to get the Pinkertona 
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down, according to his own stat.ement, Lemmie Quinn had 
to oome and ask him 'back to see the blood spots on the sec­
ond 11.oor, found by this man Barrett. 

Is that the conduct of a man, the bead of a pencil factory, 
who had employed detectives, anxious to assist the poliee,­
saw it in the newspapers and yet Lemmie Quinn bad to go 
and ask him to go back t And then be tells you in this state­
ment, which is easy to write, was glibly rattled ofl, a state­
ment that you might expect from a man that could plot the 
downfall of a girl of such tender years as little Mary Phagan, 
that he went back there and examined those blood spots with 
an electric 1lashlight, that he made a particular and a minute 
examination of them, but ~ to say, not even Lemmie 
Quinn comes in to sustain you, and no man on earth, so 
far as this jury knows, ever saw Leo M. Frank examining 
what Barrett said and Je1ferson said and Mel Stanford said 
and Beavers said and Starnes said and a host of others said 
was blood near the dressing room on the second ftoor. You 
know why t Because it never happened. If there was a spot 
on this earth that this man Frank didn't want to examine, 
if there was a spot on earth that he didn't want any blood 
found at all, it was on the second ftoor, the :floor which, ac­
cording to his own statement, he was working on when this 
poor girl met her death. 

Schiff, he says, saw those notes down there and at polioo 
headquart.ers. Frank ·says he visited the morgue not only 
once but twice. If he went down there and visited that 
morgue and saw that child and identi1led her body and it 
tore him all to pieces, as he tells you it did, let any honest 
man, I don't care who he be, on this jury, seeking to fathom 
the myst.ery of this thing, tell me why it was, except for the 
answer that I give you, he went down there to view that 
body again t Rogers said he didn't look at it; Black said he 
didn't see him look at it. 

Jlr. Rossu. He is mis-stating the evidence. Rogers never said 
that he didn't look at the body, he said he was behind him and didn't 
know whether he did or not; and Black said he didn't know whether 
he did or not. 
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Mr. Don~. Rogem said he never did look at that body. 
Mr . .Arnold. I insist that isn't the evdenee. Rogers said he didn't 

know and couldn't answer whether he saw it or not, and Black said 
the same thing. 

I'm not going to quibble with you. The truth is, and you 
know it., that when that man Frank went down there to look 
at that body of that poor girl, to identify her he never went 
in that room, and if he did look at her long enough to iden­
tify her, neither John Black nor Rogers nor Gheesling knew 
it. I tell you, gentlemen of the jury, that the truth of· this 
thing is that Frank never looked at the body of that poor 
girl, but if he did, it was just a glance, as the eleetric light 
was fi~ on and he immediately turned and went into an­
other room. 

Mr. RoBBW. There isn't a bit of proof that he went into another 
room, I object again, sir, there isn't a particle of proof of that. 

If that man Frank ever looked at that girl's faee,-I chal­
lenge them to produee the record to show it,-it was so brief 
that if she was dirty and begrimed. and her hair was bloody 
and her features contorted., I tell you that, if he didn't know 
her any better than he would have you believe he knew her, 
he never could have identified her as Mary Phagan. Never 
could. And I say to you, gentlemen of the jury, that the rea­
son why this man revisited that morgue on Sunday after­
noon, after he had failed to mention the subject of death in 
the bosom of his family at the dining table, when he tells 
you that it tore him all to pieces, there was but one reason 
for revisiting that morgue, and that was to put his ear to 
the ground and see if at that hour there was any whisper or 
suggestion that Leo M. Frank, the guilty man, had commit­
ted the dastardly deed. 

Black didn 't see him, Rogers didn't see him, Gheesling 
didn't see him. One of the earliest to arrive, the superinten­
dent of the factory (Rogers said he had his eye on him) he 
turned and stepped aside, and he himself said that the sight 
tore him all to pieces, and be seeks to have you believe that 
that automobile ride and the sight of that poor girl 'I fea-
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turea accounts for the nervousness which he displayed; and 
yet we find him going, like a dog to his vomit, a sow to her 
wallow, back to view the remains of this poor little innocent 
girl. And I ask you, gentlemen of the jury, if you don't 
know that the reason Leo M. Frank went down to that 
morgue on Sunday afternoon was to see if he could ecent 
anything in the atmosphere indicating that the police sus­
pected Leo M. Frank f He admits his nervousness, he ad­
mits his nervousness in the presence of the officers; the Se­
liga say that he wasn't nervous, that he wasn't nervous Sat­
urday night when he telephoned Newt Lee to find out if any­
thing had happened at the factory, that he wasn't nervous 
when he read this Saturday Evening Post. 

He wanted to get out of the view of any man who repre­
sented the majesty and dignity of the law, and he went in 
behind curtains or any old thing that would hide his count.e­
nance from those men. 

I come back to the proposition in the bosom of his family, 
-notwithstanding he read that Saturday Evening Poet out 
there in the ball Saturday night, this thing kept welling in 
his breast to such an extent that he had to make a play of 
being composed and cool, and he went in there and tried to 
break up the card game with the laughter that was the 
laughter of a guilty conscience. Notwithstanding the fact 
that he was able, Sunday, at the dining table and in the 
bosom of his family, when he hadn't discussed this murder, 
when Mrs. Selig didn't know that it was a murder that con­
cerned her, when the whole Selig household were treating 
it as a matter of absolute indifference, if he wasn't nervous 
there, gentremen of the jury, surely he was, as I am going to 
show you, nervous when he came face to face and had to dis­
Ctl88 the proposition with the minions of the law. 

He was nervous when he went to run the elevator, when 
he went to the box to turn on the power, and he says here in 
his statement, unsupported by any oath, that he left that bo:E 
open because some member of the :8re department had come 
around and stated that you must leave that box open because 
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the electricity might innocently electrocut.e some members of 
the fire department in case of fire. I ask you, gentlemen of 
the jury, what was the necessity for leaving the box open 
when a simple turn of the lever would have shut off the elec-

. tricity and enabled the key to have been hung up in the 
office, just exactly like old Holloway swore when he didn't 
know the importance of the proposition, in the affidavit which 
I have and whieh was submitted in evidence to you, that that 
box was locked and the key was put in Frank's oflice t Why 
don't they bring the fireman here who went around and 
gave such instructions t First, because it wasn. 't necessary, 
they could have cut the electricity off and locked the boL 
And second, they didn't bring him because no such man ever 
did any such thing, and old Holloway told the truth before 
he eame to the conclusion that old Jim Conley was "his nig­
ger" and he saw the importance of the proposition that when 
Frank went there Sunday morning the box was unlocked and 
Frank had the key in his pocket. 

Mr. Rosser. You say Mr. Frank bad the key in bis poekett No 
one mentioned it, that isn't the evidence; I say it was hung up in 
the office, that's the undisputed evidence. 

Mr. Dorsey. Holloway says when he got back Monday morning 
it wa8 bung up in the office, but Boots Rogers said this man Frank­
and he was sustained by other witnesses-when he came there to run 
that elevator Sunday morning, found that power box unlocked. 

Mr. Rosser. That's not what you said. 
Mr. Dorsey. Yes it is. 
Mr. Rosser. You said Frank bad the key in bis pocket next morn­

ing, and that isn't the evidence, there's not a line to that eftect. 
The CoURT. Do you still insist that he bad it in his pocket f 
Mr. Dorsey. I don't care anything about that; the point of the 

proposition, the gist of the proposition, the force of the proposition 
JS that old Holloway stated, way back yonder in May, when I inter­
viewed him, that the key was always in Frank's office; this man told 
1ou that the power box and the elevator 'W'88 unlocked Sunday morn­
mg and the elevator started without anybody going and getting the 
key. 

Mr. Rosser. That's not the point he was making, the point he was 
making, to show how clearly Frank must have been connected with 
it, he had the key in bis pocket. He was willing to say that when 
he ought to kncrw that's not so. 

The CotJRT. He's drawing a deduction that he c1aima he's draw­
ing. 

, 
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Mr. RoBBer. He doesn't claim that. He says the point is it was 
eesily gotten in the office, but that's not what he said. 

The CotJBT. You claim that's a deduction yc.u are drawingf 
Mr. Dorsey. Why, sure. 
The CoURT. Now, you don't claim the evidence shows thatf 
Mr. Dorsey. I claim that the power box was standing open Sun­

day morning. 
The CoURT. Do you insist that the evidence shows be had it in 

his pocket! 
Mr. Dorsey. I say that's my recollection, but I'm 'Willing to waive 

it; but let them go to the record, and the record will sustain me on 
that point, just like it sustains me on the evidence of this man 
Rogers, which I'm now going to read. 

~rs said "Mr. Gheesling caught the face of the dead 
girl and turned it over towards me; I looked then to see if 
anybody followed me, and I saw Mr. Frank step from out­
side of the door into what I thought was a closet, but I after­
wards found out where Mr. Gheesling slept, or somebody 
slept, there was a little single bed in there." 

I don't want to misrepresent this t.estimony, for goodnem 
knows there's enough here without resorting to any such 
practice as that, and I don't want to mislead this jury and 
furthermore, I'm not going to do it. Frank says, after look­
ing at the body, "I identi1led that little girl as the one that 
had been up shortly after the noon of the day previous an~ 
got her money from me. I then unlocked the safe and took 
out the pay roll book and found that it was true that a little 
girl by the name of Mary Phagan did work in the metal plant 
and that she was due to draw $1.20, the pay roll book showed 
that, and as the detective had told me that some one had 
identi1ied the body of that little girl as that of Mary Phagan, 
there could be no question but what it was one and the same 
girl. '' And he might have added, ''as I followed her back 
into the metal department and proposed to her that she sub­
mit to my lascivious demands, I hit her, she fell, she struck 
her head; to protect my character, I choked her-to protect 
my reputation I choked her, and called Jim Conley to move 
her down to the basement, and for all these reasons, because 
I made out the pay roll for 1lfty-two weeb during which 
time Mary had worked there, I know, for these reasons, al-
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though I didn't look at her and eouldn 't have recognized her 
if she was in the dirty, distorte4 condition," he t.ells you in 
this stat.ement, she really was, ''but I know it was Mary 
Phagan ,, 

• I 

And he eorroborat.es in his stat.ement these detectives, he 
says down at the undertaking establishment, "went down a 
long dark passageway with Mr. Rogers following, then I 
eame and Black brought up the rear, Gheesling was on the 
opposit.e side of the little cooling table, the table between 
him and me; he t.ook the head in his hands, put his finger 
exactly where the wound in the left side back of the head was 
located;" and he seeks to have you believe that he "noticed 
the hands and arms of the little girl were very dirty, blue 
and ground with dirt and cinders, nostrils and mouth,-the 
mouth being open,-nostrils and mouth just full of saw-dust, 
the face was all pu1fed out, the right eye was blackened and 
swollen and there was a deep scrat.eh over the left eye on the 
forehead.'' He t.ells in his stat.ement that in that brief 
glance, if he ever t.ook any glance at all, he saw that. The 
only way in the world to believe him is to say that these men, 
John Black and Boots Rogers, who have got no int.erest in 
this ease in God's world but to t.ell the truth, perjured them­
selVes to put the rope around the neck of ibis man. Do you 
believe itt Starnes is a perjurer, t.oot Starnes says "when 
I called this man up over the t.elephone I was careful not to 
mention what had happened;'' and unless Starnes on that 
Sunday morning in April was very dUferent from what you 
would ju~ him to be by his deportment on the stand here 
the other day, he did exactly what he said he did. And yet 
this defendant in his stat.ement said he says "what's the 
trouble, has there been a Are!" He says "No, a tragedy, I 
want you to come down right away;" "I says all right;" "I'll 
send an automobile after you,'' and Starnes says that he never 
mentioned the word tragedy, and yet., so conscious, so con­
scious was this man Frank when Rogers and Black went out 
there and he nervously twit.ehing at his collar, "What's 
the trouble, has the night watchman reportA!d. anything,'' 
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asked them not, "has there been a 1ire," but "has there been 
a tragedy T" But Starnes, the man who first went after 
Newt Lee, the negro night watchman, because he pointed his 
:finger of suspicion at him,-Starnes, the man who went after 
Gantt because this defendant pointed the ftnger of suspicion 
at him,-Starnes, the man who has been a detective here on 
the police force for years and years, is a perjurer and a liar; 
to do what T Simply to gratify his ambition and place a 
noose around the neck of this man Frank, when he could 
have gone out after, if the circumstances had warranted it, 
or if he had been a rascal and wanted to travel along the line 
of lest resistance, Newt Lee or Gantt or Conley. 

Another thing: Old Newt Lee says that when this defend­
ant called him Saturday night, a thing that he had never 
done during the time that he had been there at that pencil 
factory serving him as night watchman, Newt Lee tells you, 
although the defendant says that he asked about Gantt, Newt 
Lee says that Gantt 's name was never mentioned, and that 
the inquiry was "has anything happened at the factory!" 

You tell me, gentlemen of the jury, that all these circum­
stanees, with all these incriminating eireumstances piling up 
against this man that we have nothing in this case but pre­
judice and perjury T 

Newt says he never mentioned Gantt. Frank in his stat.e­
ment says "I succeeded in getting Newt Lee, and asked him 
if Mr. Gantt had gone." He instructed this man Newt Lee to 
go with Gantt, to watch him, to stay with him, and old Newt 
Lee wouldn't even let Gantt in that factory ~ess Frank said 
that he might go up. He had instructed Lee previous there­
to not to ret him in for the simple reason he didn't want 
Gantt coming down there. Why T Because he didn't want 
him to come down and see and talk with little Mary for some 
reason I know not why; and old Newt Lee stopped this man 
Gantt on the threshold and refused to let him go up, and 
this man Frank says ''you go up with him and see that he 
gets what he wants and usher him out.'' And yet, though 
he had never done any 8ueh thing during the time Newt Lee 
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had been up there, he innocently called Newt up to find out, 
he said, if Gantt had gone and Newt said to find out if every­
thing was all right at the faetoey; and you know that the 
reason he called up was to flnd out if Newt, in making his 
rounds, had discovered the body of this dead girl. 

''Would you convict him on this circumstance or that eir­
cumstance ! " No. But I would weave them all together, and 
I would make a rope, no one strand of which suftlciently 
strong to send this man to the gallows for this poor girl 'a 
death, but I would take them all together and I would say, 
in conformity with the truth and right, they all make such 
a rope and such a strand and such a cable that .it's impoa-
11"'ble not only to conceive a reasonable doubt, but to conceive 
any doubt at all. 

Frank was in jail, Frank had already stated in his aflldavit 
at police headquart.ers, which is in evidence, contradicting 
this statement and this chart which they have macre, that he 
didn't leave his office between certain hours. Frank didn't 
know that his own detective, Harry Scott, had found this lit­
tle Monteen Stover,-and I quote her evidence, I q~ it 
and I submit it shows that she went in that office and went far 
enough in that office to see who was in there, and if she 
didn't go far enough in, it's passing strange that anybody bl 
that office,~Frank himself, could have heard that girl and 
could have made his presence known. Scott, their own Pink­
erton detective, gets the statement from Mont.een St.over, 
and he visits Leo M. Frank in his cell at the jail. Frank 
in order to evade that says, ''to the best of my recollection 
I didn't stir out of the office, but it's possible that, in order 
to answer a call of nature, I may have gone to the toilet, 
these are things that a man does unconsciously and can't 
tell how many times nor when he does it.'' 

I tell you, gentlemen of the juey, that if this man Frank 
had remained in his office and was in his office when Monteen 
Stover went in there, be would have beard her, he would 
have seen her, be would have talked with her, he would have 
given her her pay. I tell you, gentlemen of the jury, that if 
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this man Frank had stepped out of his oflice to answer a call 
of nature, that he would have remembered it, and if he 
wouldn't have remembered it, at least he wouldn't have 
stated so repeatedly and unqualliledly that he never left his 
o&lee, and only on the stand here, when he faces an honest 
°jury, charged with the murder, and circumstances banked 
up against him, does he ofter the :flimsy excuse that these are 
things that people do unconsciously and without any recol­
lection. But this man Scott, in company with Blaek, after 
they found that little Monteen Stover had been there at 
exactly the time that old Jim Conley says that that man 
with this poor little unfortunate girl had gone to the rear, 
and on May 3rd, the very time that Monteen Stover told them 
that she had ·been up there, at that time this Pinkerton de­
t.ective, Scott, as honest and honorable a man as ever lived, 
the man who said he was going hand in hand with the police 
department of the City of Atlanta and who did, notwith­
standing the fact that some of the others undertook to leap 
with the hare and nm with the hounds, stood straight up by 
the city detectives and by the State o&lcials and by the truth, 
put these questions, on May 3rd, to Leo M. Frank: says he 
to Frank: 

''From the time you got to the factory from Montag 
Brothers, until you went to the fourth :floor to see White and 
Denham, were you inside your oftlce the entire time t" An­
swer: "I was." Again, says Scott-and Mr. Scott, in jail, 
when Frank didn't know the importance of the proposition 
because he didn't know that little Monteen Stover had said 
that she went up there and saw nobody in bis ofllae-Scott 
came at him from another di«erent angle: ''From the time 
you came from :Montag Brothers, until Mary Phagan came, 
were you in your o&lce t" and Frank said "yes." "From 
twelve o'clock," says Scott, "until Mary Phagan entered 
your ofllee and thereafter until 12 :50, when you went up­
stairs to get Mrs. White out of the building, were you in 
your oftlce t" Answer: "Yes." "Then," says Scott, "from 
twelve to twelve-thirty, every minute during that half hour, 
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you were in your ofB.eet" and Frank said "yes." And not 
until he saw the -wonderful capacity, the wonderful ability, 
the wonderful devotion of this man Seott to the truth and 
right did he ever shut him out from his counseL No sug­
gestion then that he might have had to answer a eall of na­
ture, but emphatically, without knowing the importance, he 
told his own detective, in the presence of John Black, that 
at no time, for no purpose, from a few minutes before this 
unfortunate girl arrived, until he went upstairs, at 12 :50-, 
to ask Mrs. White to leave, had he been out of his otllee. 

Then you tell me that an honest jury, with no motive but 
to do right, would aooept the statement of this man Frank, 
that he might have been, these things occur 80 frequently 
that a man can't remember, and by that statement set aside 
what he said to his own detective, Harry Scottt Well, you 
can do it; you have got the power to do it; no king on the 
throne, no potentate has the power that is vested in the 
American jury. In the secret of your consultation room, you 
can write a verdict that outrages truth and justice, if you 
want to, and no power on earth can call you to account, but 
your conscience, but 80 long as you live, wherever you go, 
that conscience has got to be with you,-you can't get away 
from it; and if you do it, you will lose the peace of mind 
that goes with a clear conscience of duty done, and never 
again, 80 long as you shall last upon this earth, though others 
not knowing the truth might respect you, will you ever have 
your own self-esteem. 

I have already talked to you about this time element. You 
made a mighty effort to break down little George Epps. You 
showed that McCoy didn't have a wateh; have tried to show 
this man Kendley was a liar because he knew the little girl 
and felt that he knew in his heart who the murderer was. 
But there's one witness for the State against whom not a 
breath of sospicion has been apparent,--we impeached these 
men Matthews and Hollis by other witnesses besides George 
Epps and besides George Kendley and besides McCoy, and 
as to how that little girl got to that factory, gentlemen, this· 
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man Mr. Kelley, who rode on the same car with Hollis, the 
same ear that Hollis elaims or Matthews elaims that he rode 
on, knew the girl, knew Matthews, tells you and he's unim­
peached and unimpeaehable, and there's no suggestion here, 
even if you set the evidenee of Epps and MeCoy and Kend­
ley aside, upon which an honest jury ean predicate a doubt 
that this man Kelley of the street car eompany didn't tell 
the trnth when he says that she wasn't on that ear th~t thia 
man Matthews says she was and she went around, because "I 
rode with Matthews and I know her and I know Matthews." 

And Mr. Rosser says that he don't eare anything about all 
this medical evidenee,-he don't eare anything about cab­
bage. I'm not going baek on my raising here or anywhere, 
and· I tell you, gentlemen, that there is no better, no more 
wholesome meal, and when the stomach is normal and all 
right, there is ·nothing that is more easily digested, because 
the majority of the substances whieh you eat takes the same 
length of time that eabbage requires. And I tell you that 
cabbage, com bread and buttermilk is good enough for any 
man. I tell you, gentlemen of the jury, that Mr. Rosser's 
statement here, that he don't eare anything for that evi­
denee of Doctor Roy Harris about this eabbage which was 
taken out of that poor girl 'e stomach, is not borne out by 
the record in this ease. It wouldn't surpiee me if these able, 
astute gentlemen, vigilant as they have shown themselves to 
be, didn't go out and get some doctors who have been the 
family physicians and who are well known to some of the 
members of this jury, for the e1fect that it might have upon 
you. 

Mr . .Amold. There is not a word of evidence as to that; it is a 
grossly improper argument, and I move that that be withdrawn from 
the juey. 

Mr. Donty. I don't state it as a fact, but I am suggesting it. 
Mr • .Amold. He has no right to deduct it or suggest it, I just 

want Yom Honor to reprove it-reprimand him and withdraw it 
from the jlJ1"Y; I just make the motion and Your Honor can do as 
you please. . 

I am going to show that there must have been something 
besides the training of these men, and I'm going to contrast 
them with our doctors. 
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Mr . .Arnold. I move to exclude that as grossly improper. He says 
be is arguing that some physician was brought here because he was 
the physician of some member of the jury, it's grossly unfair and it's 
grossly improper and insulting, even, to the jury. 

Mr. Dorsey. I say it is eminently proper and absolutely a legiti­
mate argument. 

Mr • .Arnold. I just record my objection, and if Your Honor lets 
it stay in, you can do it. 

Mr. Dorsey. Yes, sir; that wouldn't scare me, Your Honor. 
The CoURT. Well, I want to try it right, and I suppose you do. 

Is there anything to authorize that inference to be drawn f 
Mr. Dorsey. Why sure; the fact that you went out and got gen­

eral practitioners, that know nothing about the analysis of the stom­
ach, know nothing about pathology. 

The COURT. Go on, then. 
Mr. Dorsey. I thought so. 
Mr • .Arnold. Does Your Honor hold that is proper-"! thought sof" 
The CoURT. I hold that he can draw any inference legitimately 

from the testimony and argue it-I do not know whether or not there 
is anything to indicate that any of these physicians was the physi­
cian of the family. 

Mr. RoBBer. Let me make the suggestion, Your Honor ought to 
know that before you let him testify it. 

The CoURT. He says he does not know it, he's merely arguing it 
trom an inference he has drawn. 

I can't see any other reason in God's world for going out 
and getting these practitioners, who have never had any 
special training on stomach analysis, and who have not had 
any training with the analysis of tissues, like a pathologist 
has had, except upon that theory. And I am saying to you, 
gentlemen of the jury, that the number of doctors that these 
men put up here belie the statement of Mr. Rosser that he 
doesn't attach any importance to this cabbage proposition, 
because they knew, as you know, that it is a powerful factor 
in sustaining the State's ease and breaking down the alibi 
of this defendant. It fastens and fixes and nails down with 
the aeeuraey only which a scientific fact ean do, that this 
little girl met her death between the time she entered the 
omee of the superintendent and the time Hrs. White came 
up the stairs at 12 :35, to see her husband and found this 
defendant at the safe and saw him jump. You tell me that 
this Doctor Childs, this general practitioner, who don't 
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know anything about the action of the gastric juices on 
foods in the stomach, this man of the short experience of 
seven years, this gentleman, splendid gentleman though he 
is, from Michigan, can put his opinion against the eminent 
Secretary of the Georgia Board of Health, Doctor Roy 
Harris f I tell you no. 

Now, briefly, let's run over this nervousness proposition. 
The man indicated nervousness when he talked to old man 
John Stames, when Black went out to his house and he sent 
his wife down to give him nerve, although he was nearly 
dressed and she wasn't at all dressed, he betrayed his nerv­
ousness by the rapidity of his questions, by the form of his 
questions. But tlrst, before we get to that, he warned old 
Newt Lee to come back there Saturday at four o'clock, and 
dutiful old darkey that he was, old Newt walked in and 
Frank then was engaged in washing his hands. J"un Con­
ley hadn't come, but he was looking for Conley, and he sent 
old Newt Lee out, although Newt insisted that he wanted to 
sleep, and although he might have found a cozy corner on 
any 11.oor in that factory, with plenty of sacks and cords 
and other things to make him a pallet, he wanted old man 
Newt to leave. Why f When Newt said he was sleepy he 
wanted him to leave so that he could do just exactly what 
old J"un Conley told you Frank made his promise to do,-he 
wanted an opportunity to burn that body, so that the City 
Police of Atlanta wouldn't have the Phagan mystery solved 
today, and probably it would not even be known that the 
girl lost her life in that factory. 

His anxiety about Gantt going back into that building 
that afternoon, when he hung his head and said to Gantt 
that he saw a boy sweeping out a pair of shoes, and Gantt 
says ~'what were they, tan or black!" And ah, gentlemen, 
it looked like Providence had foreordained that this tfld, 
long-legged Gantt should leave, not only one pair, but two 
pairs. "What kind were they," he said; he gave him the 
name of one color, and then, as Providence would have it, 
old Gantt said, "ah, but I've got two pair," and then it 
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was that he dared not say, because he couldn't then say, 
that he saw that man also sweeping them out; then it was 
that he said "all right, Newt, go up with him and let him 
get them," and lo and behold, the shoes that this man 
Frank would have him believe were swept out, both tan 
and black were there. Gantt tells you how he acted; Newt 
tells you how he jumped. Rogers and Black, honest men 
when they went out there after Mr. Starnes had talked to 
him, tell you that he was nervous. Why f Why do you sa7 
you were nervous; because of the automobile ride f Because 
you looked into the face of this little girl and it was such a 
gruesome sight f I tell you, gentlemen of the jury, and 
you know it, that this man Frank needed, when be had his 
wife go down to the door, somebody to BUBtain him. I tell 
you that this man Frank, when he had his wife telephone 
Darley to meet him at the factory, did it because he wanted 
somebody to sustain him. I tell yon, gentlemen of the jury, 
that, because be sent for Mr. Rosser,-big of reputation and 
big of brain, dominating and controlling, so far as he can, 
everybody with whom he comes in contact, the reason be 
wanted him at the Police Headquarters, and the reason be 
wanted Haas, was because his conscience needed somebody 
to sustain him. 

And this man Darley I We had to go into the enemy's 
camp to get the ammunition, but fortunately, I got on the 
job and sent the subpoena, and fortunately Darley didn't 
know that he didn't have to come, and fortunately he came 
and made the affidavit, to which he stood up here as far as 
he had to because he couldn't get around it, in which Dar­
ley says "I noticed his nervousness; I noticed it upstairs, I 
noticed it downstairs," when they went to nail up the door. 
"When he sat in my lap going down to the Police Headquar­
ters be shook and he trembled like an aspen leaf." I eon­
fronted him with the statement, in which be had said "com­
pletely undone." He denied it but said "almost undone." 
I confronted him with the statement that he had made, and 
the affidavit to which be had sworn, in whieh he had used 
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the language, "Completely unstrung," and now he changed 
it in your presence and said "almost completely unstrung." 

You tell me that this man that called for break.fast at 
home, as Durant called for bro mo seltzer in San Francisco, 
this man who called for coffee at the factory, as Durant 
called for bromo seltzer in San Francisco, you tell me that 
this man Frank, the defendant in this case, explains his 
nervousness by reason of the automobile ride, the view of 
the body,-as this man Durant, in San Francisco tried to 
explain his condition by the inhalation of gas,-you tell me, 
gentlemen of the jury, that these explanations are going to 
wipe out the nervousness that you know could have been 
produced by but one cause, and that is, the consciousness 
of an infamous crime that had been committed! 

Old Newt Lee says that when he went back there that 
afternoon he found that inside door locked,-a thing that 
never had been found before he got there at four o'clock, a 
thing that he never had found. Old Newt Lee says that 
Frank came .out of his ofllee and met him out there by the 
desk, the place where he always went and said "All right, 
Mr. Frank," and that Frank baa always called him in and 
given him his instructions. But Newt Lee says that night, 
when he went into the cellar, he found the light, that had 
always burned brightly turned back so that it was burning 
just about like a lightning bug. You tell me that old Jim 
Conley felt the necessity to have turned that light down f 
I tell you that that light was turned down, gentlemen, by 
that man, Leo M. Frank, after he went down there Satur­
day afternoon, when he discovered that Conley wasn't com­
ing back to burn the body, to place the notes by the body, 
that Conley had written, and he turned it down in the hope 
that the body wouldn't be discovered by Newt Lee during 
that night. 

Monday evenin~, Harry Scott is sent for, the Pinkerton 
man-and it didn't require any affidavit to hold old Scott 
down to the truth, though after my experience with that 
man Darley, I almest trembled in my boots for fear this 
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man Scott, one of the most material witnesses, although the 
detective of this defendant's company, might also throw me 
down. Scott says this man Frank, when he went there 
Monday afternoon, after he had anxiously phoned Schiff to 
see old man Sig Montag and get Sig Montag's permission­
had phoned him three times-Scott says that he squirmed 
in his chair continually, crossed and uncrossed his legs, rub­
bed his face with his hand, sighed, twisted and drew long 
deep breaths. .Aft.er going to the station Tuesday morning, 
just before his arrest-if he ever was arrested-just be­
fore his detention, at another time altogether from the time 
that Darley speaks of,-Darley, the man for whom he sent, 
Darley the man who is next to him in power, Darley the 
man that he wanted to sustain his nerve--Scott, your own 
detective, says that he was nervous and pale, and that when 
he saw him at the factory, his eyes were large and glaring. 
Tuesday morning, Waggoner, sent up there to watch him 
from across the street, says before the officers came to get 
him, he could see Frank pacing his office inside, through 
the windows, and that he came to the office window and 
looked out at him twelve times in thirty minutes,-that he 
was agitated and nervous on the way down to the station. 

I want to read you here an excerpt from the speech of a 
man by the name of Hammond, when prosecuti.p.g a fellow 
by the name of Dunbar for the murder of two little chil­
dren, it explains in language better than I can command, 
why all this nervousness: 

''It was because the mighty secret of the fact was in his heart; it 
was the overwhelming consciousness of guilt striving within him; it 
was nature over-burdened with a terrible load; it was a conscience 
striving beneath a tremendous crushing weight; it was fear, remorse 
and terror-remorse for the past, and terror for the future. Spec­
tral shadows were flitting before him"-the specter of the dead girl, 
the cord, the blood, arose. "The specter of this trial, of the prison, 
of the gallows and the grave of infamy. Guilt, gentlemen of the 
jury, forces itself into speech and conduct, and is its own betrayer.'' 

Mr. Rosser said that once a thief, always a thief and 
eternally damned. Holy Writ, in giving the picture of the 
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death of Christ on the Cross, says that,. when He suffered 
that agony, He said to the thief, "This day shalt thou be 
with He in Paradise;'' and unless our religion is a fraud and 
a farce, if it teaches anything, it is that man, though he 
may be a thief, may be rehabilitated, and enjoy a good 
character and the confidence of the people among whom 
be lives. 

And this man Dalton, according to the unimpeached tes­
timony of these people who have known him in DeKalb and 
Fulton since he left that crowd back yonder where he was a 
boy and probably wild and did things t'!iat were wrong, 
they tell you that today he is a man of integrity, notwith­
standing the fact that he is sometimes tempted to step aside 
with a woman who has fallen so low as Daisy Hopkins. 
Did we sustain him f By more witnesses by far than you 
brought here to impeach him, and by witnesses of this 
community, witnesses that you couldn't impeach to save 
your life. 

Did we sustain him f We not only sustained him by proof 
of general good character, but we sustained him by the evi­
dence of this man, C. T. Maynard, an unimpeached and un­
impeaehable wdtness, who tells you, not when Newt Lee was 
there, during the three weeks that Newt Lee was there, but 
that on a Saturday afternoon in June or July, 1912, he saw 
with his own eyes this man Dalton go into that pencil factory 
with a woman. Corroboration of Conley f Of course, it's 
corroboration. The very fal!t, gentlemen of the jury, that 
these gentlemen conducting this ease failed absolutely and in­
gloriously even to attempt to sustain this woman, Daisy Hop­
kins, is another corroboration of Conley. 

But, ah I Hr. Rosser said he would give so much to know 
who it was that dressed this man Conley up,-this man 
about whom he fusses, having been put in the custody of the 
police force of the City of Atlanta. Why, if you had wanted to 
have known, and if you had used one-half the efrort to ascer­
tain that fact that you used when you sent somebody down 
yonder,-1 forget the name of the man,-to Walton County 

.... 
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to impeach this man, Dalton, you could have found it out. 
And I submit that the man that did it, whoever he was, the 
man who had the charity in his heart to dress that negro up, 
-the negro that ,YOU would dress in a shroud and send to 
his grave,-the man that did that, to bring him into the 
presence of this Court deserves nQt the condemnation, but 
the thanks of this jury. 

Let's see what Mr. William Smith, a man employed to de­
fend this negro Conley, set up in response to the rule issued 
by His Honor, Juge Roan, and let's see now if they are not 
all sutlicient reasons why Conley should not have been de­
livered into the custody of the city police of Atlanta, though 
they are no better, but just as good as the sheriff of this 
county. "Respondent (Jim Conley, through his attorney) 
admits that he is now held in custody, under orders of this 
Court, at the police prison of the City of Atlanta, having 
been origdnally held in the prison of Fulton County, also un­
der order of this Court, the cause of said commitment by 
iilis Court of r~ondent being the allegation that respondent 
is a material witness in the above case,-that of The State 
against Leo M. Frank-in behalf of The State, and it is 
desired to insure the presence of respondent at the trial of 
the above case." So he couldn't get away, in order to hold 
him. "Respondent admits that he is now at the eity police 
prison at his own request and instance, and through the ad­
vice and counsel of his attorney. Respondent shows to the 
Court that the city poliee prison is so arranged and 80 om­
cered that respondent is absolutely safe as to his physical 
welfare from any attack that might be made upon him; that 
he is 80 confined that his cell is a solitary one, there being 
no one else even located in the cell block with him; that the 
key to his cell block and the cell of respondent is always in 
the p088e88ion of a sworn, uniformed omcer of the law; that 
under the instruction of Chief of Police Beavers, said sworn 
officers are not allowed to permit any one to approach.'' 

Judge Roan did it,-no refiection on the sheriff, but with 
the friends of this man Frank pouring in there at all hoUER 
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of the night, otfering him sandwiches and whiskey and 
threatening his life, things that this sherllf, who is as good 
as the ehief of police but no better, couldn't guard against 
because of the physical structure of the jail, Jim ·Conley 
asked, and His Honor granted the request, that he be re­
manded back into the custody of the honorable men who 
manage the police department of the City of Atlanta. 

Mr. Ross8f'. No, that's a mistake, that isn't correct, Your Honor 
discharged him from CllStody-he said that under that petition Your 
Honor sent him back to the custody where you had him before, and 
that isn't true, Your Honor discharged him, vacated the order, that's 
what you did. 

Mr. Doney. Here's an order committing him down there ftrst­
you are right about that, I'm glad you are right one time. 

Mr. Rosser. That's more than you have ever been. 
Mr. Dorsey. No matter what the outcome of the order may have 

been, the effect of the order passed by His Honor, Judge Roan, who 
presides in this ease, wss to remand him into the custody of the 
police of the City of Atlanta. 

Mr. Rosser. I dispute that; that isn't the e1fect of the order 
passed by His Honor, the etfect of the order passed by His Honor 
was to turn him out, and they went through the farce of turning him 
out on the street and carrying him right back. That isn't the eft'ect 
of Your Honor's judgment. In this sort of ease, we ought to have 
the exact truth. 

The CoURT. This is 'What I concede to be the e1fect of that ruling: 
I passed this order upon the motion of State's counsel, ftrst, is my 
recollection, and by consent of Conley's attomey-

Mr. Rosser. I'm asking onl:y for the e1fect of the last one. 
The CoUBT. On motion of State's counsel, consented to by Con­

ley's attorney, I passed the tlrst order, that's my recollection. After­
wards, it came up on motion of the Solicitor General, I vacated both 
orders, committing him to the jail and also the order, don't you un­
derstand, transferring him; that left it ss though I had never made 
an order, that's the etfect of it. 

Mr. RoBBer. Then the etfect was that there was no order out at all T 
The CoUBT. No order putting him anywhere. 
Mr. Rosser. Which had the effect of putting him outf 
The CoUBT. Yes, that's the effect, that there was no order at all. 

Mr. DOf'ley. First, there was an order committing him to 
the common jail of Fulton County; second, he was turned 
over to the custody of the police of the City of Atlanta, by 
an order of Judge L. S. Roan; third, he was released from 
anybody's CUBtody, and except for the determination of the 
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police forice of the City of Atlanta, he would have been a lib­
erated man, when he stepped int.o this Court t.o swear, or he 
would have been spirited out of the State of Georgia so his 
damaging evidence couldn't have been adduced against this 
man. 

But yet you say Conley is impeached f You went thor­
oughly into this man Conley's previous life. You found 
out every pers'>n for whom he had worked, and yet this 
lousy, disreputable negro is unimpeached by any man ex­
cept somebody that's got a hand in the till of the National 
Pencil Company, unimpeached as to general bad character, 
except by the hirelings of the National Pencil Company. 
And yet you would have this jury, in order to turn this 
man loose, over-ride the facts of this case and say that Con­
ley committed this murder, when all you have ever been 
able to dig up against him is disorderly conduct in the Po­
lice Court. Is Conley sustained f Abundantly. Our proof 
of general bad character, the existence of such character as 
can reasonably be supposed to cause one to commit an act 
like we charge, our proof of general bad character, I say, sus­
tains Jim Conley. Our proof of general bad character as 
to lasciviousness not even denied by a single witness, sus­
tains Jim Conley. Your failure to cross-examine and de­
velop the source of information of these girls put upon the 
stand by the State,-these "hair-brained fanatics," as Mr. 
Arnold called them, without rhyme or reason, sustains Jim 
Conley. Your failure to cross-examine our character wit­
nesses with reference to this man's character for lascivious­
ness sustains Jim Conley. His relations with Miss Rebecca 
Carson, the lady on the fourth 1loor, going into the ladies' 
dressing room even in broad daylight and during working 
hours, as sustained by Miss Kitchens. 

His relations with Miss Rebecca Carson, who is shown to 
have gone into the ladies' dressing room, even in broad day­
light and during work hours, by witnesses whose names I 
can't call right now, sustains Jim Conley. Your own wit­
ness, Miss Jackson, who says that this libertine and rake 
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came, when these girls were in there reclining and lounging 
after they had :finished their piece work, and tells of the sar­
donic grin that lit his countenance, sustains Jim Conley. 
Miss Kitchens, the lady from the fourth :floor, that, in spite 
of the repeated assertion made by Mr. Arnold, you didn't 
produce, and her account of this man's conduct when he 
came in there on these girls, whom he should have protected 
and when he should have been the last man to go in that 
room, sustains Jim Conley; and Miss Jackson's assertion 
that she heard of three or four other instances and that 
complaint was made to the foreladies in charge, sustains 
Jim Conley. Darley and Mattie Smith, as to what they did 
even on the morning of Saturday, April 26th, even going 
into the minutest details, sustain Jim Conley. McCrary, 
the old negro that you praised so highly, the man that keeps 
his till filled by money paid by the National Pencil Com­
pany, as to where he put his stack of hay and the time of 
day he drew his pay, sustains Jim Conley. Monteen Stover, 
as to the easy-walking shoes she wore when she went up 
into this man's Frank's room, at the very minute he was 
back there in the metal department with this poor little 
unfortunate girl, sustains Jim Conley. Monteen Stover, 
when she tells you that she found nobody in that oftlce, sus­
tains Jim Conley, when he says that he heard little Mary 
Phagan go into the office, heard the footsteps of the two 
as they went to the rear, he heard the scream and he saw 
the dead body because Monteen says there was nobody in 
the office, and Jim says she went up immediately after Mary 
had gone to the rear. Lemmie Quinn, your own dear Lem­
mie,-as to the time he went up and went down into the 
streets with the evidence of Mrs. Freeman and Hall, sus­
tains Jim Conley. Frank's statement that he would con­
sult his attorneys about Quinn's statement that he had vis­
ited him in his office sustains J"un Conley. Dalton, sus­
tained as to his life for the last ten years, here in this com­
munity and in DeKalb, when he stated that he had seen 
Jim watching before on Saturdays and holidays, sustains 
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Jim Conley. Daisy Hopkins' awful reput.ation and tlie 
st.atement of Jim, that he had seen her go into that factory 
with Dalton, and down that scuttle hole to the place where 
that cot is ·shown to have been, sust.ains Jim Conley. The 
blood on the second :floor, testified to by numerous wit­
nesses, sustains J"nn Conley. The appearance of the blood, 
the physical conditions of the :floor when the blood was 
found Monday morning, sustains Jim Conley. The testi­
mony of Holloway, which he gave in the affidavit before he 
appreciated the importance, coupled with the st.atement of 
Boots Rogers that that elevator box was unlocked, sust.ains 
Jim Conley. Ivey Jones, the man who says he met him in 
close proximity to the pencil factory on the day this mur­
der was committed, the time he says he left that place, sus­
tains J"nn Conley. Albert McKnight, who testified as to the 
length of time that this man Frank remained at home, and 
the fact that he hurried back to the factory, sust.ains J°llll 
Conley. The repudiated aflldavit, made to the police, in 
the presence of Craven and Pickett, of Minola McKnight, 
the affidavit which George Gordon, the lawyer, with the 
knowledge that he could get a habeas corpus and t.ake her 
within thirty minutes out of the custody of the police, but 
which he sat there and allowed her to make, . sustains J°llll 
Conley. The use of that cord, found in abundance, to choke 
this girl to death, sust.ains J°JDl Conley. The existence of 
the notes alone sust.ains J°JDl Conley, because no negro ever 
in the history of the race, after having perpetrated rape or 
robbery, ever wrote a note to cover up the crime. The not.e 
paper on which it is written, paper found in abundance on 
the office :floor and near the office of this man Frank, sus­
tains J"nn Conley. The diction of the notes, "this negro did 
this," and old Jim throughout his statement says "I done," 
sustains Jim Conley. 

Mr. BosHr. I have looked ·dte record up, and Jim Conley e&J8, 
"I did it," time and time again. He eaid "I disremember whether I 
did or didn't," he says ''I did it"-

Mr. Dorsey. They would haft to prove that record before I 
would believe it. 
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Mr. Bou11r. He says time and time again "I disremember whether 
I did or not"; be says ''I did it," page after page, sometimes three 
dines on a page. I've got the record, t.oo. Of course, if the Almighty 
God was to say it you ~uld deny it. 

Mr. Doney. Who reported itf 
Mr. Rouw. Pages 496, (Mr. Rosser here read a list of page 

numbers containing the statement referred to.) 
Mr . .Arnold. I want to read the first one before be caught him­

aelt, on page 946, I want to read the statement-
Mr. Dorsey. Who reported it, that's what I want to know. 
Mr • .Arnold. This is the official report and it's the correct report, 

taken down by the official stenographer, and he said, "Now W'hen the 
lady comes I'll stamp like I did before," ''l says all right, I'll do 
just as you say and I did." 

Mr. Doney. He's quoting Frank here, "and -he says now 'When 
the lady comes I'll stamp like I did." 

Mr • .Arnold. "I says all right, I'll do just as you say, and I did 
• he said." He bas got it both ways, "I did it," and "I done it," 
yon can tlnd it both ways. 

Mr. Doney. The jury heard dJat examination and the oroee­
enmination of .Tun Conley, and every time it w.s put to him he 
says "I done it." 

Mr. Bosser. And I assert that's not true, the stenographer took 
it down and he took it down eorreetiy. 

Mr. Dorsey. I'm not bound by bis stenographer. 
Mr. Rosser. I know, you are not ~ound by any rule of right in 

the universe. 
The Cotnrr. If there's any ctisput.e about the correctness of this 

report, I will have the stenographer to come here. 
Mr. Parry. I reported 1 to S1 myself, and I think I can make a 

Btatement that will satisfy Mr. Dorsey: The shorthand eharaeter 
for "did" is very difterent from "done," there's no reason for a 
reporter confusing those two. Now, at tbe bottom of this page-I 
see I reported it myself, and that was what he said, quoting "All 
right, I'll do just as you say and I did as he said." Now, as I say, 
my eharaeters for "did" and "done" are very different and shouldn't 
be confused-no reason for their being confused. 

The CoURT. Well, is that reported or not correctly! 
Mr. P""'1. That was taken as he said it and written out as be 

eaid it. . 

Mr. Dot1ey. Let it go, then, I'll trust the jury on it. 
Maybe he did, in eert.ain instances, say that he did so and 

so, but you said in your argument that if there is anything 
in the world a negro will do, it is t.o pick up the language of 
the man for whom he worb; and while I '11 assert that there 
are some instances you ean pick out in whjeh he used that 
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word, that there are other instances you might piek show­
ing that he used that word "I done," and they know it. All 
right, leave the language, take the context. 

These notes say, as I snggested the other day, that she was 
assaulted as she went to make water. And the on]y closet 
known to Mary, and the only one that she would ever have 
used is the closet on the oftlee :Boor, where Conley says he 
found the body, and her body was found right on the route 
that Frank would pUl'BUe from his office to that closet, right 
on back also to the metal room. The fact that this note 
states that a negro did it by himself, shows a conscious ef -
fort on the part of somebody to exclude and limit the crime 
to one man, and this fact sostains Conley. Frank even, in 
his statement snstains him, as to his time of arrival Sat. 
urday morning at the factory, as to the time of the visit to 
Montage, as to the fol~r which Conley says Frank had in 
his hands, and Frank in his statement says that he had the 
folder. Conley is sustained by another thing: This man 
Harry White, according to your statement got $2.00. Where 
is the paper, where is the entry on any book showing that 
Frank ever entered it up on that Saturday afternoon when 
he waited for Conley and his mind was occupied with the 
consideration of the problem as to what he should do with 
the body. Sehl« waited until the next week and would have 
you believe there was some little slip that was put in a cash 
box showing that this $2.00 was given White, and that slip 
was destroyed. Listen to this: "Arthur White borrowed 
$2.00 from me in advance on his wages. When we spend, 
of course, we credit it; there was a time, when we paid out 
money we would write it down on the book and we found it 
was much better for us to keep a little voucher book and 
let each and every pel'80n sign for money they got." 

"Let each and every person sign for money they got," 
says Frank in his statement, "and we have not only this 
record, but this record on the receipt book." And notwith­
standing that you kept a book and you found it better to 
keep this little voucher book and let each and every pel'SOD. 
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sign for money they got, notwithstanding the fact that you 
say that you kept a ·book for express and kerosene and every 
other conceivable purpose for which money was appropri­
ated, you fail and refuse, because you can't, produce the 
signature of White, or the ent17 in any book made by Frank 
showing that this man White ever got that money, except 
the entry made by this man Schiff some time during the 
week thereafter. 

I tell you, gentlemen of the jury, that the reason that 
Frank didn't enter up, or didn't take the receipt from White 
about the payment of that money, was ·because his mind and 
conscience were on the crime that he had committed. This 
expert in bookkeeping, this Cornell graduate, this man who 
checks and re-checks the cash, you tell me that if things were 
normal that he would have given out to that man White this 
$2.00 and not have taken a receipt, or not have made an 
entry himself on some book, going to show it f I tell you 
there's only one reason why he didn't do it. He is sustained 
by the evidence in this case and the statement of Frank that 
he had relatives in Brooklyn. The time that Frank says that 
he left that factory sustains old Jim. 

When old Jim Conley was on the stand, Mr. Roeser put 
him through a good deal of que<Jtioning with reference to 
some fellow by the name of Mincey. Where is Mincey f 
Echo answers ''Where f'' Either Mincey was a myth, or 
Mincey was such a diabolical perjurer that this man knew 
that it would nauseate the stomach of a decent jury to have 
him produced. Where is Mincey f And if you weren't going 
to produce Mincey, why did you parade it here before this 
jury f The absence of Mincey is a powerful faet that goes 
to sustain Jim Conley, because if Mincey could have con­
tradicted Jim Conley, or could have suecessfully fastened an 
admission on old Jim that he was connected in any way with 
this crime, depend upon it, you would have produced him if 
you had to comb the State of Georgia with a fine-tooth comb, 
from Rabun Gap to Tybee Light. 

Gentlemen, every act of that defendant proclaims him 
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guilty. Gentlemen, every word of that defendant proclaims 
him responsible for the death of this little fact.ory girl. Gen­
tlemen, every circmnstances in this case proves him guilty 
of this crime. Extraordinary! Yes, but nevertheless true, 
just 88 true 88 Mary Phagan is dead. She died a noble 
death, not a blot on her name. She died because she wouldn't 
yield her virtue t.o the demands of her mperintendent. I 
have no purpose and have never had from the beginning in 
this case that you oughtn't to have, 88 an honest, upright 
citizen of this community. In the language of Daniel Web­
ster, I desire to remind you "that when a jury, through 
whimsical and unfounded scruples, su1rers the guilty to es­
cape, they make themselves answerable for the augmented 
danger to the innocent." 

Your Honor, I have done my duty. I have no apology to 
make. Your Honor, so far as the Stat.e is concerned, may 
now charge this jury,-this jury who have sworn that they 
were impartial and unbiased, this jury who, in this presence, 
have taken the oath that they would well and truly try the 
issue fonood on this bill of indictment between the State of 
Georgia and Leo M. Frank, charged with the murder of Mary 
Phagan; and I predict, may it please Your Honor, that un­
der the law that you give in ch~ and under the honest 
opinion of the jury of the evidence produced, there can be 
but one verdict, and that is: We the jury find the defend­
ant, Leo M. Frank, guilty l guilty l guilty I 

.A Ufl"'I 25. 

Mr • .Arnold asked that the jury be ordered to retire as be bad an 
e.ppliu.tion to make 'WW.cil 'he did not desire it should bear. 

'l'be COURT acquiesced end the jury retired. 
Mr • .Arnold. I make a motion for a mistrial, and I wish to name 

the faets on which we make it. We wish to prove every fact included 
in this motion, unless it.be oomt alree.dy knows it. We base our mo­
tion on the following fools: 

First, at the beginning of this trial counsel for ofhe defendant :re­
quested dhat 1Jhe oourt room be cleared. 

Second, when the oomt refused to rnle out evidence rele.ting to 
women, the audience 8pplauded loudly. The jury was in the court 
room twenty feet away and •beard the applause. 

Third, on Friday, August 22, when court bad just adjourned for 
the day, when the jury was 290 feet DOrtb of the courtb•use on 



LEO M. FRANK. 399 

South Pryor street, a large crowd cheered the solicitor, erying, 
"Hurrah for Dorsey." 

Fourdi, on Saturoay, August 23, 1913, wilen the jury 'W'8.8 only 
100 feet away from the court:hotlile, in the German cafe, a crowd in 
front of the court.house loudly eheered the solicitor as he eame out, 
and afterward a pontion of the crowd moved up in front of the 
eafe and repeated their cheers. 

Fifth, that on 1he last day of the trial, namely Monday, a large 
crowd of women bad assembled in the oourtroom and taken iflheir 
seats before court opened; .tJi.a.t as Mr. Dorsey entered the oourt­
ho1ll!6 he was loudly eheered; end the.t rthe jury in rooms not more 
than twenty feet away must have heard the demonstration plainly. 

Sixth, that these demonstrations tended to coerce and intimidate 
t1ie jury and infiuence their verdict in the case. 

Your Honor, in the event you do not take cognizance of these 
facts yourself and certify to them, we stand ready to prove them 
all T·he behavior of the spectatom throughout this trial bes been 
disgraeeful. This man ·bas .bad anydring in the world but a fair 
trial. I .am not afraid of this erowd, and I hope no one else is, but 
their demonstrations tend to intimidate the jury. 

Mr. Doney. We deny 1here were any shouts of "Hurrah for 
Dorsey I" And we eontend .that it is ridiculous to claim they 
amounted to anything even if the}' were. You 'have the right to 
charge the jury that if they heard any of these eheem, to pay no 
attention to them, just as you ehe.rged the jury to pay no attention 
to that ne'Wllpa.per headline whi.Ch you inadvertently allowed them 
to see. 

JUDG:s Ro.AN. Of eo111"8e I heard the obeers this morning, and 
ihe eheers Saturday .afternoon. But I do Mt know Wiha.t 'Was ea.id. 

Mr . .Arnold. Do you deny, Mr. Solicitor, 'lilat there were eheem 
of "Hurrah for Dorsey!" 

Mr. Dorsey. I iheard tile noise, but I !lee.rd no soob tiieers as 
that. . 

Mr. Amold.. We want en opportunity, your Honor, to prove 
these faets unless you are willing .to certify to them yourself. 

· JUDGE Ro.AN. Whether the jury wes influenced this morning, I 
don't know. Wlhat was ea.id: Saturday, I don't know. As t<> the 
jury being in -tihe German cafe Saturday afternoon, and es to a 
portion of the erowd moving up in front of the oafe, and contin­
uing the demonstration, I don't kn<1W'. 

Mr. Arnold. Then we have to prove our faets. Where are these 
men that bad eharge of die juryf I understand die solicitor de­
m1ll'B to itftlis aotion. 

JUDGE Rou. No, I don't understand dia.t he demurB. 
Mr. Dorsey. Your Honor I deny and demur, too. 

B. V. Dcwers. Am a deputy oafe when the appla.use began 
eberi1!; wu not in oharge of the and I heard the appla.me; did 
jury on Friday, but we.s one of not hear cries of ''Hurrah for 
the men in charge on Saturday; Boney;" t.be jury could have 
the jury waa near the Gennan heard the applause and cjieers; 
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afier they went inside the cafe 
did not hear any more eheere or 
&pplauae. 

Crou-uatnitNtl. The crowd 
was in front of die court.house; 
I ooold not beer the words they 
said, bot only the ooisea and ttie 
bndclaps; no one eame inside 
of the cafe after ihe jury en­
tered; heard no1iling on the out­
side after they went in; do not 
know whether Solicitor Dor­
sey wes in ~ eoorthoose or out­
side of the eoorthoose when 
cheering eommeneed. 

Jfr • .Amold. .AB Mr. Dorsey 
left the courtroom Friday after­
noon I heard loud cheering in 
front of the coorihoose; on Sat­
OJ'day I asked the Solicitor not 
to leave the courtroom until the 
jury bad gotten out of hearing, 
to which .tile Solici.tor readily 
agreed ; after we had we.ited sev­
eral minutes, we thought die jury 
was out of hearing, and the So­
licitor left the courtroom with 

me; as the Solicitor stepped in­
t.o the street there were loud and 
excited oheers and -cries of "Hur­
rah for Doney;" in my jodg­
meot these cries could have been 
heard 88 far as AlahaDIA street. 

To Jfr Hooper. Do not know 
where the jury was at the t.ilne, 
except by information; did not 
hear this trial mentioned by the 
crowd; did not hear the crowd 
mention Fmnk's name. At any 
other time, I would be glad for 
my friend Dorsey to get all the 
approbation be can. But on this 
oeeasion I think the conduct of 
bhe crowd was shameful. In my 
judgment, if the jury is eom­
~ of men of ordinary hear­
mg, they eoold have heard what 
I heard. 

CluwuB F. Huber. Am one of 
the deputies 'Who was in charge 
of the jury on Friday; did not 
know of the cheers on Friday 
until Saturday morning. (laugh· 
ter.) 

Jfr. Amold. Why, your Honor! you can't even keop them quiet 
now, here in 1he courtroom. I wUb t.o state in the record, Mr. 
Stenographer, that 'While a witDE88 was being examined in support 
of the motion, quite a demonstration t.ook place in the courtroom UD• 
favorable to the defendant. Will your Honor certify t.o tbatf 

JUDO:s RoAN. I will certify to what happened. 
Mr. Amold. Will you decline t.o eeriify, your Honor1 that I asked 

yon before tliis ·trial eommeneed to clear the courtroom T 
JUDOB RoAN. No, I W10n't decline to do that. 
Jfr. Amold. We want an opportunity, your Honor, to complete 

our shdwiog on this motion ; eome of the other deputies are not here. 
Juooz RoAN. I will overrole the motion for a mistrial, charge die 

jury, and flhen give the att.orneys for tile defense an opportunity to 
summon other witnesses and complete what showing 1hey desire to 
make on the motion. 

The jury were reealled, and entered the courtroom. 

THE CHARGE TO '1UliE JURY. 

JUDGE RoAN: Gentlemen of the jury. This bill of indict­
ment charges Leo .M. Frank with the offense of murder. The 
charge is that Leo M. Frank, in this county, on the 26th 
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day of April of this year, with force and arms, did unlaw­
fully and with malice aforethought kill and murder one 
Mary Phagan by then and there choking her, the said Mary 
Phagan, with a cord placed around her neck. 

To this charge made by the bill of indictment found by the 
Grand Jury of this county recently empaneled Leo M. Frank, 
the defendant, files a plea of not guilty. The charge as made 
by the bill of indiotment on the one hand and his plea of not 
guilty filed thereto form the issue, and you, gentlemen of the 
jury, have been selected, chosen and sworn to try the truth 
of this issue. 

Leo M. Frank, the defendant, commences the trial of this 
issue with the presumption of innocence in his favor, and 
this presumption of innocence remains with him to shield 
him and protect him until the state shall overcome it and re­
move it by evidence offered to you, in your hearing and 
presenoo, suftlcient in its strength and character to satisfy 
your minds beyond a reasonable doubt of his guilt of each 
and every material allegation made by the bill of indict-
ment. · 

I charge you, gentlemen, that all of the allegations of this 
indictment are material and it is necessary for the state to 
satisfy you of their truth by evidence that convinces your 
minds beyond a reasonable doubt of his guilt before you 
would be authorir.ed. to find a verdict of guilty. 

You are not compelled to find, from the evidence, his guilt 
beyond any doubt, but beyond a reasonable doubt, such a 
doubt as grows out of the evidenee in the case, or for the 
want of evidence, such a doubt as a reasonable and impartial 
man would entertain about matters of the highest importance 
to himself after all reasonable efforts to ascertain the truth. 
This does not mean a fanciful doubt, on~ conjured up by the 
jury, but a reasonable doubt. 

Gentlemen, this defendant is charged with murder. Mur­
der is defined to be the unlawful killing of a human being, in 
the peace of the state, by a person of sound memory and dis­
cretion, with malice aforethought either express or iq>lied. 
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Express malice is that deliberate intention unlawfully to 
take away the life of a fellow~reature, which is manifested by 
external cireumstanees capable of proof. 

Malice shall be implied where no considerable provocation 
appears, and where all of the circumstances of the killing 
show an abandoned and malignant heart. 

There is no di«erence between express and implied malice 
except in the mode of arriving at the fact of its existence. 
The legal sense of the term ''malice'' is not confined to par­
ticular animosity to the deceased, but extends to an evil de­
sign in general. The popular idea of malice in its sense of 
revenge, hatred, ill will, has nothing to do with the subject. 
It is an intent to kill a human being in a case where the law 
would neither justify nor in any degree excuse the intention 
if the killing should take place as intended. It is a deliberate 
intent unlawfully to take human life, whether it springs 
from hatred, ill will or revenge, ambition, avarice or other 
like passion. A man may form the intent to kill, do the kill­
ing instantly, and regret the deed as soon as done. Malice 
must exist at the time of the killing. It need not have ex­
isted any length of time previously. 

When a homicide is proven, if it is proven to be the act 
of the defendant, the law presumes malice, and unless the 
evidence should relieve the slayer he may be found guilty of 
murder. The presumption of innocence is removed by proof 
of the killing by the defendant. When the killing is shown 
to be the act of the defendant, it is then on the defendant to 
justify or mitigate the homicide. The proof to do that may 
come from either side, either from the evidence offered by 
the state to make out its case, or from the evidence offered 
by the defendant or the defendant's statement. 

Gentlemen of the jury, you are made by law the sole 
judges of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight of 
the testimony of each and every witness. It is for you to 

· take this testimony as you have heard it, in connection with 
the defendant's statement, and arrive at what you believe to 
be the truth. 
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Gentlemen, the object of all legal investigation is the dis­
covery of truth. That is the reason of you being selected, em­
paneled and sworn in this case-to discover what is the truth 
on this issue formed on this bill of indictment. Is Leo M. 
Frank guilty! Are you satisfied of that beyond a reasonable 
doubt from the evidence in this case! Or is his plea of not 
guilty the truth! 

The rules of evidence are framed with a vrew to this 
prominent end-seeking always for pure sources, and the 
highest evidence. 

Direct evidence is that which immediately points to the 
question at issue. Indirect or circumstantial evidence is that 
which only tends to establish the issue by proof of various 
facts sustaining, by their consistency, the hypothesis claimed. 
To warrant a conviction on cireumstantial evidenoo, the prov­
en facls must not only be consistent with the hypothesis of 
guilt, but must exclude every other reasonable doubt hypo­
thesis save that of the guilt of the accused. 
~ defendant bas introduced testimony as to his good 

character. On this subject, I charge you that evidence of 
good character when offered by the defendant in a criminal 
ease is always relevant and material, and should be consid­
ered by the jury, along with all the other evidence intro­
duced, as one of the facts of the case. 

It should be considered by the jury, not merely where the 
balance of the testimony in the case makes it doubtful whether 
the defendant is guilty or not, but also where such evidence 
of good character may of itself generate a doubt as to the 
defendant's guilt. Good character is a substantial fact, like 
any other fact tending to establish the defendant's innocence, 
and ought to be so regarded by the jury. Like all other facts 
proved in the case, it should be weighed and estimated by the 
jury, for it may render that doubtful which otherwise would 
be clear. 

However, if the guilt of the accused is plainly proved to 
the satisfaction of the jury beyond a reasonable doubt, not­
withstanding the proof of good character, it is their duty to 
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convicl. But the jury may consider the good eharaet.er of 
the defendant, whether the rest of the testimony leaves the 
question of his guilt doubtful or not, and if a consideration 
of the proof of his good character, considered along with the 
evidence, creates a reasonable doubt in the minds of the jury 
as to the defendant's goilt, then it would be the duty of the 
jury to give the defendant the bene:flt of the doubt thus 
raised by his good character, and to aequit him. 

The "character" as used in this connection, means that 
general reputation which he bore among the people who knew 
him prior to the time of the death of Mary Phagan. There­
fore, when the witnesses by which a defendant seeks to prove 
his good character are put upon the staµd, and testify that 
his character is good, the e1fect of the testimony is to say that 
the people who knew him spoke well of him, and that his 
general reputation was otherwise good. When a defendant 
has put his character in issue, the state is allowed to attack 
it by proving that his general reputation is not good, or by 
showing that the witnesses who have stated that his charaet.er 
is good, have untruly reported it. 

Hence, the Solicitor General has been allowed to el'OSll-el:­
amine the witnesses for the defense who were introduced to 
testify to his good character. In the cross-examination of 
these witnesses, he was allowed to ask them if they had not 
heard of various acts of miseonduet on the defendant's part. 
The Solicitor General had the right to ask any question along 
this line he pleased, in order thoroughly to sift the witnesses, 
and to see if anything derogatory to the defendant's reputa­
tion could be proved by them. 

The Court now wishes to say to you that, although the 
Solicitor General was allowed to ask the defendant's ebarac­
t.er witnesses these questions as to their having heard of 
various acts of alleged misconduct on the defendant's part 
the jury is not to consider this as evidence that the defendant 
has been guilty of any such misconduct as may have been 
indicated in the questions of the Solicitor General, or any of 
t.bem, UDlelB the alleged witnesses testify to it. Furthermore, 
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whe!e a man's character is put in evidence, and in the 
course of the investigation any speeifte aet of misconduct is 
shown, this does not go before the jury for the purpose of 
showing aftlrmatively that his character is bad or that be ia 
guilty of the offense with which he stands charged, but js to 
be considered by the jury only in determining the crechoility 
and the degree of information possessed by those witne11e11 
who have testified to his good character. 

When the defendant has put his character in issue, the 
state is allowed to bring witnesses to prove that his general 
character is bad, and thereby to disprove the testimony of 
those who have stated that it is good. The jury is allowed 
to take this testimony, and have the right to consider it along 
with all the other evidence introduced on the subject of the 
general character of the defendant, and it is for the jury 
:6nally to determine from all the evidence whether his eear­
acter was good or bad. But a defendant is not to be con­
victed of the crime with which he stands charged, even 
though, upon a consideration of all the evidence, 88 to his 
eharaet.er the jury believes that his character is bad unless 
from all the other testimony in the ease they believe that he 
is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. 

You will, therefore, observe that this is the rule you will 
be guided by in determining the effect to be given to the evi­
dence on the subject of the defendant's char!Ulter. If, after 
considering all the evidence pro and con on the subject of the 
defendant's character, you believe that prior to the time of 
Mary Phagan's death he bore a good reputation 'among those 
who knew him, that his general character was good, you will 
consider that 88 one of the facts in the case, and it may be 
softieient to create a reasonable doubt of the defendant's 
guilt, if it so impress your minds and consciences, after con­
sidering it along with all the other evidence in the ease; and 
if it does you should give the defendant the benefit of the 
doubt and acquit him. However, though you should believe 
his general character was good, still if, after giving due 
weight to it as one of the fact.a in the case, you believe from 
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the evidence 88 a whole that he is guilty beyond a reasonable 
doubt, you would be authorir.ed to convict him. 

If you believe beyond a reasonable doubt from the evi­
dence in this case that this defendant is guilty of murder, 
then you would be authorized in that event to say, "We, the 
jury, find the defendant guilty." Should you go no further, 
gentlemen, and say nothing else in your verdict, the Court 
would have to sentence the defendant to the extreme penalty 
for murder, towit: to be han~ by the neck until he is dead. 
But should you see :flt to do so, in the event you arrive at the 
conclusion and belief beyond a reasonable doubt from the 
evidence that this defendant is guilty, then, gentlemen, you 
would be authorized in that event, if you saw :flt to do so, to 
say: "We, the jury, :find the defendant guilty, and we recom­
mend that he be imprisoned in the pentitentiary for life." In 
the event you should make such a verdict as that, then the 
Court, under the law, would have to sentence the defendant 
to the penitentiary for life. 

You have heard the defendant make his statement. He 
had the right to make it under the law. It is not made under 
oath and he is not subject to examination or cross-examina­
tion. It is with you 88 to how much of it you will believe 
or how little of it. You may go to the extent, if you see :6.t, 
of believing it in preference to the sworn testimony in the 
case. 

In the event, gentlemen, you have a reasonable doubt from 
the evidence, .or the evidence and the statement together, or 
either, 88 to the defendant's guilt as charged, then give the 
prisoner the bene:flt of that doubt and acquit him; and in the 
event you do acquit him the form of your verdict would be: 
"We, the jury, find the defendant not guilty." As honest 
jurors do your utmost to reach the truth from the evidenee 
and statement as you have heard it here, then let your ver­
dict speak it. 

At 12:45 the Jury retired. 
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THE VERIDICT AND SENTENCE. 

At 4 :55 the Jury returned into court with a verdict of 
guilty. 

The courtroom had been cleared of spectators; the prisoner 
himself, as well as his counsel, were absent (see post, p. 410) 
and only the Judge, the ofllcers of the court and the state 
counsel and some other members of the bar were present. 

When the verdict was rendered, the windows of the court­
room were closed on account of the noise made by the crowd 
in the streets.a 

a ''While the jury was out nearly four hours, and eaeh and every 
member was pledged to secrecy, it is definitely known that only one 
ballot was taken and that the verdict was reached in a comparatively 
short time. When the crowd that filled the court room was driven 
out Monday afternoon on the order of Judge Roan, it flowed to the 
streets to await the verdict, increasing in size as the minutes passed. 

"A veritable boneycomb of humanity spread over the section from 
Whitehall to Central avenue, on Hunter street, and from Alabama 
to Mitchell on Pryor. Men and women clung to the walls of build­
ings and sat in doorways. Windows were crowded with women and 
girls and children. It was as though a street audience had gathered 
to watch an eventful procession. The shrill orders of the mounted 
policemen arose over the hum of the crowd. A knot of men clustered 
around the press room, the windows of which front Hunter street, 
jnst opposite the new court house building. As the reporters at the 
telephone shouted the verdict to their offices, the word came through 
the windows. It was received with a shout. The cry of guilty took 
iwinged flight from lip to lip. It traveled like the rattle of musketry. 
Then came a combined shout that rose to the sky. Pandemonium 
reigned. Hats went into the air. Women wept and shouted by 
turns. · 

"A great ovation was accorded Solicitor General Dorsey. As he 
appeared in the doorway of the court house while the crowd yelled 
its reception of the Frank verdict, there came a mighty roar."-At­
lanta Constitution, Aug. 26, 1913. 

"The jury reached their verdict within two hours after Frank's life 
had been placed in their hands. On the first ballot the vote :was ten 
for conviction, one blank and one doubtful. The second ballot was 
taken just one hour later, and resulted in a unanimous vote for con­
viction."-Atlanta Journal, Aug. 26, 1913. 

"Two thousand people, mostly men, awaited the announcement 
of the verdict in the streets around the court house and the demon­
stration following the news of the verdict drew double that number 
to the tlClene. The windows of the court room rwere ordered closed, 
so great was the din from without the court. As the solicitor passed 
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JUDGE Ro.AN : Mr. Sheriff, I will pass sentenee t.omorrow. 
Have the prisoner here. I will notify you in time of the 
hour. -Gentlemen of the jury, I thank you for your patient 
service in this case. This has been the longest trial I have 
ever participated in, and I dare say the longest you ever 
have or ever will. Thanking you again for your long and 
faithful service and arduous labors the Court will now dis­
miss you. The state will furnish your script for twenty-nine 
days. 

Augwt 26. 
JUDGE RoAN: Mr. Frank, stand up. The jury which has 

been trying you for days or rather for weeks, on yesterday aft­
ernoon rendered a verdict finding you guilty of murder. It is 
now my duty as the ·presiding judge of this court t.o pass the 
sentence of the law upon you for that offense. Before I pass 
that sent.ence, have you anything to say, wherefore it should 
not be passed. 

Fra11,k: I say now, as I ha~ alw.ays said, that I am inno­
cent. Further than that my case is in the hands of my coun­
sel. 

JUDGE RoAN: Mr. Frank, I have tried to see that you had 
a fair trial for the offense for which you have been indicted. 
I have the consciousness of knowing that I have made every 
effort, as the law requires me to do, t.o see that your trial was 
fair. Your counsel bas noti1led me that a motion for a new 

from the court house door he was picked up bodily by members of 
the waiting crowd, and on their shoulders carried to his offiee in the 
Kiser building across Pryor street. The shouting was deafening 
when the solicitor appeared in the street. Two ballots IWere cast by 
the jury before an agreement was neebed. The first ballot east 
showed eleven members for a verdict of guilty without the recommen­
dation of mercy and one in doubt. Aft.er one more ballot, an hour 
lat.er, the twelfth man came over to the majority and made the early 
verdict possible. Judge Roan declared that never in all of his 
experience had he witnessed such a demonstration following the 
announcement of a verdict. The shout from the 2,000 gathered out­
side the court room attracted more, and in ten minutes after the ver­
dict was made public the crowd was so great that the police reserves 
began riding through it in an e1fort to disperse it."-Atlanta Jour­
nal, Aug. 26, 1913. 



LEO M. FRANK. 409 

trial will be filed in due order, and it will be duly heard. It 
is now my duty to pronounce the formal sent.enee of the law 
upon you, which I will read in open court. Indietment for 
murder, Fulton superior oourt, May term, 1913. Verdict of 
guilty, July term, 1913. Whereupon, it is considered, ord­
ered and adjudged by the court that the defendant, Leo M. 
Frank, be ·taken from the bar of this court to the common 
Jail of the county of Fulton, and that he be there iafely kept 
until his 1lna1 execution in the manner 1lxed by law. It Ja 
further ordered and adjudged by the court that on the tenth 
day of October, 1913, the defendant, Leo M. Frank, shall be 
executed by the sherifl of Fulton county in private, witnessed 
only by the executing oftlcer, a sufficient guard, the relatives 
of such defendant, and such clergymen and friends as he may 
desire; such execution to take place jn, the common jail of 
Fulton county, and that said defendant on that day, between 
the hours of 10 o'clock .a. m. and 2 o'clock p. m. be by the 
sheriff of Fulton county hanged by the neck until he shall be 
dead, and may God have mercy on his soul. 

The following protest was issued by the prisoner's att.orneys and 
published in the Atlanta newspapers of August 26: 

We deem it not amiss to make a short statement, as the attorneys 
of Leo H. Frank, to the public. The trial which has just occurred 
and iwhich has resulted in :Mr. Frank's conviction, was a faree and 
not in any way a trial In saying this, we do not make the least 
criticism of Judge Roan, who presided. Judge Roan is one of the 
best men in Georgia and is an ab]e and conscientious judge. The 
temper of the public mind was sueh that it invaded the court room 
and invaded the streets and made itself manifest at every turn the 
jury made; and it was just as impossible for this jury to escape the 
dects of this public feeling as if they had been turned loose and 
had been permitted to mingle with the people. In doing this we are 
making no criticism of the jury. They were only men and uncon­
sciously this prejudice rendered any other verdict impossible. It 
would have required a jury of stoics, a jury of Spartans to have with­
stood this situation. The time ought to come rwhen this man will get 
a fair trial, and we profoundly believe that it will. The final judg­
ment of the American people is a fair one. It is sometmes delayed 
in coming, but it comes. We entered int-0 this case with the profound 
conviction of :Mr. Frank's innoeence. The result has not changed our 
opinion. Every step of the trial has intensified and fortified our pro-
found conviction of his innocence. . 

. L. z. Rosser, 
R. R. Arnold. 
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THE SUBSEQUENT HISTORY OF THE CASE-THE 
APPEALS TO THE COURTS-THE COMMUTA­

TION BY THE GOVERNOR-THE LYNCH-
ING OF THE PRISONER. 

October 31, 1913, Judge Roan denied the motion for a new 
trial ; February 17, 1914, the Supreme Court of Georgia af­
firmed the verdict of the lower court by a vote of four to two, 
and February 25, unanimously overruled a motion for re­
hearing.1 March 7 Frank was sentenced for a second time, 
April 17 being set as the date for the execution. April 16 
an extraordinary motion for a new trial was filed and sen­
tence was again stayed. April 22, Judge B. H. Hill, former 
chief justice of the Court of Appeals,'l& who had succeeded to 
the judgeship of Fulton Superior Court, denied the extraord­
inary motion for a new trial. April 25 Frank's sanity was 
examined and he was declared sane. November 14 the Geor­
gia Supreme Court again denied a new trialll and on Novem-

t A large number of technical errors in procedure and in the admis­
sion of evidence and the prejudice of the jurymen were alleged by 
the prisoner's attorneys, but were all overruled by the Supreme 
Court. Frank v. State, 80 S. E. Rep. 1016. The Court also raled 
that the disorder in the court room during the trial was not of such 
a character'8S to impugn its fairness or furnish ground for reversing 
the verdict; and that the cheering in the streets on the last day of 
the trial was not heard by the jury, and they had no knowledge of 
it until after they had rendered their verdict. The absence of the 
prisoner from the Court room when the verdict was given was not 
mentioned by his attorneys in this appeal. Frank v. State, 83 S. E. 
Rep. 33. 

ia See post, p. 628. 
2 The error here alleged was the absence of the prisoner without 

his consent from the Court room when the verdict was rendered. 
Frank v. State, 83 S. E. Rep. 645. The Court stated the case in 
these :words : 

. "At the time the verdict was ;eceived and the jury trying the case 
discharged, the defendant was m the custody of the law and incar­
cerated in the common jail of the co1mty. He rwas not present when 
!he verdict was received, and the. jury discharged as he had the. right 
in la! to be, and as the law reqwred he should be. He did not waive 
t~e nght to be present, nor did he authorize anyone to waive it for 
him, nor consent that he should not be present. He did not know 
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ber 18, refused a writ of error. November 23, Mr. Justice 
Lamar, of the Supreme Court of the United Stat.es, refused 
a writ of error. November 25, Mr. Justice Holmes, of the 
United States Supreme Court, also refused a writ. Decem­
ber 7, the full bench of the United States Supreme Court re­
fused a writ of error. December 9, Frank was re-sentenced 

that the verdict had been rendered and the jury discharged until after 
the reception of the verdict and the discharge of the jury, and did 
not know of any waiver of his presence made by his counsel until 
after sentence of death had been pronounced upon him. On the day 
the verdict was rendered and before the judge who presided at the 
trial of the cause began his charge to the jury, the judge in the jury 
room of the court house wherein the trial was proceeding, privately 
eonversed with two of the counsel of the defendant, and in the con­
versation referred to the probable danger of violence that the defend­
ant would be in if he were present when the verdict was rendered, if 
the verdict should be one of acquittal; and after the judge had thus 
expressed himself he requested the counsel thus spoken to, to agree 
that the defendant need not be present at the time the verdict was 
rendered, and the jury was polled. In these circumstances the coun­
sel did agree with the judge that the defendant should not be present 
at the rendition of the verdict. In the same conversation the judge 
cpressed the opinion also to the counsel that even counsel of the 
defendant might be in danger if they should be present at the recep­
tion of the verdict. In these circumstances defendant's counsel, 
Rosser and Arnold, did agree with the judge that defendant should 
not be present at the rendition of the verdict. The defendant was 
not present at the conversation and knew nothing about any agree­
ment made as above stated until after the verdict was received, and 
the jury was discharged and until after sentence of death was pro­
nounced upon him. Pursuant to the conversation, neither of defend· 
ant's counsel were present when the verdict was received, and the 
jury discharged. Defendant says that he did not give counsel nor 
anyone else any authority to rwaive or renounce the right of the 
defendant to be present at the reception of the verdict or to agree 
that the defendant should not be present thereat; that the relation of 
elient and attorney did not give them such authority, though counsel 
aeted in the most perfect good faith and in the interest of the safety 
of the defendant. Defendant did not agree that his counsel or either 
of them might be absent when the verdict was rendered. 

"Defen!1ant says upon and because of the grounds above stated: 
The verdict was of no legal effect, and was void and in violation 
of article 1, Sec. 1, par. 3, of the Constitution of the State of Geor­
gia, which provides that 'no person shall be deprived of life, liberty 
or property except by due process of law. That the recepton of the 
verdict in the involuntary absence of the defendant, was in violation 
of and contrary to the provisions of Article 6, Sec. 18, par. 1, of the 
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to bang January 22, 1915. December 21 United States Dis­
trict Judge, W. T. Newman of Georgia, refused a writ of 
habeas corpus. December 28, 1914, Mr. Justice Lamar grant­
ed an appeal and certificate of reasonable doubt to the United 
States Supreme Court. April 19, 1915, the Supreme Court 
of the United States, with Mr. Justices Holmes and Hughes 
dissenting, dismissed the appeal.' May 31, Frank's plea for 
commutation of sentence to life imprisonment was heard be­
fore the State Prison Commission. June 9, 1915, the State 
Prison Commission submitted a divided report to Governor 
Slaton, Commissioners Davison and Rainey voting against, 
and Commissioner Paterson for commutation. June 21, Gov­
ernor Slaton commuted Frank's sentence to life imprison­
ment and the prisoner was taken to Milledgeville to begin 
his sentence. 

On July 17, 1915, Frank was attacked by a fellow convict 
who cut his throat with a butcher knife. He lingered be­
tween life and death for several weeks, but :finally :recovered. 

Constitution of the State of Georgia, which provides that the right 
of trial by jury except where it is otherwise provided in this Con­
stitution, shall remain inviOlate. That the reception of the verdict in 
the absence of the defendant was contrary to and in violation of the 
provisions of the fourteenth amendment to the Constitution of the 
United States, to wit: 'Nor shall any State deprive any person of 
life, liberty or property without due process of law; nor deny to 
any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.' 
That the reception of the verdict in the absence of the defendant was 
in violation of Article 1, Sec. 1, par. 5, of the Constitution of the 
State of Georgia, to wit : 'Every person charged with an offense 
against the laws of this State shall have the privilege and beneflt of 
counsel.'" 

The Supreme Court ruled that because Frank was in court with 
bis attorneys when he was sentenced and because later, within the 
time allowed by law, made a motion for a new trial, which recited, 
among other things his absence at the reception of the verdict, and 
that his ·presence had been waived by his counsel and his motion for 
new trial was refused by the trial court and its judgement aftlrmed 
by the Supreme Court, the defendant must be considered as havbw 
acquiesced in the waiver made by his counsel of his presence at the 
reception of the verdict, and he cannot at a subsequent date set up 
such absence as a ground to set aside the verdict. 

•Frank v. Magnum,_ 237 U. S. 309. 
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At daybreak on August 17th, two miles northeast of Mari­
etta, in Cobb County, Georgia, Frank was lynched by a mob. 
Mary Phagan'e body was buried in the· cemetery of this 
to~. A number of men in automobiles arrived at the State 
Prison farm where Frank was serving his commuted life 
sentence, after dark on the evening of August 16th. These 
men cut the telephone wires, overpowered the guards, en­
tered the hall where Frank was sleeping, carried him into 
one of the automobiles, and the journey was made during the 
night all the way to Marietta, Cobb County, a distance of 
some 125 miles. Frank was hanged to a tree by this mob .. 
The mob was dissuaded from burning the body by some citi­
zens who arrived on the scene after the hanging.'. The body 

'Marietta, Georgia. The scenes at the plaee where Leo M. Frank 
was hanged, were nerve wrecking. The erowd gathered with 
rapidity. They swarmed the road from both directions. They 
seemed to rise up out of the ground, so fast they came. The automo­
biles came careening, recklessly disregarding life and limb of occu­
pants. Horse-drawn vehicles came at a gallop. Pedestrians came 
running. Women came, children came-even babies in arms. The 
sight of the body swaying in the wind 'With the red gaping wound in 
the throat, made some of the women sick, and they would utter little 
shrieks and groans and turn their heads away. Other women walked 
up to the packed mnss of men, pushed their way into the pack and 
looked on the dead body without the quiver of an eye-lash.- One of 
the first arrivals was a man in a frenzy of passion. He 'WaS bare­
headed, coatless, his eyes blazing like the eyes of a maniac. He ran 
through the crowd, ran up to the body, thre• up bis hands, clinched 
his fist and shook them at the body. Then his hands opened and bis 
:fingers writhed. His fists closed again, and he shook them at the 
body. ''Now we've got yon," he screamed. "You won't murder any 
more innocent little girls. We've got you now. They won't put any 
monument over you. They are not going to get you. They are not 
going to get a piece of you as big as a cigar." The crowd yelled, and 
packed closer. At this juncture, a short, thick-set man ran up to the 
crowd, jostled his way through and pushed up to a place beside the 
man who was cursing the body. He climbed up on something so that 
he could see over the heads of the crowd. ''Men, ·hear me," he said. 
It was Newton A. Morris, former Judge of Blue Ridge district, who 
bad just arrived from Marietta, with Attorney John Wood, of Can­
ton. They were attending at court, heard the news early Tuesday 
morning, and came at top speed to the scene. ''Hear me, men," said 
Judge Morris. The crowd became qniet except for a mumbling by 
the man beside the body. "Citizens of Cobb County, listen to me, 
Jrill yout" said Judge Morris. They gave a murmur of assent. 
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was cut down and carried to Atlanb and from there sent to 
Brooklyn w~re bis parents lived. 

"Whoever did this thing-" The man beside the body broke in with 
a shout: "God bless him, whoever he was." Judge Morris laid his 
hand on the man's shoulder and asked him to be quiet for a few 
minutes. "Whoever did this thing did a thorough job." "They shore 
did," chorused the crowd. "Whoever did this thing," said Judge 
Morris1 "left nothing more for us to do. Little Mary Phagan is vin­
dieatea. Her foul murder is avenged. Now, I ask yon, I appeal to 
you as good citUens of Cobb County, in the good name of our county, 
not to do more. I appeal to yon to let the undertaker take il" 
The man by the body broke in again, "We are not going to let the 
undertaker have it," he shrieked. "We are not going to let them 
erect a monument over that thing. We are not going to let them 
have a piece of it as big as a cigar. We are going to burn it, that's 
what rwe are going to do. We are going to burn il Come on, boys, 
Jet's burn the dirty thing." ''Men, I appeal to you," he shouted, 
"don't do anything to this body. Let the undertaker have it. This 
man has a father and mother, and whatever we think of him, they 
are entitled to have the body of their son. Men, men, I appeal to 
yon for the good name of the country. Let all who are in favor of 
giving this body over to the undertaker say 'Aye.'" There was a 
chorous of ayes. 'Now, let all who oppose us say 'No.'" The man 
beside the body, at the top of his voice yelled "No." "Let all who 
are in favor of giving this body to the undertaker raise their hands," 
said Judge Morris. The hands of the crowd went up.-St. Louis· 
Glob&-Democrat, August 18, 1915. 




